Embodiment Design Cartography: A Conceptual Framework for Design Space Mapping to Support the Development of Physically-Interactive Products

by Jesse Velleu

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy (Design Science) in the University of Michigan 2022

Doctoral Committee:

Professor Richard Gonzalez, Co-Chair Associate Research Scientist Jonathan E. Luntz, Co-Chair Professor Eytan Adar Professor Diann Erbschole Brei "Focus on the journey, not on arriving at a certain destination."

- Chris Hadfield, An Astronaut's Guide to Life on Earth, 2013 [1]

Jesse Velleu

jvelleu@umich.edu

ORCID iD: 0000-0002-0759-1144

© Jesse Velleu 2022

Acknowledgments

This work would not have been possible without the support of so many exceptional individuals who I have been lucky enough to cross paths with during my time at the University of Michigan. I would like to first acknowledge and thank each of my advisors for their expert guidance, unwavering support, and immense flexibility—for better or worse, there was nothing about this journey that was we would call 'normal'. I would like to thank Richard Gonzalez for serving as a limitless source of knowledge, consistently pushing for deeper levels of thought and understanding, and providing deft guidance in communicating this work. I would like to thank Jonathan Luntz for cultivating curiosity—from the loftiest ambitions to the smallest minutiae, there was never discussion that could not be had, nor an idea that could not be posed. Your willingness to not only accept new ideas, but take them in stride and push them as far as they could go is what allowed this work to reach the heights it did. I would like to thank Diann Brei for starting me down this path, backing me from the very beginning, and remaining a consistent voice of reason for grounding this work. I am also thankful for Eytan Adar for his service on this committee and his inspirational teachings.

I would also like to thank my lab mates Laura Giner Muñoz, Kori Benli, Ellen Kim, and Tiantian Li. There is only a small cohort of people in this world who can truly understand the experiences we have all shared. I wish you all the continued success you deserve. I would also like to thank Natalie Leonard, Vineet Raichur, Alicia Carmichael, and Bob Kakiti at the Institute for Social Research for their exceptional knowledge and professionalism. Your unflinching ability to come together and solve the evermore outlandish problems that I presented to you with was unmatched.

Finally, I would thank my friends and family for their continued support, even when they did not necessarily understand. Most importantly, I would like to thank Elena Miyasato. She has shouldered this load just as much as I, and there are no words to do her continued love and perseverance justice.

Preface

Product design is the act of creating something that is to be used. While the solution to a product design problem is definite, singular—only one new product for a given problem is typically created-there are nearly infinite options for alternative configurations that could have been created instead. To get to this singular solution, there are a web of considerations that must be navigated, as well as a variety of success criteria that may be employed. This act of creation of putting the product out into the real world-inherently challenges the concept of what this product theoretically is in a vacuum. Once embodied¹ in the real world, the human element comes into play; different humans may physically interact with these products and interpret or respond them in some way that is outside of the designer's control. These interpretations can take the form of anything from subjective emotional responses to autonomic bodily responses. Similarly, there is a *situational element* to how humans experience these product interactions, which again can escape direct influence of these designer. All of these externalities factor into the considerations that must be navigated, and ultimately shape how the product is received just as much as the technical performance specs it is engineered to achieve in a vacuum. The range of alternative design options that exist within the design space² may therefore each be measured according to a variety of different, oftentimes *competing outcomes*, which themselves are influenced by a variety of external factors. As such, the proposition of selecting a singular solution within this sea of options may become a less than simple affair, in which no one solution is definitively superior.

Systematically navigating these different factors and outcomes across infinite options within the design space is a fundamental issue of product design. Classical paradigms of design typically consider this navigation by a series of *linear decisions*—decisions of which factors to consider, which outcomes are relevant, how to weigh them, etc.—that all culminate in a singular solution, as chosen by the individual values of the designer or firm. However, this linear perspective can

¹ **Embodied**: To be made real, tangible.

² **Design space**: A hypothetical space of some dimensionality that contains all of the potential versions of a product that could be created, and the associated considerations that lead to their creation.

have the unintended effect of conceptually burying each of these decisions behind the subsequent solution, such that it may not be apparent as to what other options may be achieved had a different decision been made at any point in this chain. The goal of this dissertation is to develop a framework³ for mapping out the options in this design space (i.e., creating a design space map), such that the variety of factors and outcomes to be considered may be navigated in a systematic manner, and each design option may be simultaneously conceived as the summation of all of the decisions that lead to their creation. With this framework, two common issues in *new product* development are explored. The first is 'how can the design space map be used to compare tradeoffs between competing outcomes?', and the second is 'how can the design space map be personalized to reflect the unique qualities of each individual?'. The objectives of this research include: 1) defining a *conceptual framework* to support this design space mapping for a general class of design problem, 2) developing modeling, experimental, and design methods for navigating tradeoffs between *technical* and *experiential* design outcomes within this framework, and 3) developing modeling, experimental, and design methods for *personalizing* individual design space maps based on users *psychophysiological*⁴ measures to improve their overall accuracy. To address these objectives, a conceptual framework is derived around the description and classification of existing design methods in Chapter 2, which is both *flexible* enough to be tailored to specific design problems, and also able to selectively integrate advantageous processes of the existing design methods; a case study for the design of a *pneumatic steering column* is conducted in Chapter 3, in which a *linear algebraic* method for identifying and quantifying tradeoffs is developed; and a case study for the design of an infotainment controller is conducted in Chapter 4, in which a method for personalizing design space maps according to individual user's *latent emotions* and *cognitions* is developed. This work makes important methodological contributions to the fields of engineering design and design science, and ultimately provides a systematic platform for constructing new design methods for physically-interactive products, which are able to be tailored to the design problem at hand.

³ Framework: A network of interlinked concepts that describe a phenomenon and impart a central philosophy.

⁴ Psychophysiological: Human physiological responses that provide the basis for psychological processes.

Table of Contents

Acknowledgements	ii
Preface	iii
List of Tables	viii
List of Figures	ix
List of Abbreviations	Х
Abstract	xii
Chapter 1. Introduction	1
1.1. Mapping the Design Journey: An Analogy	2
1.1.1. Systematic Design Space Exploration	4
1.1.2. Intentional Design Decisions: Options and Selections	5
1.1.3. Embodiment Design Cartography	7
1.2. Embodiment: Interaction & Design	8
1.2.1. Rich, Embodied Interaction: The Artifact, User, and Context	9
1.2.2. Embodiment Design: Analysis, Synthesis, and Evaluation	15
1.3. Current Design Methods State of the Art	18
1.3.1. Function-Behavior-Structure	19
1.3.2. Quality Function Deployment	20
1.3.3. Kansei Engineering	22
1.3.4. Conjoint Analysis	25
1.4. Research Issues	28
1.4.1. Formulating the Problem Space	30
1.4.2. Modeling the Solution Space	30
1.4.3. Developing Experimental Techniques & Procedures	30
1.4.4. Operationalizing Embodiment Design Cartography	31
1.5. Research Goals & Objectives	31
1.6. Research Approach	32
1.6.1. A Framework for Embodiment Design Cartography	33
1.6.2. A Method for Navigating Tradeoffs in an Emerging Technology	35
1.6.3. A Method for Personalizing Options of an Established Technology	37
1.7. Research Outcomes	40

1.8. Chapter 1 Conclusion	42
Chapter 2. A Framework for Embodiment Design Cartography	44
2.1. Boundary Objects	45
2.2. The Elements of a Conceptual Framework	46
2.2.1. The EDC Ontology	47
2.2.2. The EDC Epistemology	52
2.2.3. The EDC Methodology	58
2.3. Mapping Existing Design Methods	61
2.3.1. Mapping Function-Behavior-Structure	62
2.3.2. Mapping Quality Function Deployment	64
2.3.3. Mapping Kansei Engineering	66
2.3.4. Mapping Conjoint Analysis	68
2.3.5. Selective Integration of Existing Design Methods	70
2.3.6. Interaction Prototyping	72
2.4. Chapter 2 Conclusion	73
Chapter 3. A Method for Navigating Tradeoffs in an Emerging Technology	76
3.1. Tradeoffs in Engineering Design	77
3.2. Case Study: The Pneumatic Steering Column	78
3.3. Mapping the Pneumatic Steering Column Problem Space	80
3.4. Mapping the Pneumatic Steering Column Solution Space: Analytical Models	83
3.4.1. Parametrizing the Pneumatic Steering Column Problem Space	83
3.4.2. Descriptive Modeling Through Analytical Derivation	88
3.5. Mapping the Pneumatic Steering Column Solution Space: Empirical Models	91
3.5.1. Testing Procedure & Infrastructure	92
3.5.2. Experimental Design	94
3.5.3. Experimental Results	97
3.6. Navigating Tradeoffs in the Design Space Map	100
3.6.1. Model Composition: Leveraging Natural Functional Forms	101
3.6.2. Identifying Technical Tradeoffs while Maintaining Optimal Experiential Response	103
3.6.3. Improving Technical Tradeoffs by Sacrificing Minimal Experiential Response	106
3.6.4. Examining Experiential Tradeoffs Between Contexts	111
3.7. Chapter 3 Conclusion	115
Chapter 4. A Method for Personalizing Options of an Established Technology	119
4.1. Mass Personalization with Psychophysiology	120
4.1.1. User Involvement in the Design Process	122
4.1.2. Psychophysiological Design Levers	124

4.2. Case Study: The Infotainment Controller	126
4.3. Mapping the Infotainment Controller Problem Space	127
4.3.1. Parameterizing the Infotainment Controller Problem Space	130
4.4. Mapping the Infotainment Controller Solution Space	134
4.4.1. Testing Procedure & Infrastructure	136
4.4.2. Phase 1 Experimental Design	141
4.4.3. Phase 1 Experimental Results	144
4.4.4. Phase 2 Experimental Design	148
4.4.5. Phase 2 Experimental Results	150
4.5. Personalizing Options in the Design Space Map	151
4.5.1. Adjustments with Psychophysiological Design Levers	152
4.5.2. Understanding the Implementation of Personalizations	153
4.5.3. Informing Multidisciplinary Design Adjustments	155
4.5.4. Personalizing on Mass Scales	156
4.6. Chapter 4 Conclusion	157
Chapter 5. Conclusion	161
5.1. Research Overview	162
5.1.1. A Framework for Embodiment Design Cartography	163
5.1.2. A Method for Navigating Tradeoffs in an Emerging Technology	164
5.1.3. A Method for Personalizing Options of an Established Technology	166
5.2. Research Contributions	167
5.2.1. Formulating the Problem Space	168
5.2.2. Modeling the Solution Space	169
5.2.3. Developing Experimental Techniques & Procedures	170
5.2.4. Operationalizing Embodiment Design Cartography	172
5.3. Potential Research Impacts	173
5.3.1. Systematic Design Space Exploration	174
5.3.2. Data-Driven Product Innovations	177
5.3.3. Multidisciplinary Collaboration	179
5.3.4. Methodological Research & Development	181
5.4. Future Directions	182
5.4.1. New Method Development within the EDC Framework	182
5.4.2. Further Developments of the EDC Framework	183
5.5. Closing Remarks	184
Bibliography	186

List of Tables

Table 1. The Actor-Abstraction domains	49
Table 2. The methodology for modeling the solution space	60
Table 3. Advantageous techniques of existing design methods that may be used for modeling the solution space.	71
Table 4. Parametrized vector spaces of the pneumatic steering column problem space	84
Table 5. Proportional sensitivity model for the pneumatic steering column	90
Table 6. The experimental design of the empirical user study of the pneumatic steering column.	96
Table 7. Estimated coefficients of the interaction model	98
Table 8. The effects of the experimental design on the average rating	98
Table 9. The rating for each design configurations across each context	115
Table 10. Parametrized vector spaces of the infotainment controller problem space.	131
Table 11. The psychophysiological features to inform latent emotions/cognitions	133
Table 12. The experimental design of phase 1 of the empirical user study of the infotainment controller	142
Table 13. The psychophysiological feature importance rankings summary	145
Table 14. The effects of the experimental design	147
Table 15. The experimental design of phase 2 of the empirical user study of the infotainment controller.	149
Table 16. The results of the interaction model validation test	151
Table 17. The effects of the psychophysiological design levers on the predicted satisfaction rating	153

List of Figures

Figure 1. A sequence of passages from Adventure	2
Figure 2. The Stage-Process (S-P) model of design	17
Figure 3. The Actor-Abstraction matrix	50
Figure 4. The problem space formulation of Function-Behavior-Structure mapped onto the A-A matrix	63
Figure 5. The problem space formulation of Quality Function Deployment mapped onto the A-A matrix	65
Figure 6. The problem space formulation of Kansei Engineering mapped onto the A-A matrix	67
Figure 7. The problem space formulation of Conjoint Analysis mapped onto the A-A matrix	69
Figure 8. The pneumatic steering column	79
Figure 9. The problem space formulation of the pneumatic steering column mapped onto the A-A matrix	81
Figure 10. The form/layout of the pneumatic steering column	85
Figure 11. The contexts for the pneumatic steering column interaction	87
Figure 12. The driving simulator for the pneumatic steering column	93
Figure 13. Predictions made in the solution space map of the pneumatic steering column	97
Figure 14. The effects of the experimental design on the experiential response	99
Figure 15. The validation test for the solution space model of the pneumatic steering column	100
Figure 16. Linear adjustments within the solution space	103
Figure 17. The 'permissible adjustments' line to minimize sacrifices in experiential design outcomes	107
Figure 18. Convex combination of the rapid-steering and precision-steering contexts	112
Figure 19. The in-situ length adjustability in the pneumatic steering system	114
Figure 20. The in-situ adjustability to adapt the design configuration for multiple contexts	115
Figure 21. The infotainment controller	126
Figure 22. The problem space formulation of the infotainment controller mapped onto the A-A matrix	128
Figure 23. The contexts for the infotainment controller interaction	132
Figure 24. The testing rig for the infotainment controller	137
Figure 25. Placements of the physiological sensors	139
Figure 26. The SHAP dependence plots	146
Figure 27. Customization predictions made in the solution space map of the infotainment controller	150
Figure 28. The capacity of personalization afforded by each selected psychophysiological feature	152
Figure 29. The personalizations of the infotainment controller	154

List of Abbreviations

Acronyms (Uppercase characters; listed alphabetically)

A-A	Actor-Abstraction	MERF	Mixed-Effects Random Forest
ACA	Adaptive Conjoint Analysis	M-L	Mason-Likar
ATC	Analytical Target Cascading	MVIC	Max Voluntary Isometric Contraction
CA	Conjoint Analysis	NIH	National Institute of Health
CBCA	Choice-Based Conjoint Analysis	QFD	Quality Function Deployment
EDC	Embodiment Design Cartography	RTD	Research Through Design
FBS	Function-Behavior-Structure	SCL	Skin Conductance Level
HCI	Human-Computer Interaction	SCR	Skin Conductance Response
HOQ	House of Quality	SHAP	SHapley Additive exPlanation
HMI	Human-Machine Interaction	S-P	Stage-Process
HMIs	Human-Machine Interfaces	TUIs	Tangible User Interfaces
IBI	Inter-Beat Interval	UI	User Interface
KE	Kansei Engineering	UX	User Experience
KES	Kansei Engineering System	VR	Virtual Reality

Numerical/Statistical Notation (Lowercase characters; listed alphabetically)

c	Centered	rms	Root Mean Square
m	Mean (Average)	rmsd	Root Mean Square Deviation
med	Median	sd	Standard Deviation
n	Number of Participants	var	Variance
р	Probability Value		

Variables (Lowercase, bold, italic characters; listed alphabetically)

a	Application	d	Diameter/Detent Number
af	Affordability	ecg	Electrocardiography Signal
С	Production Cost	еси	Extensor Carpi Ulnaris
d	Detent Number	eda	Electrodermal Activity Signal
edc	Extensor Digitorum Communis Activity	epb	Extensor Pollicis Brevis Activity
emg	Electromyography Signal	ерс	Electrocardiography Positive Change

fds	Flexor Digitorum Superficialis Activity	sr	Structural Rigidity
h	Material Hardness	SW	Stowability
hr	Heart Rate	t	Track
hrv	Heart Rate Variability	th	Wall Thickness
k	Torsional Stiffness	v	Stowed Volume
l	Length	δ	In-Situ Adjustment
т	Motor Torque Stiffness	λ	Experience-Sacrificing
р	Pressure	μ	Experience-Maintaining
r	Rating	ω	Weighting Coefficient
<i>S</i>	Steering Sensitivity	θ	Angle
sb	Stability	τ	Feedback Torque
sc	Skin Conductance		

Vectors (Uppercase, bold, italic characters; listed alphabetically)

A	(Product) Attributes	Ε	Experiential Responses
A_E	Environmental Attributes	E_S	Subjective Experiential Responses
A_L	Latent Attributes	EP	Physiological Experiential Responses
<i>A</i> _{<i>R</i>}	Responsive Attributes	EC	Engineering Characteristics
В	Behaviors	EX	External Effects
B_E	Expected Behaviors	F	Functions
B _P	Persistent Behaviors	G	Customer Groups
B_R	Responsive Behaviors	S	Structure or Semantics
Bs	Structure Behaviors	Р	Properties
С	Context	Τ	Technical Functions
CR	Customer Requirements	U	User
D	Design Parameters	R	Subjective Ratings
DS	Design Sensitivity		

Models (Uppercase, script characters; listed alphabetically)

ε	Engineering Model	I	Interaction Model
${\cal F}$	Feature Extraction Model	${\mathcal P}$	Performance Model

Abstract

Embodiment design is the process of taking an idea for a product and bringing it into the real world by specifying key parameters. In this process, numerous decisions are made that ultimately lead to a solution. By entering the real world, however, a host of complexities are introduced to the design problem by external actors. The different people that physically interact with the product, as well as the situations for these interactions, may all factor into shaping the way this solution is received in a manner that is outside of the designer's control. To truly understand the outcomes of the options that exist within this solution space, there is a web of considerations that must be navigated in the *problem space*. Together, the considerations in this problem space and the relations between them, as well as the options in the solution space comprise the overall design space. The term 'cartography' refers to the creation of maps—this dissertation presents a conceptual framework for systematically *mapping* out this design space such that the paths along this web of considerations may be navigated, and the resulting outcomes that may be achieved are understood. There are existing methods from different design disciplines that can help understand the solution space, however each imparts a distinct, fixed perspective on how it conceives the problem space and therefore only recognizes the portion it considers to be important. The Embodiment Design Cartography framework developed in this dissertation is illustrated by mapping out these methods on a uniform scale that enables their direct comparison and combination. New design methods are also constructed within this framework, which may be tailored to the problem at hand, and more holistically cover the design space without the limiting preconceptions of existing methods. This practice is employed in two case studies for products that exemplify questions in embodiment design. The first regards how tradeoffs between competing outcomes may be successfully negotiated. The second regards how products may be efficiently personalized on a mass scale. For each case study, a suite of modeling, experimental, and design methods are developed within the framework, which are tailored to the specific needs of the problem. These are used to mathematically model and validate design space maps through empirical user studies. In the first study, the design space map was used to develop a linear algebraic approach for examining tradeoffs, which informed actionable design adjustments to achieve a more favorable balance. In the second study, the design space map was used to examine how physiological responses may provide latent information on individual differences, which informed the efficient implementation of mass personalizations without conscious engagement from the user. This dissertation has made important contributions in providing designers with the language, tools, and procedures necessary for developing design methods that may be tailored to their specific needs within a structured framework, and promotes a higher level understanding of the various decision paths that may be navigated in the design space. This represents a new paradigm for methodological development in embodiment design.

Chapter 1. Introduction

To take an idea for a product and translate it into the real world, a single solution for exactly how this product is to be configured must be specified. This serves to distinguish the created product from *near-infinite* potential alternative solutions, which were not created. However, it may not be readily apparent as to whether the specified configuration ultimately provides the best possible outcomes. If a broad range of different kinds of design outcomes-including how people perceive this product when they use it—are used to measure its success, it can be difficult to know what alternative outcomes are even possible. There are also innumerable different external factors that may influence these outcomes once the product is introduced in the real world. All of these factors and outcomes that may be considered, as well as the associated options for how the product may be *embodied*, together comprise a 'design space.' This introductory chapter discusses this concept and motivates the need for 'mapping' out the design space, such that designers can better understand their options and make more informed decisions. The specific class of design problem that is addressed, as well as the design tasks that are supported through this mapping, are each clarified. Existing design methods for creating different types of design space maps of various forms are reviewed, and the associated research issues are established. Finally, the goals, objectives and approach to this research are outlined in depth, and its outcomes are summarized.

1.1. Mapping the Design Journey: An Analogy

Between 1975 and 1977, Will Crowther and Don Woods developed and released *Adventure*, the first text-based adventure game [2]. This pioneering computer game—primitive by today's standards—had players interact with a digital environment that was entirely text-based. Their only insight into this world consisted of brief verbal descriptions, e.g., Figure 1. In *Adventure*, the player is given little initial direction regarding their objective, beyond a vague reference to treasures that may be found within a dark cave. With only limited understanding of the world around them, it is up to the player to enter in text prompts that reveal more about their environment, and to make a series of decisions to navigate through a labyrinth-like cave system. Almost nothing is freely given to the player in the brief text entries; every additional piece of information requires deliberate action to extract. While each decision is made according to the *values* of the individual player, intentional actions such as 'turning on a lantern' can help them determine what *options* may be available to them.



Figure 1. A sequence of passages from *Adventure***.** In this text-based computer game [2], players type in prompts (e.g., 'turn on lantern') to interact with and uncover insight about the environment.

In many ways, the process of product design is quite similar to this text-based adventure. The design process may oft be described a *series of decisions* that result in a singular solution [3–9]. In this work, we shall consider this *linear* decision-making to be a sort of journey. The designer assumes the role of the player, who must embark on an adventure through an un-mapped or *ill-structured* problem space (i.e., a dark cave) to determine an outcome within a similarly *ill-structured* solution-space (i.e., abstract treasures), which together form the overall design space [10,11].

"At the start of the design process, the designer is usually faced with only a partially defined problem; yet he or she has to come up with a well defined solution. If one thinks of the problem as a space or territory, then it is largely unexplored and un-mapped, and perhaps imaginary in places! It may therefore be appropriate to think of the designer as an explorer, travelling inquisitively through an unknown land, paying attention to unusual finds as well as the mundane. Equally, if one thinks of all potential solutions as occupying a kind of solution space, then that, too, is relatively undefined, and perhaps infinite. Here, the designer is searching for possibilities, and often creating new ones. The designer's task is therefore two-fold; understanding the problem and seeking a solution."

- Nigel Cross, Engineering Design Methods: Strategies for Product Design, 2021 [12]

The Problem Space – Equated to a dark cave in this analogy, the problem space contains the set of all considerations that the designer could make when developing a product. This space is a model of reality that is only as large and complex as one lets it become. In the simple example of a light switch, for instance, the designer could consider only themselves as a potential user, and only care if the light switch works to turn on/off the light. In this case, the problem space is relatively small and straight foreword; there are minimal decisions to be made. Alternatively, for the same light switch the designer could consider a wide variety of different users—Are they blind? Do light switches function different in their country? etc.--and also different contexts of use--Is it cold out? Is the person wearing mittens? etc. Additionally, not only does the designer care about whether the light switch works, but now also cares about how it makes you *feel* when you switch it. Now the problem space is much larger and more complex; there are turns and forks in this cave that call for more decisions to be made. In reality, these twists and turns that complicate the problem space exist whether they are considered or not. An adventurer may not observe an alternate passage if it is shrouded in darkness, but this doesn't mean it is not there. Similarly, the designer may not consider alternative factors and outcomes in their decision-making, but these externalities still may exist once the product is placed in the real world. Ignoring these complexities can be strategic, but also limiting in some cases.

The Solution Space – Equated to the *treasures* in this analogy, the solution space contains the set of all the versions or *configurations* of the product that could be developed. This space contains

all of the possible configurations that the light switch in the prior example could end up as, and the available solution space is therefore directly tied to the formulation of the product space. Just as there is no definitive formulation of the problem space in ill-structured problems such as design, there is also no definitive option in the solution space; different design solutions can be equally valid and are largely interwoven with the formulation of the design problem [12]. There are multiple treasures that may be discovered in the cave of *Adventure*, and there are multiple design solutions that may be alternatively selected. These treasures are only understood to be found within the cave in an *abstract* sense through vague reference to their existence in the opening lines of *Adventure*; the treasures themselves can be anything. Design options in the solution space are similarly broad and measured in an *abstract* sense, i.e., how they make you *feel*, especially when to the more concrete *design levers*⁵ that the designer may directly control. These abstract outcomes can be assessed on a *technical* level (e.g., keeping the sun out of one's eyes [13]) or an *experiential* one (e.g., to "dazzle [one's] senses, touch their hearts and stimulate their minds" [14]), which reflects the potential heterogeneity of viable solutions [15,16].

1.1.1. Systematic Design Space Exploration

While many types of designers may be satisfied with endeavoring through this design journey based solely on their intuition, prior experience [12], personal preference [17], or gut-feelings [18], engineers are decidedly not [12]. An *engineering designer*—the *adventurer* in this analogy—is a sort of hybrid between a traditional designer and an engineer. Engineering design calls for more *rigorous, systematic* approaches to design, in which decisions may be *tested*, *measured*, and *validated*, but still leaves room for a degree of creative problem-solving or *exploration* to tackle these ill-structured problems [12,19]. Systematic engineering design is grounded in fields such as mathematics, physics, and mechanics, and often entails the use of quantitative models [5,19–21] with which some *optimal* design research [26] may be largely attributed to the added complexities, risks [12,27], and associated costs [28] of modern engineering design. At its core, to 'design' is to create something *new* [12,29] i.e., "the goal of designers is to change the world through the creation of artifacts" [13]. However, new product development faces an extraordinarily high failure rate

⁵ Design levers: Any aspect of the product design process that the designer can directly adjust or manipulate to implement immediate change and propagate influence on higher-level outcomes, e.g., an engineering design lever may be the *dimensions* of a component.

[30–32]. Purely relying on intuition or prior experiences may be insufficient if the product is new to the world [12]. While the design process is almost always *iterative* [12], systematic approaches can help reduce or shorten the number of costly, time-intensive iterations [12,19,33], and facilitate more efficient allocation of resources early in this cycle [34]. Efficient, systematic processes can mitigate some of the inherent risks associated with engineering design.

It is therefore up to the engineering designer to systematically *map out* the problem and solution spaces from the concrete design levers they may control, through any external factors that may be considered, and, ultimately, to the *abstract* design outcomes they may wish to achieve. With a map, the entire 'journey' of linear decisions may be illustrated simultaneously. A map of the dark cave can be used to not only reveal the path that was followed and the treasure that was found, but also the *alternative* paths and treasures that were *not* selected. This reframes the journey that was taken, which-while originally experienced temporally as a series of linear decisions that resulted in the discovery of a single solution-can now be viewed concurrently from a birds-eyeview in terms of all the alternative *options* that could be selected as well. More importantly, this map can now be used as a tool for future adventures in this cave-conceivably by different adventurers—as a means for locating potentially superior solutions. It therefore follows that, as a general tool, a greater level of detail and accuracy in reflecting the real-life topology in this map provides a wider range of potential applications and a better ability to lead adventurers to desired treasures. A map of the design space serves an analogous role—to illustrate all the potential design options that may be created in terms of the decisions that lead to their creation. The design space map tells us what influencing factors are considered in this design problem, what design outcomes are used to measure the available solutions, and how to physically create the associated products using the design levers that are available. Most importantly, this map may be used as a tool for *informing design decisions*, with more robust maps providing more insight in this area.

1.1.2. Intentional Design Decisions: Options and Selections

To make a design decision is to make a selection—to choose one option with the admission that it may come at the expense of the other. Systematic decision-making in engineering design may be based upon two distinct components: *values* and *information*. On the former, decision are based on the *values* or perspectives of the decision-maker [35]. In the case of design, that is the engineering designer (or enterprise), and their individual expertise and domain knowledge can

shape these values [36]. Values can take the form of *weights* in an optimization model, for instance. There are a variety of existing support methods for making value-based selections [28], including those grounded in game theory [37], utility theory [38], the analytical hierarchical process [39], or other goal-oriented methods [40,41]. Alternatively, the *information* that the designer may base their decisions on can similarly influence what options are perceived to be available, and the manner in which the design problem is formulated can further shape this information [42]. An adventurer's choice to go left or right at a crossroads within the cave is up to their subjective *values*, but the topology of the cave to split in just this way to afford these two options is a measure of objective *information*, which is independent of anyone's values. However, formulating the problem space in a different manner may uncover *alternative* options, e.g., a third path hidden in the shadows.

This analogy of *Adventure* as a proxy for the design journey is useful not only as a literary device for describing the relatively abstract concept of a 'design space' and motivating the need for a map, but also as a means for emphasizing the level of *intentionality* that is necessary throughout this process. Unlike reality, insights in a text-based adventure are not passively presented to us through our senses. Something that may be automatic or subconscious for us in real-life—to look around and take in information about our environment, for instance—alternatively requires express intent to seek out in systematic design. The designer must take deliberate steps to 'turn on the lantern' so-to-speak—to illuminate the overall design space by strategically formulating the problem space such that the resulting options in the solution space are not only made evident, but truly *understood* on their merits. This understanding can be had by measuring the design outcomes that each option affords on both the *technical* and *experiential* levels.

While individual or institutional values may determine the *selection* of which version of a product shall represent the solution, the deliberately sourced information determines which *options* are available. It is these *options in the design space*—independent of one's values—that are revealed with a design space map. The fundamental axiom of this approach is that, on average, more informed decisions or selections may be made when more information or options are available. Seemingly innocuous decisions could inadvertently preclude the achievement of desirable solutions. The aim of the framework presented in this work is to provide a format for good design decisions to be made, but not necessarily to instruct the designer on what decisions to

make. By creating a map, the range of available options for which these decisions are based on may be more rigorously and holistically understood.

1.1.3. Embodiment Design Cartography

To create a design space map, the engineering designer must not only assume the role of the adventurer, but also the *cartographer*, i.e., map-maker. Historically, it was the case that any cartographer who wished to map out uncharted territories must themselves embark on a journey through this space to construct this map by meticulously documenting each twist and turn, each treasure that was discovered. This could be resource intensive process in terms of time, energy, money, etc. For an engineering designer wishing to analogously map out a design space, physically creating every single potential product to construct this map is simply an infeasible proposition. However, just as new technologies have equipped modern cartographers with advanced tools for more efficiently constructing geographic maps (e.g., satellite imaging), existing *design methods* may be leveraged to support design space *mapping* (i.e., the cartographic act of creating of the design space map) in a more efficient manner.

In this dissertation, a *conceptual framework* to support the creation of this design space map is developed. This *Embodiment Design Cartography* (EDC) framework serves to guide these cartographic activities in an efficient, systematic manner, by promoting *strategic formulation of the problem space* and *robust modeling of the solution space*. Aspects of existing design methods are selected and integrated in service of these aims. With this framework, engineering designers may construct design space maps to reveal how concrete design levers should be manipulated to achieve abstract design outcomes. These maps may then be used to identify, compare, and simultaneously consider a holistic set of options for different design configurations in a rigorous manner. These efforts do not expressly emphasize value-based selection of a singular, optimal solution within the design space. Rather, they address the range of feasible solutions on a continuous scale, such that *tradeoffs* between alternatives may be negotiated, and a *broad*, set of abstract design outcomes may be considered. The essence of this framework is grounded within the concept of *embodiment*—the idea of bringing tangible products into the real-world and designing for the externalities that this entails. This idea of embodiment governs both the *class of design problem* that is addressed with this framework, and the specific *design tasks* that it supports.

1.2. Embodiment: Interaction & Design

The design space mapping enabled by the Embodiment Design Cartography (EDC) framework developed in this dissertation is specifically centered around the concept of *embodiment*, in multiple senses of the word. The term 'embodiment' means to make something real in a tangible or *physical* sense. This phenomenon can be applied to both the act of having physical interactions with products, which elicit real consequences or outcomes, and also to the act physically creating products that previously only existed as concepts. Both of these standpoints on 'embodiment' are summarily described, and then detailed in turn.

- 1. Rich, Embodied Interaction The former application of the term represents 'embodiment' from the standpoint of the user. This defines the class of design problems addressed in design space mapping—those that elicit rich, embodied interactions. An embodied interaction [43] is simply a physical interaction that a person may have with a product while both are situated in a real environment. The additional qualifier of 'rich' [44] is included to indicate that: 1) the interaction is based on not only inherent attributes of said product, but also factors in the characteristics or predispositions of the person, as well the situated environment for which they interact, and 2) the outcomes of said interaction are not only predicated on the technical performance that the product is engineered to achieve, but also the experiential (i.e., emotional, cognitive, or perceptual) responses that its use elicits in a person, or allows them to achieve within the context of some real-world task. Rich, embodied interactions of this nature often involve haptic feedback of some kind.
- 2. Embodiment Design The latter application of the term represents 'embodiment' from the standpoint of the designer. This defines the design tasks that are supported by this framework—those that fall under the umbrella of embodiment design. Simply put, embodiment design [19] is the act taking an idea for a product and bringing it into the real-world. The idea for the product, i.e., the concept, broadly defines what the product is/does, but there are essentially infinite manners in which that idea may be executed. Through the act of embodiment design, the specifics of this qualitative idea are determined such that the product may be concretely defined by some set of quantitative parameters. These parameters enable the product to be constructed in the real world, and serve to measurably distinguish the selected configuration from the hypothetical alternative options.

1.2.1. Rich, Embodied Interaction: The Artifact, User, and Context

Humans (i.e., *users*) and products (i.e., *artifacts*) both inhabit the physical environment; users may touch, manipulate, and physically interact with artifacts in all manner of ways [45-47]. This physical manifestation is the essence of embodiment. Embodied interactions are those that are situated in the physical world and produce real (if not explicitly physical) outcomes [43]. In contrast to 'embodiment', a macro trend of 'dematerialization' may be observed in product design today. This occurs when artifacts that were previously embodied in the physical world become incorporated into a digital one, e.g., records/CDs evolving into music streaming services, coins and paper money converting to digital currencies and transactions, books being replaced by tablets and e-readers, etc. [48]. By dematerializing, products are released from their physical bounds and afforded unlimited flexibility and availability in a digital environment [43,48,49]. However, much of our interaction with digital products is reduced to so-called 'picture-under-glass' interactions [50] that lack the level rich, engaging feedback afforded by physical interactions [44,51], which users often prefer, e.g., [52–56]. In fact, physical interactions are unique in the sense that physical touch (i.e., haptics) is the only sensory modality that is inherently interactive-when you touch a physical artifact, that artifact touches you back [57]. As such, a counter movement against the trend of 'dematerialization' may be observed as well [48], ergo the recent explosion of mechanical keyboard subcultures based around users' common enjoyment of the auditory and haptic feedback, e.g., [58,59]. This movement is, in a sense, a rediscovery of traditional product design [47], akin to the pining for the *rich* interactions afforded by historical instruments of old [60].

"For years radios had been operated by means of pressing buttons and turning dials; then as the technology became more sophisticated the controls were made touch-sensitive—you merely had to brush the panels with your fingers; now all you had to do was wave your hand in the general direction of the components and hope. It saved a lot of muscular expenditure of course, but meant that you had to sit infuriatingly still if you wanted to keep listening to the same programme [sic]."

- Douglas Adams, A Hitchhiker's Guide to the Galaxy, 1980 [61]

However, this refocusing on rich, embodied interactions certainly holds relevance in modern product design beyond surface-level nostalgia. The haptics afforded by physical interaction provide demonstrable utility in improving design outcomes. *Tactile haptics*⁶ [62] in smartphones (e.g., vibration), for instance, may improve operation time, error rate, and overall satisfaction [63–66]. *Kinesthetic haptics*⁷ [62] in Human-Machine Interfaces (HMIs) have been shown to aid users in obtaining environmental information through torque or force feedback [67]. For instance, kinesthetic haptics in steering wheels can improve drivers ability to complete maneuvers such as negotiating a curve or maintaining a lane [68,69]. Similar improvements can be seen in the operation of industrial machinery [70,71]. Medical operations have seen improved success rates when implementing haptic feedback in surgical devices [72–74]. The use of haptics have shown benefits for learning and early development [75,76]. Satisfaction or fascination with products can arise due to the aesthetics of these haptics [57,77], and the behavior of consumers may ultimately be influenced by the physical feeling of use [78–81]. The *richness* of these embodied interactions goes beyond their simple existence in the physical world; they engage the user, leverage their natural skills [44,82], stimulate emotional response [83], and impart perceptual meaning into the use of these physically-interactive artifacts [45,46].

While the *technical* performance of an artifact is dictated by its own internal properties, *experiential* responses to its interaction are *not* an inherent property of said artifact [84]. In a rich, embodied interaction, the experience is equally dependent on the qualities of the *user* themself [44] (see also [84]). Furthermore, *embodiment* implies an inherent situatedness within an environment [43]. All rich, embodied interactions may therefore be attributed to *three fundamental actors*: the *artifact*, the *user*, and the *context* of use [85–95], i.e., "a user interacts with some subset of features and affordances [of the artifact], based on location in a context, prior experience, and current emotional state" [96]. In simplistic terms, it comes down to the person, the place, and the thing. These actors serve as the fundamental elements of this phenomenon, for which the EDC framework is *ontologically*⁸ derived in Chapter 2. Each of these actors may be used to classify both the *factors*—externalities that influence the rich, embodied interaction—and the *outcomes*— technical or experiential measures to assess the design solution—of which the engineering designer may consider in their formulation of the problem space. Each of these actors is discussed in turn.

⁶ Tactile haptics: Physical feel relating to surface texture or vibrations; felt through our skin.

⁷ Kinesthetic haptics: Physical feel relating to motion or force; felt through our muscular effort.

⁸ Ontology: A system for defining, classifying, and relating concepts on fundamental level.

1.2.1.1. The Artifact

First and foremost, the *artifact*, i.e., the product, is the subject of the design problem. This is something that is *physically-interactive*, and typically imparts some sort of feedback (e.g., haptic feedback) or response to said interaction. When considering rich, embodied interaction from an *industrial design* perspective, one formal description of the artifact characterizes it in terms of three properties [44]: its *form*,' its *function*,' and its *interaction*' (see also [97,98]). In this description, the 'form' represents the physical layout of the artifact, the 'function' represents the tasks that the artifact carries out, and the 'interaction' represents the 'feel' or feedback of physically engaging with the artifact [44]. Unlike dematerialized products, the *coupling* of these properties is inherent to their physical embodiment [93]. A digital product may be able to decouple its 'form,' 'function,' and 'interaction,' such that each property may be designed separately; it is not constrained by physical bounds. The design of physical products, on the other hand, must navigate certain *tradeoffs* that may exist due to these couplings [4,25,44,71,99,100]. Adjustments to one property may incidentally alter another, oftentimes in an indeterminant or detrimental manner [20].

It is in the 'form' or layout parameters that the engineering designer may make these concrete adjustments—this is where the engineering design levers exist. Both the 'interaction' attributes of the artifact, as well as its technical 'function' are ultimately determined by these 'form' parameters (albeit with generally less emphasis on visual aesthetics and more on *structure*), "[t]hat is, the form of products mediates both the interaction and the expression of functionality" [97]. However, while this *industrial design* description is useful for conceiving these couplings, it is ultimately incomplete in capturing all of the properties of the artifact considered in *engineering design*, which extends to both those relating to the interaction, but also those that *persist* outside the scope of the interaction. Some argue that no *direct* coupling exists between 'form' and 'function' [35,101]; rather, this coupling is bridged through intermediary properties. These properties—both those that were already captured in this description and additional, intermediary properties—are discussed in terms of *factors* that contribute to consumer-facing qualities of the artifact, and the *outcomes* of the design problem that are specifically inherent to the artifact.

Artifact Factors – Consumers will oftentimes describe and understand artifacts as 'bundles of attributes' [12,28,102]; these can be continuous or categorical in nature [103]. Attributes of the artifact may be classified as either *responsive* or *persistent*. The former—*responsive attributes*—

are considered to be the *subset* of these attributes that may directly respond to user's interactions [96], i.e., those that describe the feel or reaction of a specific physical interaction (e.g., haptic feedback, system response, etc.). These responsive attributes *factor* into the rich, embodied interaction and ultimately influence design outcomes on the experiential level. However, there are also other attributes of the artifact—*persistent attributes*—that exist outside of this interaction and are relevant for determining engineering design outcomes on a technical level (e.g., strength, weight, cost, etc.). These are attributes that must also be *factored* in when considering the artifact as a complete product, not just as an influence on an interaction. In many cases, both the responsive and persistent attributes are generally not directly adjusted or designed by the engineering designer, but rather result from determinations made to the underlying form or layout parameters.

Artifact Outcomes – The 'function' is the ultimate determinant of why the artifact was created; this may be to meet the needs of the user or the performance objectives of the artifact [104]. However, 'function' is a contentious term in the field of design, the definition of which faces continued scrutiny [105]. In this dissertation, outcomes of a design problem may be considered to exist on two levels: 1) the technical level, which describes the engineering performance that the artifact is designed to achieve in a vacuum, and 2) the *experiential* level, which describes the responses or uses that the artifact may elicit once it is embodied in the real world. This division of outcomes on a 'technical' and 'experiential' level is commonly echoed in analogous terms throughout various literatures, such as the division of 'quality in design' and 'quality in use' [106,107], the division of 'functional requirements' and 'non-functional requirements' [108,109], or the division of 'technical solutions' and 'user-related features' [110], etc. Only outcomes on the technical level are an inherent property of the artifact, and are considered to be artifact outcomessomething that is fundamental to the artifact regardless of any rich, embodied interaction a user may have with it in some context (e.g., durability, affordability, etc.). This distinction therefore attributes the other outcomes, those that exist on the experiential level, to be properties of the other actors in the rich, embodied interaction.

1.2.1.2. The User

The user is the person who is physically interacting with the product in question. The user both *influences*, and is *influenced by* a rich, embodied interaction on an experiential level. These influences on the interaction are considered by *user factors* and *user outcomes*.

User Factors – The user has various inherent qualities that *factor* into their interaction with the artifact, i.e., characteristics that they may have *before* the interaction occurs. These may include emotions, feelings, values, prior experiences, cognitions [96], perceptions [111], motives, abilities, preferences [84], cultural differences [112], moods [113], expectations, goals, [114], concerns, attitudes, standards [115], skills [44], psychological or ideological predispositions [116] and other personal traits [77,117]. These factors serve as *top down information* that influences perception of the product [118] to the point that the user does differentiate it from the artifact itself [119,120]. More objective aspects (e.g., human factors/ergonomics [108,121], or demographic qualities (e.g., age, gender, ethnicity, culture, etc. [86,122]) may reasonably influence their interaction as well. As evidenced by the large number of *user factors* listed here—which, in and of itself is by no means holistic—the intrinsic qualities of the user that factor into the interaction may be quite complex and individualistic in nature. Specific subgroups may be designated as a target audience to narrow the possibilities of these user factors, e.g. [123]. However in practice, these factors are often considered as 'wildcards' that fall beyond the direct control of the designer which, nonetheless, should be accounted for to some degree [96].

User Outcomes – The outcomes of the interaction may also be reflected in the user through their experiential responses. In general, 'experience' is typically discussed in terms of user *experience* (UX) or *usability* [124,125] (although other paradigms, like *user acceptance*, exist as well [125–128]). UX is commonly defined as a "user's perceptions and responses that result from the use and/or anticipated use of a product, system or service" [129]; these perceptions/responses can include emotions, preferences, accomplishments, and even physiological responses [84,90,129–134]. However, UX is relatively complex [84,130,135–139] and broad [106], and is considered somewhat difficult to definitively characterize [77,91,94,98,130]. Other definitions exist, such as "the way [an artifact] feels in [a user's] hands, how well they understand how it works, how they feel about it while they're using it, how well it serves its purpose, and how well it fits into the entire context in which they are using it" [140]. Alternatively, usability may be defined as "the extent to which a system, product or service can be used by specified users to achieve specified goals with effectiveness, efficiency and satisfaction in a specified context of use" [141,142]. Additional constructs, such as learnability [143–145], are often considered within this scope as well [125,146]. The relationship between the concepts of 'UX' and 'usability' is fuzzy [139] and has evolved over time [91]. UX has been considered a subset of usability [147], both as

distinct concepts [106,148], and more recently, usability as a subset of UX [98,106]; this shift has generally coincided with the rise in popularity of UX [149]. For this dissertation, this line is drawn between those outcomes that are *internal* to that user, and those that are *external*, i.e., those that are only measurable through the completion of a task within the context of use. The former are considered to be the *user outcomes*, e.g., *subjective* perceptions or *physiological* responses that may be measured directly from the user to assess *internal* emotional, cognitive, or perceptual states. The latter are considered to be contextual in nature.

1.2.1.3. The Context

Finally, the context is the situation for which the interaction takes place. Note that while the interaction is embodied in the physical world, its *outcomes* may be reflected in either a *physical or digital environment*. As stated, the outcomes of embodied interaction must be *real*, but not necessarily *physically-so*. For instance, *tangible user interfaces* (TUIs) are devices that afford rich, embodied interactions within the physical world that influence digital environments [150–153]. The context therefore also both influences a rich, embodied interaction, and may be used to assess outcomes of said interaction.

Context Factors – The context for which the interaction takes place shapes the interaction itself, and factors into the resulting experience outcomes. *Context factors* for a rich, embodied interaction may include aspects of the physical environment (or digital in the case of TUIs) [29,117,154], but also may be considered by the social, economic [84], or organizational settings [114] that influence the interaction to take place. The influence of context may by illustrated by the anecdote, "a convertible in one's garage is not the same as driving open-topped through lush hills on a beautiful summer evening" [155]. Consider the differences between having a coffee at a conference versus in a coffee house; the person is the same, the artifact, i.e., the coffee mug, is the same, but the experience can vastly differ; the context differentiates the two [96]. What is designated as the 'context' depends entirely on one's perspective. An artifact may be the subject of the design process for one designer (e.g., the architect of the conference building or coffee house), but may be considered as a context factor by another (e.g., the designer of the coffee mug). What may be a pleasant interaction in one context, may be distinctly unpleasant in another. However, unlike the definite bodies of the artifact and the user, the context can be more ambiguous

and less controllable, such that some explicitly omit this component from their consideration, e.g., [130].

Context Outcomes – Some elements of the experiential design outcomes may be considered contextual as well. While subjective and physiological responses are representations of cognitive or emotional states that are explicitly internal to the user, other outcomes—typically those in the realm of usability—are only meaningful within the context of the interaction. Some call for the explicit distinction between measures of emotional stimulation and those of task completion [111]. For instance, measures such as efficiency or effectiveness are measured in relation to the completion of a task that takes place in an environment, rather than an internal state of the user (e.g., satisfaction). Consider two users who ride two different bikes. One of these users could be an Olympic cyclist, while the other could be a small child; one of their bikes may be a finely tuned instrument, while the other may be a rusted scrap that falls apart after a one-kilometer ride. Naturally, both of these artifacts (the bikes) will perform differently and both users (the riders) will have different internal responses to riding them. However, the overall effectiveness is dependent on the task. If this is to ascend France's legendary Mont Ventoux, (i.e., the 'Beast of Provence'), it is reasonable to infer that one of these combinations of user and artifact may be more predisposed to effectively completing this task than the other. However, if the task is to simply ride down the block, both combinations may ultimately be effective regardless of the internal subjective or physiological responses that are elicited by this interaction. The task completion is assessed through measurements that are external to the user, and these are therefore considered to be context outcomes in this dissertation.

1.2.2. Embodiment Design: Analysis, Synthesis, and Evaluation

For rich, embodied interactions to occur, the artifacts must first be embodied in the real world. *Embodiment design* is the stage of the design process in which a *qualitative* concept or idea is translated of an into a form that may be physically represented, through the determination of specific *quantitative* parameters [19] (e.g., those relating to the form or layout). This stage is the focus of the work this dissertation. In embodiment design, the engineering designer seeks to answer questions such as "What are the values of key design parameters?" and "What is the configuration of components and assembly precedence relations?" [5]. This conversion from 'conceptual' to 'tangible' is a core skill of a designer [97]. The Embodiment Design Cartography

framework is intended to support design tasks in the embodiment design stage of the overall design process. Before this framework may be discussed, it is necessary to first clarify exactly what design tasks pertain to embodiment design, and which tasks fall outside this scope.

There exist a variety of process models that are used to characterize the general steps of determining design solutions, e.g., [12,156–160]. One widely regarded design process model for systematic engineering design categorizes the overarching process in three distinct stages: *conceptual design, embodiment design*, and *detail design* [19]. In the conceptual design stage, the engineering designer starts with the assessment of the problem and conducts a search for viable solutions, i.e., concepts. In the embodiment design stage, the engineering designer starts with a selected concept and specifies the layout, form, or structure of the product to best meet objectives related to the design outcomes. In the detail design stage, the engineering designer starts with a definitive embodiment of the product and clarifies all specifications or production documentation to ensure economic feasibility. There is iteration between each of these stages as needed. In general, the embodiment design stage is considered to address the *layout*, while the conceptual and detail design stages are concerned the *principle* and the *production* of the product, respectively [12,19].

Another foundational description of modern, systematic engineering design defines three fundamental processes: *analysis*, *synthesis*, and *evaluation* [161,162]. Design analysis is the process of assessing the current state of some system and determining the needs, problems, or requirements to address. Design synthesis is the process of generating solutions to meet these needs or requirements. Design evaluation is the process of measuring the success of the proposed solutions in addressing the identified problems. These three processes provide a rational basis for systematic design procedures; without their explicit consideration, they may otherwise be circumvented to the detriment of the engineering designer [12].

The latter of these process models describes the activities that are completed in design, while the former prescribes *to what end* they are conducted. In this dissertation, these two seminal process models are overlaid to form the *Stage-Process* (S-P) model of design, illustrated in Figure 2. In the S-P model, the specific tasks of each of the fundamental processes (i.e., analysis, synthesis, and evaluation) are divided across the three stages of the design process (i.e., conceptual, embodiment, and detail design). The processes in the embodiment design stage of this model serve as the fundamental processes for which the Embodiment Design Cartography (EDC) framework is epistemologically⁹ and methodologically¹⁰ derived in Chapter 2. The design process generally flows from the conceptual, to the embodiment, to the detail design stages, and within each stage, from analysis, to synthesis, to evaluation. This process is iterative, so the engineering designer may revert back to any prior task as needed. All stages are described here, but *only embodiment design is focused on in this work*.

Stage-Process	Analysis		Synthesis		Evalutation
Conceptual Design	Assess the needs or problems of users.		Generate concepts or ideas to address these needs.		Measure and compare the potential performance, difficulty, or viability of each concept.
	>		<u> </u>		$ \longrightarrow $
Embodiment Design	Assess how the actual technical or experiential outcomes of the selected concept are formed.		Generate the layout of new configurations of the concept, and manifest these into physical forms.		Measure the resulting changes to the technical performance or experiential responses.
	↓		<u> </u>		\vdash
Detail Design	Assess what specifications are needed to produce the product at scale.		Generate final drawings, specifications, or production documentation.		Measure the economic performance against market share, production costs, etc.

Figure 2. The Stage-Process (S-P) model of design. The overall design process is described by three fundamental processes: *analysis, synthesis,* and *evaluation.* These processes are repeated within each design stage: *conceptual design, embodiment design,* and *detail design.* The tasks that each process entails for each stage are described in this model. These tasks are iterative such that the designer may revert back to earlier processes or stages at any point. The Embodiment Design Cartography framework is intended to address the three fundamental process within the *embodiment design* stage (highlighted).

The Stage-Process model grounds all discussions of the design process in this work. While the focus of this ultimately centered around embodiment design, this model not only clarifies which specific activities are supported the EDC framework, but also which activities fall outside the intended scope of this framework, in other stages of design. The design problems presented in this work all center around the embodiment design stage. They begin with the principal idea of the concept already determined, and do not address the production of the product after the layout is

⁹ Epistemology: A system for gathering or constructing knowledge about a phenomenon.

¹⁰ Methodology: A system for applying rules or procedures for a particular task.

determined. The design space mapping serves to illustrate all the options for the structural form or layout that the physical embodiment of product may take in the solution space, within the lens of the external factors or outcomes that make up the problem space in a rich, embodied interaction. There are a variety of existing design methods that may be employed to support these processes.

1.3. Current Design Methods State of the Art

A design method is a specification for how the problem space is formulated, what the inputs (i.e., design levers) and outputs (i.e., the design outcomes) are, what tools may be used (e.g., graphical or statistical tools) for modeling the solution space, and what procedures are followed [163]. Design methods are subject to extensive research [108,164,165] across various disciplines [164]. Five established design methods originating across different fields are examined for this review: 1) Function-Behavior-Structure, 2) Quality Function Deployment, 3) Kansei Engineering, 4) Conjoint Analysis, and 5) Axiomatic Design. Each of these methods were selected for this review as representatives of different disciplines or perspectives that participate in design. These include engineering (FBS), project management (QFD), psychology (KE), and marketing (CA). Although not necessarily in name, it may be considered that each of these design methods themselves construct a sort of design space map, in various forms. Each helps to structure some of the considerations made in the problem space, and compare options in the solutions space.

In terms of the *design journey*, each of these design methods could be equated to different maps to the same cave system, which were each created for their own purpose. The treasures, i.e., the solution space, they lead to may differ. For instance, one could be a map of the locations of rare earth metal deposits. Another could be a map of ancient archeological sites. Still another could reveal areas that rare microorganisms inhabit. Each of these maps may therefore emphasize different areas of the cave, i.e., problem space, which are particularly relevant to their specific endeavors. In each of these cases, the map they provide may be drawn to different levels of detail to suit these respective needs—some may necessitate detailed topology, while a rough hand sketch on the back of a napkin may be sufficient for others. Similarly, each design method may consider different levels of *fidelity*. Furthermore, just as each map of the cave serves a unique purpose, each design method may support unique processes in the Stage-Process model of design (see Figure 2).

Ultimately, each may provide unique cartographic tools for design space mapping, including different conceptual classification systems to formulate the problem space, different quantitative modeling techniques to characterize the solution space, and different numerical or visual systems to compare options in the design space. Each of these design methods considers different factors and outcomes in rich, embodied interaction, and navigates between them through different activities that span the embodiment design processes (as well as other stages of design). These design methods are reviewed in turn.

1.3.1. Function-Behavior-Structure

The Function-Behavior-Structure (FBS) framework [13,166,167] is posed as a generic engineering description of the design process for any artifact [168,169]. FBS is centered around the core components of 'function'-what the artifact is for, 'behavior'-what the artifact does, and 'structure'—what the artifact consists of [29,35,170–172]. For instance, a house/shelter could characterize its 'function' to be 'comfortable,' and 'affordable.' Its 'behavior' could then be characterized by the 'strength,' 'weight,' and 'cost'; the 'function' and 'behavior' may be quite closely linked, i.e., the relation between 'cost' and 'affordable' is a simple linear proportionality. Finally, its 'structure' would be characterized by the 'geometry of the floors, walls, ceilings, etc.' [171], i.e., its layout or form. FBS also describes several design processes for maneuvering between these domains [35] to address both the problem space and solution space [11]. Situated FBS is an evolution to this original work, which accounts for the perspective of the designer in this process [35,171,173]. FBS has been used to develop general design tools [174], identify cognitive patterns or schemes in design students [11], and support inventive problem-solving [175] or usage-driven innovation [10]. This framework is well established within the design community [176,177] and has been applied as a means for both understanding the design process and supporting applied design endeavors [178].

The procedure detailed by FBS involves propagating the 'function' down through the 'behavior,' into the 'structure.' The 'functions' may either be directly defined by the designer according to desired technical performance [168,170], or propagated by higher level needs/requirements [169]. Some divide these 'functions' between those that are manual and those that are automatic [168]. The 'structure' may then be defined through functional analysis [179,180], and is evaluated according to its ability to meet the criteria defined by the 'function'

[168]. In situated FBS [35,171,173], two distinct versions of 'behavior' are subsequently described—the '*expected behavior*', i.e., the 'behavior' that was intended to fulfil the 'function', and the '*structure behavior*', i.e., the 'behavior' that is actually realized by the 'structure.' These two versions of 'behavior' may be directly compared to evaluate the success of the design.

However, FBS is not without criticism, e.g., [10,105,169,178]. The method originated out of engineering and is primarily directed at design outcomes on a technical level, rather than the experiential [108,168]. In this vein, FBS provides limited support of user or context factors. This may be attributed to the framework's lack of *flexibility* in the problem space formulation, i.e., "the need for flexible representation of different levels of abstraction is necessary in capturing problem formulation data [in FBS]... [S]ources (e.g. customer needs, regulations, conditions of the operating environment), and the mating conditions among components help improve capturing more of the formulation space and thus opening potential ways for the discovery of paths to creative outcome" [176]. Several practitioners have noted these absences [181,182], and have proposed different extensions to incorporate the 'user' [168] and 'external effects' [103] into the FBS formulation.

1.3.2. Quality Function Deployment

Quality Function Deployment (QFD) is an organizational planning and *project management* method for relating 'customer requirements' and 'engineering characteristics' [183–188]. The preeminent goal of QFD is to set targets of the 'engineering characteristics' that optimally satisfy the 'customer requirements' [187]. QFD originated in Japan in the 1960-70s and later gained popularity in the US in the 1980s [183,188–198], its original meaning is approximately translated as, "strategic arrangement (deployment) throughout all aspects of a product (functions) of appropriate characteristics (qualities) according to customer demands" [12]. The use of QFD had been reported to reduce development time and costs [17,99], reduce the number of necessary iterations and design changes, improve user's perceptions of quality and reliability, and increase market share [199–204].

The implementation of Quality Function Deployment is primarily built around a graphical matrix known as the House of Quality (HOQ) [99], although additional matrices may be used to further link the 'engineering characteristics' to 'part characteristics,' even further relating those to manufacturing 'process variables' [205,206]. To formulate the problem space in QFD analysis, the

dimensions of the 'customer requirements' are first determined through market research techniques, and their relative importance is weighted [12,183]. These are entered into the HOQ matrix against the 'engineering characteristics,' and the strength of their relation is approximated in the body of this matrix via symbols (e.g., strong, weak, or none) or with numeric scale. The relations between the 'engineering characteristics' are also similarly approximated in the head of this matrix. Each 'engineering characteristic' may be denoted with a '+' or a '-' according to whether the engineering designer wishes to maximize or minimize the parameter [12,186], if that knowledge is available. The relative importance of each can be used to weigh the priority given to the 'engineering characteristics' and 'customer requirements.' Users may interact with discrete configurations of the artifact (i.e., configuration A/B), and provide their ratings on a 5-point Likert scale [207]. Marketing methods such as 'hall tests' may be employed in this endeavor, in which users come in an physically interact with a few configurations of a product [12], and possible complete tasks with them to gauge context outcomes, not just user outcomes, i.e., subjective perceptions. Practically, this is feasible as there are only limited configurations/competitors to evaluate. These ratings then help the engineering designer determine 'engineering characteristic' targets for a theoretically improved design configuration [12].

This method aims to address the challenge in designing for user's abstract descriptions of their 'customer requirements' by equating them to more concrete 'engineering characteristics,' i.e., "the statement 'Want to use tool continuously' does not give a designer much useful information, but a desired Tool Mass of 3.0 Ibm and Peak Torque of 200 in lbf make the design problem much better defined" [186]. Additionally, the HOQ explicitly acknowledges the tradeoffs that exist within the design through the head of the matrix [12,186]. QFD provides designers with a useful index of how their current design configuration compares to competing configurations, and allows them to set targets for improvement while serving as a reminder of the couplings that exist within the artifact [186].

However, critiques of Quality Function Deployment are largely centered around the over reliance of intuition and the general vagueness of the insights [187,200,205,208,209]. The notional relations may have dubious mathematical validity [12] and do not always adequately reflect the true functional relations between these constructs [200,209–211], such that their utility for design is limited [186]. The identification and classification of the strength of these relations relies on the implicit knowledge, assumptions, or 'qualified guesses' [212] of the engineering designer, rather
than empirical measurement [12,204,205,213,214]. Many practitioners have worked to overcome the general impreciseness of QFD through implementation of *fuzzy logic* [215], e.g., [187,202,208,216–227]. In the body of the HOQ matrix, fuzzy regression may be used to characterize more precise functional relations between the 'customer requirements' and 'engineering characteristics' [187,228–230]. In the head of the HOQ matrix, engineering models have been used to augment the relations between the 'engineering characteristics' by characterizing functional relations between them and the underlying 'design parameters,' such that tradeoffs may be more precisely quantified [186].

These inherent limitations in the problem space formulation through Quality Function Deployment, however, have implications on the subsequent solution space. QFD does not afford a complete mapping of the available solution space, but rather enables comparison between discrete configurations or competitors [12]. This direct comparison may not afford the level of intuitive insight in what improvements may be available [190,205], which may be evident through a more robust mapping of the solution space. Engineering designers may use QFD to set individual targets for the 'engineering characteristics,' but it is not always guaranteed that said configuration is achievable [186]. The manual process for positioning new design configurations within the HOQ matrix is quite involved, and cannot be easily updated in real-time [208]. Additionally, the purpose of QFD is only to relate 'engineering characteristics' to 'customer requirements,' which typically preclude the artifact outcomes that are largely addressed by other engineering models. In other words, "the target levels of engineering characteristics are determined by considering ['customer requirements'] in a way to satisfy a single objective, which is maximizing overall customer satisfaction. In general, the satisfaction of ['customer requirements'] is not the only consideration in product design. Other requirements such as cost budget, technical difficulty, and extendibility also need to be considered" [187]. Factors of the context and user are also not expressly incorporated into QFD protocols.

1.3.3. Kansei Engineering

Kansei Engineering (KE, also known as Affective Engineering [213]) is an established method with roots in *psychology* for functionally relating the *'Kansei'*—or emotions—of the user to physical properties of artifact [213,231–235]. KE similarly emerged out of Japan in the 1970s [232]; the term 'Kansei' refers to the users internal emotional, cognitive, or physiological

responses [232] that are reflexively prompted through product stimuli [233]. KE has been extensively implemented to promote the emotional design of a wide range of successful products, e.g., the Mazda Miata and its heralded 'joyful driving' [234,235].

The general Kansei Engineering procedure is centered around defining the dimensions of two domains or vector spaces-the 'semantic space' and the 'properties space'-and then characterizing the transformation between them through a Kansei Engineering System (KES) [212,231], e.g., [236–239]. The dimensions of the 'semantic space' are defined by 'Kansei words' [233,240]. Classically, these are subjective perceptual descriptors (e.g., 'luxurious'), although this has been expanded to include physiological responses as well [213,241-243]. A variety of techniques may be used to determine these dimensions, such as the consultation of experts, pertinent literature, or target users [212]. The dimensionality of this domain can be quite high, reaching up to 600 descriptors in some instances [244]. The 'properties space' is similarly defined; it is generally accepted that the dimensions of this domain already 'exist'-so-to-speak-as observable attributes of the artifact [231]. The task of the designer is to select those that are most influential on the 'semantic space'. Due to lack of necessity, there are comparatively fewer specialized techniques developed to aid the characterization of these 'properties space' dimensions [212,231]. Users then evaluate artifacts that embody the specified dimensions of the 'properties space' over the dimensions of the 'semantic space' through Likert [207] or Semantic Differential scales [245], e.g., [236]. The subsequent KES is quite beneficial for measuring embodied design configurations in terms of user's emotions [243,246], and is primarily used as such [243].

Whereas QFD relies on expert knowledge or assumptions to *notionally* characterize relations between these domains, the KES employs statistical methods to *empirically* characterize these relations, e.g., [213]. A wide variety of statistical methods may be employed in this service [213] (e.g., Quantification Theory Type I [213], II [212,231], or III [213], linear regression [247], generalized linear models [248], discrete choice models [246], neural networks [249], fuzzy logic [213,250], genetic algorithms [251], rough set models [213,252–255], etc.). In fact, KE protocols largely refrain from specifying the statistical methods to use, such that a wide variety of pre-existing statistical techniques may be supported [231]. The use of these statistical methods enables additional consideration of 'customer groups' [212], i.e., user factors, and 'contexts' [256], i.e., context factors, in this analysis. With these mathematical models, a map of the solution space may be graphically visualized (e.g., via density, scatter, or contour plots) to display the positioning of

discrete design configurations in relation to more abstract outcomes [213]. For instance, "a threedimensional contour map is created for the specific Kansei word. Kansei evaluation value for each sample is added as a height value augments the map [sic]. Then a smooth contour that interpolates between the Kansei values of the samples is computed by a local regression method. The proposed methodology creates a three-dimensional contour map that helps researchers to recognize both the linear and nonlinear relationship" between the 'semantic space' and the 'properties space' [213].

One criticism of Kansei Engineering is that the 'properties space' is typically comprised of mainly categorical variables (e.g., color, shape) in practice, which precludes the possibilities for innovation or intuitive interpolation of more optimal design configurations within a continuous solution space [243,257]. Another criticism is that KE evaluation is either conducted on twodimensional representations of artifacts [213,231,243,257], or physically-interactive artifacts that already exist [246,257]; there are limited mechanisms in KE for actually physically creating new design configurations that may be subsequently evaluated [258], especially given the potentially large amount of design configurations necessary to achieve a statistically reliable result [212]. The use of two-dimensional product images to attenuate this issue, e.g., [234], is not commensurate with rich, embodied interaction; a picture/description of a hammer does not provide the same stimulus as physically swinging the actual object [259]. Physically-interactive artifacts are relatively less studied in KE [236], but this is not to say they are incompatible. Several practitioners have successfully applied KE to *evaluate* artifacts that afford haptic feedback (e.g., keyboards [236,260], switches [238,256,261], rotary dials [262], etc.). These studies have found strong correlation between the domains when haptic feedback is involved [236], but have been limited in their creation of new, physically-interactive design configurations, which may be prohibitively costly [231]. Virtual reality (VR) is another avenue that has been explored in this regard [213], but again is insufficient for simulating the physical engagement of rich, embodied interaction (at current technological capabilities).

Additionally, the statistical model must be *validated* before it can be used for embodiment design synthesis [212,231]. However, the high dimensionality of KES domains can be critically detrimental [108,263] to statistical power [264], and introduce issues of multicollinearity in linear models [213]. Post-hoc dimensional reduction techniques can address these issues [213], but from a practical standpoint, this high dimensionality can also be prohibitive to user evaluation due to induced fatigue or boredom [212]. In practice, this dimensionality may be limited or reduced *prior*

to evaluation, through various techniques such as pilot studies or factor analysis [212,248]. In spite of these efforts, the resulting model validation still typically comes at the end of the design process—on the finished product [234,244]—but this can result in long, costly iterations [231]. KE can already be quite time intensive, so efficiency and minimizing iterations [108,265,125] in validation is critical.

This method also does not explicitly address the underlying form or layout of the artifact, which likely explains the issues some have raised in translating KE insights into concrete engineering design decisions, e.g., [246]. While factors of the user and context may be considered in this method, they are not typically incorporated directly into the transformations described by the statistical models. KE is also inherently dedicated to outcomes on the experiential, i.e., emotional, level and therefore does not address context or artifact outcomes.

1.3.4. Conjoint Analysis

Conjoint Analysis (CA) is a popular *marketing* method that has since been adopted for product development. This method is used to statistically relate 'product attributes' to users' *utility* through a preference model [266–269]. CA was developed throughout the 1960s and 70s [266,270–272] and has seen continuously growing application since its inception [15]. CA is commonly used to determine *part-worth utilities* and *relative importance weights* of the 'product attributes' (Artifact-What) [16,273]. In engineering design, this method has been widely implemented for optimization, e.g., [274–278]. CA has an extensive track record of promoting innovative engineering design [279].

The Conjoint Analysis protocol generally follows several discrete steps [15,266]:

- 1. First, the form of the preference model is selected. The part-worth utility function is typically used in modern CA [280]; this is the basis for determining the partial utility for each individual attribute of the artifact [266,281].
- Second, the relevant attributes of the artifact that define the problem space, i.e., the artifact factors, are parameterized through literature reviews, expert input, interviews/focus groups [280], or simple observations [282], e.g., [34,283–286], although formal support for this parameterization is somewhat limited [287]. These attributes are then discretized across

the span of this continuous space on several levels that comprise the design configurations that are presented to the user, e.g., [34].

- 3. Third, the evaluation format and experimental design of the Conjoint survey may be selected. This could through basic rankings or ratings [288,289], or more complex formats such as a pair-wise design, i.e., Choice-Based Conjoint analysis (CBCA), in which users select between several alternative design configurations instead of rating each one, or an adaptive design i.e., Adaptive Conjoint analysis (ACA) [267,290,291], in which each subsequent design configuration presented to the user is based off of their responses to the prior [290,292,293]. CBCA is generally favored for determining cost, while ACA is preferred for smaller sample sizes [294].
- 4. Fourth, the manner in which the artifact is *represented* is determined across a continuum of *fidelity* [34]. The artifact could be presented as a verbal description of the attributes (low-fidelity) [15], a visual representation, e.g., 2D image (medium-fidelity) [15,28,288,295–300], or a physical prototype (high-fidelity) [301–306]. There are advantages and drawbacks to each representation style [266,267,305]. Lower fidelity representations require fewer recourses to produce, but may not adequately communicate the relevant attributes of the artifact to the user [305]. Higher fidelity representations can better forecast real preference [34].
- 5. Finally, the survey may be conducted and the resulting utilities are subsequently estimated using some statistical model (e.g., logit or probit models for CBCA) over the continuous solution space [280].

In terms of rich, embodied interaction, 'utility' can represent different outcomes depending on the experimental design of the Conjoint survey. For CBCA, the act of choosing a preferred design configuration among alternatives is a simulation of *purchasing* the product in the marketplace. Judgements such as 'purchasing' are aggregate decisions based on design outcomes on both the technical and experiential level [17,34,169,278,307,308], but are not necessarily a direct measurement of either outcome individually. However, other formats—like ratings—are based solely on user's subjective perceptions, and are therefore formatted to capture the user outcomes directly. While CBCA can theoretically encompass all of these multifaceted design outcomes into utility by measuring 'purchase intention,' this aggregation can lead to less accurate preference models across the solution space in comparison to formats that measure outcomes individually, such as through ratings [278,282,288,289]. Additionally, CBCA requires simultaneous evaluation of multiple design configurations, which can cause cognitive overload when the representation of the artifact is of higher-fidelity (e.g., a physically-interactive prototype) and ultimately impede judgements [309–311]. Rating-based formats that measure subjective perceptions are therefore recommended in these applications [34].

The primary benefit of Conjoint Analysis lies not only within the discrete *evaluations* of the parameterized design configurations over the select discretizations, but in the ability to prescriptively apply the estimated preference model to *synthesize* new design configurations over the span of the continuous solution space [15,34,282]. "[S]ince the discrete levels... can represent continuous variables, the extracted preference models can, and often do, result in concept designs that were not presented to the respondents but are interpolated from within the design space. These emergent concept designs match consumer and user preferences but have not yet been seen or assessed by said users and consumers" [282]. With these newly synthesized design configuration, corresponding representations of these artifacts may be generated—*automatically*, if technologically feasible [295]—and subsequently evaluated to validate the preference model's ability to predict user preference over the continuous design space, e.g., [295]. This may be applied to both conceptual design innovations and embodiment design improvements [15], and can help in both reducing design iterations [282] and efficiently allocating resources [34].

However, Conjoint Analysis is limited when dealing with physically-interactive artifacts. Conjoint surveys require a large number of evaluations on different design configurations to construct the preference model across the continuous solution space [15,34,280,282]. For rich, embodied interaction, these design configurations must be represented by physical prototypes to adequately communicate important attributes, i.e., artifact factors, such as haptic feedback to users. In terms of cost, time, and space, physical prototypes are by far the most resources intensive representation of an artifact that may be used in CA [34,279,305], in which a large number of costly prototypes are necessary. This is especially challenging for adaptive experimental designs (i.e., ACA) or validation of preference models, in which newly synthesized design configurations must be rapidly generated. As such, CA is often conducted online/digitally using only visual or descriptive representations of the artifact, e.g., [28,279,288,295,297–300,312]. Similar to KE, virtual reality (VR) has also been explored for CA, e.g., [34,313,314], but again is insufficient for

simulating the haptics of rich, embodied interaction [43]. The use of physical prototypes in CA is certainly not non-existent, e.g., [301–304,315], but these endeavors remain quite resources intensive and are generally limited to simple artifacts that may be rapidly prototyped (e.g., 3D-printed coffee mugs) rather than complex devices that afford rich, embodied interaction (i.e., that can provide more complex, information-imbued haptic feedback), for which this method may be infeasible [34].

Another aspect of Conjoint Analysis that is somewhat of a double-edged sword is its lack of direct consideration of the form or layout of the artifact, which the engineering designer may directly control. On one hand, this effectively shields the users from the underlying complexity of this engineering [282]. However, this of course limits the applicability for engineering design. To address this limitation, practitioners have implemented Analytical Target Cascading (ATC) [316,317], a hierarchical engineering optimization method [318], as an extension to CA [28]. In this extension, an engineering model is constructed alongside the traditional preference model to link the concrete engineering design levers of the 'engineering parameters' to the preference model as well. However, this method did not create new physically-interactive prototypes, but rather relied on visual representations [28,282]. Beyond this extension, CA generally does not address user or context factors in the problem space.

1.4. Research Issues

Despite these extensive works on existing design methods, within the context of design space mapping, none of them are: 1) singularly capable of supporting *holistic* consideration of all of the factors and outcomes in rich, embodied interaction, and 2) uniquely advantageous in facilitating a *rigorous* mapping of the design space to not only understand what options are available, but also how to create them with available design levers. This is by no means a knock on these existing design methods; not every design problem requires the full consideration of every aspect of the rich, embodied interaction phenomenon, nor is it always feasible or even prudent to do so. These design methods were developed to address specific problems [163] and are each quite effective in their individual aims. To some extent, it is often possible to combine or integrates these methods such that a broader, more robust design space may be supported. For instance, there have been demonstrable combinations of several of the existing design methods, including KE + QFD [212,213,319,320], CA + KE [273], etc. In general, interest in understanding how different design

methods can complement each other has been growing in recent years [10]. However, there is not a clear delimitation of exactly which design methods may be integrated together and which cannot, as well where exactly their potential compatibility points may lie.

"Some methodologies cover the whole of the design sequence, others concentrate on important parts of it and may be fitted into other methodologies to improve their probability of aiding the solution of engineering problems."

- W. E. Eder, Definitions and Methodologies, 1966 [321]

This difficulty can be attributed to the fact that these design methods may each be considered as conceptual '*wrappers*' for the underlying considerations they support in their respective design spaces. These 'wrappers' contain the procedures, associated statistical or graphical tools, input/output designations, etc. [163], which are each built upon their own distinct taxonomies and/or ontologies. Design is a multidisciplinary field and nomenclature is often unstandardized; practitioners may use different terminologies to describe similar phenomena [21,171], and critical concepts can often have divergent definitions, e.g., [177]. For instance, it can be unclear as to how terms like 'engineering characteristics' in QFD and the 'properties space' in KE relate to one another, or whether they are actually describing the same concepts. These definitions can shift over time and even tend to be tweaked on a case-by-case basis to fit practitioners' specific needs.

While each these distinctions may have been originally made for independently logical or advantageous rationale, these 'wrappers' also define inherent *boundaries* between design methods [12] that impart difficulties in making direct comparison due to divergent terminologies [172]. As maps of the *design journey*, each design method may detail different passageways and treasures within the same cave system, but they often lack any sort of common landmarks or coordinates to enable their combination. A manner for bridging these boundaries—a *Rosetta Stone*, so-to-speak—is therefore needed to leverage existing design methods as tools in Embodiment Design Cartography.

Overall, the gap between the existing design methods and the desired capabilities for rigorous, holistic design space mapping spans four key research areas: 1) flexible formulation the problem space to capture all relevant considerations in rich, embodied interaction, 2) robust mathematical models to characterize the solution space through the processes of embodiment design, 3) novel

experimental techniques and procedures for supporting physical interactions and capturing varied design outcomes, and 4) operational design insights for innovating in real-world design problems. Each of these issues is detailed in turn.

1.4.1. Formulating the Problem Space

The formulation of the *problem space* is a specification of what considerations are made in the design problem. Based on the description of *rich, embodied interaction*, it is evident that are a wide variety of *factors* and *outcomes* that need be considered when translating the conceptual idea of a product into its physical form. Across the various factors and outcomes of the *artifact, user*, and *context*, down to the specific *layout* or *form* of the artifact that may be embodied, mechanisms are needed to systematically account for each of these considerations. While each design problem supported in this framework falls under the class of 'embodiment design,' each may also be unique in which considerations are relevant. A manner for *flexibly* formulating the problem space is therefore needed to tailor the design space map to the problem at hand.

1.4.2. Modeling the Solution Space

The model of the *solution space* is a specification for how options of achievable design configurations are understood in terms of the defined problem space. To not only map *what these options are*, but also *how to create them*, a mathematical model is needed to relate abstract design outcomes to concrete design levers, while accounting for any external factors. Modeling techniques for simultaneously supporting a variety of factors and outcomes on both a *technical* and *experiential* level are necessary. Through the processes of *embodiment design*, this model may be characterized according to the relations between these factors and outcomes (i.e., *analysis*), operationalized to create new design configurations (i.e., *synthesis*), and finally validated through user testing (i.e., *evaluation*). Mechanisms for supporting each of these processes are therefore needed to promote the construction of robust models of the solution space.

1.4.3. Developing Experimental Techniques & Procedures

The phenomenon of rich, embodied interaction entails a *physical interaction* with a real product that elicits *experiential* responses from an actual person; this interaction must also be situated in a relevant context or contexts. For this interaction to occur, a *physically-interactive prototype* is necessary, which can be an involved, time intensive process to produce. Additionally,

experiential responses are expressed through a wide variety of different channels (e.g., self-report, physiological responses, observation, etc.), which must be each be individually recorded and, if necessary, interpreted. However, the *real-time* generation of new, physically interactive prototypes based on these experiential responses is necessary to utilize adaptive experimental designs or to validate models. A suite of specialized experimental techniques and procedures are therefore needed to empirically measure (and ultimately model) interactions, and to generate high-fidelity prototypes within practical resource constraints (i.e., time, money, space, etc.).

1.4.4. Operationalizing Embodiment Design Cartography

The ultimate aim of embodiment design is to create products that provide the best possible outcomes of benefits in the real-world. Case studies for real-world design problems are necessary for bringing each of the prior research issues together-formulating the problem space, modeling the solution space, and developing experimental techniques and procedures-and operationalizing them for real design work. There are a variety of insights that that may be explored with design space maps, which each may be supported or extracted though visualizations of these maps. For one, different options in the solution space may be compared in terms of the outcomes they afford. The *tradeoffs* that may exist between these options in improving one outcome at the cost of another may be negotiated within the design space map. Alternatively, the manner in which different factors are brought into consideration may be examined as well. Information about specific users, for instance, could be incorporated to *personalize* the design space map to their specific needs or characteristics. Understanding how to navigate tradeoffs [322,323] and implement product personalizations [324,325] through customer input are two longtime issues that have plagued new product development [326]. A means for putting Embodiment Design Cartography into practice is therefore needed to extract these insights and apply them to address critical issues in real-world design problems.

1.5. Research Goals & Objectives

The goal of this research is to develop the comprehensive practice of *design space mapping* to enable the *holistic*, *rigorous* understanding of the available solutions that *physically-interactive* products may take in terms of a structured design problem. Three key research objectives are crucial to achievement of this goal:

- A Framework for Embodiment Design Cartography The first objective is to derive a conceptual framework to support the cartographic activities of design space mapping for design problems rooted in 'embodiment.' This includes supporting a *flexible problem* space formulation that may be tailored to specific design problems, and a selectively integrative solution space modeling that may leverage existing design methods.
- A Method for Navigating Tradeoffs in an Emerging Technology The second objective is to apply the EDC framework to develop and demonstrate modeling, experimental, and design techniques within the context of an emerging technology. These are needed to negotiate favorable tradeoffs between technical and experiential design outcomes using engineering design levers.
- 3. *A Method for Personalizing Options of an Established Technology* The third objective is to apply the EDC framework to develop and demonstrate *modeling, experimental*, and *design* techniques within the context of an *established* technology. These are needed to *personalize* the available product options by permitting the user to control their own *psychophysiological design levers*.

By successfully addressing each of these objectives, the conceptual groundwork is laid for the practice of design space mapping, and the utility of such a practice is demonstrated in two distinct applications that are particularly relevant in new product development.

1.6. Research Approach

In order to meet the research objectives and ultimately develop the practice of design space mapping, a 'Research Through Design' (RTD) approach [26,327,328] is employed in this dissertation. RTD stipulates that design knowledge may be generated on two levels: 1) the actual product that is produced, and 2) the general methods for its development [97]. In this way, the understanding of general procedures and methodologies is derived through their application to real-world design problems, e.g., [93,329]. For this approach, a general procedure is defined through the Embodiment Design Cartography (EDC) framework, and is applied to two case studies for the embodiment design of two different physically-interactive products. The operational validity of this framework may therefore be critically assessed in a real-world sense. This validation is conducted *incrementally*, i.e., "the validation of methods has to be an iterative

process, whereby different aspects of the method need to be assessed separately. At each stage, it is necessary to look at the scope, coverage and potential benefits of a method" [163]. Each case study is centered around a different aspect of the EDC framework, in which each problem space is formulated differently, and the associated solution space is modeled accordingly. This incremental development and validation allows for the assessment of intermediary results, which may be subsequently addressed [212]. Each chapter therefore aligns to a respective research objectives, and addresses a subset of the noted research issues.

1.6.1. A Framework for Embodiment Design Cartography

To derive the *conceptual framework* for Embodiment Design Cartography in Chapter 2, an *ontology*, an *epistemology*, and a *methodology* are each defined around the phenomenon of 'embodiment' for design space mapping. These three components, which provide the philosophical basis for any conceptual framework [330], are summarized in turn:

- 1. The EDC *ontology*—the classification of concepts and relations—is grounded on two core perspectives. First, every rich, embodied interaction may be described by an artifact, a user, and a context. Second, the description of these actors may be deconstructed across three different levels of *abstraction*: 1) *how* they are composed, i.e., the form/layout of the artifact, 2) *what* they are, and 3) *why* the product was created, on both a technical and experiential level. Every consideration in the problem space may be mapped onto an *Actor-Abstraction* (A-A) matrix, in which the two dimensions of this matrix are given by the respective actors and abstraction levels.
- The EDC *epistemology*—the construction of knowledge—establishes four principles for how data is treated in this framework, including how it is: 1) *directed* across the A-A matrix, 2) *collected* from different sources, 3) *propagated* between abstraction levels, and 4) ultimately *validated*. These principles serve to define how the options in the solution space are determined.
- 3. The EDC *methodology*—the manner for which it is operationalized—is based off of the embodiment design processes within the Stage-Process (S-P) model (see Figure 2). The specific steps of constructing a design space map are categorized within each of these core processes (i.e., analysis, synthesis, and evaluation). These activities dictate how the EDC

ontology and epistemology are applied in practice, and enable the solution space to be constructed for real-world design problems.

This framework is constructed to serve as a *boundary object* for existing design methods. A boundary object is a flexible tool that may be both broadly structured to support different perspectives that lack taxonomic consensus (i.e., the different design methods), but also precisely structured such that it may be tailored to a specific design problem. The derivation of this conceptual framework, the complete details of which are given in Chapter 2, addresses several key research issues.

Formulating the Problem Space – A system is defined for *graphically* mapping out the problem space formulation for a specific design problem within the broader structure of the A-A matrix. The problem spaces that are formulated by the existing design methods are each translated into the language of the EDC ontology and mapped out using this matrix. This serves to place each of the existing design methods in common terms—where they previously deviated—and allows for the identification of areas of overlap, therefore bridging their inherent boundaries. In terms of the *design journey*, these disparate maps of the cave system are redrawn to align to a common scale, such that they may then be overlaid. This highlights the flexibility of the A-A matrix to not only support each of these different existing design methods, but also opens the door for formulating *new* design methods.

Modeling the Solution Space – The solution space is constructed by modeling the relations defined in the problem space map within the A-A matrix. The characterization of these models is achieved through the principles of the EDC epistemology and steps of the EDC methodology. The former clarifies when *empirical study* is necessary versus when *analytical* modeling is appropriate based on the different sources of data for this model. The latter describes the several specific activities that may be conducted to facilitate the processes of analysis, synthesis, and evaluation of this model.

Developing Experimental Techniques & Procedures – The EDC methodology is used as a lens to critically examine each of the activities prescribed by existing design methods. By breaking each method down on this scale, it can be determined which embodiment design processes they support, and of these, which activities may be specifically advantageous in the context of design space mapping. These identified activities are *selectively integrated* into the EDC methodology as

tools to promote the efficient modeling of the solution space. Additionally, a technique for the efficient generation of physically-interactive prototypes is enabled by the *modularization* that the A-A matrix affords. In the EDC framework, prototypes are only used to elicit experiential design outcomes that require the rich, embodied interaction to occur for their manifestation. As such, only the *responsive attributes* (e.g., haptic feedback) of the product are necessary to product for said interaction to occur. These attributes may be replicated for design space mapping using alternate means or technological solutions than they would in the real-world. These alternative technological solutions may be *adaptive*, in that they can replicate multiple different configurations across the solution space without necessitating the resource-intensive construction of each configuration individually.

Operationalizing Embodiment Design Cartography – The EDC framework is employed to retroactively construct the design space maps given by existing design methods within a uniform structure. In this common scale, these design methods may be directly compared against each other to illustrate how their conceptions of the problem space, as well as their protocols for modeling the solution space, may vary. Additionally, this mapping can illustrate gaps that could suggest future work, and in some cases have already been addressed by extensions to these methods. This mapping can also reveal specific points compatibility between these existing design methods. However, this exercise does not yet address the creation of *new* design methods that are tailored to specific design problems, nor does it demonstrate utility of design space mapping for informing actionable design decisions.

1.6.2. A Method for Navigating Tradeoffs in an Emerging Technology

To develop a method (including modeling, experimental, and design techniques) for putting the EDC framework into practice, a case study for the design space mapping of a *pneumatic steering column* is conducted. The pneumatic steering column is a device that would be outfitted onto autonomous vehicles and allow for a limited-use steering wheel to be stowed or deployed by regulating pressure in a hollow, inflatable steering column. This *emerging* technology would be used to relinquish manual control back to the driver in emergency situations. However, while this technology would enable a novel stow/deploy functionality, it would also impart a unique feel to steering the vehicle. Both the *kinesthetic haptic feeling* of steering the vehicle, as well as its technical ability to be stowed (among other functions) would be impacted by the underlying form/layout of the steering column itself. Given the emerging nature of this technology, is not immediately evident as to what *tradeoffs* between these technical and experiential design outcomes may exist, nor is it apparent how to determine an option in the available solution space the provides a favorable balance. The EDC framework is therefore employed to map out the design space of this real-world design problem and provide rigorous, holistic insight to these specific challenges. This method, the complete details of which are given in 0, addresses several key research issues.

Formulating the Problem Space – Using the Actor-Abstraction matrix developed in the prior chapter, the problem space for this case study was formulated to bring experiential considerations into a technical design problem. Typical engineering design problems will take an 'artifact-centered' focus, in which the technical objectives relating to the artifact are propagated to—and generally, optimized by—adjustments to the parameters of its form/layout. In this formulation of the problem space, both the technical function (i.e., artifact outcomes) and the experiential response (i.e., user outcomes) were considered as equally critical outcomes to the design problem. External, environment attributes (context factors) were also considered to be especially relevant. The abstract design outcomes were both functionally related to the underlying form/layout of the device, where the concrete engineering designer levers were located. This ultimately represented a new problem space formulation within the A-A matrix, which is distinct from existing design methods.

Modeling the Solution Space – In order to model the solution space across the levels of abstraction, multiple mathematical models were characterized and a technique for *composing* these models was developed based on their natural functional forms. An *interaction model* was used to characterize how the rich, embodied interaction (i.e., twisting with the steering column) elicited experiential responses. This statistical model, which was based on perception to physical stimuli was composed on a *logarithmic scale* in accordance with the *psychophysical*¹¹ principle described in the Weber-Fechner law [331,332]. An *engineering model* was used to relate the responsive attributes of the steering column that were relevant to the rich, embodied interaction to the layout/form of said device. This mathematical model was based on *power law sensitivities*. When these power law sensitives were mapped into the logarithmic scale of the interaction model, the experiential design outcomes were related to the engineering design levers, and the power law

¹¹ **Psychophysical**: The psychology that pertains to how humans perceive physical stimuli.

sensitives became linear within this logarithmic scale. This enabled a *linear algebraic*-based exploration of the tradeoffs in the solution space.

Developing Experimental Techniques & Procedures – A user study (n = 57) was conducted to empirically construct and validate the solution space model. Using the prototyping technique afforded by the EDC framework, an *interaction prototype* for the pneumatic steering column was constructed, which could replicate a continuous range of potential design configurations across the solution space with high fidelity. This prototype was outfitted to a driving simulator, which simulated the physical environments in which the rich, embodied interaction of steering the vehicle occurred. Participants of the user study interacted with the prototype and provided their subjective responses. An *adaptive, self-validating* experimental design was employed, in which new design configurations were predicted based on participants prior responses and generated in real-time with the interaction prototype. These new design configurations were then immediately evaluated to validate the solution space model.

Operationalizing Embodiment Design Cartography – With the solution space model validated, the linear algebraic approach for exploring the solution space was employed to negotiate tradeoffs between design outcomes on the technical and experiential levels. The former power law relations of the engineering model—now linear in the logarithmic space—were represented as vectors on a contour plot for the interaction model. These overlayed vectors represented changes to the experiential design outcomes that would be achieved through relative adjustments to the concrete design levers. With this graphical system, *actionable* design insights for this emerging technology were uncovered with regards to how make adjustments that resulted in favorable tradeoffs between design outcomes, i.e., mitigating negative impacts on either the technical or experiential level in order to improve outcomes on the other.

1.6.3. A Method for Personalizing Options of an Established Technology

To develop another method (including modeling, experimental, and design techniques) for putting the EDC framework into practice, a case study for the design space mapping of an *infotainment controller* is conducted. The infotainment controller is a device that is used to navigate applications on the infotainment system, which is itself located on the dashboard of a vehicle. The rich, embodied interaction of rotating the dial on this controller provides *tactile haptic feedback* as it is used to scroll through menu items in various applications (e.g., contacts, volume).

This *established* technology is already employed several models of the Cadillac, however future variants may afford the potential for *personalizing* the feeling of rotating the dial to each individual. Despite the established nature of this technology, however, it remains unclear as to how individual preferences for this feeling may differ, nor is it apparent as to how these individual preferences may vary between different contexts (i.e., between different infotainment applications). The EDC framework is therefore employed to again map out the design space of this real-world design problem and provide rigorous, holistic insight to these specific challenges. This method, the complete details of which are given in 0, addresses several key research issues.

Formulating the Problem Space – The Actor-Abstraction matrix was used to formulate the problem space for this case study such that *user* was incorporated more directly into the design problem (in terms of both user *factors* and *outcomes*). In this formulation, multiple different kinds of experiential responses to the interaction were considered, including responses that were subjective, as well as those that were *physiological* in nature. The physiological responses were used to extract information on users' *latent* emotions/cognitions that distinguish their preferences. This latent information was captured by *psychophysiological* measures that were treated as design levers that the *user* could directly adjust to personalize the infotainment controller according to their individual differences. Additionally, the *context* for this interaction was given not by a physical environment, but rather by a *digital* one—the different infotainment applications factored into the rich, embodied interaction as well. Unlike physical contexts, the digital infotainment applications could fall under the control of the designer, and therefore be directly designed alongside the controller itself. As such, multiple different design levers could be adjusted in this formulation, including those relating to the controller (i.e., the artifact), those relating to the application (i.e., the context), and even those relating to latent emotions/cognitions (i.e., the user). This ultimately represented a new problem space formulation within the A-A matrix, which is distinct from existing design methods.

Modeling the Solution Space – To enable the solution space to be personalized in an efficient manner, modeling techniques were developed which allowed individuals to directly input their own psychophysiological measures. This technique was based off of a controls loop (i.e., a biocybernetic loop) that is commonly employed in physio-adaptive systems. In this loop, physiological responses to an interaction are measured and the product is adapted accordingly. However, whereas these adaptations are typically limited *pre-defined* adaptations to physiological

triggers, this loop is modified allow the physiological responses to be entered into an interaction model (i.e., a statistical model to predict the perception of physical stimuli) and used to generate new, personalized design configurations for each user. These personalized design configurations were then presented to the user for their evaluation. This modeling technique enabled individual users to personalize their model of the solution space in real-time without requiring them to expressly communicate their preferences. The latent information provided by psychophysiological measures could be passively collected with in-vehicle sensing capabilities, and therefore this could be scaled to large populations without increasing the effort of the designer.

Developing Experimental Techniques & Procedures – A user study (n = 60) was conducted to empirically construct and validate the solution space model. This study was conducted in two phases, each with a different study population. In the first phase $(n_1 = 40)$, participants interacted with the different configurations of the infotainment controller to complete tasks on several applications. Both subjective and physiological responses to this interaction were recorded and used to characterize the interaction model. Two versions of this model were made-one that included psychophysiological features, and one that omitted them. Infrastructure was developed to record, process, and interpret the physiological data (i.e., extract psychophysiological features) onthe-fly, and a technique for to selecting relevant metrics to include in the interaction model was developed using both machine learning algorithms and researcher-defined heuristics. In the second phase $(n_2 = 20)$, participants again completed tasks with the infotainment controller. Their individual physiological responses were processed and used to predict and generate new design configurations of the controller in real-time, which were then evaluated; new design configurations were also generated based off of the alternate interaction model that omitted physiological predictors, which were evaluated as well. A validation test was employed to compare these two models, and the one that was personalized with individual psychophysiological features was demonstrated to improve the overall accuracy of the solution space map.

Operationalizing Embodiment Design Cartography – With the model of the solution space, it was made evident as to how individual differences altered the solution space, and personalizations should be implemented. The formulation of the problem space for this case study permitted *multidisciplinary* design insights to be tied into the different design levers that were available. For the hardware designer who would control design levers relating to the infotainment controller, for instance, contour plots for the personalized solution space models were examined

to determine which attributes of the haptic feedback were worth personalizing (through individual design levers), and which should instead be coupled to the specific application. These insights, however, also exposed how to design levers of the infotainment *applications* could be adjusted. This informed how the software designer who would control these design levers could adjust the number of menu items to best fit the feeling of the controller, instead of the other way around. These explorations highlighted the variety of actionable design insights that could be made for this established technology.

1.7. Research Outcomes

Overall, each of the chapters in this dissertation contributed to addressing the overarching research issues in different ways. These contributions are summarized in turn.

- To address the need for a flexible manner of conceptualizing design problems, a framework
 was constructed with a broad organizational structure that could systematically describe
 any rich, embodied interaction. It was demonstrated how this could be used to precisely
 formulate the general usage of existing design methods, and also be tailored to new design
 problems that varied greatly in which considerations were relevant.
- 2. To address the need for robust modeling approaches for understanding the range of design options, knowledge from a wide variety of different sources was permitted to be used, and the conceptual rules for analyzing, synthesizing, and evaluating this knowledge were defined. Within this framework, techniques were developed for composing multiple models to couple abstract design outcomes and concrete design levers, and for augmenting the models with additional, latent information to improve their overall accuracy.
- 3. To address the need for practical experimental techniques of date collection, prototyping, and model validation, the procedures used in existing design methods were examined through the lens of the proposed framework to identify useful techniques that may be adapted for these aims. These were then applied and expanded upon in the two case studies, which each employed unique experimental designs and infrastructure to efficiently construct design space maps.
- 4. To address the need for translating these conceptual, modeling, and experimental foundations into useful design work, the framework was first applied as a tool for enabling

a comparative meta-analysis of existing design methods from a design research standpoint. It was then applied to two case studies of real-world technologies to inform actionable decisions from an industry standpoint. Visualizations were used in both cases to support the identification of useful innovations.

Overall, this dissertation lays the groundwork for establishing this practice of design space mapping, and supplies the engineering designer with a host of knowledge, techniques, and—most importantly—the *tool* of the design space map itself for tackling their own design problems within this new paradigm. Within this new paradigm, the design process may be viewed as a singular, top-down representation of all the decisions that are made and not made, rather than as a series of multiple decisions that are made to reach a solution. The potential impacts of the paradigm shift promoted by the contributions of this work could extend to both industry and academia.

Systematic Design Space Explorations – The engineering designer seeks to engage in the design problem in a rigorous, *systematic* manner, but also apply their creativity to *explore* different solutions. With a systematic manner for *formulating the problem space*, each aspect of the design problem must be expressly considered, and the problem itself may therefore be better understood. Misunderstanding the problem is one of the preeminent causes of failure in new product development [333], which this approach may help alleviate. Alternatively, with the combination of a *robust model of the solution space* to inform how a variety of different outcomes may be created, and *efficient techniques for prototyping* these new designs, the engineering designer is able to feasibly explore a wide variety of different configurations of the product with little resource expenditures. Reducing the time between iterations is another key issue facing new product development [326], which this approach may again help counter.

Data-Driven Product Innovations – The engineering designer ultimately aims to achieve *innovative* design insights through these systematic explorations. A common pitfall in new product development is focusing attentions on how to best deliver a current product, rather than how to deliver the best possible benefits [333]. By promoting a more *holistic formulation of the problem space*, supporting a wide variety of *different knowledge in the solution space model*, and developing *experimental techniques for collecting and processing multiple data channels*, product innovations may be *driven by data* on variety of different benefits, i.e., outcomes. This includes determining how to favorably balance technical and experimental benefits, and how to tailor

products based on physiological predispositions. By holding different types of data with equal regard, these innovations could reflect a more 'maximal use' of relevant information [333].

Multidisciplinary Collaboration – The engineering designer does not create products on their own, but rather works jointly with multiple different designers from various disciplines or perspectives. By *formulating the problem space* to hold technical and experiential outcomes as equally important, the different disciplines that deal with each are given equal footing in the decision-making process. It is unfortunately the case in many industrial settings that technical sciences are institutionally favored of experiential sciences for new product development [333]. This framework could not only promote more equitable participation, but could also help to remove communication barriers and structure *multidisciplinary collaboration* around clearly assigned design levers.

Methodological Research & Development – Overall, the engineering designer's core goal is to formalize new design methods to be used for specific problems that are not optimally serviced by the methods that already exist. In *formulating the problem space, modeling the solution space, developing experimental techniques and procedures*, and *operationalizing the framework* to construct tailored design space maps, the engineering designer is in fact formalizing a new design method through this process. The Embodiment Design Cartography framework as a whole may therefore be conceived as a *planform* for *methodological research & development*. With this platform, engineering designers could be better equipped to systematically develop unique design methods that are tailored to any specific design problem they may address.

1.8. Chapter 1 Conclusion

In this chapter, the design journey—and the need for *mapping* it—is introduced. In a classical paradigm, design is often conceived as a process of linear decision-making that ultimately leads to a solution. However, in the selection of any single solution, there is a near-infinite range of potential alternatives that are *not* selected. This range of alternative options comprises a *design space*—which itself may be decomposed into a *problem space* and a *solution space*. Any change along the series of decisions made in this journey could lead to a different solution in the design space. However, the linear perspective of this classical paradigm effectively serves to *bury* each prior decision behind the subsequent one, which makes it difficult to determine where exactly in the design space these changes would lead, or even what possibilities may exist.

This dissertation suggests an alternate paradigm—one in which a design solution is not conceived as the *end* of the design process, but rather as the entire *journey* that was taken. By recontextualizing the design process in this way, each decision that is made—which *factors* are considered to influence the problem, which *outcomes* are considered to measure the success of the solution, etc.—may be *simultaneously* conceived in terms of all the other possibilities that could have been selected instead. The aim of this work is to create a map of this journey—a *map of the design space*—that designers may use as a tool for understanding the options that comprise this space. This is akin to taking an *adventure* that one may have while traversing through a *dark cave* to discover some *treasure*, and plotting out the course that was taken from an overhead perspective, onto a map that shows the other passageways in this cave that may have been traveled down instead, as well as the locations of other treasures that could have been discovered had changes to this route occurred.

However, there may be a wide range of considerations that can influence the design process when taking the conceptual idea for a product and *embodying* it in the real world, especially if this product is *physically-interactive*. To holistically and rigorously determine which of these considerations are pertinent to include in this map, a *systematic* approach is needed. Many different disciplines participate in the design process, and each may have their own method for supporting these needs. While each of these existing design methods can be useful in their own right, no single method is capable of addressing every consideration that may present itself in embodiment design, which is itself an ill-defined problem. New contributions to this field are therefore necessary establish the practice of design space mapping, which relate to: 1) conceptually formulating the problem space, 2) modeling the solution space, 3) employing experimental techniques and procedures, and 4) operationalizing design innovations. The first step is addressing these issues is to define a *framework* to provide the basis for how the task of Embodiment Design Cartography may be undertaken.

Chapter 2. A Framework for Embodiment Design Cartography

To map the design space of an ill-structured problem, the designer must act as a *cartographer*—they must systematically explore this design space and document the options within in a manner that is useful for design. In this chapter, the Embodiment Design Cartography framework is presented. The objective of this chapter is to derive this *conceptual framework* to support the cartographic activities of design space mapping for design problems rooted in 'embodiment.' This includes supporting a *flexible problem space formulation* that may be tailored to specific design problems, and a *selectively integrative solution space modeling* that may leverage existing design methods. This framework is structured as a *boundary object* to bridge existing design methods and the differing disciplines behind them. This concept of a boundary object is first discussed in terms of design, and it is then used as a lens to separately define an *ontology*, *epistemology*, and *methodology*. These interrelated components define the overall philosophy of this framework, and are each defined here in general terms to establish their theoretical basis. With this framework defined, an exercise is conducted to test its flexibility by applying it to retroactively map existing design methods. Not only does this illustrate its flexibility for supporting methods from different disciplines, but these mappings may be used to directly contrast these methods on a uniform scale. This highlights their potentially advantageous techniques that could be selectively integrated into the framework.

2.1. Boundary Objects

The purpose of a framework for mapping the embodiment design process is to impose a degree of structure onto an ill-structured problem. Navigating an ill-structured or ill-defined problem to determine a well-defined solution, i.e., finding hidden treasures within the dark cave, necessitates a *systematic* method. An engineering designer seeks to define systematic methods in a rational manner, such they may be *formalized* and ultimately *generalized* [3,12]. Design is not a one-off activity; the utility of a design method is derived not from its unique usefulness in one singular instance, but rather from its broad applicability to a general *class* of problems. Formalizing these methods helps *operationalize* them in practice [334–337]. Despite this, however, many practitioners are still mistrustful of formal design methods; *over-formalization* imparts rigid guidelines that can unintentionally limit the general utility of a method [12]. There are a spectrum of opinions on this matter [163]. While some have treated design methods similar to scientific methods—precise, strict, rigid, e.g., [338]—others have taken the opposite stance, e.g., [339], and still others fall somewhere in between, e.g., [19].

Ultimately, engineering designers must be *flexible* to adapt formal methods to their specific needs [340]. Design encourages *multidisciplinary* or intersectional actions [21,330,341], as a variety of different disciplines participate in this process [342]. The reviewed design methods, for instance, were each developed through the lens of a different discipline (e.g., engineering, marketing, project management, etc.). However, the implication of this divergent development is that these methods each have implicit boundaries imparted by the conceptual 'wrappers' around the underlying considerations they regard. A *boundary object* is the general term for a flexible formalization that may be used to span such boundaries [341,343,344] and link these individual perspectives or disciplines [345]. Boundary objects may come in many forms [346], but are commonly identified by three characteristics: 1) their *flexibility* to adapt to different perspectives or problems, which is 2) achieved by defining an *looser* organizational structure that may then be more *precisely formulated* for specific problems, and 3) a resulting methodology that may be commonly employed by various practitioners who lack conceptual or taxonomical *consensus* [344].

"Boundary objects are objects which are both plastic enough to adapt to local needs and constraints of the several parties employing them, yet robust enough to maintain a common identity across sites. They are weakly structured in common use, and become strongly structured in individual-site use. They may be abstract or concrete... The creation and management of boundary objects is key in developing and maintaining coherence across intersecting social worlds."

- Susan Leigh Star & James R. Griesmer, Institutional Ecology, 'Translations' and Boundary Objects: Amateurs and Professionals in Berkeley's Museum of Vertebrate Zoology, 1989 [341]

The notion of boundary objects has been adopted in a variety of disciplines, including ecology [347–350] and information systems [351–356], yet they are still relatively foreign in the realm of design *methods*. Some have recently considered the activity of 'design' itself to be a sort of natural boundary object [21]. Different designers *do* collaborate in spite of—and often, *because of*—their disciplinary differences. This collaboration is attributed to an implicit *reflexivity* that designers possess. They recognize that their perspectives are not all encompassing, and that any formal method of design from a singular perspective is inherently incomplete. This implies a unique difference in boundary objects for design. In contrast to the original intent of boundary objects, which was often to enable coordination *without* collaboration, a collaboration between disciplines is desirable in design [21].

However, boundary objects are only effective at the scale and scope for which they were developed [344]. The broad conceptualization of all of 'design' as a boundary object is not refined to the specific scale and scope of 'embodiment.' It is therefore necessary to define the Embodiment Design Cartography (EDC) framework as a boundary object at the scale of embodiment design for rich, embodied interaction. With this framework, the boundaries of the existing design methods may be bridged and the level of *flexibility* necessary for its general applicability to this class of design problems may be achieved.

2.2. The Elements of a Conceptual Framework

A framework is a "network, or a 'plane,' of interlinked concepts that together provide a comprehensive understanding of a phenomenon or phenomena. The concepts that constitute a conceptual framework support one another, articulate their respective phenomena, and establish a

framework-specific philosophy. Conceptual frameworks possess ontological, epistemological, and methodological assumptions" [330]. Similarly, a framework traditionally "lays out the key factors, constructs, or variables, and presumes relationships among them" [357]. A conceptual framework for Embodiment Design Cartography (EDC) must therefore define the network of relationships between the interlinked factors and outcomes in the phenomenon of 'embodiment,' i.e., the *embodiment* design for product that elicits a rich, *embodied* interaction. The wrinkle to this requirement is that the relationships in this phenomenon are not always static; they can vary according to which factors/outcomes are relevant to the specific design problem at hand. This is where constructing the EDC framework as a *boundary object* comes into play. With the dynamic organizational structure of a boundary object, the framework can loosely presume the relationships in the general class of design problem, and then more precisely structure them for specific design problems.

To achieve this flexibility, the core components of the conceptual framework—the *ontology*, *epistemology*, and *methodology*—must each be defined with these aims in mind. In this chapter, the ontology, epistemology, and methodology are only defined in general terms, in which the emphasis is to establish the *theoretical* basis for each. They are then retroactively applied to the existing design methods. It is in the subsequent chapters that they are applied to real-world design problems. These components are each discussed in turn.

2.2.1. The EDC Ontology

The purpose of the EDC ontology is to define the core concepts considered in this framework, the relations between them, and to specify the terminology used to describe them. This establishes the perspective for how the 'embodiment' phenomenon is viewed. This perspective is based on the viewpoint that—in order to realize the embodiment design of products that afford rich, embodied interaction—low-level, *concrete design decisions* are made to achieve high-level, *abstract design outcomes*. Unfortunately, the engineering designer cannot simply manifest the outcomes that they wish for a product to achieve; they must make decisions according to the design levers available to them and understand how these levers produce desired outcomes.

In embodiment design, the manner in which these high-level outcomes are determined by lowlevel decisions may conceptualized as a series of transformations between different *levels of abstraction* [358,359]. These levels are given by: 1) *how*, 2) *what*, and 3) *why* [111,360,361], in which *how* is the most concrete and *why* is the most abstract (see also [17,19,329]). These abstraction levels may be used to deconstruct the actors that take part in this phenomenon—the artifact, the user, and the context. Each of the abstraction levels is defined in terms of these actors.

- The How At the lowest, most concrete level is the how, i.e., how each actor is formed or composed to exist as they do. In this work, this level is especially pertinent to the artifact as it represents how the product is engineered. This level specifies the geometric dimensions of its form/layout, which can include its structure, materials, and any other components that may be selected, altered, or interchanged in a measurable manner.
- 2. The What Between the how and the why is the what, i.e., what each actor is in this phenomenon, independently of one another. This level specifies the relevant factors of the artifact, user, and context that directly influence the rich, embodied interaction, which were each defined in Chapter 1. For the artifact, this refers to its consumer-facing attributes— both those relevant to this interaction (e.g., haptic feedback) and persistent outside of it (e.g., cost)—that are manifested by its underlying form/layout. For the user, this refers to their intrinsic characteristics, demographics, or predispositions they bring to an interaction (e.g., age, gender, cultural expectations). For the context, this refers to the defining aspects of the environment that situate this interaction (e.g., the surrounding architecture).
- 3. The Why At the highest, most abstract level is the why, i.e., why this product was created in the way that it was. This level specifies the relevant outcomes of the artifact, context, and user, which were again each defined in Chapter 1. This includes both the inherent technical performance of the product, and also the experiential responses that result from its rich, embodied interaction. In terms of the artifact, this refers to the former—its inherent technical performance (e.g., durability, affordability). For the user, this refers to their internal experiential responses to the interaction (e.g., subjective perceptions, physiological responses). For the context, this refers to the external experiential responses that relate to the completion of some task (e.g., efficiency, effectiveness).

This ontology postulates that, together, each of these three actors and three abstraction levels many be used to deconstruct any design problem that addresses this 'embodiment' phenomenon. This imparts a 3×3 grid structure to the ontology, in which each cell represents a domain defined by the pairing of an actor and an abstraction level, e.g., *Artifact-How, Context-What, User-Why*.

Each of these domains shall be henceforth referred to as *Actor-Abstraction* (A-A) domains, which are summarized in Table 1. It is important to note here that two A-A domains are omitted here— the Context-How and the User-How. This is due the intended audience of this work, i.e., the engineering designer. The engineering designer is principally concerned with *how* the artifact is composed—recall that determining of the form/layout of product is the ultimate goal of embodiment design—rather than considering how the user or context came to be. Although they must account for each of these external actors one the product crosses the threshold from a conceptual idea to an embodied artifact, they are only relevant at the level of the *what* and *why*. That is not to say that these domains do not exist or that they cannot be defined, however for the purposes of this work, their omission does not hinder any discussion.

Actor	Abstraction	Description	Examples
Artifact	How	<i>How</i> the form/layout of the artifact is composed.	Geometric dimensions, structure, materials, components, etc.
	What	<i>What</i> the artifact is from a consumer perspective. This describes its attributes (responsive/persistent), which <i>factor</i> into the rich, embodied interaction.	Haptic feedback, system response, strength, weight, cost, etc.
	Why	<i>Why</i> the product was created in the way it was from a performance standpoint. This describes the technical <i>outcomes</i> that are inherent to the artifact itself, regardless of any interaction.	Durability, affordability, etc.
Context	What	<i>What</i> the context for the interaction is. This describes environmental attributes, which <i>factor</i> into the rich, embodied interaction.	Physical, digital, social environments, etc.
	Why	<i>Why</i> the product was created in the way it was from an experiential standpoint, with regard to some task. This describes the experiential <i>outcomes</i> that are external to the user, and may be observed in the context of the interaction.	Efficiency, effectiveness, error rate, etc.
User	What	<i>What</i> the characteristics of the user are. This describes their personal attributes, which <i>factor</i> into the rich, embodied interaction.	Predispositions, demographics, expectations, skills, etc.
	Why	<i>Why</i> the product was created in the way it was from an experiential standpoint, with regard to user's elicited reaction. This describes the experiential <i>outcomes</i> that are internal to the user, and may be assessed through subjective perceptions or physiological responses	Pleasure, satisfaction, heart-rate, arousal, perceive qualities, etc.

Table 1. The Actor-Abstraction domains. These domains represent the constructs in the EDC ontology.

2.2.1.1. Actor-Abstraction Matrix: Broad Organizational Structure

Together, these Actor-Abstraction domains may be *externalized*¹² by the *Actor-Abstraction matrix*, illustrated by Figure 3. Per its namesake, the A-A matrix defines its vertical axis by the *actors* in rich, embodied interaction, and its horizontal axis by the *abstraction* levels in embodiment design, such that each cell represents an A-A domain. On the vertical axis, the artifact and user rows are separated by the context row, which is where the interaction between the two occurs. On the horizontal axis, the abstraction levels are arranged from concrete (i.e., *how*) to abstract (i.e., *why*). This matrix represents the EDC ontology's looser organizational in this boundary object, in which the general nomenclature of the A-A domains may be easily understood by different design disciplines. Within this matrix, however, more specific problem spaces may be formulated in a variety of different ways to provide the precise structure of this boundary object.



Figure 3. The Actor-Abstraction matrix. The A-A matrix (top) defines its axes according to the three actors and three abstraction levels, and externalizes the *broad* organizational structure of the boundary object. The symbols key (bottom) details symbolic grammar for formulating the *precise* problem space formulation.

¹² Externalization: The practice of visualizing design tools through charts or diagrams (see [12]).

2.2.1.2. Actor-Abstraction Symbols: Precise Organizational Structure

The 'symbols key' given in Figure 3 provides a symbolic 'grammar' that may be used to formulate precise problem space maps for specific design problems within the Actor-Abstraction matrix. For now, each of these is defined in general terms according to what they represent and how they may be used. Examples of their application in design space mapping are presented in the latter half of this chapter, and they are subsequently applied throughout the following chapters.

Vector Spaces & Extensions – Within each cell, or A-A domain, specific *vector spaces* may be defined as subsets of relevant considerations within the larger domain. For instance, while the User-Why domain contains all of the perceptions, cognitions, emotions, bodily responses, etc. that may internally result from a rich, embodied interaction, it may be more practical for the engineering designer to only consider their user outcomes by some fixed set of perceptions that they may measure on a sematic differential scale. These ratings would therefore span a discreet vector space defined within the User-Why. Other A-A domains may not be especially relevant or necessary to consider at all in some design problems, such that no vector spaces are defined for the specific problem space formulation. Vector space *extensions* refer to new vector spaces that may be added on to an existing problem space formulation. This could be from practitioners adding on to existing design methods, or from new iterations of a design problem that add new considerations.

Interaction Boundary – The *interaction boundary* defines a specific boundary between domains in the A-A matrix. Located between the Context/User-What and the Context/User-Why, this boundary denotes the area in which it is necessary for a rich, embodied interaction to occur for the *what* to be transformed into the *why*. This essentially serves to differentiate the artifact outcomes—which exist regardless of any interaction—from the context and user outcomes—which do not. From a modeling perspective, any transformation that crosses this distinguishing boundary must be characterized *empirically*. Other transformations that do not cross this boundary may be instead characterized analytically (e.g., through FMEA, etc.). Modeling is further discussed under the umbrella of the EDC epistemology.

Transformations – The relations between vector spaces are given by *transformations*, which are represented here by different types of arrows that may be drawn between the vector space boxes. The type of arrow indicates the manner in which this transformation is characterized.

Functional transformations are characterized through *mathematical models*, and are given by white, unidirectional arrows; these models can have an *inverse* that may describe the transformation in the opposite direction. Alternatively, domains that are related, but not necessarily with the level of specificity provided by a mathematical model, are coupled through *notional transformations*. These are given by bi-directional, black arrows. An example of a notional transformations would be the symbolic relations often used in Quality Function Deployment (e.g., symbols to denote strong/weak relations).

Design Levers – Some vector spaces may be directly adjusted by the designer, while others may only be indirectly influenced by these adjustments. The *design levers* symbol can therefore be used to augment the map of the problem space with information about where the designer may have this direct input. For instance, an engineering designer may be able to manipulate a vector space in the Artifact-How, but generally cannot directly control the user's reaction to that adjustment, which could be described by a different vector space in the User-Why. Ultimately, any design outcomes at the level of the *why* must be linked back to design levers for the map to be operational.

Overall, these symbols may be combined to map the *precise* formulation of the problem space according to which considerations are specifically made in a given design problem. By externalizing this ontology onto the A-A matrix, the considerations are taken out of the head of the engineering designer, and mapped onto this *tool*. This helps free the engineering designer's cognitive processes to focus on creative problem-solving, and enables additional designers or stakeholders to contribute to the process as well [12]. The engineering designer is then able to better consider the unique subtlety of the specific problem, especially when it pertains to determining what considerations may be relevant to the experience of the users [97].

2.2.2. The EDC Epistemology

Whereas the EDC ontology describes the relations between considerations in the formulation of the *problem space*, the EDC epistemology describes how data or information is passed throughout this problem space map to *construct the knowledge of the options in the solution space*. In contrast to the *problem space*, which defines the factors/outcomes that the designer considers when addressing the design problem, the *solution space* contains the range of options for different configurations that the resulting product may take. The solution space is *dichotomous*, as options

are selected according to the *abstract* design outcomes, but enacted by the *concrete* design levers. Solutions in EDC are therefore given by neither these outcomes nor these levers alone, but rather by a *model* that characterizes the relation between the two.

To guide the act of modeling the solution space, the three processes of embodiment design analysis, synthesis, and evaluation (see Figure 2)—are each epistemologically relevant [362]. Mathematical models are characterized in embodiment design analysis, used to generate new design configurations in embodiment design synthesis, and these new configurations may then be assessed as reflections the model performance in embodiment design evaluation. Each of these processes is ultimately reliant on acquisition, usage, and assessment of knowledge—both of design and for design [363]. In this regard, four epistemological principles for modeling the solution space are specified in Embodiment Design Cartography: 1) the direction that data moves across the problem space for each of these processes, 2) the sources that the data for these models is collected from, 3) the manner in which it is propagated across the abstraction levels, and 4) the tests used to validate this data.

The construction of the EDC epistemology as a boundary object ties into a wider debate on the inclusion of formalized epistemologies in design. Some argue that a 'design epistemology' is an inherent contradiction due to the ever presence of *uncertainty* in design—that knowledge cannot be justified when uncertainty exists [364]. On the other hand, total rejection of any formalization in this area is not a suitable solution either; the answer lies in a 'middle ground' [365]—a *broad formalization* that is commensurate with the idea of a boundary object. Each of the principles defined here are, themselves, quite broad in that multiple directions of data flow are permissible, multiple sources of this data may be used, multiple different tools are permitted to collect said data, etc. This enables them to support this requisite level of flexibility.

2.2.2.1. Direction of Data

To couple the *abstract* design outcomes and *concrete* design levers in the solution space, transformations are made between abstraction levels. These transformations can occur in two different directions. In the *natural world*, transformations occur from the *concrete* to the *abstract* (i.e., $how \rightarrow what \rightarrow why$). For instance, the form/layout of an artifact *causes* its consumer-facing attributes to manifest, the factors of an interaction *cause* the outcomes to occur, etc. In the Actor-Abstraction matrix, these *causal transformations* are represented by functions that point to the

right (i.e., towards the *why* column). A mathematical model that characterizes this causal transformation is considered to be *descriptive* in nature [10,366]. Descriptive modeling is conducted within embodiment design *analysis* to understand how the abstract design outcomes may be influenced by the concrete design levers [362].

In the *designed word*, however, transformations occur in the opposite direction—from *abstract* to *concrete* (i.e., $why \rightarrow what \rightarrow how$); "natural sciences are concerned with how things are. Design on the other hand, is concerned with how things ought to be" [367]. The so-called law of design is that 'form follows function' [368], not the other way around. From the perspective of EDC, this phrase could be updated to read 'the *how* follows the *what* follows the *why*,' although this is admittedly not quite as catchy. To successfully create new designs configurations, the engineering designer must understand how to express abstract outcomes through their concrete design levers [34,96,213]. In terms of the design journey, the designer must be able to not only locate treasures in the dark cave, but also retrace their journey back to the entrance so they may escape with them. In the A-A matrix, these *teleological transformations* are represented by functions that point to the *left* (i.e., towards the *how* column). A mathematical model that characterizes this teleological transformation—oftentimes the inverse of the descriptive model—is considered to be *prescriptive* in nature [10,366]. Prescriptive modeling is employed within embodiment design *synthesis* to implement changes in the concrete design levers based on the abstract design outcomes [362].

"A designer and a scientist travel the same road but sometimes in opposite directions. The designer goes from the abstract to the concrete, scientists from the concrete to the abstract."

- Gordon L. Glegg, The Science of Design, 1973 [369]

Overall, the *direction* of knowledge in this epistemology indicates the purpose it serves and the processes it supports. Both *analysis* and *synthesis* are necessary processes for the engineering designer to complete [342]. The A-A matrix provides a clear mechanism for partitioning these processes according to the direction (i.e., right or left) that transformations are symbolically mapped to in this externalization. When rightward facing transformations *descriptively* couple the design levers to the design outcomes, and leftward facing transformations *prescriptively* couple the the design outcomes back to the design levers in a closed *circuit*, the formulation of the problem

space is considered to be *complete*. A complete formulation is a requisite for modeling the solution space, which incorporates a variety of different data sources.

2.2.2.2. Collection of Data

To construct the model of the solution space, it is necessary to gather information on a variety of different design outcomes. This information may be collected from the artifact, the user, and the context (see Figure 3). However, each of these different sources have associated implications as to how data may be *collected* and *propagated* to the design levers. This impacts the manner in which the solution space model is characterized.

Each of the artifact, context, and user outcomes (see Table 1) at the level of the *why* may be derived or measured in different ways. These differences are detailed in turn.

- Artifact-Why Artifact outcomes are comprised of *technical* metrics that may be measured directly off of the product itself, without any interaction from the user. For instance, the 'durability' may be assessed according to persistent qualities such toughness, waterproofing, or inherent resistance to destructive forces, which are built-in to the product. Similarly, an artifact outcome like 'affordability' may be assessed by qualities such as the production cost, scale, and material scarcity. Ultimately, these outcomes may be derived through known physical properties, calculations, accounting, etc. *before* the artifact is actually embodied in the real-world to be interacted with
- 2. Context-Why Context outcomes are comprised of experiential metrics that may be measured in relation to the completion of a task. When a person interacts with a product, they most likely have a purpose for doing so. This purpose is to complete some task, and their ability to do so may be measured with respect to the context they are in. For instance, a context outcome like 'efficiency' could be related to the time or effort expended to complete this task with the product. Alternatively, a context outcome like 'effectiveness' could be assessed by how thoroughly they complete said task. Ultimately, these outcomes may be externally measured by an independent observer through timers, counters, checklists, etc. while the artifact is interacted with, and after it is actually embodied in the real-world.

3. User-Why – User outcomes are comprised of *experiential* metrics that may be measured in through the user's reaction to a rich, embodied interaction with the product. These interactions shape users' perceptions of the product, and alter their internal emotional or cognitive states. User outcomes may therefore be given by fundamental emotions like 'stress' or 'arousal,' or could alternatively include abstract perceptual descriptors like 'luxuriousness' or 'sportiness.' Ultimately, these outcomes may be provided by the user themselves—either consciously through surveys or self-reports, or unconsciously through biometric sensors—while the artifact is interacted with, and *after* it is actually embodied in the real-world.

Ultimately, it may be generally concluded that artifact outcomes are derived from the product, context-outcomes are measured by a third-party observer (or system), and user outcomes are provided by the user. The former—the artifact outcomes, which are *technical* in nature—may be derived *analytically*. The latter two, however—the context and user outcomes, which are both *experiential* in nature—must be measured *empirically*. This ties back to the 'interaction boundary' in the Actor-Abstraction matrix, which highlights this same distinction.

This epistemological stance has implications not only for modeling, but also for the experimental techniques and procedures that are employed to collect and process all of this data. Many different data collection techniques may be simultaneously necessary to use. These can include surveys, sensors, independent observers, etc., which can be "rather difficult and expensive to apply because it takes time to gather data from and about users, especially if the idea is to understand the environment in which they will be using the products" [168]. This further motivates the need for efficient techniques and procedures to support these efforts, which are further detailed in subsequent chapters.

2.2.2.3. Propagation of Data

The manner in which objectives for design outcomes (e.g., improve affordability, improve sportiness, etc.) are *propagated* down to the design levers differs according to whether they are *technical* or *experiential* in nature. This duality touches on the fundamental epistemological debate between *rationalism* and *empiricism* that has presided over the last few centuries. "Rationalism claims that knowledge can be obtained deductively by reasoning and empiricism says that knowledge can be attained inductively from sensory experiences" [362].

Analytical models on the technical level may be constructed *deductively*, with a rationalist perspective. For instance, for the 'affordability' of a product to be improved, it may be rationally deduced that the production cost should be decreased. This practice is quite common in engineering, e.g., [5,20,28,186,370,371]. Empirical models on the experiential level, however, must be constructed *inductively*, with an empiricist perspective. For something abstract like 'sportiness,' it may not be clear as to which design levers should be altered and by how much [125]. The users themselves cannot be expected to provide clarity on this relation [186], i.e., "a car buyer may know what 'responsiveness' feels like when driving, but is unlikely to be able to refer to this in terms of engine torque" [12]. The available vocabulary, perspectives, and even the dimensionalities between domains may not directly correspond [168,181,246,329,372]. Empirical study of how these perceptions vary across different design configurations is necessary to characterize these transformations. The EDC epistemology therefore toes the line between rationalist and empiricist perspectives in its continued pursuit of flexibility.

However, simply characterizing the transformation between design levers and outcomes is not sufficient. The different external conditions which may *factor* into the relation must also be taken into account. Design outcomes may greatly differ between these different conditions. Relevant user and context factors at the level of the *what* must therefore be included in the experimental design of any empirical study conducted for solution space modeling. This can provide more insight as to why perceptions are what they are, which can be valuable information for designers.

"Design knowledge is not necessarily about knowing what only the final outcome is but (importantly) about the construction of the conditions under which the outcome should be judged. Such judgement relies on factors of human nature and the dynamic between people and the practices that generate these outcomes" (in reference to [373,374]).

Derek Jones et al., Introduction: Design Epistemology, 2016 [1]

Ultimately, the logical position taken by the EDC epistemology may be summarized as valuing *utility* over *veracity* [365]. More emphasis is placed on constructing knowledge that is useful than knowledge that is the abject 'truth'. Both *objective* and *subjective* data is equally valued. Rather than taking a hardline stance on rationalism versus empiricism, both perspectives may be employed when pertinent. This, however, does not mean that the *validity* of the models constructed with this data is not rigorously assessed.
2.2.2.4. Validation of Data

While the processes of embodiment design *analysis* and *synthesis* have each been discussed in this epistemology, the third embodiment design process—*evaluation*—is equally critical, especially for models that are characterized empirically. Embodiment design *evaluation* is the process of assessing the design outcomes of the *product*, however this can be used as an indirect assessment of the *model* that was used to create it. By using the solution space model to synthesize a new product configuration that is *predicted* to achieve some specific design outcome, the subsequent assessment of that product may indicate the accuracy of said prediction. It is critical for these assessments to be done on *new* design configurations that were not originally used to characterize the model; the solution space model must be able to predict the outcomes of all options across the continuous span it covers. The evaluation of this predicted design configuration should be based on the same data that was collected to characterize the model in the first place, i.e., if surveys were used to characterize the model, these same surveys would be used again to evaluate the predictions it makes.

In empirical studies, *statistical criteria* may be used to assess the *validity* of these models. A common test could include the synthesis of two different design configurations that are predicted to rank in a certain order according to some design outcome. The user would then evaluate each prediction to validate that the model is able to correctly predict this ordering. This tests the predictive accuracy of the model across a range of the continuous solution space, rather than just testing a single point in this space. Overall, the 'solutions' in Embodiment Design Cartography are not thought of solely by the outcomes, but rather by the coupling between these outcomes and the design levers that is described by the solution space model. It is therefore critical that any empirical models used to characterize these relations are rigorously assessed through significance testing.

2.2.3. The EDC Methodology

Finally, the EDC methodology takes each of these highly theoretical pieces of the framework, and provides a general protocol for how to actually apply design space mapping in practice. Similar to the ontology and epistemology, this methodology is defined through the lens of a *boundary object*. In this way, it is divided into two parts: 1) mapping the *problem space*, which follows a looser protocol, and 2) mapping the *solution space*, which follows a more structured protocol.

These two halves—each discussed in turn—mirror the loose and precise organizational structure given by the boundary object, respectively.

2.2.3.1. Mapping the Problem Space

The first half of the EDC methodology dictates the general protocol for mapping the *problem space* by formulating it within the Actor-Abstraction matrix. This is a more loosely defined protocol as a consequence of dealing with the looser organizational structure given by the A-A matrix. In essence, the role of the engineering designer is to critically examine the design problem at hand and use the symbols key (see Figure 3) to map the *relevant* considerations onto the A-A matrix. This may be performed through a grid-based sweep of each cell in this matrix.

Often times, this may begin with the *why*—every product is created for a reason. Spaces at this level can be defined by setting *objectives* for various design outcomes, which may often be provided to the designer by external specification, or may be deduced by their own intuitions [35,171]. These objectives may each be classified into the vector spaces in Artifact-Why, Context-Why, or User-Why. It is then necessary to work down the levels of abstraction to repeat this process at each stop. At the level of the *what*, the engineering designer may need to consider which qualities of the product are *responsive* to the interaction, and which are persistent outside the interaction in the Artifact-What. It is also critical to consider which external factors in the Context-What and User-What may be most relevant, as it is not feasible to include every possibility in the empirical modeling. Market research or needs-finding activities may be useful for these determinations. Finally, the engineering designer should be able to determine which dimensions of the form/layout may be adjustable in the Artifact-What, although external specifications may impose constraints on these as well.

Ultimately, this is a protocol that must vary on a case-by-case basis, and is where the *creative problem-solving* angle of engineering design comes into play. However, the A-A matrix provides structure to this activity by forcing each cell to be considered individually. The end result of this protocol is a *well-structured* design problem, in which different considerations may be more holistically supported.

2.2.3.2. Mapping the Solution Space

The second half of the EDC methodology dictates the general protocol for mapping the *solution space* by modeling the transformations between the design outcomes and design levers. This is a more precisely structured protocol, as the problem has been well-defined at this point. Here, the role of the engineering designer is to *analytically* and *empirically* characterize this model across the three process of embodiment design—*analysis*, *synthesis*, and *evaluation* (see Figure 2)—to construct the knowledge of how the range of available options for what the product solution may be understood in terms of the defined problem space.

Six activities to construct this map of the solution space are defined across embodiment design analysis, synthesis, and evaluation. These activities include: 1) *parameterizing* the vector spaces in the problem space formulation, 2) characterizing *descriptive models*, 3) applying *prescriptive models* to predict new design configurations, 3) creating physically-interactive *prototypes* of this design configuration, 4) *verifying* that the predicted design configuration elicits the expected design outcomes, and 5) *validating* that the model is able to hold predictive accuracy across continuous range of options in the solution space. These are summarized in Table 2.

Process	Activity	Description			
Analysis	Parameterizing	Spanning the vector spaces to determine the <i>dimensions</i> of the space, as well as the <i>range & discretization</i> of each.			
	Descriptive Modeling	Characterizing the <i>causal</i> transformations that naturally exist across the abstraction levels, from the concrete to the abstract (i.e., $how \rightarrow what \rightarrow why$).			
Synthesis	Prescriptive Modeling	Inverting the causal transformations across the abstraction levels, such that they may be <i>teleologically</i> applied to create new design configurations (i.e., $why \rightarrow what \rightarrow how$).			
	Prototyping	Generating physically-interactive prototypes to represent the new design configurations with high fidelity.			
Evaluation	Verifying	Comparing the design outcome that a design configuration is <i>predicted</i> to achieve, against the <i>actual</i> design outcome that is observed.			
	Validating	Comparing the performance of <i>multiple</i> different design configurations against each other to assess the model's accuracy across the continuous solution space.			

Table 2. The methodology for modeling the solution space. Activities span analysis, synthesis, and evaluation.

The end result of this protocol is the construction of a rigorous and holistic picture of the available options in the solution space, and the application of this methodology is applied in the subsequent chapters. However, experimental techniques and procedures are necessary to complete

each of these activities. For instance, existing design methods detail each specific techniques for several of these activities. These design methods may be *retroactively* mapped through the EDC framework to identify how their techniques and procedures may be adopted.

2.3. Mapping Existing Design Methods

The framework for Embodiment Design Cartography was defined as a *boundary object* so that it could be flexibly compatible with multiple design disciplines and perspectives. The best test of this claimed flexibility is to therefore put its ontology, epistemology, and methodology all together to actually construct the design space map the *existing design methods*, which were born out of these different disciplines. Each of these existing design methods already constructs a sort of design space map, as they specify considerations and may be used to assess different design options. However, they do so with a fixed conception of the problem space, and unique terminologies that make direct comparison difficult without any sort of higher-level organizational structure. Through translating these disparate vocabularies into a common vernacular, certain commonalities (and therefore, distinctions) may be identified [21,375].

"[E]ngaging in good design is choosing a vocabulary or language to use in defining the design task, generating alternatives, and making judgments of balance, fit, and scale."

- Richard Boland & Fred Collopy, Managing as Designing, 2004 [376]

This mapping exercise can serve two purposes, which are to: 1) demonstrate the EDC framework's effectiveness as a boundary object by flexibly supporting each of these independently developed design methods, and to 2) place each of these design methods onto a uniform scale for which they may be contrasted against not only each other, but also any *new* methods that are created on this same scale. However, this exercise is slightly distinct from mapping the design space of a *new* design problem. Whereas that allows for the map to be *tailored* to the needs of the specific design problem, this exercise involves *retroactively* mapping the entire method, which has been used for innumerable different design problems.

This retroactive mapping therefore relies on a certain degree of *interpretation* to conduct the necessary *meta-analysis* of different works that have applied each method (reviewed in Chapter 1). While the *general usage* of a design method—its scope, coverage, benefits, etc.—can become evident across multiple publications, the lack incentive structures for publishing *failures* can make

it more difficult to firmly define its boundaries [163]. Furthermore, due to their relative lack of *formalized flexibility* (compared to EDC), every practitioner who uses these existing design methods may have tweaked or reinterpreted them to better suite their individual needs. This compounds the challenge of constructing definitive maps retroactively.

Nevertheless, the commonality between all these design methods is that they simply describe a *transformation*, which is packaged inside their unique conceptual 'wrappers' (i.e., their terminologies, experimental procedures, visualization tools, etc.). While the *transformation* has an intended input and output domain, the *model* that is often used to characterize such a transformation may be capable of more broadly supporting different inputs/outputs than the individual method may intend; the model itself is not aware of the types of data that comprise its inputs/outputs. This interpretive meta-analysis therefore attempts to map the *intended* usage of these methods, rather capturing all formulations that may be mathematically possible.

The EDC *methodology* is followed for constructing these maps, in which the general *problem space* formulation is mapped onto the Actor-Abstraction matrix (see Figure 3), and protocols for constructing the *solution space* model are mapped across the six activities (see Table 2). Note that the 'design levers' symbol is omitted from these problem space mappings, as it may vary by design problem and these mappings represent general usage. The result of this exercise is the construction of a *uniform, data-dense distillation* of each of these design methods, with which potentially advantageous activities may be adapted for new design problems that are also mapped in this scale.

2.3.1. Mapping Function-Behavior-Structure

Function-Behavior-Structure (FBS) is a design method that was developed from an *engineering perspective* to serve as a uniform description of any artifact that may be designed. The *situated* variant of FBS is mapped here. The problem and solution space maps are each outlined.

Mapping the FBS Problem Space – The problem space of FBS may be mapped to the A-A matrix by classifying the *Function* (F), *Behavior* (B), and *Structure* (S) vector spaces into A-A domains. At the level of the *why*, F defines why the product was created. Practitioners have stated that 'experience' is taxonomically distinct from 'function' in the manner that it is typically described [377], and consideration of experiential responses in FBS is relatively rare [378]. F may therefore be mapped into the Artifact-Why domain, as it principally regards the technical artifact

outcomes. At the level of the *what*, B describes what the artifact does, and may, of course, be mapped into the Artifact-What. However, in *situated* FBS, B is decomposed into two sub-vector spaces—the *Structure Behavior* (B_S) that is casually coupled to S with a functional transformation, and the *Expected Behavior* (B_E) that is teleologically coupled to F and S with functional transformations. Finally, at the level of the *how*, S describes how the artifact is composed, and may be mapped into the Artifact-How. One *extension* to this method added 'exogeneous variables' such as temperature to this formulation [103]; an *External Effects* (EX) extension vector space may therefore be mapped into the Context-What, which is teleologically coupled to S with functional transformations. Another extension added 'user' factors such as 'profession, experience, expertise, gender, age, etc.' into the formulation [168]; a *User* (U) extension vector space may therefore be also mapped into the User-What, and teleologically coupled to S with a functional transformation. The resulting map of the problem space formulated by FBS is given in Figure 4.





Mapping the FBS Solution Space – The solution space of FBS is mapped through several mathematical models that relate the vector spaces in this formulation. The knowledge for the options in this space is constructed across embodiment design *analysis*, *synthesis*, and *evaluation*.

- 1. Analysis FBS does not give explicitly describe how to the engineering designer should go about *parameterizing* the vector spaces, but it does allow them to be altered for discrepancies between B_E and B_S to be addressed [4,35]. For *descriptive modeling*, FBS characterizes a causal (i.e., rightward-facing) transformation ($S \rightarrow B_S$) [379].
- 2. Synthesis FBS characterizes teleological (i.e., leftward-facing) transformations ($F \rightarrow B_E$ and $B_E \rightarrow S$) for *prescriptive modeling*. Critics have noted, however, that the FBS framework does not provide any theory onto how this teleological transformation is characterized [177,380]. This is likely because they may be analytically derived without empirical study, as the transformations do not cross the *interaction boundary*. For *prototyping*, some have also criticized the utility of FBS as it does not afford a means for generating new design configurations, and instead relies on evaluation of artifacts that therefore do not yet physically exist [178].
- 3. **Evaluation** Situated FBS is particularly advantageous for *verifying* the solution space through the comparison of B_E and B_S [4,35]. There is, however, not a formalized protocol for *validating* the model across multiple points in the solution space.

2.3.2. Mapping Quality Function Deployment

Quality Function Deployment (QFD) is a design method that was developed from a *project management perspective* to help plan development cycles. The problem and solution space maps are each outlined.

Mapping the QFD Problem Space – The problem space of QFD may be mapped to the A-A matrix by classifying the *Customer Requirements* (*CR*) and *Engineering Characteristics* (*EC*) vector spaces into A-A domains. At the level of the *why*, *CR*, otherwise commonly known as the 'voice of the customer' [381], defines why the product was created. This vector space could fall into the User-Why, as users are able to provide their subjective rating, or potentially in the Context-Why, as users typically interact with real versions of the product and can complete tasks with them; it is mapped between both A-A domains in this formulation. *CR* would *not* cover the Artifact-Why

[187], however, as customers typically have difficulty voicing technical requirements [12] and an traditional engineering approach would be more appropriate for propagating outcomes on this level. *CR* is coupled to *EC* with a *notional* transformation in the *body* House of Quality (HOQ) matrix; *EC* is also coupled back to itself with another *notional* transformation in the *head* of this matrix. At the level of the *what*, *EC* describes attributes of the artifact that are relevant to the user, and may therefore be mapped into the Artifact-What. While the name 'engineering characteristics' may sound better suited to the Artifact-How, it is evidenced by later addition of a *Design Parameters* (*D*) extension vector space that is explicitly in this A-A domain [186] (alternatively, see 'part characteristics' [381]), that *EC* is correctly attributed to the level of the *what*. *D* is then coupled to *EC* with functional transformations. The resulting map of the problem space formulated by QFD is given in Figure 5.



Figure 5. The problem space formulation of Quality Function Deployment mapped onto the A-A matrix. Customer Requirements (CR) is mapped across to the Context-Why and User-Why, and Engineering Characteristics (EC) is mapped to the Artifact-What. The extension Design Parameters (D) [186] is mapped to the Artifact-How.

Mapping the QFD Solution Space – The solution space of QFD is mapped through several mathematical models that relate the vector spaces in this formulation. The knowledge for the options in this space is constructed across embodiment design *analysis*, *synthesis*, and *evaluation*.

- Analysis QFD dictates the use of market research for *parameterizing* the vector spaces. Unlike FBS, QFD does describe the *descriptive modeling* of the notional transformation (*EC*↔*CR*), which is characterized empirically (via surveys, interviews, etc. [381]) as it crosses the interaction boundary—albeit only through a rough notional index.
- Synthesis The notional transformation (EC↔CR) may be theoretically applied for prescriptive modeling, however its notional form is less useful for continuous refinement of new design configurations [205]. QFD does also not provide support for prototyping, and typically relies on premade products for testing.
- Evaluation QFD does not provide explicit means for verifying whether a generated design configuration performs as predicted. It is, however, able to support comparison of multiple different design configurations, which may be used for validating the solution space model across a range of options.

2.3.3. Mapping Kansei Engineering

Kansei Engineering (KE) is a design method that was developed from an *engineering* and *psychology perspective* to imbue products with emotional considerations. The problem and solution space maps are each outlined.

Mapping the KE Problem Space – The problem space of KE may be mapped to the A-A matrix by classifying the *Semantics* (S) and *Properties* (P) vector spaces into A-A domains. At the level of the *why*, S, defines the Kansei words (i.e., emotions) that the product was created to achieve. These emotional responses are internal to the user, so S may be mapped into the User-Why. At the level of the *what*, P describes observable, influential attributes of the artifact, and may therefore be mapped into the Artifact-What. S is coupled to P with a functional transformation that is characterized by a statistical model. Practitioners have added in a *Customer Groups* (G) extension vector space [212] and a *Context* (C) extension vector space [256] into this functional transformation. These are mapped into the User-What and Context-What, respectively. The resulting map of the problem space formulated by QFD is given in Figure 6.



Figure 6. The problem space formulation of Kansei Engineering mapped onto the A-A matrix. Semantics (S) is mapped to the User-Why and Properties (P) is mapped to the Artifact-What. The extensions Context (C) [256] and Customer Groups (G) [212] are mapped to the Context-What and User-What, respectively.

Mapping the KE Solution Space – The solution space of KE is mapped through several mathematical models that relate the vector spaces in this formulation. The knowledge for the options in this space is constructed across embodiment design *analysis*, *synthesis*, and *evaluation*.

- Analysis KE provides relatively robust procedures for *parameterizing* the vector spaces, including expert/user consultations, pilot study, literature review [212], or pilot studies [212,248]. It also permits a wide variety of different statistical models to be used for *descriptive modeling*, however the method itself does not specify protocols for characterizing these models [231]. These models also may be graphed with contour plots to better visualize the available options [213].
- Synthesis The inverse of the statistical models may be employed for *prescriptive modeling* [212,213,231], however the common use of categorical data can make it difficult to interpolate new design configurations [243,257]. For *prototyping*, KE does not provide

explicit measures to help make construct physically-interactive prototypes, and is largely limited to products that already exist [246,257].

Evaluation – The protocols of KE do not explicitly discuss verifying specific design configurations, but it does describe a process for validating the models [212,231]. Dimensional reduction techniques may be used in improve statistical power, however validation testing can require long, costly iterations [231].

2.3.4. Mapping Conjoint Analysis

Conjoint Analysis (CA) is a design method that was developed from a *marketing perspective* to identify how product attributes are valued by customers. The problem and solution space maps are each outlined. A *ratings-based* format for CA is mapped here (as opposed to *choice-based*).

Mapping the CA Problem Space – The problem space of CA may be mapped to the A-A matrix by classifying the *Product Attributes* (A) and *Subjective Ratings* (R) vector spaces into A-A domains. At the level of the *why*, R, defines the scores that users may subjectively rate the product, which may be mapped into the User-Why. Had this been a *choice-based* format, the problem space would not map as cleanly onto the A-A matrix, as judgements such as 'choice' or 'purchase decision' are a higher level of abstraction that are made based on an aggregation of technical *and* experiential outcomes [17,34,169,278,307,308]. At the level of the *what*, A describes the attributes of the product that are most relevant to the consumer, and is, of course, mapped into the Artifact-What. R is coupled to A with a functional transformation that is characterized by a statistical model. At the level of the *how*, engineers have added in a *Design Parameters* (D) extension vector space that describes the underlying form/layout of the artifact [28], which is mapped into the Artifact-How. D is then coupled to A with a functional transformation that is characterized by an analytical engineering model. The resulting map of the problem space formulated by CA is given in Figure 7.



Figure 7. The problem space formulation of Conjoint Analysis mapped onto the A-A matrix. Subjective Ratings (R) is mapped to the User-Why and Product Attributes (A) is mapped to the Artifact-What. The extension Design Parameters (D) [28] is mapped to the Artifact-How.

Mapping the CA Solution Space – The solution space of CA is mapped through several mathematical models that relate the vector spaces in this formulation. The knowledge for the options in this space is constructed across embodiment design *analysis*, *synthesis*, and *evaluation*.

- Analysis CA does not dictate formal protocols for *parameterizing* the vector spaces, but does suggest using literature reviews, expert input, interviews/focus groups [280], or observations [282] to select attributes that thought to be are most relevant to the consumer. CA does, dictate that these dimensions should be discretized across several fixed levels. CA also provides comprehensive support for *descriptive modeling* through protocols to construct the experimental design of the survey, and the characterize the of the statistical model [15,266].
- 2. *Synthesis* CA is primarily beneficial for *prescriptive modeling*, as new design configurations may be interpolated between the discretizations [15,34,282]. While these

new design configurations may be generated in real-time for low-fidelity representations (e.g., images) [282], it provides limited support for *prototyping* physically-interactive products [34].

 Evaluation – The use of adaptive experimental designs can support both verifying the individual predictions, and more importantly validating the overall model across the continuous solution space.

2.3.5. Selective Integration of Existing Design Methods

Overall, this mapping of existing design methods puts the flexibility of the Embodiment Design Cartography framework to the test across a variety of different perspectives and disciplines. While there are some select instances in which vector spaces fall outside the defined scope of the Actor-Abstraction matrix (e.g., choice-based Conjoint Analysis formats that address higher abstractions), the EDC framework can demonstrably support each of these design methods. While the interpretations to construct these maps may arguably be imperfect, they allow for comparisons to be made that were previously more difficult or impossible to make. In the world of design, functional *utility* reigns supreme over abject *veracity* [365].

Mapping each of these design methods onto this common scale can suggest areas in which they may be *integrated* with each other, a proposition that was previously ambiguous. In terms of boundary objects, a 'boundary' is often misconstrued as a line that differentiates design methods, but in reality is an area in which they *overlap* [344]. This mapping highlights these overlaps, which signal areas in which boundaries may be spanned, i.e., points of compatibility for general usage. For instance, the Design Parameters (D) extension vector space defined in both Quality Function Deployment [186] and Conjoint Analysis [28] couples the Artifact-How to the Artifact-What. As Kansei Engineering defines a Properties (P) vector space in the Artifact-What—thus overlapping this transformation—it stands to reason that these extensions may also be compatible with KE. Of course, any claims of compatibility for the existing design methods that are suggested by these mappings must be independently validated, which is *not* the specific focus of these efforts.

Rather, the benefit of this exercise for design space mapping is to identify activities that may be leveraged for the creation of *new* maps. As stated in Chapter 1, each of the design space maps given by these existing design methods could be used as tool to support Embodiment Design Cartography, just as satellite imaging could be used as a tool to support traditional cartography. However, rather than meticulously testing these identified points of compatibility and knitting all of these existing methods together—an act which could create a 'Frankenstein's monster' of stitched-together maps—it is more prudent to *selectively integrate* only what is needed into *new* design space maps. In doing so, EDC may take advantage of the *benefits* of each method, without burdening the engineering designer with their associated *limitations* that may be included in their wholesale adoption.

In terms of modeling the solution space, each of these methods has a different protocol, which could have different numbers of steps that may not directly align. Similar to the problem space in the A-A matrix, this mapping overlayed these protocols onto the six activities that comprise the EDC methodology for constructing the solution space. On this uniform scale, the potentially advantageous techniques that were noted in these mappings are aggregated in Table 3. Each of these techniques from existing methods may then be selectively integrated into the EDC framework to support their respective processes for *new* design problems, which is demonstrated in the subsequent chapters. This therefore allows the EDC methodology to extract desirable pieces of the conceptual 'wrappers' from these methods, and apply them to new transformations that are tailored to the specific design problem at hand—all without relying on any one single method outright.

Process	Activity	Method	Technique		
Analysis	Parameterizing	QFD, KE KE	Using market research, consultations, etc. to define dimensions Using pilot studies to set ranges and reduce dimensions Discretizing dimensions across fixed levels		
	Descriptive Modeling	KE, CA KE	Supporting a variety of statistical models for empirical studies Visualizing models with contour plots		
Synthesis	Prescriptive Modeling	CA	Interpolating new design configurations between fixed levels		
	Prototyping				
Evaluation	Verifying	FBS	Comparing predicted and realized design outcomes		
	Validating	QFD	Comparing multiple different design configurations		
		KE	Validating the model across several iterations		
		CA	Employing adaptive experimental designs for this model validation		

Table 3. Advantageous techniques of existing design methods that may be used for modeling the solution space.

However, this also highlights areas in which *no* existing method provided sufficient processes for this application. Generating new, physically-interactive *prototypes* in a practical and efficient manner remains a persistent challenge for existing design methods, such that no existing activities may be advantageously integrated. This is a limiting factor for empirical modeling, which warrants the exploration of alternative prototyping techniques.

2.3.6. Interaction Prototyping

Embodiment Design Cartography is predicated on the principles of: 1) evaluating numerous options, i.e., different design configurations, within the span of the available solution space, and 2) developing physically-interactive products. These principles inherently hamstring each other. Physically-interactive prototypes are simply the most resource-intensive manner for which an artifact may be represented. To generate new, physically-interactive prototypes in real-time, as is done with lower fidelity product representations, is a complex proposition.

Any transformation that crosses the *interaction boundary* within the Actor-Abstraction matrix (see Figure 3) requires an *empirical* study to characterize. Some formats of these studies can necessitate the on-the-fly generation of new designs, such as adaptive experimental designs (e.g., Adaptive Conjoint Analysis). Real-time prototyping can enable the synthesis and evaluation of new design configurations within a single testing session, and is ultimately key for facilitating this process.

As the existing design methods for describing transformations do not provide sufficient protocols for this task, this presents an opportunity to examine how other prototyping techniques may be integrated into the boundary object that is the EDC framework. In general, prototypes may be utilized for a variety of different purposes. Some can be used to test 'implementation', while others are used to test 'look and feel' [382] (see also [3]). *Product demonstrators* [110] are a specialized class of prototypes that conceptually divides the artifact into two domains that correspond to these aforementioned purposes: 1) the 'technical solutions' that test the 'implementation, and 2) the 'user-related features' that may test the 'look and feel.' These aims are *modularized* in order to break them up into parallel prototyping activities. Modularization allows for 'information hiding' [383], such that the 'look and feel' can be conveyed to the user without revealing the 'implementation.'

This idea of 'modularization' is commensurate with the organizational structure imposed by the EDC framework. The 'technical solutions' (Artifact-How) and the 'user-related features' (Artifact-What) map onto the A-A matrix, however only the latter needs to be represented for the rich, embodied interaction to occur, i.e., to conduct an empirical study of the transformation that crosses the interaction boundary between the *what* and *why*. As such, the 'user-related features' may be prototyped through alternative technologies than the 'technical solutions' that would be actually used in real-life. These alternative technologies could enable the prototype to be *adaptable*, such that multiple different configurations or the 'user-related features' can be replicated in the Artifact-What by a single prototype, and they may conceivably be altered in realtime. This specific class of prototype will henceforth be referred to as an *interaction prototype*.

For instance, a haptic controller could be over-engineered such that the feedback it affords (i.e., its responsive attributes) may be programmatically altered for the sake of empirical study, whereas the actual product would only provide a fixed level of feedback. This interaction prototype could then simulate multiple different design configurations within the Artifact-What domain—which could be altered or generated in real-time—without having to actually adjust the 'technical solutions' in the Artifact-How. This therefore enables a more resource efficient prototyping technique for design space mapping, which is demonstrated in the subsequent chapters.

2.4. Chapter 2 Conclusion

In this chapter, the framework for Embodiment Design Cartography (EDC) was derived in terms of an *ontology*, *epistemology*, and *methodology*, which together define the overall philosophy of design space mapping. Conceptual frameworks ultimately provide *understanding* rather than *explanation* [330]. The philosophy of the EDC framework is summarily to provide an *understanding* of the available *options* in the design space, rather than an *explanation* about why one specific design configuration should be *selected* over another, equally valid solution. With this framework, the design space map for each of the existing design methods reviewed in Chapter 1 was constructed. In terms of the design journey, this mapping exercise is equivalent to taking the existing maps provided by these methods—each of which is used to point adventurers to different treasures, with different levels of detail and different portions of cave system illustrated—and redrawing them all onto a uniform scale such that they may be directly overlaid.

By defining this framework through the lens of a boundary object, the *problem space* may be *flexibly formulated* to support a variety of different design problems. At first, the EDC ontology imparts a looser organizational structure with the Actor-Abstraction (A-A) matrix. This looser structure is important for enabling *multidisciplinary* support, as evidenced by the reverse compatibility of existing design methods from these different disciplines. Even more paramount to this flexibility, however, is the ability it enables to *tailor* precise formulations for any new design problem that addresses the 'embodiment' phenomenon. In this regard, the framework aims provide just the right level of specificity without inadvertently limiting engineering designers through over formalization.

To construct the necessary knowledge of the available design options, the abstract design outcomes and concrete design levers in this formulation may be coupled with the *model of the solution space*. The EDC epistemology clarifies the sources of data that may be used to create this model, which are important to differentiate due to the different manners in which their couplings may be characterized. Artifact outcomes exist on a technical level and may be characterized analytically, while context and user outcomes exist on an experiential level and must be characterized empirically. This is visually denoted by the interaction boundary. The EDC methodology defines a six-step protocol that may be followed to actually characterize this model (i.e., parameterizing, and descriptive modeling), use it to create new design configurations (i.e., prescriptive modeling and prototyping), and assess its predictive accuracy (i.e., verifying and validating). These activities therefore dictate how to conduct the analysis, synthesis, and evaluation of this model.

By mapping the existing design methods with this framework, they may each be commonly examined in terms of the *experimental techniques and procedures* they employ for each of these six activities in the EDC methodology. The meta-analysis of these methods allows for the identification of techniques that are notably advantageous in their general usage, and reveals exactly which processes they may be adapted to support in design space mapping. This is important for improving the efficiency of this practice, as it provides a look into exactly where each of these existing design methods excels, and allows these prospectively advantageous techniques to be *selectively integrated* into the framework without wholesale adoption of any one design method. Additionally, while none of the mapped design methods detail a technique for practically generating physically-interactive prototypes, specific prototyping techniques may be similarly

examined through the framework and adapted to support these aims. The A-A matrix informs which aspects of the prototype need be represented (i.e., the Artifact-What), and which are hidden from the user and may therefore be enacted through alternative means (i.e., the Artifact-How).

Overall, this mapping exercise represents how the EDC framework may be *operationalized*. Existing design methods are well understood in their own right (see Chapter 1), but less so in relation to alternative methods from different disciplines or perspectives. This application of the framework is important for facilitating a direct comparison of design methods from different disciplines and revealing how their conceptions of the problem space my differ. By including extensions in this mapping exercise, a picture emerges of why these works were motivated—to fill gaps in these formulations. Other A-A domains that are not addressed in these problem space mappings may therefore suggest additional areas in which these works could serve to be extended. Mapping extensions also illustrates how continued methodological development can be supported by this framework. However, this only represents one half of the manner in which EDC may be operationalized—a retrospective mapping of methods that already exist. It is therefore necessary to explore the other half of this framework's applicability—creating *new* design space maps that are tailored to specific design problems. In the next chapter, this proposition is explored for an emerging technology.

Chapter 3. A Method for Navigating Tradeoffs in an Emerging Technology

Tradeoffs can be present within the design space when different outcomes compete with one another, i.e., to improve one requires the detriment of the other. Design space mapping can be beneficial for understanding these tradeoffs and negotiating a favorable outcome. This is especially pertinent for *emerging* technologies, in which there is a high savings proposition for efficiently navigating said tradeoffs earlier in the new product development cycle. In this chapter, the Embodiment Design Cartography framework is applied to a case study of an emerging technology in order to negotiate favorable tradeoffs between technical and experiential design outcomes using *engineering design levers*. The objective of this chapter is to develop and demonstrate modeling, experimental, and design techniques in support of these aims. The problem space for this case study is first systematically mapped on the Actor-Abstraction matrix, which results in a unique formulation that is tailored to this specific design problem. The six activities for modeling the solution space are then followed, which are largely undertaken within an empirical user study (n = 57). In this study, an adaptive, self-validating experimental design is employed to characterize the model, generate new protypes in real-time, and then validate its predictive accuracy. With this validated model, a visual system for negotiating tradeoffs is developed, which allows for measurable design adjustments to be informed that achieve a favorable balance between competing design outcomes.

3.1. Tradeoffs in Engineering Design

In ill-structured problems like embodiment design, there is no one single solution that is a definitively superior option [12]. Some design configurations may achieve a high level of *technical* performance, but still elicit negative *experiential* responses. For others, the opposite may be true. There is not necessarily a definitive balance between the two [44,111]. In engineering design, the focus is often centered on the technical level, as this is where engineers specialize [111]. However, it is critical that outcomes on an experiential level are not neglected in this process [127,236]. When purchasing a vehicle, for instance, the experiential responses elicited by attributes such as the 'sound' or 'feel' of closing a car's door can be just as influential to consumer decisions as its technical performance [12]. As both are evidently of critical importance to the success of the solution, a range of viable options may therefore exist in the design space [12,18,109,187,262,384].

"Aims, purposes, requirements, functions: these are words for how we see what is needed. But when we name them we tend to exclude the main part, the least predictable: ourselves, our minds, and how they change once we experience something."

- John C. Jones, Designing Designing, 1991 (republished 2021) [385]

Tradeoffs exist in the design problem when different design outcomes are *competing* [4,25,44,71,99,100]—to improve outcomes on one level may detriment outcomes on another, oftentimes in an indeterminant manner [20]. This is a particular ailment for *physically-interactive* products. Whereas *digital* products may be able to *decouple* their attributes such that outcomes on each level may be designed separately, the design of these outcomes in *physical* products is inherently *coupled* [44,93]. This coupling occurs because, at the root level, all of these design outcomes are commonly determined by the underlying form/layout of the product, i.e., they are not independent. Adjustments to the engineering design levers on this level can influence both the *responsive* (i.e., those that influence the rich, embodied interaction) and *persistent* attributes (i.e., those that maintain relevance outside of this interaction) of the product. An example of this may be seen in the design of *haptic controllers*, which must balance tradeoffs between the responsive attributes they afford (e.g., stiffness, manipulability, etc.) and their persistent attributes they achieve (e.g., durability, production cost, etc.), as these attributes are both determined by a

common set of form/layout parameters [25,71]. Understanding how to navigate these tradeoffs has remained a longtime issue in new product development, e.g., [322,323,326].

"It is quintessential to realize that a consumer product is an optimized solution for a design problem, but always a trade-off between all kinds of conflicting demands... products that are optimized towards one characteristic, for example cost efficiency, often are shallow in other aspects like durability, experience offered, or aesthetics. Good industrial product design is in integrating and balancing all characteristics of a product for a particular application, user group, and context-of-use."

- Joep Frens, Designing for Rich Interaction, 2006 [44]

With a map of the design space, the tradeoffs that exist in a given design problem may be better understood. This map can reveal exactly which outcomes are competing, how the tradeoffs between them are influenced by external factors, and ultimately how to adjust the available design levers to find a favorable balance. Gaining the ability to navigate tradeoffs can be especially beneficial in *emerging* technologies, in which there is little prior understanding for how different outcomes may compete. Between 70-80% of production costs are accrued by decisions made in these earlier stages of development [386], so a more holistic understanding of the design space can pay dividends in this regard. Without a design space map, later corrections to balance these tradeoffs may be necessary, thus incurring costly late-stage adjustments through extensive iterations [110]. Construction of this map through Embodiment Design Cartography may therefore help mitigate these costly mistakes [168] and adjustments [104] by allowing these tradeoffs to be efficiently assessed earlier in the new product development cycle.

3.2. Case Study: The Pneumatic Steering Column

To demonstrate the ability of Embodiment Design Cartography (EDC) to support the navigation of tradeoffs in real-world design problems, the design space map of an *emerging* steering system is undertaken. Physically-interactive products in the form of Human-Machine Interfaces (HMIs) are quite prevalent within automotive settings [387] due to the additional *haptic* information that may provide while driver's visual channels are already dedicated to navigating the vehicle. In the context of steering systems, haptic feedback can afford beneficial experiential outcomes when completing driving tasks (e.g., navigating curves or maintaining lanes) [68,69].

The product in this case study is a *pneumatic steering column*, e.g., [388]. This is an emerging technology that would replace the standard steering column in a vehicle with a hollow, pressurized column composed of an elastic material. It is fixed at one end and may be twisted under torsional shear applied by rotating the steering wheel on the other end; internal constraints prevent bending or lateral deformation, e.g., [389]. The connection to the steering mechanism is a steer-by-wire system, e.g., [390]. This artifact is illustrated in Figure 8.



Figure 8. The pneumatic steering column. The steering column in this system is a hollow, pressurized cylinder that is composed of some elastomer. This artifact provides the functionality to be stowed or deployed as needed by inflating the column (left). This, however, impacts the interaction of steering, as the haptics are altered by this new technological approach (right).

The implementation of such a device would enable a *stow/deploy* mechanism for the steering column, which would be used in autonomous vehicles for limited manual-steering scenarios. By decreasing the pressure and contracting internal tendons, the length of the column would compact into a storage compartment at the fixed end. Interest in stowing the steering wheel may increase as greater emphasis is placed on reconfigurability of vehicle interiors, with the advent of autonomous driving. The technological changes to enable this new function, however, would also affect the rich, embodied interaction of rotating the steering wheel. The *kinesthetic haptic feedback* of the pneumatic steering column would likely be stronger over a smaller range of motion. This feedback would also depend solely on the angular displacement of the steering wheel, rather than any motion of the vehicle itself (i.e., steer-by-wire).

It is not immediately apparent as to what this steering interaction should feel like, or how adjustments to the available design levers would influence the experiential responses elicited through its interaction. The tradeoffs that may exist between the *technical* functions (e.g., stowability) and the *experiential* responses (e.g., satisfaction) elicited by the interaction (i.e., rotating the steering wheel) are also not evident. External factors that may influence these tradeoffs need to be considered in the *problem space formulation*. Characterizing *models of the solution space* can be difficult in early development with the limited knowledge base that is available [110]. The costs of constructing multiple *physically-interactive prototypes* that could represent the range of achievable steering feels with high enough fidelity may present barriers. As such, this emerging technology is a suitable candidate for design space mapping to illustrate the manner in which the EDC framework may be *operationalized* to inform design decisions in this area.

3.3. Mapping the Pneumatic Steering Column Problem Space

Following the Embodiment Design Cartography (EDC) methodology detailed in Chapter 2, the first step in design space mapping is to construct the map of the *problem space*. This necessitates a *critical examination* of which considerations may be relevant to this design problem. Each of these considerations will be defined by a vector space that may be mapped within the Actor-Abstraction (A-A) matrix (see Figure 3). As this case study is first and foremost an engineering design problem, language from an existing design method with an engineering perspective (i.e., Function-Behavior-Structure) is used to name these vector spaces. This is simply for the added ease of understanding these designations; the actual naming system of the vector spaces is immaterial as they are ultimately designated by their A-A domains. The resulting mapping is illustrated in Figure 9.

The Why – Starting at the level of the why, the aim of this problem is to compare tradeoffs between design outcomes on a *technical* and *experiential* levels. This necessitates the mapping of two different vector spaces in this abstraction. On the technical level, a *Technical Functions* (T) vector space, which describes the stow/deploy function and any other technical outcomes that be derived directly from the artifact itself, may be mapped into the Artifact-Why. On the experiential level, this formulation shall include a *Subjective Experiential Responses* (E_S) vector space, which describes user's subjective perceptions that are specifically elicited by the rich, embodied steering interaction. E_S is mapped into the User-Why. It is between these two vector spaces—T and E_S —that the tradeoffs are assessed.



Figure 9. The problem space formulation of the pneumatic steering column mapped onto the A-A matrix. Technical Functions (T) is mapped into the Artifact-Why, and Subjective Experiential Responses (E_S) is mapped into the User-Why. Persistent Behaviors (B_P) and Responsive Behaviors/Attributes ($B_R = A_R$) are both mapped into the Artifact-What, and Environmental Attributes (A_E) is mapped into the Context-What. The Structure (S) is mapped into the Artifact-How, which is where the engineering design levers preside.

The What – At the level of the what, it shall first be considered as to what external factors may influence this tradeoff. One factor that seems to be particularly relevant to the experience of steering with this device is the physical roads or environmental obstacles that are navigated. In this regard, an Environmental Attributes (A_E) vector space is mapped into the Context-What. Of course, the attributes of the pneumatic steering column itself may be mapped at this level as well. Out of all the attributes that describe what the artifact is from a consumer perspective, only a subset of them may be directly engaged with to elicit experiential responses [96,391]. As such, a Behaviors (B) vector space (using the FBS schema) is mapped into the Artifact-What, which is decomposed into two sub-vector spaces: 1) a Persistent Behaviors (B_P) vector space, and a Responsive Behaviors (B_R) vector space ($B = B_P \cup B_R$). The latter may be alternatively deemed the Responsive Attributes (A_R) vector space, which itself is a sub-vector space of the overall Attributes (A) vector space ($A = A_R \cup A_E$), which describes the attributes that are relevant to the rich, embodied steering interaction. B_P is then coupled to T [28,186], and A is coupled to E_S [47,96] across the interaction boundary, both with functional transformations. A key assertation is made in these couplings: Persistent Behaviors beget Technical Functions, and Responsive Behaviors beget Subjective Experiential Responses. These couplings are distinct and occur in parallel. For instance, the 'cost' of a toothbrush (i.e., its B_P) does not affect its perceived 'comfort' (i.e., its E_S) within the specific interaction of 'brushing ones teeth,' but is still highly relevant to the higher level judgments that are made based on the overall design outcomes, i.e., purchasing [278].

The Why – This parallel coupling is not to say that B_R may not influence T and the B_P may not influence E_S , they just do so *indirectly*. Both subsets of B are commonly linked to the underlying form/layout at the level of the *how*. Continuing with the FBS schema for the artifact domains, the *Structure* (S) vector space is mapped into the Artifact-How, which describes these parameters of the form/layout that define the pneumatic steering column. It is in this vector space that the engineering *design levers* provide direct input into the design problem. S is coupled to B with a functional transformation, such that any adjustments made at this level may alter both B_P and B_R , which in turn may impact both T and E_S . The *tradeoffs* that exist between these design outcomes are therefore evidenced by this common coupling at the lowest abstraction level, "[t]hat is, the form of products mediates both the interaction and the expression of functionality" [97].

The resulting problem space formulation couples the concrete design levers (S) to the abstract design outcomes (T and E_S) in two *closed circuits* that may be traced in both the *causal* and *teleological* directions. Looking at the map, it is evident that the Responsive Behaviors/Attributes ($B_R = A_R$) serves a unique role as a sub-space of two different vector spaces (B and A). It is therefore considered to be an *intermediary vector space*, as it serves as both an *input* and an *output* to different transformations. This allows for the formulation to be 'completed,' as is dictated by the EDC epistemology. Overall, the problem space map that is derived through the systematic examination of these considerations provides a *well-defined* organizational structure that is *unique* from existing design methods and *tailored* to this specific design problem.

3.4. Mapping the Pneumatic Steering Column Solution Space: Analytical Models

Following the Embodiment Design Cartography (EDC) methodology detailed in Chapter 2, once the problem space is formulated, the second step is to construct the map of the *solution space*. The solution space is characterized by modeling the transformations between the vector spaces that contain *design levers*, and those that describe *design outcomes*. This modeling is conducted in order to build a quantitative understanding of the relations within the problem space map, and to then enable rigorous manners for which the resulting design options may be assessed. This map is constructed in a *linear algebraic* sense, and therefore leverages all of the associated machinery (e.g., vectors and vector spaces).

The EDC methodology describes six activities for constructing this map (see Table 2), which include: 1) *parameterizing*, 2) *descriptive modeling*, 3) *prescriptive modeling*, 4) *prototyping*, 5) *verifying*, and 6) *validating*. As the problem space formulation spans the *interaction boundary* (see Figure 3), *empirical* study is necessary for characterizing portions of this overall model. The solution space mapping is therefore discussed across two sections in this chapter, in which this first section pertains to the *analytical* models that may be derived, and the subsequent section then details the characterization of the *empirical* models through a user study. Overall, this mapping spans each of the embodiment design processes (i.e., analysis, synthesis, and evaluation) through each of the six activities in the EDC methodology.

3.4.1. Parametrizing the Pneumatic Steering Column Problem Space

The first activity for the *analysis* process is to *parametrize* each of the vector spaces. Some of these parametrizations are logical or are implied by the design problem, but techniques from Quality Function Deployment or Kansei Engineering may be also leveraged for this purpose, per the meta-analysis conducted on the existing design methods (see Table 3). Expert input was derived for this case study through consultation and collaboration with General Motors (GM) engineers, and ranges were refined with small pilot studies. The parameterized vector spaces are summarized in Table 4 and each detailed in turn.

A-A Domain	Vector Space	Description		
Artifact-How	$\boldsymbol{S} = \{\boldsymbol{l}, \boldsymbol{d}, \boldsymbol{th}, \boldsymbol{p}, \boldsymbol{h}\}$	The length (1), diameter (d), wall thickness (th), pressure (p), material hardness (h) of the pneumatic steering column (see Figure 10).		
Artifact-What	$\boldsymbol{B}_{\boldsymbol{P}} = \{\boldsymbol{v}, \boldsymbol{sr}, \boldsymbol{c}\}$	The stowed volume (v) , structural rigidity (sr) , and production cost (c) of the pneumatic steering column.		
	$B_R = A_R = \{k, s\}$	The torsional stiffness (k) and steering sensitivity (s) of the pneumatic steering column [390].		
Context-What	$A_E = \{t\}$	The <i>track</i> (<i>t</i>) that the pneumatic steering column is used to navigate, i.e., the <i>rapid-steering and precision-steering</i> tracks (see Figure 11).		
Artifact-Why	$T = \{sw, sb, af\}$	The <i>stowability</i> $(+\Delta sw)$, <i>stability</i> $(+\Delta sb)$, and <i>affordability</i> $(+\Delta af)$ of the pneumatic steering column.		
User-Why	$\boldsymbol{E}_{\boldsymbol{S}} = \{ \boldsymbol{\bar{r}} \},$ $\boldsymbol{\bar{r}} = (\sum_{n=1}^{3} \boldsymbol{r}_{n})/3$	The overall <i>rating</i> $(+\Delta \bar{r})$, averaged between the <i>satisfaction</i> (r_1) , <i>learnability</i> (r_2) , and <i>controllability</i> ratings (r_3) (5-point scale).		

Table 4. Parametrized vector spaces of the pneumatic steering column problem space. Directional design objectives (increase/decrease) at the level of the *why* are indicated by $\pm \Delta$.

Parametrizing the Structure – The dimensions of the Structure (S) vector space physically define the geometry and properties of the pneumatic steering column's form/layout. This device is composed by a pressurized, hollow cylinder, capped at both ends, and made of some elastomer. The dimensions of S are therefore the *length* (I), *diameter* (d), and *wall thickness* (th), *pressure* (p), and *material hardness* (h) of this column. These dimensions are illustrated by Figure 10. It is plausible that technical constraints on S could limit the range of these dimensions, and thus feasible regions of T and E_S. While these are not imposed at this point, various technical constraints that could plausibly be posed are considered when navigating tradeoffs in the design space map. Overall, $S = \{I, d, th, p, h\}$ and each of these parameters may be directly adjusted by the engineering designer.



Figure 10. The form/layout of the pneumatic steering column. The Structure (S) is conceptualized as a hollow column of length (I), diameter (d), and wall thickness (th), that is inflated to some pressure (p), and composed of an elastomer with some material hardness (h). It is fixed at one end and torsional shear is applied at the other.

Parametrizing the Responsive Behaviors/Attributes – The dimensions of the Responsive Behaviors/Attributes ($B_R = A_R$) each relate to the specific rich, embodied interaction in question, which in this case is *turning the steering wheel*. Each dimension may be defined in terms of: 1) the user's inputs to this interaction (i.e., the degree they rotate the steering wheel, Θ_{in}), and 2) the haptic feedback or system response that these inputs elicit. For the pneumatic steering column, these dimensions are given by the *effective torque stiffness* (k) and *steering sensitivity* (s), which together describe the haptic kinesthetic feedback of steering [390]. First, k is given by Equation (1), in which

$$\boldsymbol{k} = \boldsymbol{\tau} / \boldsymbol{\Theta}_{\text{in}} \tag{1}$$

, where τ is the feedback torque felt by the user, and Θ_{in} is the degree that they turn the steering wheel. The range of *k* was defined to be [1.875e-2, 0.3] N•m/deg_{in} through a small pilot study (see Section 3.5.2). On the other hand, *s* is given by Equation (2), in which

$$s = \Theta_{\text{out}} / \Theta_{\text{in}} \tag{2}$$

, where Θ_{out} is the degree that the front wheels of the vehicle turn for every Θ_{in} , which again is the degree that the steering wheel is turned. While *s* may be directly input or programed in a typical steer-by-wire system, in the pneumatic steering column, the achievable steering angle is greatly diminished by the fact that the column must be *twisted* rather than *rotated*. *s* is therefore inversely coupled to this range of motion to maintain the same minimum level of vehicle maneuverability.

Achievable values of *s* are thusly limited by the maximum torque that users may feasibly apply to the steering wheel for extended periods of time. This range was defined to be [0.7, 11.2] deg_{out}/deg_{in} through a small pilot study (see Section 3.5.2). Overall, $B_R = A_R = \{k, s\}$, in which target levels of B_R are propagated from objectives in the Subjective Experiential Responses (*E*_S).

Parametrizing the Persistent Behaviors – The dimensions of the Persistent Behaviors (B_P) relate to qualities of the product that exist outside of the steering interaction. The first is the *stowed volume* (v), which describes its volume when fully depressurized and retracted. The second is the *structural rigidity* (sr), which describes its stiffness in non-torsional deformations. The third is the *production cost* (c), which describes the variable costs, and shall be considered proportional to material volume (for simplicity of the case study). No constraints are imposed on these dimensions. Overall, $B_P = \{v, sr, c\}$, in which target levels of B_P are propagated from objectives in the Technical Functions (T), and therefore $B = \{k, s, v, sr, c\}$.

Parametrizing the Environmental Attributes - The rich, embodied interaction of turning the steering wheel requires some *context* for experiences to be meaningful. Drivers' feedback from aimlessly turning the steering wheel would likely be different to what they may provide if they were turning this steering wheel to actually navigate through an environment. Furthermore, the type of environment they were navigating through would also affect this interaction, and similarly influence their evaluations. Consider, for instance, the differences in navigating a crowded parking lot, an interstate, and a winding mountain road. In each of these contexts, both the *magnitude* of the steering angle and *frequency* of change in steering angle required to navigate these roads can vary drastically. As such, the Environmental Attributes (A_E) in the Context-What are defined by two different categorical *tracks* (t) in this case study. t represents two potential extremes of realworld driving scenarios, which are illustrated by Figure 11. The first, rapid-steering track is a tightly curved circuit navigated at slow speeds (30 km/h), which requires frequent, large rotations of the steering wheel to successfully traverse. The second, precision-steering track is a straight, two-lane road navigated at high speeds (100 km/h) which alternatively requires infrequent, small turns to successfully traverse (i.e., make lane changes). Each of these tracks could be further parameterized by several continuous variables (e.g., speed, curvature, etc.), however they are aggregated into a single categorical variable for simplicity of the case study; this aggregation is generally reflected in real life as well. Overall, $A_E = \{t\}$ and therefore $A = \{k, s, t\}$.



Figure 11. The contexts for the pneumatic steering column interaction. These two different tracks (t) define the Environmental Attributes (A_E) in this case study. Drivers navigate the *rapid-steering* track (left) at 30 km/h and the *precision-steering* track (right) at 100 km/h. The circuit for the rapid-steering context is looped, while the road of the precision-steering track repeats, alternating between the right-hand and left-hand turns. The diagram of this latter track is pictured in 1/50 scale lengthwise, relative to the width of the track.

Parametrizing the Technical Functions – The dimensions of the Technical Functions (T) vector space relate to the stow/deploy mechanism, and other technical requirements common in product development. Each corresponds to a dimension in B_P . The first is the *stowability* (sw), which describes its ability to be stowed in a storage compartment. The second is the *stability* (sb), which describes its ability to resist non-steering-related deformations and retain structural integrity. The third is the *affordability* (af), which describes its ability to present low financial barriers for consumers. Overall, $T = {sw, sb, af}$ and a reasonable objective for each of these technical design outcomes would be to *improve* each of them ($+\Delta$).

Parametrizing the Subjective Experiential Responses – The dimensions of the Subjective Experiential Responses (E_S) vector space were initially described by five semantic descriptors from an existing questionnaire for automotive HMI evaluation—each of which were each relevant to the steering interaction—which was provided by General Motors. Through a small pilot study (see Section 3.5.2), three semantic descriptions were selected by dropping those that were highly correlated to these remaining three. The selected dimensions were the *satisfaction rating* (r_1), i.e., 'how would you rate your satisfaction steering this vehicle?', the learnability rating (r_2), i.e., 'how would you rate your ability to get used to steering this vehicle?'. These were evaluated on a 5-point

Likert scale [207]. To reduce this dimensionality such that a *single* objective variable could define E_S , the *average rating* (\bar{r}) of these three evaluations was calculated; dimensional reduction techniques such as this are common in KE [213] (see Table 3). Overall, $E_S = \{\bar{r}\}$ and reasonable objective for this experiential design outcome would be to improve this average rating ($\pm \Delta$).

3.4.2. Descriptive Modeling Through Analytical Derivation

With the dimensions of each of these vector spaces defined, the relations between them may be characterized. The second activity of the analysis process is to descriptively model each of the transformations. There are three mathematical models denoted in the problem space formulation (see Figure 8), which are referred to as the *engineering model* (\mathcal{E}), the *performance model* (\mathcal{P}), and the *interaction model* (\mathcal{I}) . Each of these models may have a *distinct functional form*, particularly when addressing the 'embodiment' phenomenon, i.e., physically-interactive products. On the experiential level, for instance, humans naturally perceive (e.g., E_S) changes to physical stimuli (e.g., A_R) on a proportional—rather than an absolute—scale [331,332]. This principle serves as a basis for the field of psychophysics [392], i.e., the Weber-Fechner law [393], which states that physical perception is not linear, but rather *logarithmic* in nature. Adjustments to the haptics of an artifact must occur on a *logarithmic* scale to be linearly perceived by the user [394]. However, on a *technical* level, the couplings between an artifact's underlying form/layout (e.g., S), its attributes (e.g., **B**), and ultimately, its performance (e.g., **T**), are generally governed by *power law* relations. These differences in functional form—the logarithmic scale on the experiential level and the power law relations on the technical level-come into play when models of these different types are composed to couple design levers and outcomes. While the latter of these three models crosses the *interaction boundary*—and is therefore discussed in the subsequent section—the former two may be analytically derived.

In a general sense, the *engineering model* (\mathcal{E}) characterizes the functional transformation between vector spaces in the Artifact-How (i.e., S) to vector spaces in the Artifact-What (i.e., B). In this case study, this functional transformation may be given by Equation (3), in which

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{E}: \quad S \to B \tag{3} \\ \mathcal{E}^{-1}: \quad B \to S \end{aligned}$$

, where \mathcal{E} is descriptively characterized in the causal direction, but may be teleologically applied through its prescriptive inverse (i.e., \mathcal{E}^{-1}). Similarly, the *performance model* (\mathcal{P}) characterizes the functional transformation between vector spaces in the Artifact-What (i.e., B_P) to vector spaces in the Artifact-Why (i.e., T). In this case study, this functional transformation may be given by Equation (4), in which

$$\mathcal{P}: \quad B_P \to T \tag{4}$$
$$\mathcal{P}^{-1}: \quad T \to B_P$$

, where \mathcal{P} is similarly descriptively characterized in the causal direction, but may be teleologically applied through its prescriptive inverse (\mathcal{P}^{-1}). Compared to engineering modeling, performance modeling is essentially a measure that translates persistent attributes into layman's terms that comprise the artifact outcomes, which are more meaningful to consumers (e.g., 'affordability' is more directly understandable than 'production costs'). The distinction between '*what* something is' and '*why* something is' can be a fine line when considering a product on a purely technical level, and is largely predicated on *interpretation*. While \mathcal{E} is generally subject to natural laws (e.g., the weight of an artifact is an objective quality), \mathcal{P} generally affords more leeway for the engineering designer in how they wish to specifically define technical design outcomes such as 'durability' or 'affordability.' An outcome like 'durability,' for instance, could refer to its toughness, its waterproofing, or some other inherent resistance to destructive forces, as interpreted by the engineering designer.

Deriving analytical models of relations on this technical level is a well-established process, e.g., [5,20,22–25,28,186,370,395], and there are a variety of existing techniques to support this endeavor (e.g., finite element analysis [396]). In *emerging* technologies, however, the knowledge based required for these more sophisticated techniques may be limited [110]. Techniques for more simply approximating these relations can therefore be necessary to conduct this mapping earlier in the development cycle. In this regard, each of the analytical models on the technical level in this case study are characterized using *proportional sensitivities* that may be approximated with a limited knowledge base. Note that these estimations are not *true* sensitivities in the derivative sense of the word, but rather an index of the relative strength of these dependencies. More robust techniques for sensitivity modeling (e.g., [397,398]) may be employed in later development, but are out of the scope of this case study. This proportional sensitivity model is given in Table 5.

Table 5. Proportional sensitivity model for the pneumatic steering column. An adjustment (Δ) made to any element in the Structure (*S*) will reflect a proportional impact on corresponding elements of the Behaviors (*B*), which will in turn have a proportional impact on corresponding elements of the Technical Functions (*T*). Elements of *T* are designated with $+\Delta$ to reflect their design objectives (i.e., improve each)

Т	${\mathcal P}$	В	Е	S				
$+\Delta sw$	¢	Δv^{-1}	×	Δl^{-1}	Δd^{-1}	Δth^{-1}		Δh^{-1}
$+\Delta sb$	¢	Δsr	∝	Δl^{-2}	Δd	Δth	Δp	$\Delta \mathbf{e}^{\boldsymbol{h}} \left(\approx \Delta \boldsymbol{h}^4 \right)^*$
$+\Delta af$	¢	Δc^{-1}	¢	Δl^{-1}	Δd^{-2}	Δth^{-2}		
		$\Delta \boldsymbol{k}$	∝	Δl^{-1}	Δd^4	Δth	Δp^4	$\Delta e^{\boldsymbol{h}} \left(\approx \Delta \boldsymbol{h}^4 \right)^*$
		Δs	¢	Δl		Δth	Δp	$\Delta \pmb{h}^{-1}$

For \mathcal{E} , the proportional sensitivities between S and B are dictated by the power-law relations that are approximated using fundamental principles of static mechanics (e.g., beam-bending, pressure vessel analysis, etc.)-knowledge that would be available for emerging technologies. For instance, a change in the effective torque stiffness (Δk) is assumed to be inversely proportional to a change in the length (Δl) and quartically proportional to a change in the diameter (Δd) according to the second moment of inertia; proportional to changes in the wall thickness (Δth), assuming thin walls; quartically proportional to a change in pressure (Δp), which is the case for pressurized hollow cylinders; and exponentially related to changes in height (Δh), which is a common approximation of the modulus of elasticity in elastomers, e.g., [399]. Although the changes to the steering sensitivity (Δs) may be programmatically enacted in a steer-by-wire system, the range of motion of the steering wheel is limited by both the buckling of the column, and the torque that may be feasibly applied by the user. Δs is therefore considered inversely proportional to the range of motion, for the driver to maintain the same level of maneuverability. These approximations are largely simplified (e.g., Δc is equated to change in material volume) and are purely demonstrative for this case study. With a complete sensitivity model, true sensitivity gradients may be readily substituted in here if the technical knowledge is available.

For \mathcal{P} , on the other hand, these proportional sensitivities are *rationally* derived. An improvement (i.e., increase) to the stowability $(+\Delta sw)$ of the pneumatic steering column is interpreted to be inversely proportional to a change in the stowed volume (Δv^{-1}) . An improvement to its stability $(+\Delta sr)$ is interpreted to be linearly proportional a change in the structural rigidity

^{*} For simplicity, e^x proportionalities are approximated here by x^4 .

 (Δsr) . An improvement to the affordability $(+\Delta af)$ is interpreted to be inversely proportional to a change in the production cost (Δc^{-1}) . \mathcal{P} and \mathcal{E} may be simply composed—where $\Delta T = \mathcal{P}(\mathcal{E}(\Delta S))$ —such that the technical design outcomes are coupled to the design levers. This achieves one half of the solution space model through these analytically derived couplings. The other half, however, requires empirical study to characterize.

3.5. Mapping the Pneumatic Steering Column Solution Space: Empirical Models

To conclude the construction of the solution space map, the remaining activities in the Embodiment Design Cartography (EDC) methodology are conducted within an *empirical* user study. The purpose of this study is to characterize (i.e., *analysis*), employ (i.e., *synthesis*), and assess the predictive accuracy (i.e., *evaluate*) of an *interaction model* (\mathcal{I}) across the continuous span of the solution space. In a general sense, \mathcal{I} characterizes the functional transformation between vector spaces in the Artifact-What, Context-What, and/or User-What (i.e., \mathcal{A}) to vector spaces in the Context-Why, and/or User-Why (i.e., \mathcal{E}_S). In this case study, this functional transformation may be given by Equation (5), in which

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{I}: \quad A \to E_S \end{aligned} \tag{5} \\ \mathcal{I}^{-1}: \quad E_S \to A \end{aligned}$$

, where \mathcal{I} is descriptively characterized in the causal direction, but may be teleologically applied through its prescriptive inverse (\mathcal{I}^{-1}). As this transformation crosses the *interaction boundary* in the Actor-Abstraction (A-A) matrix (see Figure 10), its outputs may only be elicited through a rich, embodied interaction, which, in this case, is 'steering with the pneumatic steering column.' A controlled user study was therefore conducted to empirically characterize and validate \mathcal{I} , and, ultimately, complete the solution space map. In this study, users (n = 57) assessed different design configurations of the pneumatic steering column (i.e., A_R) within different steering tasks (i.e., A_T), through trials in which a rich, embodied interaction for this design problem was replicated with an *interaction prototype* in a driving simulator.

3.5.1. Testing Procedure & Infrastructure

Fifty-seven licensed drivers (n = 57; 26 female, 31 male) between the ages of 18 to 74 (m = 33.84, sd = 17.15) were recruited to participate in this study via email listservs and social media advertisements—sixty participants were originally recruited, but three disqualified themselves before completion due to reported motion sickness in the simulator. The following inclusion criteria were specified: participants must 1) possess a valid driver's license, 2) be over the age of 18, and 3) be able to view a screen for 1 hour or more. This study was approved by the University of Michigan Health Sciences and Behavioral Sciences Institutional Review Board. Written informed consent was obtained from all participants.

This study took place in a driving simulator, which was constructed by replacing the windshield of a 2004 Cadillac CTS-V with a monitor that displayed the simulated environment. The vehicle's primary controls (i.e., the accelerator, break, and steering wheel) were connected to simulator program (VI-DriveSim) to act as controls for the simulated vehicle. Each of two tracks (*t*) in A_E (see Figure 11) were virtually represented in this simulated environment. Ratings were provided through a Microsoft Surface Tablet that was mounted to the dashboard. This infrastructure is pictured in Figure 12. Lab sessions lasted approximately two hours in total.

After being acclimated to the simulator, the study population was randomly divided into two even groups, with each being assigned to one of the two tracks (t; see Figure 11). This was due to practical constraints, as there was only enough time in the study for participants to drive on one track or the other. Participants were then tasked with completing a series of repeated driving maneuvers according to their assigned track. Each trial in this study necessitated the completion of three repeated maneuvers using a given configuration of the pneumatic steering column's responsive attributes ($B_R = A_R$), after which participants would provide their subjective ratings (E_S). For the *rapid-steering* track, one trial consisted of *three lane changes* (alternating between left-hand and right-hand turns). For both tracks, participants were instructed to remain on the road and to avoid the out-of-bounds areas to the best of their ability.



Figure 12. The driving simulator for the pneumatic steering column. From the interior of this vehicle (main), the participant used an interaction prototype that was built into the steering column to control the vehicle in the simulated environment (VI-DriveSim). This simulator was housed in a 2004 Cadillac CTS-V (exterior view; bottom right) to provide an immersive environment. The rapid-steering track is pictured here.

Participants were also outfitted with physiological sensors to measure the skin conductance at their left foot (*electrodermal activity*) and heart rate at their left earlobe (*photoplethysmography*), however this physiological data was *not* used in the construction of this design space map. It must be acknowledged that, although the recording sites of these sensors were selected to avoid interfering with driving maneuvers, these sensors may have influenced participants' ratings in some way.

Prototyping – In this study, participants evaluated *eleven* different configurations of the pneumatic steering column, however eleven different physically-interactive prototypes were not constructed. Rather, a single *interaction prototype* was constructed, which was able to be dynamically replicate any configuration within the span of the continuous solution space. In this case, the interaction prototype was constructed by attaching the traditional, rigid steering column to a harmonic drive motor (AC Servo Motor RSF-14B-50 [400]), which could replicate the kinesthetic haptic feedback in the rich, embodied steering interaction, as defined by A_R , but without using the parameters in S to manifest them. An encoder on the steering column streamed the angle of the steering wheel (Θ_{in}) into a Simulink program, which dictated both the feedback torque (τ) that was output to the motor (see Eq. (1)), as well as the steering angle (Θ_{out}) that was output to
the simulation (see Eq. (2)). A Python program that communicated with Simulink was then used to input different values for k and s, effectively changing the configuration of pneumatic steering column in real time. These values for the eleven different trials were dictated by the experimental design of the study.

3.5.2. Experimental Design

The design of this empirical study was centered around: 1) estimating the coefficients of a regression that characterized (i.e., analysis) the transformation given in interaction model (\mathcal{I} ; see Eq. (5)), 2) using the resulting model to predict new design configurations (i.e., synthesis), and then ultimately 3) *self-validating* the model (i.e., evaluation), all within same testing session. The form of this regression was given by a *mixed-effects* model, in which the average rating (\vec{r}) is estimated (\hat{r}) as a function of the Attributes (A) vector space. However, as one element of A—the track (t)—is a categorical variable that is used to *divide* the study population into two groups (i.e., between rapid-steering and precision-steering), this element is pulled out of the model to denote two versions of \mathcal{I} that each correspond to these two populations (and therefore, two different sets of data). These versions are colloquially referred to as the *rapid-steering interaction model* (\mathcal{I}_{Rap}) and the *precision-steering interaction model* (\mathcal{I}_{Prec}). The form of both of these models is given by Equation (6), in which

$$\mathcal{I}: \quad \hat{r} = \begin{bmatrix} a_1 \\ \vdots \\ a_5 \end{bmatrix}^{\mathrm{T}} \begin{bmatrix} \beta_1 \\ \vdots \\ \beta_5 \end{bmatrix} + u_j + e_{ij}, \tag{6}$$
$$a = \{ \boldsymbol{k}, \boldsymbol{s}, \boldsymbol{k} \cdot \boldsymbol{s}, \boldsymbol{k}^2, \boldsymbol{s}^2 \}$$

, where the *fixed-effects* are given by *a*, and the *random-effects* for each individual are given by u_j , with some error (e_{ij}) for each prediction. The coefficients (β) are separately estimated for both \mathcal{I}_{Rap} and \mathcal{I}_{Prec} .

A small pilot study (n = 22) indicated the existence of 2nd order curvature in this transformation, thus the inclusion of the binomial terms (i.e., k^2 and s^2). This pilot was conducted prior to the full experiment in order to: 1) identify the ranges of k and s that were likely to contain the optimal \bar{r} (i.e., an *inflection point*), and to 2) downselect the dimensions of E_s (see Section 3.4.1). A wide range of values for k and s were sampled, and the user evaluations in E_s were reviewed. The ranges of k and s that would likely contain the inflection point were determined to be 1.875e-2 k 0.3 (N•m/deg_{in}) and 0.7 s 11.2 (deg_{out}/deg_{in}), respectively (see Section 3.4.1). The inclusion of these binomial terms is particularly useful for *synthesis*, as they allow for the existence of local maxima of \hat{r} to be present within the continuous span of A_R , such that new, more optimal design configurations may be interpolated. It is beneficial to identify of the ranges of the dimensions in A_R which contain this inflection point so that this curvature may be reasonably included in \mathcal{I} .

Discreet levels across these defined ranges were then specified to further *parameterize* k and s (see Table 3). As this model characterizes user's perceptions (E_S) to an interaction involving a physical stimuli (A_R) , these levels were spaced on a logarithmic scale in accordance with the psychophysical principle given by the Weber-Fechner law [331,332,392–394]. For each element of A_R , three logarithmically space levels were defined (high, medium, low), which were paired to create a full-factorial experimental design (i.e., 3×3 design with nine trials). These nine, randomly ordered trials comprised the *analysis* portion of this study, in which the coefficients of \mathcal{I} (see Eq. (6)) were estimated. This experimental design was therefore the same for each participant (barring the trial order) in this portion of the study. The inverse of this model (\mathcal{I}^{-1} ; see Eq. (5)) was then used to make two predictions in the subsequent synthesis portion of this study. These predictions included the design configuration (i.e., pairing of k and s) that was predicted to receive the *optimal* average rating ($\hat{\mathbf{r}}_{Opt}$), and a configuration that was predicted to receive a *sub-optimal* average rating (\hat{r}_{Sub}) , i.e., an average rating that was one root-mean-square deviation (rmsd) lower than the optimal. An *iterative* approach was taken for these predictions, which aimed to address practical challenges such as limited time and sample size. To maximize the statistical power, the coefficients were estimated for each subsequent participant using both their own data and the pooled data of all prior participants (who were assigned the same track). The first participant was predicted with n = 1, the second with n = 2, and so forth, until the final participant (n = 57); these data pools were divided between \mathcal{I}_{Rap} and \mathcal{I}_{Prec} . Both versions of \mathcal{I} therefore varied incrementally for each participant (additional data point for each). The two predictions were made in real-time, and then immediately generated with the interaction prototype. Two additional trials-unique for each participant—for \hat{r}_{Opt} and \hat{r}_{Sub} were then conducted for the *evaluation* portion of this study. The ratings provided by the participants were then used to verify the prediction, and then validate the model across the solution space. This resulted in eleven total trials in this adaptive, self-validating experimental design, which is summarized by Table 6.

Process	Trial ID	Effective	Effective Torque Stiffness (k)		nsitivity (s)
		Level	Value (N•m/degin)	Level	Value (degout/degin)
Analysis	1	Low	1.875e-2	Low	0.7
	2	Low	1.875e-2	Med	2.8
	3	Low	1.875e-2	High	11.2
	4	Med	7.5e-2	Low	0.7
	5	Med	7.5e-2	Med	2.8
	6	Med	7.5e-2	High	11.2
	7	High	0.3	Low	0.7
	8	High	0.3	Med	2.8
	9	High	0.3	High	11.2
Synthesis	Prediction of	fnew design conf	gurations (i.e., prescrip	otive modeling &	prototyping; see Table 2)
Evaluation	10	Opt	Iterative	Opt	Iterative
	11	Sub	Iterative	Sub	Iterative

Table 6. The experimental design of the empirical user study of the pneumatic steering column.

To visualize the resulting solution space constructed across these processes of analysis, synthesis, and evaluation, contour plots of this model are illustrated in Figure 13 (for the final iteration of \mathcal{I}_{Rap} and \mathcal{I}_{Prec}). These two predicted configurations— \hat{r}_{Opt} and \hat{r}_{Sub} —serve as a litmus test for whether \mathcal{I} can correctly predict preference (according to the E_S) across A_R . To validate the model, the prediction was considered to be 'correct' if the actual rating given to the predicted optimal design configuration (\vec{r}_{Opt}) was rated higher than that given to the predicted sub-optimal design configuration (\vec{r}_{Sub}). As a range of design configurations within A_R could be predicted to receive \hat{r}_{Sub} , the point closest to the optimal (in Euclidian distance) was selected for each iteration. The importance of the heterogeneity between contexts and users is highlighted by two observations: 1) the predicted optimal design configuration differed for each track, and 2) no two users were predicted to have the same optimal design configuration.



Figure 13. Predictions made in the solution space map of the pneumatic steering column. The interaction models (\mathcal{J}_{Rap} , left; \mathcal{J}_{Prec} , right) are visualized by contour plots, which reveal the range of experiential responses (\hat{r}) predicted to be elicited by different options for the configuration (A_R) of the pneumatic steering column along a continuous span of the achievable solution space. In this space, \hat{r}_{Opt} represents the configuration of k and s that is predicted to receive the optimal rating. \hat{r}_{Sub} represents a different design configuration that is predicted to be rated one rmsd lower than \hat{r}_{Opt} . The point closest to \hat{r}_{Opt} along this contour is selected to test the validity of the prediction.

It should be noted that this interpolation of new design configurations is contingent on treating *ordinal* ratings as *continuous* data. Some existing design methods (e.g., Choice-Based Conjoint Analysis) circumvent this by using *choices* to calculate *utility*. This is not feasible in this experiment, as a choice-based approach is too reliant on retaining multiple interactions in memory. Physical interactions of this duration cannot be presented simultaneously or retained in memory with equal fidelity, in the manner that images or descriptions can be.

3.5.3. Experimental Results

This empirical user study was ultimately conducted to characterize and validate the interaction model (\mathcal{I} ; see Eq. (6)). To construct the model, the coefficients for \mathcal{I}_{Rap} and \mathcal{I}_{Prec} were first estimated in the *analysis* portion of the study. The estimates for the *final iteration* of each model are summarized in Table 7. For all results, p-values of < 0.05 are considered significant.

Model (I)	Track (t)		k	S	k∙s	k ²	s^2	u_{ij}
${\cal J}_{ m Rap}$	Rapid-steering	β	0.16	4.01	1.13	-0.90	-3.93	2.06
		р	0.59	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.01	< 0.001	< 0.001
${\cal J}_{ m Prec}$	Precision-steering	β	0.12	1.34	1.07	-0.39	-3.56	3.50
		р	0.69	< 0.001	< 0.001	0.15	< 0.001	< 0.001

Table 7. Estimated coefficients of the interaction model. Significant p-values are bolded.

The effects of the experimental design may be more plainly examined through a *mixed-effects* model that includes both the effective torque stiffness (k), the steering sensitivity (s), and the track (t). Each of these are treated as *categorical* predictors (along with 2 and 3-way interactions) for the *given* average ratings (\bar{r}), with a random intercept. An ANOVA (type III) on this model provides significance levels, which are summarized in Table 8.

Table 8. The effects of the experimental design on the average rating. Significant p-values are bolded.

Statistics	Coefficients							
	k	S	t	k∙s	k∙t	s·t	k·s·t	
Sum of Squares	9.72	69.38	33.77	16.87	4.16	38.34	0.64	
p-value	< 0.01	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.05	< 0.001	0.43	

The main effects—k (p < 0.01), s (p < 0.001), and t (p < 0.001)—were all significant. There were distinct preferences, as indexed by \bar{r} , reported across different combinations of the A_R for both tracks. There was also a significant two-way interaction effect between k and s (p < 0.001). Users generally preferred lower k paired with higher s, and vice versa. There was a significant two-way interaction effect between k and t (p < 0.001). Users preferred a higher k on the precision-steering track and a lower k on the rapid-steering track. Similarly, there was a significant two-way interaction effect between s and t (p < 0.001) as well. Users preferred a lower s on the precision-steering track and a higher s in the rapid-steering track. These effects are expected, as a higher k and a lower s can make precision-steering maneuvers more accurate, but can also require more effort to complete rapid-steering maneuvers. The three-way interaction effect between k, s, and t was not significant. This model is illustrated in Figure 14.



Figure 14. The effects of the experimental design on the experiential response. The mean of the average rating (\vec{r}) across all participants is shown for each configuration that was present in the *analysis* portion of the study (9 trials). Interaction effects may be highlighted by intersecting slopes. Both tracks are shown (\mathcal{J}_{Rap} , left; \mathcal{J}_{Prec} , right).

For the *evaluation* process, the average rating (\vec{r}) that users *gave* to their optimal (\vec{r}_{Opt}) and suboptimal (\vec{r}_{Sub}) design configurations may be compared for each context. Despite the fact that the predicted optimal and sub-optimal configurations were *iteratively* updated (i.e., were unique) for each participant, the optimal was consistently preferred over the sub-optimal. Preference was correctly predicted for 50 out of 57 participants, i.e., 87.7% of participants rated the optimal configuration higher than the sub-optimal configuration. Participants significantly preferred their optimal configuration to their sub-optimal one. The optimal configuration (\vec{r}_{Opt}) was rated an average of 1.44 ± 0.19 points higher than the sub-optimal (\vec{r}_{Sub}) on the 5-point scale (p < 0.001), which is illustrated by Figure 15. These correct predictions were evenly split between the two tracks, with 25 of 29 participants preferring their optimal to their sub-optimal configuration on the rapid-steering track (\mathcal{J}_{Rap}), and 25 of 28 preferring the same on the precision-steering track (\mathcal{J}_{Prec}). There was no statistically significant difference in the ability to predict between the two contexts. Ultimately, this test may be used validate \mathcal{I} in its ability to correctly predict the preference for *new* design configurations across the solution space. With a validated model, \hat{r} may be used as an index for \vec{r} , and any insights in this area may be extended to larger populations.



Figure 15. The validation test for the solution space model of the pneumatic steering column. The mean average rating (\vec{r}) given to the optimal configuration (\vec{r}_{Opt}) is compared to sub-optimal configuration (\vec{r}_{Sub}) . The optimal configuration was, on average, rated significantly higher than the sub-optimal configuration, thus validating \mathcal{I} .

3.6. Navigating Tradeoffs in the Design Space Map

With both the *analytical* and *empirical* models that comprise the solution space model constructed—and that latter being *validated* as well—the complete formulation of the design space map may finally be employed to navigate tradeoffs in this case study. All of the potentially competing design outcomes, including those on the *technical* level and those on the *experiential* level, are mathematically coupled to the design levers, such that adjustments made to the Structure (ΔS) are reflected in the Technical Functions (ΔT) and Subjective Experiential Responses (ΔE_S) through the *composition* of these models. This is represented by

$$\Delta \boldsymbol{T} = \mathcal{P}(\mathcal{E}(\Delta \boldsymbol{S}))$$
$$\Delta \boldsymbol{E}_{\boldsymbol{S}} = \mathcal{I}(\mathcal{E}(\Delta \boldsymbol{S}))$$

, where the Environmental Attributes (A_E) is held constant (i.e., same track). These compositions reflect how the *tradeoffs* that exist between the technical and experiential design outcomes are derived from their common coupling to the underlying form/layout. Both types of outcomes are functions of ΔS , so to alter one implies alterations to the other. While it could certainly be feasible to assess the tradeoffs in the case study within the format of a multi-objective optimization problem e.g., [401], these models are instead composed in a unique manner that leverages their natural functional forms to facilitate a *systematic exploration* of the solution space. This approach is supported by *visualizations* and *linear algebraic* machinery (i.e., vectors), provides a higher level of nuance to the examination of the solution space, and ultimately affords the potential to discover innovative solutions. Visualizations especially can be useful for representing transformations from experiential outcomes to artifact factors [325]. With this system, three different kinds of tradeoffs are examined, which include: 1) the tradeoffs that exist within the *technical* performance if *no concessions* are permitted for impacting the *experiential* response (i.e., maintaining an optimal rating), 2) the manner in which these *technical* response (i.e., sacrificing an optimal rating), and 3) the influence that the context (i.e., the track) has on these tradeoffs, as well as new innovative features can take advantage of this influence. The findings of this endeavor highlight the breadth of quantitative tradeoffs that may be informed through this systematic exploration, using only simple linear algebra.

3.6.1. Model Composition: Leveraging Natural Functional Forms

The composition of the interaction model (\mathcal{I}) and the engineering model (\mathcal{E}) is a special case, in which each holds naturally distinct functional forms. The latter is typically governed by *power law* relations, while the former may be constructed in a *logarithmic* scale. An *intermediary* vector space exists between \mathcal{I} and \mathcal{E} —the Responsive Behavior/Attributes ($B_R = A_R$) is an input of the former and an output of the latter. When these models are simultaneously projected into this intermediary space, the power law relations given by \mathcal{E} (i.e., x^n) become *linear* in the logarithmic scale of \mathcal{I} (i.e., $\log(x^n) = nx$). Each of the proportional sensitives in \mathcal{E} (see Table 5) may therefore be *linearly* represented in a *Design Sensitivity* (**DS**) matrix given by Equation (7), in which

$$DS = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 1 & 1 & 0 & 1 \\ -2 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 4 \\ 1 & 2 & 2 & 0 & 0 \\ -1 & 4 & 1 & 4 & 4 \\ 1 & 0 & 1 & 1 & -1 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} v \\ sr \\ c \\ k \\ s \end{bmatrix}$$
(7)

, where each labeled row/column in this matrix corresponds to the similar row/column in the original sensitivity model (e.g., $log(\Delta I^2) = -2$; see Table 5). Rows (sub-script) may be indexed by elements of the Behavior (B), and columns (super-script) may be indexed by elements of the Structure (S), e.g., $DS_k^{l,d} = \begin{bmatrix} -1 & 4 \end{bmatrix}$ (see columns 1 and 2, row 4 in Eq. (7)).*

 ${\cal E}$ may therefore be reformulated in the logarithmic space (${\cal E}_{log}$) according to these linear sensitives in the form given by Equation (8), in which

$$\mathcal{E}_{\log}: \ \Delta B = DS \times \Delta S$$

$$\mathcal{E}_{\log}: \left[\begin{array}{ccc} \Delta \nu \\ \Delta sr \\ \Delta c \\ \Delta k \\ \Delta s \end{array} \right] = \left[\begin{array}{cccc} 1 & 1 & 1 & 0 & 1 \\ -2 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 4 \\ 1 & 2 & 2 & 0 & 0 \\ -1 & 4 & 1 & 4 & 4 \\ 1 & 0 & 1 & 1 & -1 \end{array} \right] \times \left[\begin{array}{c} \Delta l \\ \Delta d \\ \Delta th \\ \Delta p \\ \Delta h \end{array} \right]$$

$$(8)$$

, where an adjustment to any element in the form/layout (ΔS) has a linear impact on the behaviors of the artifact (ΔB). The impacts of these adjustments on both the Technical Functions (ΔT) and the Subjective Experiential Responses (ΔE_S) may both be determined from \mathcal{E}_{Log} . On the technical level (i.e., ΔT), impacts may be calculated according to the interpreted proportional sensitives of \mathcal{P} (see Table 5), in which a decrease to the stowed volume (- Δv) will improve the stowability $(+\Delta sw)$, an increase to the structural rigidity $(+\Delta sr)$ will improve the stability $(+\Delta sb)$, and a decrease to the production cost $(-\Delta c)$ will improve the affordability $(+\Delta a f)$. Alternatively, on the experiential level (i.e., ΔE_S), the impacts of adjustments to any element in the form/layout (ΔS) on k and s may be visually represented by a linear combination of vectors (e.g., $DS_{k,s}^d$). These vectors are projected onto the contour plots of \mathcal{I} to assess the propagated impacts that these adjustments then have on \hat{r} . This is illustrated in Figure 16 (for \mathcal{I}_{Rap}).

The slopes of these vectors are given by the linear sensitivities of each element of B_R to each element of S. The magnitude of each vector may be scaled according to the scale of the adjustment (ΔS) . This visualization illustrates how the adjustments to the design levers in S would relatively impact the design configuration in terms of k and s—the axes of this contour plot—which would then impact the predicted rating (\hat{r}) that is encoded to the height of these contours. In essence, this therefore provides a visual representation for how adjustments to the design levers allow the

Row index: $\{v = 1, sr = 2, c = 3, k = 4, s = 5\}$ Column index: $\{l = 1, d = 2, th = 3, p = 4, h = 5\}$

engineering designer to navigate throughout the solution space. For instance, \hat{r} is relatively less sensitive to adjustments of the pressure (Δp), as $DS_{k,s}^{p}$ is directionally aligned with the major axis of the ellipse in the contour plot. With these model compositions, the tradeoffs between ΔT and ΔE_{s} may be navigated in a systematic exploration.



Figure 16. Linear adjustments within the solution space. The composition of \mathcal{E}_{\log} and \mathcal{I} within the intermediary vector space ($B_R = A_R$) permits proportional design sensitivities to become linear in the logarithmic scale. The relative impact of adjustments to the concrete design levers (ΔS) on the predicted experiential responses (E_S) may be measured. This is shown for the rapid-steering track (\mathcal{I}_{Rap}), but the vectors remain the same for both contexts.

3.6.2. Identifying Technical Tradeoffs while Maintaining Optimal Experiential Response

When tradeoffs between design outcomes are present, the selection of the configuration that represents the 'optimal' balance between them is ultimately predicated on the *values* of the individual designer or firm. Optimizing *experiential* responses (E_S) may require concessions to the *technical* performance (T). Conversely, sacrificing some ability to optimize E_S may reveal additional avenues for which T may be improved. If the engineering designer is *not willing* to concede any ability to achieve the optimal E_S , they would hold the design configuration *fixed* in terms of its Responsive Behaviors/Attributes ($B_R = A_R$) at the predicted optimal configuration (\hat{r}_{Opt} ; assuming this configuration is achievable). Subsequently, in order to improve T—to increase stowability ($+\Delta sw$), increase stability ($+\Delta sb$), and increase affordability ($+\Delta af$)—while making *no* adjustments in B_R , the constraints of fixed effective torque stiffness ($\Delta k = 0$) and fixed steering

sensitivity ($\Delta s = 0$) may be imposed onto \mathcal{E}_{log} (see Eq. (8)), along with the desired adjustments to B_P , i.e., decreasing the stowed volume ($-\Delta v$), increasing the structural rigidity ($+\Delta sr$) and any decreasing the production cost ($-\Delta c$). This is reflected in

$$\Delta \boldsymbol{B} = \boldsymbol{D}\boldsymbol{S} \times \Delta \boldsymbol{S}$$

$\neg \Delta v$		Г 1	1	1	0	ן 1		r∆ <i>l</i> -
$+\Delta sr$		-2	1	1	1	4		Δd
$-\Delta c$	=	1	2	2	0	0	х	Δth
0		-1	4	1	4	4		Δp
		L_1	0	1	1	- 1		$L_{\Delta h}$ -

, where these desirable changes are listed in ΔB . With this equation, the subsequent adjustments to *S* that can achieve these changes may be solved for.

If each parameter in S is freely adjustable and not subject to any other constraint, the matrix is full rank. The solution for this example is simple, as any combination of B_P is achievable and the desirable adjustments of ΔS are evident. However, consider the conceivable technical constraint in which the material (h) and length (l) of the pneumatic steering column were *fixed* ($\Delta h = 0, \Delta l = 0$). With two restrictions on the degrees of freedom, the remaining adjustments (ΔS) that may be made while maintaining a fixed B_R may be determined through formulating \mathcal{E}_{Log} (see Eq. (8)) as

$$\Delta \boldsymbol{B}_{\boldsymbol{R}} = \boldsymbol{D} \boldsymbol{S}_{\boldsymbol{k},\boldsymbol{s}}^{\boldsymbol{d},\boldsymbol{th},\boldsymbol{p}} \times \Delta \boldsymbol{S}^{\boldsymbol{d},\boldsymbol{th},\boldsymbol{p}}$$
$$\begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{0} \\ \boldsymbol{0} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 4 & 1 & 4 \\ 0 & 1 & 1 \end{bmatrix} \times \begin{bmatrix} \Delta \boldsymbol{d} \\ \Delta \boldsymbol{th} \\ \Delta \boldsymbol{p} \end{bmatrix}$$

, where the *null space* of $DS_{k,s}^{d,th,p}$ dictates the proportional changes that may be made to the remaining parameters of *S* that may still be adjusted (i.e., Δd , Δth , and Δp) to satisfy this equation. If one of these parameters is adjusted, the others must similarly be adjusted to some degree in order to maintain the configuration of *k* and *s* that is predicted to provide the optimal rating (\hat{r}_{Opt}). Adjustments to $\Delta S^{d,th,p}$ at this specific proportionality are therefore referred to as 'experience-maintaining' adjustments, which may be scaled to any magnitude (μ) without altering B_R . As long as this relative proportion is adhered to when making adjustments to the design levers, changes to the B_P may then be enacted while holding the design configuration fixed within B_R . To determine

this proportionality, the scale of $\Delta S^{d,th,p}$ that serves as the kernel for $DS^{d,th,p}_{k,s}$ may therefore be solved for, in which

$$\Delta S^{d,th,p} \propto \begin{bmatrix} -0.75\\ -1\\ 1 \end{bmatrix}$$
$$\Delta S^{d,th,p} = \mu \begin{bmatrix} -0.75\\ -1\\ 1 \end{bmatrix}$$
$$\begin{bmatrix} \Delta d\\ \Delta th\\ \Delta p \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} -0.75\mu\\ -1\mu\\ 1\mu \end{bmatrix}$$

, where μ represents the overall magnitude of these 'experience-maintaining' adjustments. This shows that—to keep the design configuration fixed at levels providing the optimal rating (\hat{r}_{Opt}) for the rich, embodied steering interaction—the freely adjustable parameters Δd , Δth , and Δp may be proportionally altered by the ratio of -0.75:-1:1, respectively, to any magnitude (μ). This means that, for an adjustment to the pressure (Δp) of magnitude μ to be made, adjustments of the wall thickness (Δth) of magnitude - μ , and adjustments of the diameter (Δd) of magnitude -0.75 μ must *also* be made as well.

This imposed proportional constraint on these adjustments has implications for what impacts may be had on the Persistent Behaviors (ΔB_P), which in turn has implications for the impacts that may be had on the Technical Functions (ΔT). These effects may be examined by multiplying this null space of magnitude μ into $DS_{\nu,sr,c}^{d,t,p}$ in \mathcal{E}_{\log} (see Eq. (8)), in which

$$\Delta \boldsymbol{B}_{\boldsymbol{P}} = \boldsymbol{D} \boldsymbol{S}_{\boldsymbol{\nu},\boldsymbol{s}\boldsymbol{r},\boldsymbol{c}}^{d,th,\boldsymbol{p}} \times \Delta \boldsymbol{S}^{d,th,\boldsymbol{p}}$$
$$\Delta \boldsymbol{B}_{\boldsymbol{P}} = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 1 & 0 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 2 & 2 & 0 \end{bmatrix} \times \boldsymbol{\mu} \begin{bmatrix} -0.75 \\ -1 \\ 1 \end{bmatrix}$$
$$\Delta \boldsymbol{B}_{\boldsymbol{P}} = \boldsymbol{\mu} \begin{bmatrix} -1.75 \\ -0.75 \\ -3.5 \end{bmatrix}$$
$$\begin{bmatrix} \Delta \boldsymbol{\nu} \\ \Delta \boldsymbol{s}\boldsymbol{r} \\ \Delta \boldsymbol{c} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} -1.75 \boldsymbol{\mu} \\ -0.75 \boldsymbol{\mu} \\ -3.5 \boldsymbol{\mu} \end{bmatrix}$$

, where μ represents the magnitude of these 'experience-maintaining' adjustments that impact Δv , Δsr , and Δc . It therefore becomes evident as to what technical tradeoffs exist if no concessions to the experiential response are permitted (i.e., optimal rating is maintained). For adjustments to the freely manipulatable form/layout parameters that conform to the 'experience-maintaining' proportionality dictated by μ to be made, the stowed volume (Δv), structural rigidity (Δth), and production cost (Δc) may be proportionally impacted by the ratio of -1.75:-0.75:-3.5. Extending these impacts across the proportionalities given by the performance model (\mathcal{P} ; see Table 5), this means that for the stability to be improved ($+\Delta sb$), both the stowability (- Δsw) and the affordability ($-\Delta af$) and the will be worsened, or vice-versa; these proportional impacts of Δsw , Δsb , and Δaf are given by the ratio of 1.75:-0.75:3.5, respectively. This systematic exploration of the design space therefore describes both the *existence* and the *relative magnitude* of the technical tradeoffs that exist under these conditions. However, changing how the experiential and technical design outcomes are each *valued* may open the door for a more favorable balance between them.

3.6.3. Improving Technical Tradeoffs by Sacrificing Minimal Experiential Response

The previously identified tradeoffs may become more favorable if additional degrees of freedom are afforded to the negotiation, i.e., if *concessions* for lesser experiential responses are permitted, such that the design configuration is no longer fixed within the Responsive Behaviors/Attributes ($B_R = A_R$). However, if concessions to the Subjective Experiential Responses (ΔE_S) are to be permitted, it stands to reason that the magnitude of these sacrifices should be *minimized*. By constraining the adjustments to the Structure (ΔS), such that the design configuration is allowed to move within B_R only along one *permissible line*, which is parallel to slope of the major axis of the contour of \mathcal{J} (i.e., $\Delta s / \Delta k \propto 1/5.56$ for \mathcal{J}_{Rap}), the relative impact to the predicted rating (\hat{r}) may be minimized. This '*permissible adjustments*' line—illustrated in Figure 17—therefore represents the direction in the solution space for which experiential responses are least sensitive to adjustments of the design levers. In effect, if adjustments that alter the design configuration such that it receives a lower-than-optimal rating must be made, this constraint ensures that these experiential detriments are as minimal as possible.



Figure 17. The 'permissible adjustments' line to minimize sacrifices in experiential design outcomes. The line follows the slope of the major axis of the contour of \mathcal{I} to constrain the design configuration within the Responsive Behaviors/Attributes (B_R) such that any concessions to the rating (\hat{r}) may be minimized if adjustments outside of the specified 'experience-maintaining' ones are to be permitted. The 'permissible adjustments' line for the rapid-steering track is pictured (\mathcal{I}_{Rap}), but this line may be similarly defined for the precision-steering track (\mathcal{I}_{Prec}) as well.

The pneumatic steering system is again considered here under the same imposed technical constraints as before, i.e., fixed length ($\Delta l = 0$) and fixed height ($\Delta h = 0$). An additional degree of freedom in imparted to the non-fixed parameters of the form/layout—the diameter (Δd), the wall thickness (Δth), and the pressure (Δp)—by the introduction of this 'permissible adjustments' line. The proportionality of the permissible adjustments to these parameters (ΔS) may again be determined through formulating \mathcal{E}_{Log} (see Eq. (8)) as

$$\Delta \boldsymbol{B}_{\boldsymbol{R}} = \boldsymbol{D} \boldsymbol{S}_{\boldsymbol{k},\boldsymbol{s}}^{\boldsymbol{d},\boldsymbol{th},\boldsymbol{p}} \times \Delta \boldsymbol{S}^{\boldsymbol{d},\boldsymbol{th},\boldsymbol{p}}$$
$$\Delta \boldsymbol{B}_{\boldsymbol{R}} = \begin{bmatrix} 4 & 1 & 4 \\ 0 & 1 & 1 \end{bmatrix} \times \begin{bmatrix} \Delta \boldsymbol{d} \\ \Delta \boldsymbol{th} \\ \Delta \boldsymbol{p} \end{bmatrix}$$

, however there are now *two* degrees of freedom for which adjustments to $\Delta S^{d,th,p}$ may be made. The first are those that keep k and s fixed within B_R —the so-called 'experience-maintaining' (μ) adjustments, i.e., the null space. The second is those that proportionally adjust k and s by the ratio of 5.56:1, i.e., along the slope of the 'permissible adjustments' line (see Figure 17). This second type of adjustments are dubbed '*experience-sacrificing*' adjustments, as they are adjustments of magnitude (λ) that result in *minimal concessions* to the rating (\hat{r}). With this additional degree of freedom, both 'experience-maintaining' (μ) and 'experience-sacrificing' (λ) adjustments may be made to Δd , Δth , and Δp , which may allow for a more favorable balance between technical and experiential design outcomes. ΔB_R may therefore be formulated as a linear combination of these two adjustments, in which

$$\Delta \boldsymbol{B}_{\boldsymbol{R}} = \boldsymbol{\mu} \begin{bmatrix} 0\\ 0 \end{bmatrix} + \boldsymbol{\lambda} \begin{bmatrix} 5.56\\ 1 \end{bmatrix}$$

, where the first term represents adjustments of magnitude μ that can be made while keeping k and s fixed, and the second term represents adjustments of magnitude λ while proportionally impacting k and s on the ratio that keeps the design configuration on the 'permissible adjustments' line.

Compared to the previous scenario, this equation now affords engineering designer with the option to sacrifice some degree of their ability to optimize \hat{r} in order improve the technical tradeoffs. If the engineering designer of the pneumatic steering column was unable to meet any of their functional requirements under the constraints of 'experience-maintaining' adjustments, they may consider this path. To determine the proportionality of the adjustments to $\Delta S^{d,th,p}$ that may now be made, \mathcal{E}_{Log} (see Eq. (8)) may be formulated in terms of both types of adjustments, in which

$$\Delta \boldsymbol{B}_{\boldsymbol{R}} = \boldsymbol{D} \boldsymbol{S}_{\boldsymbol{k},\boldsymbol{s}}^{\boldsymbol{d},\boldsymbol{th},\boldsymbol{p}} \times \Delta \boldsymbol{S}^{\boldsymbol{d},\boldsymbol{th},\boldsymbol{p}} = \boldsymbol{\mu} \begin{bmatrix} 0\\0 \end{bmatrix} + \boldsymbol{\lambda} \begin{bmatrix} 5.56\\1 \end{bmatrix}$$
$$\Delta \boldsymbol{B}_{\boldsymbol{R}} = \begin{bmatrix} 4 & 1 & 4\\0 & 1 & 1 \end{bmatrix} \times \Delta \boldsymbol{S}^{\boldsymbol{d},\boldsymbol{th},\boldsymbol{p}} = \boldsymbol{\mu} \begin{bmatrix} 0\\0 \end{bmatrix} + \boldsymbol{\lambda} \begin{bmatrix} 5.56\\1 \end{bmatrix}$$

, where both of these degrees of freedom may be employed for design lever adjustments, but it would generally be desirable to minimize the magnitude of the λ in order to minimize the concessions to \hat{r} .

Many potential design solutions exist along the permissible adjustments line. For the sake of this example, the simplest—in which the 'experience-sacrificing' adjustments to one of the possible design levers is zero (the third parameter in this case, p)—is selected. This is obtained by truncating the third column of the Design Sensitivity (**DS**) matrix (i.e., going from $DS_{k,s}^{d,th,p}$ to $DS_{k,s}^{d,th}$) and keeping the pressure fixed (i.e., $\Delta p = 0$). \mathcal{E}_{Log} (see Eq. (8)) may then be formulated as

$$DS_{k,s}^{d,th} \times \Delta S^{d,th} = \lambda \begin{bmatrix} 5.56\\1 \end{bmatrix}$$
$$\begin{bmatrix} 4 & 1\\0 & 1 \end{bmatrix} \times \Delta S^{d,th} = \lambda \begin{bmatrix} 5.56\\1 \end{bmatrix}$$
$$\begin{bmatrix} 4 & 1\\0 & 1 \end{bmatrix} \times \begin{bmatrix} \Delta d\\\Delta th \end{bmatrix} = \lambda \begin{bmatrix} 5.56\\1 \end{bmatrix}$$
$$\begin{bmatrix} \Delta d\\\lambda th \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 1.14\lambda\\1\lambda \end{bmatrix}$$

, where proportional adjustments of Δd , Δth , and Δp may therefore be made at the ratio of 1.14:1:0, respectively. The overall adjustments that may be made to $\Delta S^{d,th,p}$ may then be represented as the linear combination of these 'experience-sacrificing' adjustments of magnitude λ , and the 'experience-maintaining' adjustments of magnitude μ , in which

$$\Delta \mathbf{S}^{d,th,p} = \boldsymbol{\mu} \begin{bmatrix} -0.75\\-1\\1 \end{bmatrix} + \boldsymbol{\lambda} \begin{bmatrix} 1.14\\1\\0 \end{bmatrix}$$
$$\begin{bmatrix} \Delta d\\\Delta th\\\Delta p \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} -0.75\boldsymbol{\mu}\\-\boldsymbol{\mu}\\\boldsymbol{\mu} \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} 1.14\boldsymbol{\lambda}\\1\\0 \end{bmatrix}$$

, where Δp is not used to make any 'experience-sacrificing' adjustments, but all three parameters may still be used to make 'experience-maintaining' adjustments.

The implications of these combined adjustments on the impacts that may be had on the Persistent Behaviors (ΔB_P) , and in turn, the impacts that may be had on the Technical Functions (ΔT) may then be determined. These effects may be examined by multiplying these adjustments into $DS_{\nu,sr,c}^{d,t,p}$ in \mathcal{E}_{\log} (see Eq. (8)), in which

$$\Delta \boldsymbol{B}_{\boldsymbol{P}} = \boldsymbol{D} \boldsymbol{S}_{\boldsymbol{\nu},\boldsymbol{sr},\boldsymbol{c}}^{d,th,\boldsymbol{p}} \times \Delta \boldsymbol{S}^{d,th,\boldsymbol{p}}$$

$$\Delta \boldsymbol{B}_{\boldsymbol{P}} = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 1 & 0 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 2 & 2 & 0 \end{bmatrix} \times (\boldsymbol{\mu} \begin{bmatrix} -0.75 \\ -1 \\ 1 \end{bmatrix} + \boldsymbol{\lambda} \begin{bmatrix} 1.14 \\ 1 \\ 0 \end{bmatrix})$$

$$\Delta \boldsymbol{B}_{\boldsymbol{P}} = \boldsymbol{\mu} \begin{bmatrix} -1.75 \\ -0.75 \\ -3.5 \end{bmatrix} + \boldsymbol{\lambda} \begin{bmatrix} 2.14 \\ 2.14 \\ 4.28 \end{bmatrix}$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} \Delta \mathbf{v} \\ \Delta \mathbf{sr} \\ \Delta \mathbf{c} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} -1.75\boldsymbol{\mu} + 2.14\boldsymbol{\lambda} \\ -0.75\boldsymbol{\mu} + 2.14\boldsymbol{\lambda} \\ -3.5\boldsymbol{\mu} + 4.28\boldsymbol{\lambda} \end{bmatrix}$$

, where μ represents the magnitude of these 'experience-maintaining' adjustments and λ represents the magnitude of these 'experience-sacrificing adjustments that together combine to impact Δv , Δsr , and Δc . In this form of the equation, it is evident to see that the outcome of the previous scenario—maintaining optimal experiential repones—may be achieved by setting $\lambda = 0$.

As such, the tradeoffs between the technical design outcomes that were previously present when only 'experience-maintaining' adjustments were permitted may now be *corrected* through the use of the 'experience-sacrificing' adjustments, albeit at the cost of a relatively minimal impact on the experiential repones (\hat{r}). For instance, if the 'experience-sacrificing' adjustments—which again, are desirable to keep to a minimal magnitude—are specified to be *half* the magnitude of the 'experience-maintaining' adjustments (i.e., $\lambda = 0.5\mu$), then the proportional impacts on Δv , Δsr , and Δc may be corrected to

$$\begin{bmatrix} \Delta \mathbf{v} \\ \Delta \mathbf{s} \mathbf{r} \\ \Delta \mathbf{c} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} -0.68\mu \\ 0.32\mu \\ -1.36\mu \end{bmatrix}$$

, where the stowed volume (Δv), structural rigidity (Δth), and production cost (Δc) may now be proportionally impacted by the ratio of -0.68:0.32:-1.36, respectively. Extending these impacts across the proportionalities given by the performance model (\mathcal{P} ; see Table 5), this means that for stowability ($+\Delta sw$), stability ($+\Delta sb$), and affordability ($+\Delta af$) may all be simultaneously improved with the corrections afforded by this additional degree of freedom; these proportional impacts of Δsw , Δsb , and Δaf are given by the ratio of 0.68:0.32:1.36, respectively.

This represents an improvement from the previous scenario, in that there are now no tradeoffs between technical design outcomes. By making minimal concessions in the experiential responses (E_s), tradeoffs that were previously present in the performance outcomes (T) may be removed. This illustrates how the engineering designer may employ the design space map to precisely quantify the concession to the subjective rating (\hat{r}) of steering the pneumatic steering column that they would have to permit in order to achieve the stowability, stability, and affordability that may they desire. Whether these concessions would be considered 'worth it' is a question of their individual *values*, however Embodiment Design Cartography provides the means for them to at least understand what their *options* are.

3.6.4. Examining Experiential Tradeoffs Between Contexts

In the previous exploration, the tradeoffs between technical and experiential design outcomes were navigated within the scope of a single context (i.e., the rapid-steering track). These negotiations, of course, may be similarly conducted in the other context (i.e., the precision-steering track), however looking at either one individually ignores the tradeoffs that may exist *between* them. These tradeoffs may be equally important for the product's viability or success. A design configuration suited for a single context could be considered more specialized. For instance, a configuration of the pneumatic steering column designed for the rapid-steering track may be suited for mountain roads, while a configuration designed for the precision-steering track may be more attuned to highway driving. In practice, the rapid-steering and precision-steering contexts could each conceivably translate into marketing descriptors in an automotive setting. For instance, the vehicle that was tailored for rapid-steering could be designated as 'sporty' (i.e., responsive handling), while the one that was tailored for precision-steering could be designated as 'luxurious' (i.e., smooth handling). Alternatively, a design configuration that is suitable for *multiple* contexts could be more versatile. A steering column that is outside of its intended context could provide a negative experience if it is not versatile enough to handle this situation. Versatility, however, may often come at the cost of optimizing experiential design outcomes in any one single context. In this case study, the context was certainly impactful on the ratings (\vec{r}) that described users' experiential responses. The different tracks were found have significant effect on \bar{r} , as well as having significant interactions with both k and s (see Table 8). The manner in which the experiential tradeoffs between these contexts may be navigated with the design space map could take several forms.

If the engineering designer desired some *compromise* between rapid-steering and precisionsteering—some balance between 'sporty' and 'luxury'—each track may be considered simultaneously by creating a *convex combination* of the two interaction models (i.e., a weighted average of the coefficients estimated for \mathcal{J}_{Rap} and \mathcal{J}_{Prec} ; see Table 7). The form of this combination is given by Equation (9), in which

$$\mathcal{I}_{\omega} = (1 - \boldsymbol{\omega})\mathcal{I}_{\text{Rap}} + (\boldsymbol{\omega})\mathcal{I}_{\text{Prec}}$$
(9)
$$0 \le \boldsymbol{\omega} \le 1$$

, where $\boldsymbol{\omega}$ is a weighting coefficient for the relative value placed on each context. As this weighting shifts from the favoring rapid-steering to favoring precision-steering (i.e., as $\boldsymbol{\omega}$ goes from 0 to 1), the optimal design configuration (\hat{r}_{Opt}) moves throughout the solution space in terms of the Responsive Behaviors/Attributes ($\boldsymbol{B}_R = \boldsymbol{A}_R$). This is illustrated by Figure 18. The *average-steering* context represents the equally weighted (i.e., $\boldsymbol{\omega} = 0.5$) convex combination of \mathcal{J}_{Rap} and \mathcal{J}_{Prec} (i.e., $\mathcal{J}_{0.5}$). The optimal design configuration in this context therefore represents the configuration predicted to receive \hat{r}_{Opt} if both interaction contexts are equally important. The path that this optimal design configuration moves within \boldsymbol{B}_R may be plotted as $\boldsymbol{\omega}$ goes from 0 to 1.



Figure 18. Convex combination of the rapid-steering and precision-steering contexts. The surface and optimal point (\hat{r}_{Opt}) of \mathcal{I} both shift in accordance with $\boldsymbol{\omega}$. Three levels of $\boldsymbol{\omega}$ are pictured here: 1) the rapid-steering context (\mathcal{I}_{Rap} ; left; $\boldsymbol{\omega} = 0$), the average-steering context ($\mathcal{I}_{0.5}$; center; $\boldsymbol{\omega} = 0.5$), and the precision-steering context (\mathcal{I}_{Prec} ; right; $\boldsymbol{\omega} = 1$).

A given configuration along this path may be targeted according to the values of the engineering designer. From this point, the same tradeoffs may then be examined with either 'experience-maintaining' and/or 'experience-sacrificing' adjustments. However, while the resulting design solution would represent some level of compromise between the two contexts, it would not be as successful in achieving the \hat{r}_{Opt} at either one individually. In this case, it may be observed that the slope of the 'permissible adjustments' line (i.e., the slope of the major axis of the contour) remains nearly constant as ω goes from 0 to 1. This means that the rating's (\hat{r}) relative sensitivity to k and s remains largely consistent—the 'permissible adjustments' line does not

drastically vary—and therefore the type of 'experience sacrificing' adjustments that may be made is nearly independent of the context. On the other hand, the path of \hat{r}_{Opt} is approximately orthogonal to the 'permissible adjustments' line, so moving the design configuration along this path has a dramatic negative impact on the experiential response if the device is used outside of its intended context.

If technologically feasible, *in-situ adjustability* may be considered as an alternate means for improving \hat{r} across multiple contexts by providing a more versatile solution. Theoretically, parameters of the Structure (S) could be *dynamically adjusted by the user* to adapt an artifact to different contexts. This would effectively enable a single solution to vary within B_R , as needed. The parameter that is most effective for in-situ adjustability would be the one which provides a $DS_{k,s}$ vector (see Figure 16) whose slope most closely matches the path of \hat{r}_{Opt} as ω goes from 0 to 1 (see Figure 18). A combination of multiple design parameters could conceivably be adjusted together to better fit this path, but of course this introduces greater technological complexity. Ultimately, both *effectiveness* and technological *feasibility* must be balanced to make this determination.

In this case study, for instance, the design parameter selected for in-situ adjustability would be the length (*I*). From an effectiveness standpoint, the slope of $DS_{k,s}^{I}$ is the closest to the slope of the path of \hat{r}_{Opt} as ω goes from 0 to 1 of any single $DS_{k,s}$ vector. From a technological feasibility standpoint, the stow/deploy functionality does enable *I* to be varied dynamically. When the steering column is depressurized and internal tendons are contracted, its length is decreased as it is compacted into the storage compartment at the fixed end. Assuming that *I* decreases linearly with the pressure, the internal pressure would remain constant ($\Delta p = 0$) while the length is contracted with internal tensegrity constraints, e.g., [389]. The stow/deploy functionality could therefore serve a second purpose for varying *I*, independent of any other incidental parameter adjustment. This is illustrated by Figure 19.



Figure 19. The in-situ length adjustability in the pneumatic steering system. Enabled by the stow/deploy functionality, the length (l) may be increased or decreased by some magnitude (δ) to adapt the design configuration for different contexts.

Within the solution space, an *'in-situ adjustability'* line may therefore be defined by the slope of $DS_{k,s}^{l}$. This line determines the path in which the in-situ adjustments may vary the design configuration within B_{R} . Strategically, this line may be situated where it bisects the 'permissible adjustments' line in both the rapid-steering and precision steering contexts, such that the average \hat{r} between both of these intersection points is maximized (i.e., it intersects \hat{r}_{Opt} in $\mathcal{I}_{0.5}$). This is illustrated by Figure 20, in which the adjustable design configuration is denoted by \hat{r}_{Adj} . In order to adapt the design configuration between each context, the user would increase or decrease l by some magnitude (δ), thus partially deploying or stowing the column.

The predicted rating (\hat{r}) that could be achieved by this *in-situ adjustable* design configuration across the different contexts can be directly compared to *fixed* design configurations that were specifically optimized for either the rapid-steering, average-steering, or precision steering contexts individually (see Figure 18). The predicted ratings for each, summarized in Table 9, are compared as percentages of the optimal (\hat{r}_{Opt}), as this maximum rating also varies across each context. While the in-situ adjustable configuration may afford marginally worse ratings when compared to the design configuration optimized for that specific context, it largely outperforms each of these design configurations within any context they were not tailored for. This suggests that in-situ adjustability on the length (l) of the column may be a desirable feature to consider for the pneumatic steering column. However, the benefits that this feature provides on the experiential level must ultimately be weighed against the added technological complexity. Figure 20. The in-situ adjustability to adapt the design configuration for multiple contexts. By dynamically adjusting the length (l) of the pneumatic steering column, its configuration may be altered within the solution space along the 'in-situ adjustability' line, such that it may achieve superior experiential responses (\hat{r}) across both contexts

Overall, the design space map constructed in this case study may be demonstrably used for negotiating a variety of different kinds of tradeoffs. While the insights discussed here are admittedly limited to *directionalities* rather than determining specific values—which may be achieved with a more robust engineering model—the tradeoffs explored in this case study illustrate the depth of information that may be ascertained with the design space map, without relying on any complex computational techniques beyond visual analysis of vectors and gradients. Not only were tradeoffs able to be numerically identified and quantified, but new innovation areas (e.g., insitu adjustability) were identified through this systematic exploration as well. Of course, even more rigorous characterization, modeling, and analysis techniques may certainly be applied here, but the simplicity of this demonstration illustrates how this practice is not necessarily reliant on these advanced techniques. The proposition of easily ascertaining this level of understanding of the design space, with only the limited knowledge base that may be available early in new product development cycle, can be extremely valuable for designers.

Configuration	ustable configuration rates see	Context (t)	concerns the context for that context
C	Rapid-Steering ($\omega = 0$)	Average-Steering ($\omega = 0.5$)	Precision-Steering ($\omega = 1$)
Rapid-steering	100%	94.9%	85.1%
Average-steering	95.3%	100%	95.9%
Precision-steering	79.1%	93.7%	100%
In-situ adjustable	99.6%	100%	99.9%

Table 9. The rating for each design configurations across each context. Ratings are given as percentages of \hat{r}_{Opt} across the range of \hat{r} for each contour to emphasize relative experiential response for each configuration. In each context, the in-situ adjustable configuration rates second only to the configuration specifically tailored for that context.

3.7. Chapter 3 Conclusion

In this chapter, the framework for Embodiment Design Cartography (EDC) was applied to construct the design space map of a real-world technology—the pneumatic steering column. This design problem is representative of *emerging* technologies in the realm of rich, embodied

interaction, and serves as a case study for one of the primary issues in new product development navigating *tradeoffs*. In this specific design problem, new technological capabilities provided the opportunity for novel design outcomes on both the *technical* (e.g., stow/deploy) and *experiential* (e.g., perceptions to a new steering feel) levels. However, it was unknown as to how these different design outcomes might *compete* with one another, such that tradeoffs between the would be necessary. With the EDC framework, this *ill-structured* problem was systematically mapped, and the different tradeoffs were numerically explored. This provided a greater understanding of what the available options in this space were, and informed actionable insights as to the available design levers should be adjusted accordingly.

The problem space in this case study was formulated within the EDC framework in a manner that was tailored to the specific questions surrounding this emerging technology. On its face, the technological innovation being addressed-replacing a traditional, rigid steering column with a pneumatic one that could be stowed or deployed-called for typical engineering analysis for how to how to best achieve the relevant *technical* outcomes of this new functionality. With these technological changes, however, also came a fundamental shift to the *feeling* of interacting with the steering wheel, into a state that was unfamiliar to drivers. This rich, embodied interaction therefore elicited some unknown design outcomes on an experiential level, which could also be prospectively influenced by different external factors. To examine these different, competing design outcomes, a well-defined formulation was structured within the Actor-Abstraction (A-A) matrix, in which the technical and experiential and outcomes were organized in *parallel*, in a manner that was unique to any of the existing design methods. Through the critical examination of the design problem that the A-A matrix calls for, the attributes of the environment that would be navigated with this device were identified as a particularly relevant context factor for influencing the perception of this steering interaction. While these context factors were reasonably considered to be outside the designer's control in this case, this formulation did therefore not address the implications for design levers in the context being present. Another notable omission from this formulation was formal recognition of the different user characteristics-outside of random-effects-that may also factor into their rich, embodied interaction. Overall, this formulation demonstrated how new, tailored problem spaces may be precisely defined within EDC, however in doing so it only examined relevant portions of the A-A matrix. It is necessary to

further examine these omissions in a real-world design problem for which these other considerations are specifically pertinent.

With this well-defined, yet novel formulation of the problem space, several specialized techniques for *modeling* the associated *solution-space* were developed for problems of this nature. Three distinct transformations were mathematically modeled in this work, including the engineering and performance models, which were *analytically* characterized, and the interaction model, which was empirically characterized. Together, these models coupled the concrete engineering design levers at the level of the how, and the different abstract design outcomes at the level of the why. The parallel formulation of the problem space enabled these transformations to be each be independently characterized, which could be important for modularizing this design task between specialized groups (i.e., engineers versus behavioral scientists), while ensuring their eventual compatibility upon completion. To achieve a *complete formulation*, an *intermediary* vector space was defined as a lynchpin of these models—as both an input and output to these different transformations—which enabled them to be composed. This composition served to close this circuit, so-to-speak, and allowed for multiple models to be projected into a common space. This composition also leveraged the natural functional forms of the different phenomena being characterized—namely the *power laws* that governed the technical relations and the *logarithmic* scale of the experiential relations. In doing so, a systematic exploration of the resulting solution space using *linear algebraic* machinery was made possible, in which the impacts of adjustments to concrete design levers on abstract design outcomes were both easily visualizable and quantifiable. Overall, this promoted a rigorous, holistic understanding of the available options that comprised this space.

To *experimentally* construct this model of the solution space, *techniques* and *procedures* were developed that were fundamentally based on the core processes of embodiment design—*analysis*, *synthesis*, and *evaluation*. An empirical user study was conducted, which housed the six activities that comprise these processes in the EDC methodology (see Table 3). The vector spaces were first *parameterized* with a combination of expert input, pilot study, and rational derivation. Users then provided subjective ratings on a variety of different configurations of the pneumatic steering column, within different contexts, to *descriptively model* this relation. In the adaptive experimental design of this study, new design configurations of this device were then predicted for each participant through *prescriptive modeling*. Through the use of an *interaction prototype*, these new

design configurations were immediately generated in the real world and presented to the user for their interaction. By creating these prototypes in real-time, they were than able to be *verified* by the same participant they were predicted for. Multiple different configurations throughout the solution space were generated for this evaluation, which ultimately enabled to model to be *validated*. Overall, these techniques and procedures helped construct a model that could be reliably used as a tool for negotiating tradeoffs, and made this design space mapping feasible to conduct within practical recourse constraints. However, other types of information could have provided further insight toward these aims. *Physiological* signals, for instance, could provide unique insights that may not be communicated though subjective response alone, and ultimately provide a more holistic description of the experiential response to this interaction. The measurement of physiological signals was included in the procedure of this experiment (see Section 3.5.1), however these measures were not considered in the design space map. The utility of incorporating these signals into the map should be explored further.

Finally, this chapter presented a clear case for how Embodiment Design Cartography may be usefully operationalized for design work. The use of a graphical system that was supported by an underlying numerical approach was useful for navigating tradeoffs between technical outcomes, understanding how strategic concessions to experiential outcomes can afford a more favorable balance, and revealing how these tradeoffs were influenced by external factors. Ultimately, this work was important for addressing what represents a core issue in new product development understanding and negotiating tradeoffs-and did so in a manner that promoted a level of nuance and creative problem solving that is indispensable for innovations to be made. The systemic exploration enabled by the design space map not only motivated a new feature (i.e., in-situ adjustability), but did so in a manner that provide actionable insight into how to actually enact said innovation. In the larger 'Research Through Design' (RTD) approach that is taken across this dissertation, this applied case study represents the first incremental validation of the framework as whole. In this regard, EDC was largely successful as a tool for uncovering multiple differed design insights. However, this only represented one potential application of the framework. Further testing and designing with the EDC framework is necessary to continue its incremental validation in other key areas.

Chapter 4. A Method for Personalizing Options of an Established Technology

Personalizing a product can allow it to uniquely suit the needs, preferences, or predispositions of a consumer. However, the designer who is to enact these personalizations must understand what important differences between users exist, and then individually assess these differences on the mass scale of their consumer base. Design space mapping can be beneficial for understanding how to implement these personalizations by considering the *latent* (i.e., unspoken) emotions or cognitions that users may subconsciously communicate. This is especially pertinent for established technologies, in which adaptive capabilities to personalize the product are already technologically achieved. In this chapter, the Embodiment Design Cartography framework is applied to a case study of an established technology in order to personalize the available options by permitting the user to control their own psychophysiological design levers. The objective of this chapter is to develop and demonstrate modeling, experimental, and design techniques in support of these aims. The problem space for this case study is first systematically tailored to this design problem within the Actor-Abstraction matrix. Two versions of the solution space are then modeled within an empirical user study (n = 60) one that includes the latent information provided by *psychophysiological* measures, and one that does not. The former is validated to improve predictive accuracy on an out-of-sample population. With this validated model, real-time personalizations may be informed and enacted on mass scales.

4.1. Mass Personalization with Psychophysiology

To be an 'individual' inherently means to be 'different.' People can differ from one another in many ways. With regard to *physically-interactive* products, for instance, the same physical stimuli could elicit vastly different experiential responses according to the user's implicit characteristics or internal state [325]. However, *understanding* each of these unique differences can be a challenging proposition, especially at the larger population scales seen in industrial product development. Individual differences can be quite complex and difficult to determine, even with traditional market research techniques [402,403]. To separately uncover and act on the unique differences of every individual consumer seems an exhausting, infeasible endeavor for a designer to undertake. In the previous case study, these individual differences were only considered by *random-effects* and not formally mapped in the problem space—largely in part due to this challenge. Nevertheless, there is growing consumer demand for increasingly tailored interactions with products [404,405], especially ones that are *embodied*, or physical in nature [93].

Feasibly satisfying this demand is a core issue facing new product development today [324–326]. One manner in which it is at least partially satiated is through product *customization*. Products are considered to be 'customized' when distinct *groups* or segments of users are defined, and each receives a different configuration of the artifact from a *pre-defined* product line or family [324,325]. Customization, however, does not truly address differences at the *individual* level. To make this jump, products may be *personalized* to individual users. Product 'personalization' means to tailor the product to a completely *new* design configuration that is unique to each user, based on information collected about their individual differences [406–408,324,325]. While both approaches involve tailoring the product to the users, *customization* is equated to designing for a 'market-of-*few*' while *personalization* is equated to designing for a 'market-of-*one*' [325,409]. Personalized products can offer better benefits or value to users [410], foster consumer attraction and retention, and ultimately provide design firms with a competitive edge [325,411].

These advantages stem from the fact that personalization effectively *expands the design space* in terms of the experiential design *outcomes* that are considered [324], by imbuing it with additional information about the user *factors* [324]. In essence, more considerations are made on a deeper level, which can allow for the selection of better solutions. However, the design outcomes may in turn become less predictable [324]. This presents both new challenges and new

opportunities for applying Embodiment Design Cartography (EDC). To not only personalize a single design configuration, but also the entire range of options in the design space, a host of additional complexities may arise. However, this could also lead to significant improvements to the accuracy of the overall map.

"Personalization is to achieve satisfying each customer as an individual. Thus, product differentiation is at individual customer level [sic], as opposed to customization which differentiates products for market segments. The idea of deriving profitability from, and gaining competitive edges through, differentiating products is not new. It often appears as market segmentation, customer-centric, or augmented cognition to exemplify personalization. In terms of design, personalization discerns from customization mainly in two dimensions, expanding product design space, and embracing intangible customer experience."

- M. M. Tseng, Design for Mass Personalization, 2010 [324]

From a product development standpoint, there is an important distinction to be made between 'personalization' and '*mass* personalization' [325]. The former is a longstanding, but costly practice that dates back to primitive crafting. For personalization to be enacted on the mass scales seen in modern product development, it must be done so in manner that is highly resource efficient [409]. For this effort to be worthwhile, personalized products must be generated in *real-time* with *better predictive accuracy* of users' preferences [325]. As such, mass personalization is most commonly employed in *digital* applications (e.g., websites) where it is less resource intensive, rather than on physical products. For *established*, physically-interactive products to similarly afford the option of mass personalization, they must be dynamically adjustable [324]. As such, there are currently relatively few cases in which physically-interactive products are personalized on a mass scale.

A design space map, however, can serve as a useful *tool* for operationalizing mass personalizations of established technologies. For personalization to add value, it is just as—if not *more so*—important that the designer understands *what* to personalize, rather than simply *how* to achieve the technological capabilities of doing so. Investing in the development of an adaptable product is a fruitless endeavor if it remains unknown as to how it is beneficially personalized. Simply stating that a product *should* be personalized does not actually provide the designer with

any insight as to *which* product attributes should be adapted, and what these changes should be. With a map of the design space, users' individual differences may not only be understood, but also directly translated into personalized design adjustments. This can also reveal which qualities of the product are actually beneficial to personalize, and which are not. There are several tenets of mass personalization that must be incorporated into the design space map for EDC to be applied in this area. These include: 1) *direct involvement* of the user in the creation *and* navigation of the solution space, and 2) inclusion of *latent* experiential responses when considering the design outcomes in the problem space [325]. Each tenet is discussed in turn.

4.1.1. User Involvement in the Design Process

The involvement of users within the design process is of undisputed value [127,412–415]. To tailor a product according to individual differences, the user must be involved in some way. Their *level* of involvement, however, can vary across a continuous *spectrum*. Along this spectrum, three distinct levels may be defined according to which embodiment design processes (i.e., *analysis*, *synthesis*, and *evaluation*) the user is involved in. These levels include [125,416–419]:

- Informative Involvement At the lowest level of user involvement is informative involvement (i.e., design for users). At this level, users are only involved in the analysis process to help parametrize domain spaces or characterize the descriptive model (e.g., through survey, interview, observation, etc. [420]). The designers then synthesize and evaluate products without the users' input.
- Consultative Involvement At the intermediary level of user involvement is consultative involvement (i.e., design with users). At this level, users are involved in both the analysis process, and also the evaluation process to help verify the designs and validate the model (e.g., through usability testing after the product is designed [421,422]). The designers, however, still synthesize the product completely under their own volition.
- 3. Participative Involvement At the highest level of user involvement is participative involvement (i.e., design by users). This is also commonly referred to as 'participatory design' [125,415,423–430] or 'co-creation' [402,431]. At this level, users are involved in all three processes—analysis, synthesis, and evaluation. They are given 'genuine' influence [423] on the determination of the resulting design configuration. This means that

they themselves are able to make *direct* adjustments to design levers, rather than just informing designers on how adjustments should be made.

For reference, the previous case study could be placed along this spectrum somewhere around the intermediary level—*consultative involvement*—as users were involved in *analysis* and *evaluation*, but did not have direct control over any design levers for *synthesis*. Enacting mass personalization is ultimately predicated on achieving this highest level of user involvement *participative involvement*—in which the user is involved in all three embodiment design processes [325]. With this level of involvement, users' *individual differences* may therefore serve as their own *design levers* to the problem. The reason that participative involvement is critical for mass personalization is that it allows users to *directly* influence design decisions with *latent* (i.e., unspoken) information [325,428–430]. Alternatively, the user would have to expressly communicate this information to the designers, so *they* can make adjustments for the user. This is not necessarily feasible at larger scales. Latent experiential responses can provide insight into the *cognitive* or *emotional* reactions that users have difficulty expressing outwardly [324].

"[T]he conventional survey or interview often fails to reveal latent customer needs. Furthermore, customers can be reluctant to reveal their inner needs, which may not be known by customers themselves either... It is apparent that not only designers but also customers play crucial roles in expanding the scope of design from customization to personalization."

- Feng Zhao, Affective and Cognitive Design for Mass Personalization: Status and Prospect, 2013 [324]

The manner in which these latent experiential responses are extracted for mass personalization can vary. For instance, Amazon employs mass personalization on its e-commerce sites through *latent* information on users' interests, which are provided by their search and purchase histories. By using the platform differently or changing how they interact with the product, individual users can reconfigure what suggestions are shown to them [409,324,325]. It is therefore important to realize that the *direct* input that users have on mass personalized products is not necessarily *conscious* input. Rather, users may *subconsciously* adjust design levers with their latent experiential responses [432]. To help ensure that these individual adjustments are truly beneficial to the user, it is important for mass personalizations to tap into latent information on *emotional*

and *cognitive* responses, not just behavioral [324,325,433–435]. Latent information in these areas may be incorporated into the design space map through measures of *psychophysiology* [436–440].

4.1.2. Psychophysiological Design Levers

Psychophysiological measures are autonomic, or subconscious, *physiological* responses, which may be used to assess latent *psychological* reactions such as emotions or cognitions [441,442]. The physiological responses that may be recorded are not necessarily one-to-one measures of these latent emotions/cognitions [437,442], but can provide a useful index for them, especially when *multiple* different signals are combined (including subjective self-reports, e.g., ratings [443]) [444–448]. There are several notable benefits of such measures. For one, physiological responses can be measured *during* an interaction (i.e., through sensors applied to the body [449]), while subjective responses are limited to *after-the-fact* reporting (i.e., surveys or interviews) [450,439]. To holistically assess design outcomes, experiential responses should be captured both during *and* after an interaction [436,438,451]; physiological responses provide a means for the former. They are also inherently more *objective* than subjective self-reports [452]. Emotions/cognitions reported after an interaction can be subject to bias [453], and may not reflect the same feelings that were originally felt [438]. This may be due to the difficulty of accurately recalling or communicating these feelings after some threshold of time [454–458], or due to the fact that these sentiments may simply change over time [436,459].

The use of such measures to improve design outcomes on the experiential level has therefore seen growing interest [436,438,439]. This growth spans various design disciplines, such as Human-Computer Interaction (HCI) [444,460], Human-Machine Interaction (HMI) [446], and Neurological Information Systems (NeuroIS) [461,462]. In these disciplines, commonly used physiological signals include *electromyography*, *electrocardiography*, and *electrodermal activity* (also commonly referred to as *galvanic skin response*) [436,438]. Each of these signals has previously been demonstrated to provide information on latent emotional/cognitive responses [438,442,444]. For instance, practitioners have identified patterns in these signals to classify discrete emotional states [446,463]. By jointly measuring all three of these signals together, they can the serve as a stronger index to model more complex emotional responses [464,465]. Specific emotional or perceptual labels (e.g., boredom, stress) may then be attached to these *physiological* responses when they are coupled to *subjective* ones [325,437].

In practice, the application of psychophysiological measures is commonly found within *physio-adaptive systems* [466]. This is a type of control system [467] that continuously monitors physiological activity and adapts in real-time according to measured responses [437]. These systems are based on what is known as a *biocybernetic loop* [468–470]. In this loop, discrete emotional/cognitive states are defined in relation to some characteristic physiological activity. When this characteristic activity is detected, a *pre-defined* reaction is triggered [471], and the user's physiological activity is then reassessed as the loop repeats [437,466]. The adaptations afforded by physio-adaptive systems could, for instance, include telling a joke if driver boredom is detected [472] or adjusting a video game's difficulty level according to some threshold of player stress [473,474].

Despite these existing applications, several barriers remain for using psychophysiological measures as design levers in mass personalization. The existing application of these measures in product design-physio-adaptive systems-is largely limited to pre-defined adjustments in the vein of product customization, rather that the creation of new configurations that are tailored to the individual, which is the aim of product *personalization*. Ultimately, there is still relatively little understanding of how psychophysiological measures can be effectively applied for *synthesis* of new design configurations [243]. From an experimental standpoint, these signals could potentially facilitate *efficient* mass personalizations by informing adjustments in *real-time* [462,466]. However, there are a variety of pain points regarding the techniques and procedures needed to do so. These include the added time and expertise needed to process physiological signals and extract the latent emotional/cognitive information within, as well as the potential intrusiveness of the sensors used to collect this data [436,439,451,462,466,475]. There is also a reported lack of rigorous *validation* on the added value of involving users in the design process at a *participative* level [125,418,476]. The pressing questions in regard to new product development therefore include, "[w]ill this be possible in new design technology? Can product development team [sic] anticipate and adapt to customers' latent needs?... Can personalization be carried out with efficiency?" [324]. Tackling these questions through the framework for Embodiment Design Cartography may provide understanding for how personalizations of physically-interactive products can be efficiently enacted at mass scales, in a manner that most benefits the users.

4.2. Case Study: The Infotainment Controller

To demonstrate the ability of Embodiment Design Cartography (EDC) to support mass personalization in real-world design problems, the design space map of an *established* infotainment controller is undertaken. As noted in the previous chapter, physically-interactive controllers, i.e., Human-Machine Interfaces (HMIs), offer a myriad of functionalities [477] and are quite prevalent within automotive settings [387]. When compared to *digital* user interfaces (UIs), physically-interactive controllers are especially desirable to personalize due to the different the experiential responses that their *haptics* may elicit [93]. However, these devices are more commonly developed with an *informative* or *consultative* level of user involvement [418], rather than reaching the threshold of *participative* user involvement needed for mass personalization.

The product in this case study is an *infotainment controller*. This is an established technology that is currently used to operate the infotainment system on the dashboard of the 2019 Cadillac CT6. This controller, located in the vehicle's center console, is primarily operated using a large rotary dial that may be *rotated* to navigate various different applications, and *pressed* to make selections. This artifact is illustrated in Figure 21.



Figure 21. The infotainment controller. The controller is a haptic rotary dial that is used to navigate applications on the infotainment screen, which is located on the dashboard. The dial is rotated to move the selector and pressed to make sections. For every Θ degrees that the dial is rotated, the selector is moved one position, and one detent is felt by the user (τ). The amplitude and period of the detent profile are both dynamically adaptable.

Through technological capabilities that are already established (proprietary), this device is capable of dynamically adapting the type of *tactile haptic feedback* it provides when it is rotated. The feeling of this feedback is described by '*detents*' (see Figure 21), which vary the feedback torque (τ) that is felt as the dial is rotated to some degree (Θ). Rotating over one detent corresponds to moving the selector on the application screen by one position. Both the *period* of this angular displacement, as well as the *amplitude* of the feedback torque can each be altered in real-time across some range of values. This theoretically enables the profile of this detent to be *personalized*.

It is not immediately apparent, however, as to what personalizations should actually made which parameters should be adjusted and by how much—in relation to individual differences. The manner in which both designers *and* users can have direct input to these personalizations through different design levers is also not apparent. External factors that may influence these personalizations need to be considered in the *problem space formulation*. Characterizing the *solution space model* can require more sophisticated techniques to support the latent experiential responses. The *experimental infrastructure* and *procedures* needed to collect and process this physiological data can be complex and resource taxing. As such, this established technology is a suitable candidate for design space mapping to illustrate the manner in which the EDC framework may be *operationalized* to inform design decisions in this area.

4.3. Mapping the Infotainment Controller Problem Space

Following the Embodiment Design Cartography (EDC) methodology detailed in Chapter 2, the first step in design space mapping is to construct the map of the *problem space*. This necessitates a *critical examination* of which considerations may be relevant to this design problem. Each of these considerations will be defined by a vector space that may be mapped within the Actor-Abstraction (A-A) matrix (see Figure 3). This process largely echoes the problem space mapping detailed in the previous case study. However, while that problem space was largely formulated from an engineering design perspective, in this case, the underlying form/layout is already established. Instead, a *multidisciplinary* perspective is taken—as is enabled by the framework's construction as a *boundary object*—in which several different types of design levers are defined for different types of designers (and users). The resulting mapping is illustrated in Figure 22.



Figure 22. The problem space formulation of the infotainment controller mapped onto the A-A matrix. Physiological Experiential Responses (E_P) and Subjective Experiential Responses (E_S) are both mapped to the User-Why. Responsive Attributes (A_R) is mapped into the Artifact-What, Environmental Attributes (A_E) is mapped into the Context-What, and Physiological Attributes (A_P) is mapped into the User-What; design levers preside in each of these vector spaces, which may be adjusted by HCI/HMI designers, UX/UI designers, and users, respectively.

The Why – Starting at the level of the why, robust consideration of experiential responses is said to be the most important contribution of personalization [324]. This necessitates the mapping of two different vector spaces in this abstraction. First, a *Physiological Experiential Responses* (E_P) sub-vector space, which describes the physiological responses elicited *during* the interaction with the controller, may be mapped into the User-Why. This is mapped as an *extension* vector space, as it is only used in one of two versions of this design space map; this is detailed further in the empirical study (see Section 4.4). Second, a *Subjective Experiential Responses* (E_S) sub-vector space, which describes the subjective responses elicited *after* the interaction with the controller, may also be mapped into the User-Why. By including both types, the physiological responses may be correlated to the dimensions of the subjective responses and given perceptual labels (e.g.,

stress). Together, these comprise the overall *Experiential Responses* (*E*) vector space ($E = E_P \cup E_S$), which holistically encompasses experiential responses both during *and* after the interaction.

The What – At the level of the *what*, the qualities of the infotainment controller that may be personalized are first considered. In this regard, a Responsive Attributes (A_R) sub-vector space, which describes the detent profile of the controller (see Figure 21), may be mapped into the Artifact-What. A designer who works with *hardware* can directly adjust the design levers in this space-this could, for instance, be a Human-Computer/Human-Machine Interaction (HCI/HMI) designer. Like the previous case study, this artifact is also used to navigate some environment, which could factor into the interaction. In this case, however, the environment is *digital* in nature, i.e., the infotainment screen. An Environmental Attributes (A_E) sub-vector space, which describes the *applications* that may be navigated, is thusly mapped into the Context-What. A designer who works with *software* can directly adjust the design levers in this space—this could, for instance, be a User Experience/User Interface (UX/UI) designer. Finally, the individual differences of the user must also be considered. Since these are to be defined by the latent experiential responses that distinguish individuals, it is necessary to first elicit said responses through a rich, embodied interaction. A Latent Attributes (A_L) sub-vector space, which describes the meaningful psychophysiological features that are extracted from the raw physiological signals, may thusly be mapped into the User-What. A_L is therefore coupled to the Physiological Experiential Responses (E_P) , which is to the right of the *interaction boundary* and therefore results *from* the interaction, but may be used reveal latent individual differences of the user. This space is where the individual user could directly (albeit unconsciously) adjust their own design levers. The overall Attributes (A) vector space $(A = A_R \cup A_E \cup A_E)$ describes the attributes that are relevant to the rich, embodied rotating interaction. A is coupled to E_S , as each of its sub-vector spaces may contribute to shaping the understanding of *future* interactions.

The How – It should be noted that *no* vector spaces are mapped at the level of the *how* in this formulation. Although there *are* underlying form/layout parameters that enable the dynamic adaptability of the infotainment controller (proprietary), these are already specified and therefore do not need to be 'designed' in this case study. If the range of desirable personalizations was found to be smaller or larger than the achievable adaptability, these parameters could be adjusted accordingly in future development.
The resulting problem space formulation couples the *multidisciplinary* design levers (A) to the abstract design outcomes (E) in several *closed circuits* that may be traced in both the *causal* and *teleological* directions. Looking at the map, there is a controls-like *feedback loop* built-in to this formulation. The Physiological Experiential Responses (E_P) that result from the rich, embodied interaction are then used to *prescriptively* extract the Latent Attributes (A_L). These then contribute to *descriptively* predicting future outcomes of said interaction (E_S). This enables an experimental design that similarly echoes this controls-like format in the subsequent empirical study. Empirical study is necessary as these transformations cross the *interaction boundary*. Overall, the problem space map that is derived through the systematic examination of these considerations provides a *well-defined* organizational structure that is *unique* from existing design methods and *tailored* to this specific design problem.

As no transformations are defined in the formulation that may be analytically derived (i.e., they each cross the *interaction boundary*; see Figure 3), the subsequent *solution space modeling* may be undertaken entirely within an *empirical* study. Before this study is commenced, however, the first activity in the EDC methodology (see Table 2) may be conducted—the *parameterization* of the problem space. The remaining activities are then discussed in the following section.

4.3.1. Parameterizing the Infotainment Controller Problem Space

The first activity for the *analysis* process is to *parametrize* each of the vector spaces. For this case study, the majority of the parameters are implied by the design problem. However, the refinement and selection of these parameters is conducted within the empirical study and guided by the information supplied by the *users*, rather than the being solely determined by the *designers*. This allows the users to select the design levers that are most important to them, as to ensure that the personalizations they enact are those that are truly beneficial. The parameterized vector spaces are summarized in Table 10 and each detailed in turn.

A-A Domain	Vector Space	Description
Artifact-What	$A_R = \{d, m\}$	The <i>detent number</i> (<i>d</i>) over a full rotation, i.e., angular period of the detent profile $(16 \le d \le 56)$, and the <i>motor torque stiffness</i> (<i>m</i>), i.e., the relative amplitude of the detent profile $(25\% \le m \le 75\%)$ of max).
Context-What	$A_E = \{a\}$	The <i>applications</i> (<i>a</i>) that infotainment controller is used to navigate, i.e., the <i>menu</i> , <i>contacts</i> , and <i>volume</i> apps.
User-What	$A_L = \{A_{L1},, A_{L98}\}$	A pool of 98 different psychophysiological features (A_{Li}) that may be extracted (see Table 11)
User-Why	$E_P = \{ecg, eda, emg\}$	The electrocardiography (<i>ecg</i>), electrodermal activity (<i>eda</i>), and <i>electromyography</i> (<i>emg</i>) of the user.
	$E_{S} = \{r\}$	The satisfaction rating (r) given by the user (10-point scale).

Table 10. Parametrized vector spaces of the infotainment controller problem space.

Parametrizing the Responsive Attributes – The dimensions of the Responsive Attributes (A_R) each relate to the specific rich, embodied interaction, which in this case is *rotating the dial*. For the infotainment controller, these dimensions are given by the *detent number* (d) and *motor torque stiffness* (m), which together describe the 'detent profile' of the controller (see Figure 21). Each detent essentially feels like a bump that provides resistance as the dial is rotated. The detent profile may be defined by a sine wave given by Equation (10), in which

$$\tau = m \sin(\frac{2\pi}{d}\Theta)$$
(10)
$$16 \le d \le 56$$

$$25 \le m \le 75$$

, where τ is the feedback torque felt by the user, and Θ is the degree that they rotate the dial. The number of detents seen in a full, 360° rotation is given by d, which may be adaptably adjusted between the range 16 and 56. This also therefore defines the sensitivity of the controller, as rotating over one detent moves the selector by one position (see Figure 21); increasing d means the dial must be rotated to a smaller degree (Θ) for each selection, and is therefore more sensitive. The strength of the feedback that is felt is then given by m, which defines the amplitude of this sine wave. This may be adaptably adjusted between the range of 25% to 75% of the total motor power. Overall, $A_R = \{d, m\}$, in which the dimensions of A_R may be directly adjusted and personalized for each user by the HMI/HCI designer.

Parametrizing the Environmental Attributes – The rich, embodied interaction of rotating the dial takes place in the *context* of the infotainment screen. The Environmental Attributes (A_E) in the Context-What is therefore defined by three different categorical *applications* (a) in this case study. These include a *menu* app, a *contacts* app, and a *volume* app, which are illustrated by Figure 23. The *menu* app has a multi-row list of 8 items per page (16 total). It is scrolled horizontally left-to-right until the end of the row is reached, then vertically to the left-most item on the next row (similar to text on a page). There are two pages that scroll discretely. The *contacts* app has a vertical list of 36 entrees (8 of which are visible at a given time) that scrolls vertically from top-to-bottom. This page scrolls continuously as the selector is moved. The *volume* app has a horizontally scrolling slider that can go from 0 (left) to 100 (right). This page is static and does not move. The current selector position is highlighted on the screen. Each of these applications could be further parameterized by several variables (e.g., list length, scroll direction, items per page, etc.), however they are aggregated into a single categorical variable for simplicity of the case study. Overall, $A_E = \{a\}$, in which dimensions of A_R may be directly adjusted by the UX/UI designer.



Figure 23. The contexts for the infotainment controller interaction. These three different applications (*a*)—the menu (left), the contacts (center), and the volume (right)—define the Environmental Attributes (A_E) in this case study. Task instructions were listed at the top of each (e.g., select settings).

Parametrizing the Latent Attributes – There are a wide variety of *psychophysiological features* that may be extracted from physiological responses. These allow for meaningful information on latent emotions/cognitions to be interpreted from these raw signals [466,478]. These features can be considered to be aggregate descriptors or summary statistics for the continuous signals that are measured during an interaction, e.g., [479–481]. In this case study, 98 psychophysiological features comprise the dimensions of the Latent Attributes (A_L). Each of these dimensions represent measures that may be used to differentiate individuals according to their latent emotions/cognitions. These are detailed in Table 11. For every feature, the *squared* (e.g., hrv^2), *cubed* (e.g., hrv^3), *subject-mean* (e.g., hrv-m), *subject-mean-centered* (e.g., hrv-c), *centered*

& squared (e.g., hrv-c²), and centered & cubed (e.g., hrv-c³) variant was calculated as well. Overall, A_L was therefore comprised of 14 unique psychophysiological features, each with 7 variants (98 total), i.e., $A_L = \{A_{L1}, ..., A_{L98}\}$. These dimensions of A_L represent the design levers that users have direct (albeit unconscious) control over.

Signal (E _P)	Feature (AL)	Description
	<i>hr</i> _m	The mean heart rate (inter-beat interval, IBI) over a trial [464,479].
	<i>hr</i> _{med}	The median heart rate over a trial.
ecg	<i>hr</i> _{sd}	The standard deviation of the heart rate over a trial [479].
	hrv	The variability of the heart rate (IBI variance) over a trial [442,444,478,479].
	SC m	The mean skin conductance over a trial [479,480].
	SC var	The variance of the skin conductance over a trial [479].
	SC slp	The linear slope of the best-fit line of the skin conductance over a trial. This serves as an index of overall tonic response, i.e., SCL drift.
eda	SC m-rss	The residual sum of squares of sc_m over a trial.
	SC m-var	The variance of the skin conductance from SC_m over a trial. This serves as an index of SCR activity outside of SCL drift.
	ерс	Positive change over a trial. This is an index of phasic response, i.e., the frequency and amplitude of SCR activity over this time period [482].
	<i>ecu</i> _{rms}	The root mean square of the activity from the <i>extensor carpi ulnaris</i> over a trial. This serves as an index for the amount of effort, i.e., muscle activity, required [483–491]. This signal was normalized according to participants' baseline measures [492].
emg	<i>edc</i> _{rms}	See above, but for the extensor digitorum communis.
	<i>epb</i> _{rms}	See above, but for the extensor pollicis brevis.
	fds rms	See above, but for the <i>flexor digitorum superficialis</i> .

Table 11. The psychophysiological features to inform latent emotions/cognitions. Each feature in A_L may be extracted from one of the signals in E_P .

Parametrizing the Physiological Experiential Responses – The dimensions of the Physiological Experiential Responses (E_P) are given by three different physiological signals. The first is the *electrocardiography* (*ecg*), which is a measure of the electrical activity of the cardiovascular system, i.e., heart beats [442,444]. This measure has been widely associated with stress or cognitive load [442,444,493–496], often in relation to task difficulty [497–500]. The second is the *electrodermal activity* (*eda*), which is a measure of autonomic activity on the surface of the skin, most commonly the skin conductance, i.e., the electrical potential between two points

on the skin. This measure is commonly associated with emotional arousal [501,502]. The third is the *electromyography* (*emg*), which is a measure of the electrical activity that is associated with muscle contractions [442,444]. This is often used to directly measure the physical embodiment of emotion (i.e., facial expressions) [503], however it may also be used to evaluate muscular activity in other areas, such as the forearm [490,491,504]. In this case, *emg* is used to assess users' hand/wrist movements [491,505] while interacting with the infotainment controller; similar uses have been previously demonstrated [438]. Overall, $E_P = \{ecg, eda, emg\}$, with each being continuously measured *during* the interaction.

Parametrizing the Subjective Experiential Responses – The dimension of the Subjective Experiential Responses (E_S) vector space is described by a single satisfaction rating (r) to assess preferences in this case study, i.e., "taking into consideration all aspects of your experience navigating the application during the last task, please rate your overall satisfaction." The wording of this survey question was intended to capture the overall rating of both the feeling of the controller, as well as its suitability for the application (e.g., too sensitive, etc.). This was evaluated on a 10-point Likert scale [207]. This larger scale used to help capture finer differences between subtle personalizations. Overall, $E_S = \{r\}$, with this rating being provided after the interaction to help interpret E_P , and therefore $E = \{ecg, eda, emg, r\}$.

4.4. Mapping the Infotainment Controller Solution Space

Following the Embodiment Design Cartography (EDC) methodology detailed in Chapter 2, the second step is to construct the map of the *solution space*. The solution space is characterized by modeling the transformations between the vector spaces that contain *design levers*, and those that describe *design outcomes*. This modeling is conducted in order to build a quantitative understanding of the relations within the problem space map, and to then enable rigorous manners for which the resulting design options may be assessed. While the *problem space* was uniformly formulated for each user, the *solution space* is modeled in such a way that the options it contains are *personalized* for each.

Two mathematical models are included in the problem space formulation (see Figure 22)—the *interaction model* (\mathcal{I}), and the *feature extraction model* (\mathcal{F}). In a similar fashion to the previous case study, \mathcal{I} characterizes the functional transformation between the Attributes (A) and Subjective

Experiential Responses (E_S) (see Eq. (5)). On the other hand, \mathcal{F} is used in this case study to extract the psychophysiological features that provide latent information on the users' emotions/cognitions. This model transforms the raw signals in the Physiological Experiential Responses (E_P) into the psychophysiological features in the Latent Attributes (A_L). This functional transformation may be given by Equation (11), in which

$$\mathcal{F}: \quad \boldsymbol{E}_{\boldsymbol{P}} \to \boldsymbol{A}_{\boldsymbol{L}}$$
(11)
$$\mathcal{F}: \quad \begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{ecg} \\ \boldsymbol{eda} \\ \boldsymbol{emg} \end{bmatrix} \times \begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{f}_1 \\ \boldsymbol{f}_2 \\ \boldsymbol{f}_3 \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{A}_{\boldsymbol{L}_1} \\ \boldsymbol{A}_{\boldsymbol{L}_2} \\ \boldsymbol{A}_{\boldsymbol{L}_3} \end{bmatrix}$$

, where *three* processing functions (f_i) are ultimately selected to extract the three psychophysiological features in A_L that are *most relevant* for predicting individual differences. Many of the dimensions in A_L may be redundant (e.g., 'variance' versus 'residual sum of squares'). The purpose of \mathcal{F} is to allow for *one* psychophysiological feature from *each physiological signal* (i.e., *ecg*, *eda*, and *emg*) to be selected. This ensures that personalizations are limited to the design levers that are most likely to benefit the user (i.e., provide higher satisfaction), while still capturing a holistic understanding of the latent emotional/cognitive information through *combined signals*. The determination of *which* of these processing functions—and therefore, which of these psychophysiological features—are ultimately selected, is determined by the users' own latent information that they provide in an empirical study.

A controlled user study was therefore conducted in *two phases* to extract this latent information, empirically characterize and validate \mathcal{I} and \mathcal{F} , and then enact the mass personalizations across the options the solution space map. These phases are each outlined.

1. *Phase 1 (Analysis)* – In *phase 1* of this study, users $(n_1 = 40)$ assessed different fixed configurations of the infotainment controller (i.e., A_R) within different applications (i.e., A_E). With the experiential responses provided by these users (*E*), three psychophysiological features (A_L) were selected with a *Mixed-Effects Random Forest* (MERF) algorithm to be extracted with \mathcal{F} in real-time. Two versions of \mathcal{I} were then characterized with this information. The first, *full* version contained these psychophysiological features (\mathcal{I}_{Full}), while the second, *reduced* version did not (\mathcal{I}_{Redu}). This first phase therefore encompassed embodiment design *analysis*.

2. *Phase 2 (Synthesis & Evaluation)* – In *phase 2* of this study, users ($n_2 = 20$) again assessed these same fixed configurations of the infotainment controller (i.e., A_R) within different applications (i.e., A_E). This time, the latent information provided by their *individual* psychophysiological features were entered into \mathcal{I}_{Full} to personalize their solution space. New configurations of the infotainment controller were then synthesized using both \mathcal{I}_{Full}^{-1} and \mathcal{I}_{Redu}^{-1} . The former were *personalized* to the individual with their own design levers, which represented a *participative* level of user involvement. The latter were *pre-defined*, and therefore represented a *consultative* level of user involvement. Both versions of the model were then evaluated by the users to *verify* the predictions, and to determine the added *validity* provided with mass personalization of the solution space. This second phase therefore encompassed embodiment design *synthesis* and *evaluation*.

Overall, this mapping spans each of the embodiment design processes (i.e., analysis, synthesis, and evaluation) through each of the six activities in the EDC methodology. Both of these phases followed a common testing procedure.

4.4.1. Testing Procedure & Infrastructure

Sixty participants ($n_1 = 40$; 24 female, 14 male, 2 non-binary | $n_2 = 20$; 13 female, 6 male, 1 non-binary) between the ages of 18 to 60 ($m_1 = 39.58$, sd₁ = 10.80 | $m_2 = 32.90$, sd₂ = 11.12) were recruited to participate in this study via email listservs and social media advertisements. The following inclusion criteria were specified: participants must 1) possess a valid driver's license, 2) be over the age of 18, and 3) be able to view a screen for 1 hour or more. This study was approved by the University of Michigan Health Sciences and Behavioral Sciences Institutional Review Board. Written informed consent was obtained from all participants.

This study took place in a testing rig, which was constructed to mimic the interior of the 2019 Cadillac CT6 (for which this infotainment system is used in). A driver's seat, footrest, infotainment screen, and a center console with an armrest and the infotainment controller were all included in a layout that mimicked their analogous positions in the real vehicle. The infotainment controller could be dynamically reconfigured in real-time. The driver seat could also be adjusted forward and backward to accommodate varied participant height (this permitted slight variations in participant's relative position when interacting with the controller, which could have influenced their physiological responses in some way). The three applications (*a*) in A_E (see Figure 23) were displayed on the infotainment screen. Ratings were provided through a Microsoft Surface Tablet that was mounted to the dashboard. This infrastructure is pictured in Figure 24. Lab sessions lasted approximately two hours in total.



Figure 24. The testing rig for the infotainment controller. The participant sits on the driver's seat and rotates the rotary dial on the infotainment controller with their right hand. The infotainment screen is mounted on the participant's right, and the survey tablet is placed on their left; they operate the latter with their left hand.

4.4.1.1. Sensor Application and Baselines

Physiological signals were recorded using a Biopac MP160 system with BioNomadix wireless transmitters and receiver, and streamed with the associated Acq*Knowledge* (v5.0) software to a central data processing and storage program, written in Python (v3.7). These signals included the *electrocardiography* (*ecg*), *electrodermal activity* (*eda*), and *electromyography* (*emg*). The selection and placement of the associated sensors is highly context dependent, and requires careful consideration of the interaction between the user and the product to ensure that relevant signals are captured and invasiveness and signal noise are minimized. Invasive sensors have the propensity to interrupt the *naturalness* of an interaction to a degree that may be underreported in literature [438]. Each signal is discussed in turn.

- Electrocardiography The measurement of this signal requires the placement of several sensors on the chest [442,506,507]. In this study, a lead II measurement was collected using a Mason-Likar (M-L) lead adaptation, observing the heart from a 60° angle [508]. From this signal, the *inter-beat interval* (IBI), i.e., the time series between heart beats, may be measured by the distance between peaks in the characteristic response of the ecg signal [444,478]. This signal was sampled at 125 Hz.
- 2. Electrodermal activity The measurement of this signal requires the placement of two electrodes, typically on the hand [438,442,509] (palm or fingers) or foot [509]. These sensors were placed on participant's left foot in this study to mitigate interference from excessive motion (both hands were required for study tasks). The *eda* signal itself may be decomposed into its *tonic* (skin conductance *level*; SCL) and *phasic* (skin conductance *response*; SCR) components [480,501,509]. Each of these components provide different information [502,510]. The *phasic* component of this signal exhibits a characteristic response to a single stimuli or event. The *tonic* component is typically used for long-term monitoring and is commonly subject to a drifting baseline [442,501,502,509]. It is therefore necessary to assess the product interaction to determine whether it involves a single stimuli/event, or multiple. For instance, the interaction of rotating the dial on the infotainment controller and feeling the detents may most aptly be described as a *continuous stimuli*. In this case, a single SCR curve for each trial was not expected, but rather a response that contains multiple superimposed SCRs overlayed onto slower SCL deviations [480]. This signal was sampled at 250 Hz.
- 3. Electromyography This signal may be measured on the surface of the skin, or directly within the muscles, i.e., intramuscular; the latter has been shown to improve measurement accuracy [511] at the cost of a significant increase to the level of invasiveness of the sensor. In this experiment, four duotrodes were placed on the surface of forearm in four different positions that corresponded to the primary muscles that were used to rotate the dial on the infotainment controller (these were selected out of seven piloted muscles). These muscles are the extensor carpi ulnaris (ecu), the extensor digitorum communis (edc), the extensor pollicis brevis (epb), and flexor digitorum superficialis (fds). emg activity may be observed when each of these muscles is activated. This signal was sampled at 1 kHz.

Upon arrival to the lab, participants were outfitted with biometric sensors to measure each of these signals. Participants were asked to complete several movements with their right hand/arm to palpate muscles in their forearm, such that the locations for the *emg* duotrodes could be located. Their skin was gently exfoliated in each of these locations using Nuprep Gel (10 seconds), rinsed with water (no soap), exfoliated again using 3M exfoliation tape (5 seconds), and then the *emg* duotrodes were applied. The arch of the user's left foot was then pretreated for the placement of *eda* electrodes [509], and two Ag/AgCl monotrode electrodes, wet with an isotonic, 0.05 molar NaCl, electrode gel were applied side-by-side along the site. The electrodes and leads were secured using Transpore Surgical Tape (1527; 3M), and the isotonic gel was given five minutes to be absorbed by the skin before data collection began. These placements are pictured in Figure 25.



Figure 25. Placements of the physiological sensors. Sensor placements for the *ecg*, *eda*, and *emg* densors are marked.

Before beginning the study tasks, participants completed several activities designed to establish *baseline measures* to normalize their *emg* response [466,512]. A maximum voluntary isometric contraction (MVIC) task [492] was implemented using a dummy infotainment controller, in which the dial was fixed. Participants were instructed to attempt to rotate this fixed dial as hard as they could (using their normal grip) and hold for 5 seconds; this was repeated three times in both the clockwise and counterclockwise directions. The maximum root-mean square (rms) of the *emg* activity across these six reptations was selected, and users' subsequent *emg* features (see Table 11) were each calculated as a percent of this maximum.

4.4.1.2. Study Tasks

After being acclimated to the infotainment system, participants were then tasked with making a series of selections in each application (i.e., the menu, contacts, and volume). For each trial, the controller was configured to some level of detent number (*d*) and motor torque stiffness (*m*). Users were presented either the menu, contacts, or volume application (*a*) and tasked with making a series of *eight* different selections. For instance, this could entail navigating to, and selecting eight different items/contacts, or setting the volume to eight different levels. Each of these selections was directed by a set of instructions at the top of the screen (e.g., '*Select Settings*'); incorrect selections would not progress the trial. After each correct selection, the screen was reset such that participants began subsequent selections from the same initial position at the beginning of the application. Each of these repetitions required to dial on the infotainment controller to be rotated to a different degree. This was done to ensure that users' experiential responses were based on a variety of different lengths of required rotations (i.e., both fine and large rotations).

After completion of eight selections, participants were given a 10 second break (to allow the *eda* signal to return to baseline levels), in which they were instructed to rest and remain still. They were then presented with the survey, where they provided their satisfaction rating (r) for the trial. This was then repeated with a different configuration of d and m on a different a, as was dictated by the experimental design.

4.4.1.3. Data Collection & Processing

For mass personalizations to be enacted in real-time, an automated data collection and processing pipeline was required for latent emotions/cognitions to be operationalized as design levers. Data in this study was collected from both sensors and surveys, and each needed to be time-synced and processed in real-time. To achieve this, a Python (3.7) program is used to control the experimental design, define the levels of d, m, and a for each trial, and store all data on a common timescale. The physiological signals were streamed from the sensors to AcqKnowledge 5.0, where researchers could monitor them for interference or abnormalities as they were recorded. These were then streamed to the central computer. The beginning and end of each trial was marked by this computer, and the physiological signals recorded within these time-windows were logged. An additional 10 seconds after the completion of the trial was added for the *eda* signal to capture its return to baseline levels. With the trial's time-window defined for each signal, MATLAB (2021b)

scripts called from the central Python program were used to extract psychophysiological features (A_L) with the processing functions (f_i) contained within the feature extraction model (\mathcal{F} ; see Eq. (11)). This occurred in a parallel thread while the subsequent trial was commenced. The extracted features (see Table 11) were then available to personalize new design configurations in real-time.

4.4.2. Phase 1 Experimental Design

q

The design of phase 1 of this empirical study ($n_1 = 40$) was centered around *analysis*, which included: 1) estimating the coefficients of a regression that characterized the transformation given in interaction model (\mathcal{I} ; see Eq. (5)), and 2) selecting the psychophysiological features (A_L) to extract with the feature extraction model (\mathcal{F} ; see Eq. (11)). The form of this regression is given by a *mixed-effects* model, in which the satisfaction rating (\mathbf{r}) is estimated ($\hat{\mathbf{r}}$) as a function of the Attributes (A). However, *two versions* of \mathcal{I} were empirically characterized in this phase—the *full* version (\mathcal{I}_{Full}) with psychophysiological features (A_L), and the *reduced* version (\mathcal{I}_{Redu}) without them. The form of \mathcal{I}_{Redu} is given by Equation (12), in which

$$\mathcal{I}_{\text{Redu}}: \quad \hat{r} = \begin{bmatrix} b_1 \\ \vdots \\ b_8 \end{bmatrix}^{\text{T}} \begin{bmatrix} \beta_1 \\ \vdots \\ \beta_8 \end{bmatrix} + u_j + e_{ij}, \quad (12)$$

 $b = \{d, m, a, d \cdot m, d \cdot a, d \cdot m \cdot a, d^2, m^2\}$

, where the *fixed-effects* are given by *b*, and the *random-effects* for each individual are given by u_j , with some error (e_{ij}) for each prediction. The binomial terms $(d^2 \text{ and } m^2)$ provide curvature to the model such that optimal design configurations may be interpolated within the continuous solution space. However, this version precludes the incorporation of the latent information provided by A_L , and participants are not afforded with *participative involvement* to adjust these design levers and personalize their own, unique design configurations with this model. Alternatively, the expanded form of $\mathcal{J}_{\text{Full}}$ is given by Equation (13), in which

$$\mathcal{I}_{\text{Full}}: \quad \hat{r} = \begin{bmatrix} b_1 \\ \vdots \\ b_8 \end{bmatrix}^{\text{T}} \begin{bmatrix} \beta_1 \\ \vdots \\ \beta_8 \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} q_1 \\ \vdots \\ q_9 \end{bmatrix}^{\text{T}} \begin{bmatrix} \beta_9 \\ \vdots \\ \beta_{17} \end{bmatrix} + u_j + e_{ij}, \quad (13)$$
$$b = \{d, m, a, d \cdot m, d \cdot a, d \cdot m \cdot a, d^2, m^2\}$$
$$= \{A_{L1}, A_{L2}, A_{L3}, d \cdot A_{L1}, d \cdot A_{L2}, d \cdot A_{L3}, m \cdot A_{L1}, m \cdot A_{L2}, m \cdot A_{L3}\}$$

, where the *fixed-effects* from the reduced model are given by *b*, the *additional fixed-effects* of the psychophysiological design levers are given by *q*, and the *random-effects* for each individual are given by u_j , with some error (e_{ij}) for each prediction. In this model, A_{L1} , A_{L2} , and A_{L3} represent three psychophysiological features that are selected from the dimensions of A_L (see Table 11) to serve as design levers of the *user*. It is important to note the inclusion of *interaction effects* in *q*, as these allow for these psychophysiological design levers to adjust and personalize the solution space beyond just shifting the intercept.

This study employs a full-factorial experimental design (i.e., a $3 \times 3 \times 3$ design with 27 trials), in which three discreet levels (high, medium, low) of the detent number (*d*) and the motor torque stiffness (*m*) are each specified across their achievable ranges, and every possible combination is paired with each of the three applications (*a*). These 27, randomly ordered trials comprised the *analysis* portion of this study. This experimental design is summarized in Table 12.

Trial ID	Detent Nu	umber (<i>d</i>)	Motor Torque Stiffness (m)			
	Level	Value (# in 360°)	Level	Value (% of max)		
1	Low	16	Low	25%		
2	Low	16	Med	50%		
3	Low	16	High	75%		
4	Med	36	Low	25%		
5	Med	36	Med	50%		
6	Med	36	High	75%		
7	High	56	Low	25%		
8	High	56	Med	50%		
9	High	56	High	75%		

Table 12. The experimental design of phase 1 of the empirical user study of the infotainment controller. Each trial listed here (combination of d and m) is shown for each application (a).

With the experiential responses elicited in this design, the coefficients (β) of both models may be estimated. This is done for the entire population ($n_1 = 40$) at the end of phase 1 (as opposed to *iteratively*, as was done in the previous case study). However, there remains to be numerous psychophysiological features that could be included in \mathcal{I}_{Full} . Even the dimensions of A_L , while relatively numerous, still represent only a subset of possible features. The incorporation of too many psychophysiological features can detriment the model by expanding the dimensionality [513,514] with features that do not provide useful latent information, and often hold only minor relevance to the rich, embodied interaction (i.e., rotating the dial). The selection of features to be included in this model must be carefully considered to maintain interpretability and uphold statistical power. *Which* of these features actually enacts beneficial personalizations, however, may not be evident ahead of time [515].

4.4.2.1. Psychophysiological Feature Selection

To combat this, there are a variety of existing techniques that may be applied to reduce dimensionality [516–518]. *Heuristic* (i.e., rule-based) techniques afford designers with more direct influence by enabling them to determine the specific selection rules/thresholds, e.g., [519–524]; they are simple and highly interpretable. Alternatively, more robust machine learning algorithms relinquish this level of control such that decisions are driven more directly be the users' data, e.g., [464,480,525–528]. This enables them to identify more complex, non-linear patterns; they are generally more sophisticated but less interpretable. While algorithms are certainly more powerful, they are *black-box* techniques; they are not necessarily as useful directly off-the-shelf—so to speak—when *understanding* the underlying relations is key for mapping the solution space.

As such, a *hybrid* feature selection technique using both *algorithms* and *heuristics* was therefore employed to define \mathcal{F} . This aimed to balance the sophistication and the interpretability in the approach. A *Mixed-Effects Random Forest* (MERF) algorithm [529,530], was therefore used to produce an internally validated *feature importance ranking* of all the psychophysiological features (and their variants) based on each feature's SHAP (SHapley Additive exPlanation) value [531]. MERF algorithms are adept at handling cases with relatively larger feature sets and smaller sample sizes such as this [532]. Non-negligible individual random-effects may be reasonably expected in time-series psychophysiological features acted as the fixed effects, the individual user as a random effect, and the predicted satisfaction rating (\hat{r}) was the target variable. The MERF was programmed in Python (3.7) using a combination of the *merf* [533], *shap* [534], and *scikit-learn* [535] packages.

On its own, however, the inner mathematical properties of the MERF are a black-box [532]. The *heuristic* half of this hybrid technique was then employed on the feature importance rankings produced by this algorithm. Specifically, the highest ranked feature from each signal type (i.e.,

eda, *ecg*, and *emg*) was selected to be extracted (\mathcal{F}). This heuristic ensures the *multi-modality* of the psychophysiological design levers in \mathcal{I}_{Full} (i.e., A_{L1} , A_{L2} , and A_{L3}). By understanding the underlying relations between of all the features ,and selecting a small set that is most relevant, the black-box conundrum may be avoided [515,536]. This effectively turned the selection of the design levers over to the *users* ' latent emotions/cognitions, while allowing the *designer* to retain a degree of control and understanding.

4.4.3. Phase 1 Experimental Results

In phase 1 of this study ($n_1 = 40$), two key results may be examined. First, the relevant psychophysiological design levers that allow the user's latent emotions/cognitions to inform personalized design adjustments were determined; these are to be processed with the feature extraction model (\mathcal{F}) in the second phase. Second, the effects of the parameters in the interaction model (\mathcal{I} ; see Eq. (12) and Eq. (13)) were estimated within a full-factorial experimental design of fixed configurations of the infotainment controller (in terms of discreet levels of detent number (d) and motor torque stiffness (m)). These are discussed in turn.

4.4.3.1. Psychophysiological Design Levers

The feature importance ranking of the psychophysiological features included in the Latent Attributes (A_L) was constructed with the *Mixed-Effects Random Forest* (MERF) algorithm. The top-ranked feature from each signal in the Physiological Experiential Responses (E_P) was selected (see Table 11). The results of this ranking are shown in Table 13, with the top-10 highest ranked features being listed.

	Ranking	Signal (E _P)	Feature (AL)	Description
>	1	emg	<i>epb</i> _{rms} -m	The <i>subject-mean</i> (-m) of the <i>root mean square</i> (rms) of the activity from the <i>extensor pollicis brevis</i> (<i>epb</i>) over a trial.
	2	emg	<i>edc</i> _{rms} -m	The <i>subject-mean</i> (-m) of the <i>root mean square</i> (rms) of the activity from the <i>extensor digitorum communis</i> (<i>epb</i>) over a trial.
>	3	eda	<i>sc</i> _{slp} -m	The <i>subject-mean</i> (-m) of the <i>linear slope</i> (slp) of the best-fit line of <i>the skin conductance</i> (<i>sc</i>) over a trial.
	4	eda	<i>sc</i> _{var} -m	The <i>subject-mean</i> (-m) of the <i>variance</i> (var) of the <i>skin conductance</i> (<i>sc</i>) over a trial.
	5	eda	<i>sc</i> _m -c ²	The <i>centered</i> and <i>squared</i> $(-c^2)$ <i>mean</i> (m) <i>skin conductance</i> (sc) over a trial.
	6	emg	<i>еси</i> ттs-с	The <i>centered</i> (-c) <i>root mean square</i> (rms) of the activity from the <i>extensor carpi ulnaris</i> (<i>ecu</i>) over a trial.
	7	emg	<i>ecu</i> _{rms} -c ³	The <i>centered</i> and <i>squared</i> (-c ³) <i>root mean square</i> (rms) of the activity from the <i>extensor carpi ulnaris</i> (<i>ecu</i>) over a trial.
>	8	ecg	<i>hrv</i> -m	The <i>subject-mean</i> (-m) of the <i>heart rate variability</i> (<i>hrv</i>) over a trial.
	9	ecg	<i>hr</i> _{sd} -m	The <i>subject-mean</i> (-m) of the <i>standard deviation</i> (sd) of the <i>heart</i> $rate$ (<i>hr</i>) over a trial.
	10	eda	$sc_{\rm m}-c^3$	The <i>centered</i> and <i>cubed</i> $(-c^3)$ <i>mean</i> (m) <i>skin conductance</i> (sc) over a trial.

Table 13. The psychophysiological feature importance rankings summary. Only the top 10 psychophysiological features are listed (out of a total 98). The highest ranked feature from *ecg*, *eda*, and *emg* are selected (denoted with >).

Overall, the *epb*_{rms}-m, *sc*_{slp}-m, and *hrv*-m were determined to be the most relevant psychophysiological design levers for providing the latent emotional/cognitive information from each signal. The form of \mathcal{F} may therefore be updated to accommodate these selected features, in which

$\mathcal{F}: \quad \boldsymbol{E}_{\boldsymbol{P}} \to \boldsymbol{A}_{\boldsymbol{L}}$ $\mathcal{F}: \quad \begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{ecg} \\ \boldsymbol{eda} \\ \boldsymbol{emg} \end{bmatrix} \times \begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{f}_{1} \\ \boldsymbol{f}_{2} \\ \boldsymbol{f}_{3} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{hrv} \cdot \mathbf{m} \\ \boldsymbol{sc}_{\mathrm{slp}} \cdot \mathbf{m} \\ \boldsymbol{epb}_{\mathrm{rms}} \cdot \mathbf{m} \end{bmatrix}$

, where each of the processing functions (f_i) are programmed in MATLAB (see Section 4.4.1.3). With these selections, it is important to note that highest ranked feature from each signal was the *subject-mean* (-m) variant. This indicates that *between-subject* measures of individual differences—not *within-subject* measures of a given user's different responses to various

configurations—are more important for personalizations. The selected psychophysiological features may therefore be considered to be representative of users' individual *predispositions*.

The SHAP values [531]—the impact on the satisfaction rating (r)—from the MERF output may then provide insight into what latent information is provided with each of these psychophysiological design levers. This is illustrated in Figure 26 through SHAP dependence plots. With these plots, the manner in which this latent information is predicted to influence r may be interpreted.



Figure 26. The SHAP dependence plots. The SHAP values for epb_{rms} -m (left), sc_{slp} -m (center), and hrv-m (right) show their predicted impact on the satisfaction rating (r). The visible vertical clusters represent the 27 trials for each user in phase 1 of this study, as the value of each feature was the subject-mean of these trials. This clusters therefore illustrate individual differences.

For instance, epb_{rms} -m values below ~0.35 tended to have a positive impact on r, while values above this threshold had the opposite impact. This can mean that users who use require less muscular activation to rotate the dial find a greater level of satisfaction with this rich, embodied interaction. Alternatively, values of sc_{slp} -m that were at or around 0 tended to increase r, while more negative values decreased r. This could mean that users with negative drift of their skin conductance level (i.e., low tonic arousal) had lower satisfaction levels, while users with neutral or positive drift to their skin conductance level (i.e., higher tonic arousal) had relatively greater levels of satisfaction. Lastly, lower values of hrv-m tended to have a negative impact on r, while higher values were more neutral. The impact of this feature is relatively smaller than the other two features, however, as it was only ranked 8th on the MERF feature importance rankings (see Figure 26). Overall, these plots reveal how individual differences of latent emotions/cognitions can be identified and quantified.

4.4.3.2. Interaction Model Effects

For each version of \mathcal{I} , the coefficients of the regressions were estimated with the experiential responses provided from each user in this phase. An ANOVA may be used to determine the fixed effects on the satisfaction rating (*r*) of each parameter in these models. This is summarized in Table 14. A *likelihood ratio test* (LRT) of these two nested models indicated that \mathcal{I}_{Full} provided a significantly improved fit to the data (p < 0.001) over \mathcal{I}_{Redu} .

Table 14. The effects of the experimental design. Significant p-values (p < 0.05) are bolded. Tests involving *a* are two degree of freedom omnibus tests; all other tests are single degree of freedom tests.

	J	d	m	a	<i>ф</i> .т	d-a	m-a	d·m·a	d^2	<i>m</i> ²	epb _{rms} -m	SCslp-m	<i>hr</i> ν-т	<i>d</i> · <i>epb</i> _{rms} -m	$d \cdot s c_{ m slp}$ -m	<i>d</i> · <i>hr</i> v-m	m <i>∙epb</i> ms-m	m •SCslp-m	т- <i>ч</i> и-т
ues	${\mathcal J}_{ m red}$	< 0.001	0.550	0.004	0.465	< 0.001	0.882	0.202	< 0.001	0.164									
p-val	${\cal J}_{ m full}$	< 0.001	0.140	0.003	0.457	< 0.001	0.878	0.190	< 0.001	0.156	0.235	0.066	0.204	0.473	0.953	< 0.001	0.148	< 0.001	0.001

There was a significant effect of adjustments to the detent number (d; p < 0.001), d^2 (p < 0.001), and the application (a; p < 0.05), as well as a significant interaction between d and a (omnibus p < 0.001) across both versions of the model. On average, participants gave different ratings to different pairings of the d and a. Alternatively, there was no significant effect of adjustments to the motor torque stiffness (m) or m^2 . In fact, there were no significant interaction effects with mat all in $\mathcal{I}_{\text{Redu}}$. However, there were significant interactions effects with m in $\mathcal{I}_{\text{Full}}$. The interactions that m had with psychophysiological features sc_{slp} -m (p < 0.001) and with hrv-m (p = 0.001) were both significant. The main effects of the psychophysiological features were not significant in $\mathcal{I}_{\text{full}}$, however there was a significant interaction of d and hrv-m (p < 0.001), along with the noted significant interactions with m. These interactions with the Responsive Attributes (A_R) suggest the manner in which the psychophysiological design levers may impact the relation between A_R and the satisfaction rating (r) on an individual basis, and can therefore personalize these configurations in terms of d and m.

4.4.4. Phase 2 Experimental Design

The design of phase 2 of this empirical study ($n_2 = 20$) was then centered around *synthesis* and *evaluation*, which included: 1) predicting and generating both *customized* and *personalized* configurations of the infotainment controller, and 2) assessing their relative performance to validate the added value of involving users at a *participative level* over a more traditional, *consultative level*. With the inverse of the interaction models (\mathcal{I}_{Full}^{-1} and \mathcal{I}_{Redu}^{-1}), *predictions* may then be made with both. In both cases, these predictions included the design configuration—the pairing of detent number (*d*) and motor torque stiffness (*m*) for a given application (*a*)—that was predicted to receive the *optimal* satisfaction rating (\hat{r}_{Sub}), i.e., a satisfaction rating that was one root-mean-square deviation (rmsd) lower than the optimal. A different optimal and sub-optimal configuration was predicted for each application (i.e., menu, contacts, volume).

Between these two models, however, the *type* of predictions that were made also varied. For $\mathcal{I}_{\text{Redu}}$, the psychophysiological features, i.e., the design levers of the user, were *not* included in these predictions. This meant that the new population of participants in this phase did not have direct input on these predictions. The optimal design configuration given by $\mathcal{I}_{\text{Redu}}$ is *pre-defined* by the coefficients estimated in the previous phase to be the same for each individual, and may therefore be considered to be a *customization*. Predicting design configurations with $\mathcal{I}_{\text{Redu}}$ therefore represents *consultative involvement* of the user, in that they are involved in the characterization (i.e., *analysis*) and assessment (i.e., evaluation) of design configurations, but do *not* have access to design levers to *directly* influence how the product is configured (i.e., synthesis)

For $\mathcal{J}_{\text{Full}}$, on the other hand, the psychophysiological design levers are used to influence these predictions. In this second phase, this new population of participants again interacted with the infotainment controller in the same 27 fixed trials as the previous phase (see Table 12) to elicit their latent emotions/cognitions. Their individual psychophysiological features (i.e., *epb*_{rms}-m, *sc*_{slp}-m, and *hrv*-m) were extracted and entered into $\mathcal{J}_{\text{Full}}$. The optimal design configuration given by $\mathcal{J}_{\text{Full}}$ is completely *new* and *unique* to that specific individual, and may therefore be considered to be a *personalization*. Predicting design configurations with $\mathcal{J}_{\text{Full}}$ therefore represents *participative involvement* of the user, in that they are involved in the characterization (i.e., *analysis*) and assessment (i.e., evaluation) of design configurations, and now *do* have access to design levers to also *directly* influence how the product is configured (i.e., synthesis).

These designations of 'customization' for $\mathcal{J}_{\text{Redu}}$ and 'personalization' for $\mathcal{J}_{\text{Full}}$ can be extended beyond just a single solution provided by each, and may be applied to the entire solution space that they define. With $\mathcal{J}_{\text{Full}}$, *every* option in the solution space is personalized to the specific individual, including the sub-optimal configuration. In total, 12 predictions were made for each participant (i.e., 3 screens × 2 models × 2 predictions for each), and therefore 12 *additional* trials were conducted after the original 27 for each participant in this phase. This experimental design takes a similar format to the controls-like structure of the *biocybernetic loop*. In this design, the latent emotions/cognitions of the user are assessed through their physiological responses, the infotainment controller then adapts accordingly, and their responses to this adaptation are then assessed. The difference, however, is that the 'adaptations' permitted here are not limited to *predefined* responses (i.e., *customizations*) used by physio-adaptive systems to regulate the user, but rather represent *new*, *unique* design configurations (i.e., *personalizations*). This experimental design is summarized by Table 15.

Model (I)	Trial ID	Detent	number (<i>d</i>)	nber (d)Motor torque stiffness (m)		
		Level	Value (#)	Level	Value (%)	
a	1	Opt	Personalized	Opt	Personalized	
JFull	2	Sub	Personalized	Sub	Personalized	Mana
$\mathcal{J}_{ m Redu}$	3	3 Opt 36		Opt	47%	Ivienu
	4	Sub	Randomized	Sub	Randomized	
${\cal J}_{ m Full}$	5	Opt	Personalized	Opt	Personalized	
	6	Sub	Personalized	Sub	Personalized	Contosta
a	7	Opt	51	Opt	25%	Contacts
J Redu	8	Sub	Randomized	Sub	Randomized	
9	9	Opt	Personalized	Opt	Personalized	
J Full	10	Sub	Personalized	Sub	Personalized	V - luure -
$\mathcal{J}_{ ext{Redu}}$	11	Opt	55	Opt	25%	volume
	12	Sub	Randomized	Sub	Randomized	

Table 15. The experimental design of phase 2 of the empirical user study of the infotainment controller.

While the optimal prediction for each application is pre-defined for \mathcal{I}_{red} , the sub-optimal is *randomly* selected from the contour that represents the set of configurations predicted to be rated one rmsd lower than the optimal. The fixed solution space for \mathcal{I}_{red} may be visualized with contour plots, as is illustrated in Figure 27. For both models, the two predicted configurations— \hat{r}_{Opt} and \hat{r}_{Sub} —serve as a litmus test for whether \mathcal{I} can correctly predict preference (according to the rating) across the solution space. To *validate* the model, the prediction was considered to be 'correct' if the *actual* rating given to the predicted *optimal* design configuration (r_{Opt}) was rated higher than that given to the predicted *sub-optimal* design configuration (r_{Sub}). These two models—and therefore, two levels of user involvement—may then be directly compared to determine the value of these personalizations.



Figure 27. Customization predictions made in the solution space map of the infotainment controller. The reduced interaction model ($\mathcal{J}_{\text{Redu}}$) is visualized by contour plots for each application (*a*). These contours reveal the pre-defined predictions that were made for each participant. In this space, \hat{r}_{Opt} represents the configuration of *d* and *m* that is predicted to receive the optimal rating. \hat{r}_{Sub} represents a different design configuration that is predicted to be rated one rmsd lower than \hat{r}_{Opt} . \hat{r}_{Sub} is randomly selected along this contour.

4.4.5. Phase 2 Experimental Results

In phase 2 of this study ($n_1 = 20$), the key result that may be examined is the comparative performance between and $\mathcal{I}_{\text{Redu}}$ and $\mathcal{I}_{\text{Full}}$ —between *customization* and *personalization* of the infotainment controller. The ability of each model to predict preference across the solution space may be compared in terms of the two predictions that were made by each. A prediction was considered to be 'correct' if the rating given to the optimal design configuration (\mathbf{r}_{Opt}) was greater than that given to the sub-optimal design configuration (\mathbf{r}_{Sub}). This is the more conservative approach, in which ties (i.e., $\mathbf{r}_{\text{Opt}} = \mathbf{r}_{\text{Sub}}$) are considered 'incorrect.' The model that is more

successful in this right may be considered to be a more accurate map of the solution space, which can therefore provide better options.

 $\mathcal{I}_{\text{Redu}}$ and $\mathcal{I}_{\text{Full}}$ were compared with a *mixed-effects* (accounting for both individual *random-effects* and the *fixed-effects* of *a*) generalized linear model (GLM) with a binomial distribution, as the dependent variable was a binary term (i.e., correct/incorrect). $\mathcal{I}_{\text{Full}}$ correctly predicted preference 81.6% of the time, while $\mathcal{I}_{\text{Redu}}$ only correctly predicted preference 63.3% of the time; the reduced model had twice as many incorrect predictions as the full model. These results are summarized by Table 16.

Table 16. The results of the interaction model validation test. The full model (\mathcal{I}_{Full}) significantly outperformed the reduced model (\mathcal{I}_{Redu}).

Model (I)	Correct ($r_{Opt} > r_{Sub}$)	Incorrect ($r_{Opt} \leq r_{Sub}$)	Percent correct
Reduced model (\mathcal{I}_{Redu})	38	22	63.3%
Full model (\mathcal{I}_{Full})	49	11	81.6%

The improvement between the models was significant (p < 0.05). There was no significant difference in the ability to predict this preference between different applications (*a*), and the interaction effects of *a* were also not significant. By personalizing the solution space, a better understanding of the options it contains may therefore be achieved. The *participative involvement* used in \mathcal{J}_{Full} significantly improved the predictive accuracy over what was achieved with the *consultative involvement* of \mathcal{J}_{Redu} . This provides a rigorous validation to the value of this additional level of user involvement.

4.5. Personalizing Options in the Design Space Map

With the completed map of the design space, including a validated interaction model, the options for personalizing the infotainment controller may be explored. First, the use of each psychophysiological feature as a *design lever* may be examined in terms of how they can each modify the solution space. The personalizations that were enacted in this study may be visualized to better understand how and where these individual adjustments should actually be implemented. These insights may then be propagated to different design levers that may be 'owned' by different disciplines (i.e., hardware or software designers). Finally, the manner in which these personalizations may be extended on a mass scale is discussed.

4.5.1. Adjustments with Psychophysiological Design Levers

The effect that 'adjustments' to the psychophysiological design levers (A_L) have on the parameters of the infotainment controller (A_R) may be individually examined. These adjustments result in a unique solution space for each individual user, such that the combinations of detent number (d) and motor torque stiffness (m) elicit different responses (\hat{r}) . To visualize the *isolated* effects that each psychophysiological feature (i.e., *epb*_{rms}-m, *sc*_{slp}-m, and *hrv*-m) has on this solution space, each feature may be individually altered in turn, while the other two are fixed. This is shown by Figure 28, in which each psychophysiological feature is independently varied from the minimum to the maximum value that was recorded, while the other two psychophysiological features are fixed at their respective population means.



Figure 28. The capacity of personalization afforded by each selected psychophysiological feature. For each contour of $\mathcal{I}_{\text{Full}}$, the impact of *epb*_{rms}-m (left), *sc*_{slp}-m (center), and *hrv*-m (right) are illustrated for each *a*. The top row represents the minimum recorded value for each respective psychophysiological feature, while the bottom row represents the maximum value. In each case, the other two psychophysiological features are held constant at the testing population mean. The optimal configuration and sub-optimal contour are highlighted for each plot.

These controlled manipulations illustrate the capacity for the personalization that is afforded by each psychophysiological design lever. As can be seen, the shape of the solution space can look widely different across the ranges of values that were observed in this study. The combinations of *d* and *m* that afford \hat{r}_{Opt} could be drastically different according to an individual's physiological predisposition. Not pictured in these contours is the effect of these manipulations on the *magnitude* of \hat{r} —the peaks of these contours (i.e., \hat{r}_{Opt}) are also impacted by the psychophysiological features. These are summarized by Table 17.

Feature (AL)	Level	Predicted rating for	Predicted rating for optimal configuration ($\hat{r}_{Opt} \pm standard error$)							
		a = Menu	a = Contacts	a = Volume						
<i>epb</i> _{rms} -m	Min	6.75 ± 0.37	7.41 ± 0.38	7.50 ± 0.40						
	Max	5.21 ± 1.09	6.24 ± 1.12	6.38 ± 1.13						
<i>sc</i> _{slp} -m <i>hrv</i> -m	Min	4.81 ± 0.84	5.68 ± 0.86	5.78 ± 0.87						
	Max	8.62 ± 0.69	8.97 ± 0.70	8.82 ± 0.70						
	Min	6.36 ± 0.24	7.15 ± 0.27	7.24 ± 0.28						
	Max	7.73 ± 1.12	8.43 ± 1.14	8.38 ± 1.14						

Table 17. The effects of the psychophysiological design levers on the predicted satisfaction rating. The predicted satisfaction rating (\hat{r}_{Opt}) is given for each *a* at the maximum and minimum value of each psychophysiological feature.

Overall, it is evident that individual differences in latent emotions/cognitions can certainly alter what experiential outcomes are elicited by different options in the solution space. While this highlights the importance of individual design levers, these results alone do not provide insight into how these personalizations should actually be *implemented*, i.e., which aspects of the product need to be altered and which do not.

4.5.2. Understanding the Implementation of Personalizations

With a map of the solution space, the personalizations that are made for each individual may be better understood. Compared to the previous controlled manipulations, the *actual* personalizations were determined by the combination of all three psychophysiological features that each user entered into the interaction model (\mathcal{I}). Each optimal design configuration ($\hat{\mathbf{r}}_{Opt}$) that was personalized for an individual participant is illustrated by Figure 29 for all three applications (\mathbf{a}). In this visualization, the *personalized* optimal points produced by \mathcal{I}_{Full} are overlayed onto the *static* contours of \mathcal{I}_{Redu} .



Figure 29. The personalizations of the infotainment controller. The personalized optimal design configurations (\hat{r}_{Opt}) from \mathcal{I}_{Full} are plotted for each application (a). These points are overlaid onto the static contour plots of \mathcal{I}_{Redu} . The histograms on each axis of these contours show the density of these predictions in terms of both detent number (d) and motor torque stiffness (m).

These plots reveal the distribution of the optimal predictions. It is evident that this distribution differs across each parameter in the design problem (i.e., d, m, and a). For instance, there are distinct clusters of the optimal detent number (d) for each application (a), which can be seen in the *horizontal* histograms in Figure 29. This suggests that that there is a more *definitive optimal* level for d, which is determined more so by the application than by individual differences. The distribution of m on the other hand (i.e., the *vertical* histograms in Figure 29), ranges from widely dispersed on the menu app, to a tightly clustered on the contacts app, to an almost uniform value on the volume app. The latter two are both hitting the boundary of the achievable design space; the distribution of each may be broader if the feasible range of m could have been widened (this device was technologically limited in this way). This ultimately suggests that some product attributes (i.e., m) may be more susceptible to personalization than others (i.e., d). This also highlights the importance of the inclusion of *interaction effects* between the A_R and the A_L in \mathcal{I}_{Full} . While the effects of m were found to be non-significant in \mathcal{I}_{Redu} , significant interaction effects between f and sc_{slp} -m, as well as between m and hrv-m, were evidently some of the primary drivers of the personalization in this case.

It should also be noted that the distributions shown in Figure 29 only represent the *optimal* configurations. It was often the case that this predicted optimal configuration was only *finely tuned* by the additional psychophysiological design levers. As the personalizations were enacted through *latent* information, it is to be expected that any deviations from the optimal design configuration

predicted through subjective responses represent the *nuanced* distinctions that users may struggle to expressly communicate. In these instances (e.g., a = volume), it must be remembered that the contour of the solution space *around* that point is impacted as well. This may be exemplified by comparing, for instance, the differences in the contour between the minimum and maximum *hrv*-m when a = volume (see Figure 28). In this case, the optimal *point* is minimally influence by personalizations, but the overall solution space is quite different. Ultimately, the personalization afforded by the participative involvement in this experiment is not limited solely to the optimal point, but extends across every option in the solution space. These impacts can be critically important to understand, especially when other, potentially *competing* design objectives require deviation from this optimal point to satisfy other requirements (à la the pneumatic steering column). Through design space mapping, the act of 'personalization' may be redefined from an act of altering a *specific* product, to that of altering the entire *range of options* for that product. With this map, the designer can better understand how to actually implement personalization capabilities that have been technologically established.

4.5.3. Informing Multidisciplinary Design Adjustments

By establishing an understanding for how latent individual differences translate into preferences for different configurations of the infotainment controller, *multidisciplinary* design adjustments may be informed. In the problem space, *three* different types of design levers were identified as areas that could be directly adjusted by different designers. Through the personalizations, the *user* assumes the role of 'designer' as well. However, the designation of this *participative* user involvement as 'design *by* users' does not necessarily mean 'design *by* users *alone*.' With the design space map, other design disciplines may still contribute to the design of this infotainment controller as well. The HCI/HMI designer, for instance, could use this map to specify the detent number (*d*) for each application. This could be prudent, as this attribute is less susceptible to individual difference and much more dependent on the context. These contexts, however, could *also* be directly adjusted in this case study. Unlike something like physical roads, the *applications* in the infotainment screen are directly designable. Rather than adjusting the controller. While the design space map in this case study was not expressly constructed for this purpose, it inherently acts as a tool that can be used by different design disciplines (i.e., a boundary).

object). With this tool, the UX/UI designer could theoretically adjust aspects of these applications (e.g., the number of items) to better suit a fixed configuration of the controller. While A_E was limited to categorical variables in this study (i.e., a), the designer could treat each of the application layouts as a *template* that they could use to match *future* screens to set configurations of the controller (e.g., use the 'menu' layout when the level of detents is set to medium). Further parametrizations of A_E into continuous variables could allow the UI of these applications to be precisely tailored to compliment the haptics of the controller.

4.5.4. Personalizing on Mass Scales

Another pressing question in the realm of 'personalization' is how to implement it at mass scales. In this study, the latent information used to inform the personalizations was employed in the construction of the mathematical model in phase 1, which could then be used to generate realtime personalizations in phase 2. By validating the predictive accuracy of this model on an *out-of-sample* population, it may be readily applied to larger audiences. This affords a host of opportunities to identify population-level (or even specific sub-population-level) design insights. In lieu of individual empirical data, simulated distributions may be entered into the model to calculate population averages or joint-distributions. The model may also be entered into a Bayesian network [537]—in which the priors are distributions such as those published by the National Institute of Health (NIH), e.g., [538]—to gain even more insight into the population-level landscape of the design space.

All that would be needed to immediately enact personalizations on any potential user would be information on their physiological *predispositions*, i.e., *between-subject* differences. These are much simpler to capture than *within-subject* differences, and would not even necessarily require a controlled study to do so. In near-future automotive settings, in-vehicle sensing capabilities (or even wearable sensors) could conceivably capture this information *during* the interaction and automatically personalize the infotainment controller accordingly. This prospect has become increasingly achievable as physiological measurement devices have become more reliable [539–541]. Subjective responses—a more time consuming and immersion-breaking type of information—are *not* necessary to inform personalizations made with an already validated model. This means that mass personalizations for this physically-interactive product could by *passively* implemented in a similar fashion to how Amazon personalizes its digital shopping interface, rather

than requiring detailed and heavily involved feedback to be expressly communicated by the user. These personalizations could therefore be more feasibly applied at mass scales.

Ultimately, the value of Embodiment Design Cartography in this case study does *not* lie in providing the technological capabilities for personalization. Rather, its value lies in the information it provides on how to enact these personalizations in a beneficial and efficient manner once the technology has been *established*. This is a critical step that may often be relatively ignored when compared to the pursuit of technological capabilities, but is what ultimately ensures that these additional efforts are truly worthwhile in terms of the benefits they provide the user.

4.6. Chapter 4 Conclusion

In this chapter, the framework for Embodiment Design Cartography (EDC) was applied to construct the design space map of a real-world technology—an infotainment controller. This design problem is representative of an *established* technology in the realm of rich, embodied interaction, and serves as a case study for one of the primary issues in new product development implementing mass *personalizations*. In this specific design problem, the technological capabilities of this controller allowed for it to be dynamically adjusted in real-time. This affords the opportunity for it to be personalized, such that each user may be provided with a *unique feeling* of interacting with the device to best suite their *individual differences*. Each person has *latent emotions* or *cognitions* that distinguish them as an individual and alter their preferences. However, it was unknown as to which aspects of this feeling should be personalized and in what way, in order to provide the most benefit to individual users. With the EDC framework, this *ill-structured* problem was systematically mapped, and the personalizations were numerically explored. This provided a greater understanding of what the available options in this space were, and demonstrated how latent information could inform the manner in which personalizations should be implemented.

The *problem space* in this case study was *formulated* within the EDC framework in a manner that was tailored to the specific questions surrounding this established technology. The focus of this problem was on how the *individual* could inform tailored design adjustments that would provide them with the best *experiential* outcomes on an emotional or cognitive level. To efficiently extract information on these responses—which can be difficult for users to expressly communicate—*psychophysiological* measures may be used. To examine how users may influence

the design with these measures, a *well-defined* formulation was structured within the Actor-Abstraction (A-A) matrix, in which these psychophysiological measures were considered as *design levers* that the user may directly (albeit unconsciously) control. Through the *critical examination* of the design problem that the A-A matrix calls for, the applications of the infotainment system (i.e., the menu, contacts, and volume) were identified as a context factor that would also be particularly relevant for influencing the perception of this controller. In this case, the context itself could therefore also be designed. With these different design levers, *multidisciplinary* design insights could be informed. Overall, this formulation demonstrated another instance for how problem spaces may be precisely tailored within EDC, and covered very different considerations from the previous case study.

With this well-defined, yet novel formulation of the problem space, several specialized techniques for *modeling* the associated *solution-space* were developed for problems of this nature. A controls-like modeling approach was taken, which was similar in nature to a *biocybernetic loop*. Physiological responses to an interaction were recorded, and *psychophysiological features* were extracted from these signals. These were then entered into a statistical model to synthesize new design configurations. Where this deviates from a traditional biocybernetic loop is that these new configurations are unique and *personalized* for each individual, while typical adaptations include *pre-defined* responses to specific triggers (e.g., telling a joke if boredom is detected). The latter is more akin to *customization*. This modeling technique therefore enabled personalizations to be synthesized in *real-time* using only latent emotions/cognitions. This increased the level of user involvement towards the *participative* end of the spectrum by allowing them to have direct input to the model. These personalizations were then *visualized* to provide better insight as to what influence these user design levers had, and to understand how they *quantifiably* altered the configuration of the controller. Overall, this promoted a rigorous, holistic understanding of the available options that comprised this space.

Several *techniques* and *procedures* were developed to *experimentally* construct the personalized models of the solution space for each individual in an efficient manner. An empirical user study was conducted in two phases, which followed the processes of embodiment design—*analysis* (phase 1), and *synthesis & evaluation* (phase 2). In the first phase, two models were characterized—one *with* psychophysiological features (\mathcal{I}_{full}), and one *without* (\mathcal{I}_{red}). To construct the full model, a feature selection technique using both *heuristics* and a *Mixed-Effects Random*

Forest (MERF) algorithm was employed. The MERF ranked each feature's importance according to how much latent information they provided on the user's preference (i.e., how much they influenced their rating). As a heuristic, the top ranked feature from each of the three signals (i.e., ecg, eda, and emg) was selected to ensure there was a combination of different channels represented. This technique was therefore able to take advantage the power, sophistication, and scalability offered by the MERF algorithm, while retaining a level of control and interpretability provided by the heuristic. In the second phase, these two models-which each represented different levels of user involvement (i.e., participative versus consultative)-were used to generate new designs. These were then evaluated by an out-of-sample population. The predictions made with $\mathcal{J}_{\text{full}}$ incorporated each individual user's psychophysiological features, and were therefore *personalized* to that person. On the other hand, the predictions made with \mathcal{I}_{red} did *not*, and were therefore commonly customized for the overall population (i.e., pre-defined). The personalizations were found to significantly improve the validity of the solution space model, which in turn served to validate the value added by this additional level of user involvement. Overall, these techniques and procedures helped construct a model that was capable of integrating multiple types of experiential responses in the creation of a *tool* for informing how personalizations should be implemented.

Finally, this chapter presented a clear case for how Embodiment Design Cartography may be usefully *operationalized* for a completely different type of design work as the previous case study. The use of a graphical system to visualize how personalized design configurations differed, allowed for the determination of which aspect of the infotainment controller should be personalized (i.e., the motor torque stiffness, *m*) according to physiological *predispositions*. Alternatively, it also revealed which attribute should instead be coupled to the type of application (i.e., the detent number, *d*). This latter insight may then but used to inform actionable adjustments of two different kinds of design levers. Either the HCI/HMI designer (i.e., hardware) could then adjust the *controller* to match the application, or the UX/UI designer (i.e., software) could then adjust the *application* to match the controller. Ultimately, this work was important for addressing what represents a core issue in new product development—understanding and implementing personalization—and did so in a manner that promoted a level of nuance and creative problem solving that is indispensable for *innovations* to be made. By constructing the model to use *latent* differences, and then validating it on an *out-of-sample* population, it may be applied on mass

scales. The ability to implement mass personalizations with passively collected data is only limited by sensing capabilities (which are continuously improving). While mass personalization on physically-interactive produces remains to be predicated on *adaptable technologies* and *end-user sensing capabilities*, this chapter demonstrates how these personalizations may be beneficially operationalized in practice with technologies that are already established. If the efforts to make a product dynamically adaptable are to be worth that added technological challenges, it is critical that a design space map is employed to inform how the most value may be extracted from these personalizations. In the larger 'Research Through Design' (RTD) approach that is taken across this dissertation, this applied case study represents a second incremental validation of the framework as whole. In this regard, EDC was largely successful as a tool for uncovering multiple differed design insights around a completely different issue than the previous case study.

Chapter 5. Conclusion

In this dissertation, a framework for Embodiment Design Cartography was developed and applied to two real-world design problems involving different technologies. Through these efforts, a new paradigm is promoted—one in which the design solutions are defined by all of the decisions that were both made and not made to lead to their creation, rather than just as results of said decisions. This concluding chapter summarizes this body of work for establishing the practice of design space mapping. First, the research is simply summarized and the manner in which each of the research objectives was met is reviewed. In meeting these objectives, the core research issues that presented barriers to this work were each addressed. An inward reflection of the contributions that each chapter made towards overcoming these issues is then discussed in terms of the value added. Together, these chapters thoroughly addressed each identified gap. The outward impacts that may result from these contributions are then postulated. These impacts extend across different areas of new product development, and provide a basis for new design research. Finally, this discussion turns towards the future and provides several directions that this research may take. Overall, the work presented with these chapters represents a comprehensive body of work for equipping designers with the conceptual basis, modeling techniques, and experimental procedures to implement Embodiment Design Cartography and operationalize product innovations.

5.1. Research Overview

The goal of this research was to develop the practice of *design space mapping* through Embodiment Design Cartography (EDC). This practice shifts the aim of embodiment design from a paradigm of creating a singular solution, to that of constructing a tool to reveal a range of available options. In the treasure-filled-cave that is the design journey, the design space map grants the 'birds-eye-view' of the decisions that can be made. This new paradigm places greater emphasis on understanding the design journey over just the destination because just as in life, design is a journey, not a destination—it is in the design journey that true insight lies. The 'solution' in EDC is not the end of the design journey, per se, but rather that path that was chosen to get there. The path that takes the engineering designer from the known—the entrance of the cave, i.e., the concrete design levers in their control-through the labyrinth of twists and turns given by the external factors that they consider, and ultimately to the to the treasures, or abstract outcomes, that they select; the path that is characterized by mathematical models, and may be traversed forwards or backwards for embodiment design analysis or synthesis. A robust map for this journey—one that provides detail on a holistic set of passageways in the cave (i.e., design factors) and treasures to be discovered (i.e., design outcomes), not just the specific solution path that was taken-can serve as a generalizable tool for a variety of different purposes, to be used by a variety of different designers.

"[A] road map may point the way to a campground for one group, a place for recreation. For another group, this 'same' map may follow a series of geological sites of importance, or animal habitats, for scientists. Such maps may resemble each other, overlap, and even seem indistinguishable to an outsider's eye. Their difference depends on the use and interpretation of the object."

- Susan Leigh Star, This is Not a Boundary Object: Reflections on the Origin of a Concept, 2010 [344]

To establish this practice of design space mapping, both the *conceptual foundations* for how to construct such a map in a general sense, as well as the manner in which these maps may be used to *inform useful design insights in practice*, had to each be developed. As such, a 'Research Through Design' approach was employed, in which both the conceptual and applied aspects of these needs could be developed in tandem through rase studies for real-world design problems.

Through this approach, three core research objectives were met in service of this goal, which are summarized in turn.

5.1.1. A Framework for Embodiment Design Cartography

The first objective was to derive a *conceptual framework* to support the cartographic activities of design space mapping for design problems rooted in 'embodiment,' including supporting *flexible problem space formulation* that may be tailored to specific design problems, and *selectively integrative solution space modeling* that may leverage existing design methods. This objective was met in Chapter 2 of this dissertation through the conceptual derivation of the Embodiment Design Cartography framework. This framework was first defined here in a purely general sense, and then used in the two case studies to demonstrate its specific application in the following chapters.

In this conceptual development, it was first specified that this framework would be constructed as a *boundary object* for design methods. A boundary object is a device that may vary between a *loose* and *precise* organizational structure, such that it may be adapted to different perspectives that may lack taxonomical consensus, but also more specifically formulated for a given problem. As a boundary object, the EDC framework can support each of the different perspectives given by the existing design methods, and be used to span the inherent boundaries between them. Boundary objects in design are unique in that they promote collaboration between different perspectives rather than allow them to work independently. Alternatively, in its more precise structure, this boundary object may then be able to formulate the problem space of a specific design problem.

To derive this conceptual framework, it was necessary to define an *ontology*, an *epistemology*, and a *methodology*, which together establish the overall *philosophy* of the framework. Summarily, this framework-specific philosophy is that comprehensively mapping out all the options in an embodiment design problem can improve decision-making. The EDC ontology defined the classification of concepts and relations through the Actor-Abstraction matrix. The EDC epistemology defined the management of knowledge or data, including how it was directed, sourced, measures/interpreted, and finally validated. The EDC methodology defined the manner for which the framework is operationalized through the processes of embodiment design (i.e., analysis, synthesis, and evaluation) in the Stage-Process (S-P) model (see Figure 2).

Using this framework, each of the existing design methods were mapped through the lens of the EDC ontology, epistemology, and methodology. This interpretive exercise was conducted in order to better understand how these different methods compared to each other on a common scale, and to verify the general compatibility of this boundary object. The problem space of each method was mapped in the A-A matrix to identify their points of overlap. The functions and data collection methods used in each were discussed from an epistemological perspective. Finally, the methodology of each was deconstructed using the S-P model, and activities that were interpreted to be advantageous for design space mapping for selectively integrated into the EDC methodology.

5.1.2. A Method for Navigating Tradeoffs in an Emerging Technology

The second objective was to apply the Embodiment Design Cartography framework to develop and demonstrate modeling, experimental, and design techniques within the context of an *emerging* technology in order to negotiate favorable *tradeoffs* between technical and experiential design outcomes using *engineering design levers*. This objective was met in 0 of this dissertation through the case study of the pneumatic steering column. In this emerging technology, it was unknown as to how improving its *technical* performance (e.g., stowability) would impact—in potentially detrimental manner—the *experiential* responses (e.g., satisfaction) that would be elicited by the rich, embodied interaction (i.e., steering).

The problem space for the pneumatic steering column was formulated in the Actor-Abstraction matrix. On the *technical* level, engineering design levers could be used to make direct adjustment to the artifact's form/layout (Artifact-How). These parameters were directly related to the user-facing qualities of the artifact that were both *responsive*, i.e., providing kinesthetic haptic feedback, and *persistent* (Artifact-What). The latter of these domains was then related to the technical performance of the artifact (Artifact-Why). This 'artifact-centered' formulation is representative of a classical engineering design problem. However, additional considerations were also included on the *experiential* level. The physical environment for which the device was used to steer the vehicle (i.e., the track) was also considered to be an important consideration (Context-What). Both these contextual attributes, as well as the interactive attributes of the artifact, were both considered especially relevant to influencing the rich, embodied interaction. The user's subjective perceptions of this interaction were then measured (User-Why).

The solution space for the pneumatic steering column was modeled both analytically and empirically. The *engineering* (\mathcal{E}) and *performance* models (\mathcal{P}) were analytical characterized with a *proportional sensitivity* matrix that could be estimated using only the fundamental engineering principles that may be available for emerging technologies with limited knowledge basis. Alternatively, the *interaction* model (\mathcal{I}) was empirically characterized with a *mixed-effects* model through an experimental user study (n = 57). In this study, participants provided their subjective ratings to various configurations of the effective torque stiffness and steering sensitivity of the pneumatic steering column, while driving on different tracks in a simulator. New design configurations—and *optimal* and a *sub-optimal*—were then predicted with \mathcal{I} , and they were subsequently evaluated by participants. The optimal predictions were rated significantly higher than the sub-optimal predictions, which was used as an index to validate this model.

This validated model, \mathcal{I} , was then *composed* with \mathcal{E} to span the problem space and couple the design levers and design outcomes in the solution space. With this composition, the available options in the design space were visually examined using a linear algebraic approach, which was supplemented with graphical tools to visualize this space. With this system, several different types of tradeoffs were navigated under a set of constraints that were imposed to simulate real-world conditions. First, the types of adjustments that could be made without making any concessions to the experiential response (i.e., experience-maintaining adjustments) were identified. In this scenario, it was identified that these adjustments had a negative impact on aspects of the technical performance, which could be quantified. Alternatively, the visual system was used to identify the manner in which minimal concessions to the experiential response could be permitted (i.e., experience-sacrificing adjustments) to improve the favorability of these tradeoffs. With these minimal concessions freeing up an extra degree of adjustability, the detrimental impacts to the technical performance could then be offset. Additionally, these tradeoffs were compared across the different driving contexts. It was determined that if the length of the column was permitted to be dynamically adjustable, the experiential responses would be more favorable across contexts when compared to any sort of fixed compromise between the two contexts. These insights represented a variety of useful design decisions that could be driven by the design space map.
5.1.3. A Method for Personalizing Options of an Established Technology

The third objective was to apply the Embodiment Design Cartography framework to develop and demonstrate modeling, experimental, and design techniques within the context of an *established* technology in order to *personalize* the available options by permitting the user to control their own *psychophysiological design levers*. This objective was met in 0 of this dissertation through the case study of the infotainment controller. In this established technology, there was opportunity to personalize the haptic feedback of the device, however it was unknown as to how these should be efficiently implemented to best address individual differences.

The problem space for the infotainment controller was formulated in the Actor-Abstraction matrix. In this problem, both subjective and physiological responses to interactions with the controller were measured (User-Why), the latter of which was used to extract *latent*, or unspoken, emotions/cognitions through psychophysiological features (User-What). These were used to define individual differences, and provided the user with the opportunity to directly influence design levers. Another aspect of this problem that differed from the former case study was that the context was given by a *digital* environment, i.e., an app (Context-What), rather than a physical one. Finally, the actual product itself, i.e., the controller, had several interactive attributes that could be directly adjusted to alter its tactile haptic feedback (Artifact-What). The experiential responses were then attributed to the combination of the artifact's haptic feedback, the digital app that provided context, and the user's physiological predisposition. In this way, different designers could either adjust the artifact or the controller to alter design outcomes, and the user themselves could also tacitly *personalize* these outcomes.

Two versions of the solution space for the infotainment controller were empirically modeled one that included the individual psychophysiological measures (\mathcal{I}_{Full}), and one that omitted them (\mathcal{I}_{Redu}). Both of these models were characterized through an experimental user study (n = 60), in which users provided both their subjective and physiological responses to various configurations of the detent number and motor torque stiffness of the infotainment controller, while using different applications in the infotainment system. This study was conducted in two phases. The first (n₁ = 40) was used to characterize \mathcal{I}_{Full} and \mathcal{I}_{Redu} . The second (n₂ = 20) was used to apply these models to create new configurations of the infotainment controller and asses the relative performance of the two models on an out-of-sample population. For both models, an *optimal* and a *sub-optimal* design configuration was predicted at each application. The model which was personalized with physiological measures was found to significantly outperform the other on predicting preferences. $\mathcal{I}_{\text{Full}}$ could therefore be employed to inform mass-personalizations to larger populations.

Each personalized solution space was visualized using contour plots, which were overlaid to identify patterns in preferences. It was observed that individual differences dramatically varied over the motor torque stiffness, but not the detent number. This suggested that the motor torque stiffness should be personalized based on individual physiological predisposition, while the detent number should be coupled with the application. This coupling of the detent number and the application could be used to inform different kinds of design decisions that varied by the discipline of the designer. If the designer was adjusting the infotainment controller, they could adjust the detent number to match the application. Alternatively, if the designer was adjusting the digital applications, they could adjust different parameters, such as the number of menu items, to match a fixed detent number. These insights represented the multidisciplinary design decisions that could be driven by the design space map.

5.2. Research Contributions

This research has made important contributions to the field of *engineering design* and *design science*. In meeting each of the specified research objectives, this work has established the practice of design space mapping. This practice has the potential to revolutionize the manner in which engineering designers navigate the plethora of options and externalities that may be considered when translating a concept into the real world. To do so, however, four identified gaps had to be spanned; these included: 1) a structured manner in which to *conceptualize* these varied design problems had to be derived, 2) an approach for mathematically *modeling* the relation between the available design levers and the various design outcomes, while accounting for any externalities, had to be developed, 3) an array of *experimental* techniques and procedures had to be established to account for these broad problem space formations, and support the empirical characterization of the solution space models, and 4) mechanisms for putting all of these prior efforts together had to be created to *operationalize* real-world design decisions from these conceptual, model-based, and experimentally derived insights. To successfully enable the practice of design space mapping,

the work presented in this dissertation has contributed to addressing each of these core research issues, which are each discussed in turn.

5.2.1. Formulating the Problem Space

The first research issue surrounded the manner in which ill-structured design problems that involved the complex phenomenon of rich, embodied interaction could be *formulated* in a structured, yet flexible manner. These problem space formulations required the capability to *variably* support a broad array of different factors and outcomes that may pertain to the design problem at hand. These considerations extend from the concrete design levers to the abstract design outcomes. A mechanism for systematically accounting for relevant considerations across the different actors and abstraction levels was therefore necessary to address this gap. Each chapter in this dissertation addressed different aspects of this issue.

- 1. In Chapter 2, the conceptual aspect of this research issue was addressed through the derivation of the EDC *ontology*, which was externalized by the Actor-Abstraction matrix. By structuring this matrix as a *boundary object*, it was able to both support the problem space formulations of existing design methods—each independently developed—as well provide a basis for which *new* problem space formulations may be tailored for very different design problems. This problem space mapping not only provided a mechanism for more directly contrasting the considerations that were supported between methods, but also highlighted the *flexibility* of the A-A matrix in supporting all of these varied formulations.
- 2. In 0, this conceptual groundwork for formulating the problem space was put into practice within the case study of the *pneumatic steering column*. This design problem involved a typical *technical* engineering design problem, but with an added layer of *experiential* considerations on top. A novel problem space formulation, tailored to this specific case study, was able to be constructed within the A-A matrix. This formulation coupled both technical and experiential design outcomes, to the concrete engineering design levers, in a manner that was unique from any existing design method.
- 3. Alternatively, in 0, the A-A matrix was put into practice for a different case study, this time involving an *infotainment controller*. In this design problem, the novel problem space

formulation centered around the question of how the individual user can influence technological development without expressly communicating their needs. Specifically, both their *subjective* and *physiological* responses to an interaction were considered. This formulation permitted different designers to either adjust the controller or the app to alter design outcomes, but also for the users themselves to tacitly *personalize* these outcomes with their physiological predispositions.

Overall, these different formulations—including both those from existing design methods and those tailored to specific design problems—together serve to illustrate the robustness and adaptability of this conceptual approach for mapping out different problem spaces. This work therefore addressed the research issue by enabling the different factors/outcomes that may be considered in rich, embodied interactions to each be supported as needed.

5.2.2. Modeling the Solution Space

The second research issue involved the mathematical models that were used to relate domains in these problem space formulations—specifically, how they are to be *characterized*, *used*, and *validated*. These *solution space models* must couple the concrete design levers and abstract design outcomes. In accordance with the problem space formulations, they must also include both *technical* models that are analytically characterized, and also *experiential* models that are empirically characterized. The manner in which these models are constructed through embodiment design *analysis*, applied in embodiment design *synthesis*, and validated in embodiment design *evaluation*, were all therefore necessary to develop in order to address this gap. Each chapter in this dissertation addressed different aspects of this issue.

1. In Chapter 2, the conceptual mechanisms for addressing these needs were defined through the EDC *epistemology* and *methodology*. The EDC epistemology specified rules for how data was used for *analysis* or *synthesis* according to direction of transformations on the Actor-Abstraction matrix, as well as how these transformations had to be characterized empirically or analytically according to their source. It also specified the rules for validating models in *evaluation*. The EDC methodology then dictate how to apply these rules through six activities for modeling the solution space, which included parameterizing, descriptive modeling, prescriptive modeling, prototyping, verifying, and validating.

- 2. In 0, these conceptual foundations were then applied to model the solution space of the pneumatic steering column. In this case study, a modeling technique was developed for composing empirical and analytical models that leveraged their *natural functional forms* (i.e., power-law and logarithmic scale) to enable a *linear algebraic*-based exploration of the available options. This technique proved to be an effective means for identifying favorable *tradeoffs* between different outcomes, while informing exactly how to adjust the engineering design levers to navigate said tradeoffs.
- 3. In 0, these conceptual foundations were then differently applied to model the solution space of the infotainment controller. In this case study, a technique was developed for *personalizing* the solution space according to individual's *physiological predispositions* based off of a modified *biocybernetic loop*. With this technique, a validation test proved these individual personalizations to be more accurate than a generic solution space created for the entire population.

Overall, these novel modeling approaches represented sophisticated techniques for relating design levers and design outcomes. This work therefore addressed the research issue through detailing efficient manners for characterizing, applying, and validating these models within the EDC framework.

5.2.3. Developing Experimental Techniques & Procedures

The third research issue was based on the need for specialized experimental techniques and procedures for actually empirically characterizing models (i.e., analysis), generating physicallyinteractive prototypes with these models (i.e., synthesis), and ultimately validating said models (i.e., evaluation). These techniques had to facilitate these processes within *practical resource constraints* of a laboratory setting. Infrastructure was needed to collect and process a wide variety of *different data channels*, often in *real-time*. Similarly, *high-fidelity prototypes* were needed to be rapidly generated with minimal resource use. Each chapter in this dissertation addressed different aspects of this issue.

1. In Chapter 2, the mapping of existing design methods onto the common scale of analysis, synthesis, and evaluation enabled the identification of which processes these existing methods exceed at relative to their peers, and revealed where and how these specific

techniques could be adapted into the EDC methodology. This enabled parts of these existing methods to be *selectively integrated* into the framework, without requiring an single method to be adopted wholesale. In this way, the techniques that were interpreted to be advantages could be leveraged without introducing any perceived limitations associated with the method as a whole. Additionally, a technique for generating physically-interactive prototypes was conceptually posed based off of the *modular* nature imposed by the A-A matrix, which could replicate a *range* of different design configurations across the solution space. This enabled real-time synthesis and validation of new design configurations in experimental studies, which saved valuable resources.

- 2. In 0, an *adaptive experimental design* was developed for a user study (n = 57) that was conducted to empirically model the solution space of the pneumatic steering column. In this experimental design, subsequent trials contained new design configurations that were predicted based on participants prior responses, and generated in *real-time* using an *interaction prototype*. This enabled the model of the solutions space to be both characterized and validated by the same population of users in an efficient manner.
- 3. In 0, a different *adaptive experimental design* was developed for another user study (n = 60), which was conducted to empirically model the solution space of the infotainment controller. Two versions of the solution space model were empirically characterized—one *with* physiological measures, and one *without*. This enabled a statistical test to be performed on how these additional measures improved the model's accuracy. Infrastructure was developed to measure, record, and process these physiological measures in *real-time*. A Machine Learning algorithm was employed to select the relevant physiological measures to be included in this model. Ultimately, the model with these additional physiological measures was found to improve the accuracy of the solution space.

Overall, this array of experimental techniques and procedures allowed for the necessary modeling and design work to feasibly take place within practical resource constraints. This work therefore addressed the research issue through developing this array of sophisticated infrastructure to support each process that these models were used for

5.2.4. Operationalizing Embodiment Design Cartography

The fourth and final research issue regarded actually putting all of these conceptual, modeling, and experimental techniques into practice to enact real-world design decisions. The ultimate aim of Embodiment Design Cartography was to support the translation of conceptual ideas for products into their real, embodied selves. The practice of design space mapping had to therefore be put to the test within these real-world scenarios, through case studies for the embodiment design of actual products. Two types of real-world design challenges were specifically targeted here: 1) how to navigate product *tradeoffs* and 2) how to implement product *personalizations*. Furthermore, methods to promote the *exploration* of these maps—via *visualizations* or otherwise—were needed to help locate innovative, desirable solutions among the available options. Each chapter in this dissertation addressed different aspects of this issue.

- 1. In Chapter 2, Embodiment Design Cartography was employed for an interpretive metaanalysis of the existing design methods. This exercise retroactively mapped each of the existing design methods on to the EDC framework, which made it possible to directly compare them on common grounds. This comparison revealed several useful pieces of information. First, the gaps that were not covered in the Actor-Abstraction matrix suggested potential research gaps, some of which have already been identified and addressed with proposed extensions, while others have not. Additionally, this revealed points of overlap between these methods, which could signal areas in which they may be combined. Alternatively, extensions to one method could be applied to others. This could be beneficial for motivating future research.
- 2. In 0, Embodiment Design Cartography was successfully applied to the case study of the pneumatic steering column. A visualization system using *vectors* and *contour plots* was employed to survey the available options, and to illustrate the effects of adjustments to engineering design levers. With this graphical system in place, an array of information on the tradeoffs between different outcomes were identified for this emerging technology, all with little prior insight or knowledge basis for which to base these insights. It was shown how different value systems—such as a desire to maintain optimal experience, versus a desire to improve technical performance—could each be imparted onto this tool to influence how design levers should be adjusted. Furthermore, it was also shown how to

adjust these design levers for different driving scenarios, and even suggested a *new feature* that would allow for *in-situ adjustability* of these levers for these different occasions. Ultimately, with a map of the available options, the tradeoffs that exist between them can be made clear.

3. In 0, Embodiment Design Cartography was then successfully applied to the case study of the infotainment controller. Again, contour-based visualizations were used to illustrate the available options, but this time *scatter plots* were overlaid to illustrate *individual differences*. This graphical system specifically revealed which dimensions of the haptic feedback offered by device should be *personalized* for each user, and which should instead be coupled with the context (i.e., the app). Compared to the previous case study, in which only *engineering design* insights were identified, this design space map was used to identify *multidisciplinary* design insights; both the designer of the *physical controller*, as well as the designer of the *digital application*, could make measurable adjustments to improve outcomes based off of this information. Ultimately, not all options in the design space are perceived equally by every individual, but these differences may be accurately reflected in personalized maps.

Overall, these case studies revealed the actionable insights for real-world design problems that may be extracted through design space mapping. This work therefore addressed the research issue by operationalizing the framework conceptualization, modeling approach, and experimental techniques of Embodiment Design Cartography for valuable design work.

5.3. Potential Research Impacts

By addressing each of the core research issues in this work, the primary obstacles for design space mapping have been hurdled. The core outcome of this dissertation can be boiled down into its ability to cast a wide net around the broad range of considerations in embodiment design, and to condense all of this information into a *singular representation*. This in and of itself does not necessarily guarantee product improvements [186]. Just as an unprepared adventurer could stumble through the darkness of a cave system and happen upon a treasure, a designer could certainly create a successful product without a formal plan or map. However, having a map for this process does help these decisions to be made in a more informed manner. The framework for constructing these maps—Embodiment Design Cartography—serves to formalize this philosophy

on design space mapping and is designed to provide a *platform* for which a host of modeling, experimental, and design methods may be developed in service of these aims.

"A single representation for all product information has long been an unattained ideal in product development research... Using a single representation does not in itself add any new theoretical capability that could not be achieved, however... the real benefit of the unified representation is the change we hope it will cause in the way this information is perceived... We also believe that a unified representation of the information will facilitate bookkeeping, calculations, and other manipulations."

- Rajah Ramaswamy & Karl Ulrich, Augmenting the House of Quality with Engineering Models, 1993 [186]

This singular representation imparts the designer with more *knowledge* of the design space. While knowledge for knowledge's sake can be motivation of its own, the pragmatic benefit of this knowledge could ultimately extend to both *industrial* and *academic* settings. These potential impacts may be thematically organized across four inter-related areas: 1) how design options may be systematically explored, 2) how product innovations may be driven through different kinds of data, 3) how designers from different disciplines or perspectives may collaborate to better address design problems, and 4) how new design methods may be built off of this framework. These impacts could help to counter some of the preeminent reasons that new product development so often fails, and are detailed in turn.

5.3.1. Systematic Design Space Exploration

The archetype of the 'engineering designer' was initially posed in Chapter 1 as hybrid between an engineer—one who addresses design problems in systematic or quantitative manner, typically through mathematical models with which technical performance may be optimized—and a designer—one who addresses design problems in a less rigid manner, through creative explorations of the available solutions. "Superficially it may seem that rigorous method and creativity are incongruous; however, the reality is that quantitative methods can be used to enhance creativity" [326]. The engineering designer therefore seeks to engage with the design process through a combination of these of these drives—to *systematically explore* the options in the design space.

5.3.1.1. Systematic Problem Space Exploration

One of the root causes of failure in new product development can be attributed to a fundamental misunderstanding of the problem—misunderstanding the underlying behavioral science of the user, as well as the factors that influence their experiential responses [333]. To systematically explore a *problem space*, a structured, deliberate examination of what considerations are understood to define it, may be undertaken within the Embodiment Design Cartography framework. Without EDC, there are a multitude of decisions that are baked-in to the selection of an off-the-shelf design method, including what factors/outcomes are considered, how data should be collected, etc.—all the aspects that comprise the conceptual 'wrappers' of these methods. These decisions for how the problem will be understood are therefore implicitly aggregated into this one selection, ignoring any sort of nuance or creative thinking on this manner.

In contrast, the construction of the design space map forces *intentional consideration* of the problem space, which alone may not guarantee a complete understanding, but does at least incentivize the engineering designer to think more deeply about it than they would if they had used an existing design method. As demonstrated in the two case studies, each decision relating to what factors/outcomes are considered, how data is collected, how models are characterized, etc. are all *individually* determined for the problem at hand. Just as in a text-based adventure, each decision or piece of information requires *deliberate* action to enact or extract; the adventurer does not just subconsciously take in their surroundings, they must be intentionally prompted to 'turn on the lantern' to make such observations. The systematic exploration of the design problem may therefore improve the likelihood that the problem is truly understood through the forced intentionality that is imparted by this *flexible problem space formulation*.

5.3.1.2. Systematic Solution Space Exploration

A systematic exploration of the *solution space* involves using sophisticated tools, protocols, and methods, i.e., the Embodiment Design Cartography framework, to not just examine options, but to do so in a way that is somewhat less structured or more creative compared to what may be done in the language of, say, optimization—all while still remaining purpose driven. To 'explore' the solution space is to look around at the many different design configurations that are available, contrast them on a variety of different outcomes before making any sort of value-based downselections (e.g., setting weights of an optimization model), and ultimately discovering new

solutions that may not be obviously selected otherwise. Explorations can allow the engineering designer to look at options without necessarily having a specific solution in mind. For instance, in the case of the pneumatic steering column, the design space map used to compare design configurations in terms of two different types of outcomes (i.e., technical and experiential) to favorably balance the two, the tradeoff of which was previously unknown. Alternatively, in the case of the infotainment controller, the design space map used to compare how individual preference differed—which was again previously unknown to the designer—and ultimately to tailor the solution on both individual and contextual levels.

However, while this unrestricted exploration can certainly uncover promising solutions, it is not the industry norm. The reason for this lies in the practical resource constraints of new product development, e.g., time, money, etc. Exploration in embodiment design implies the creation of many different design configurations, i.e., rapidly *iterating* on the design solution; these iterations can be extremely resource intensive, as embodiment design synthesis is the longest stage in the development cycle (followed only by embodiment design *evaluation*) [542]. Minimizing the length of these iterations is therefore another key issue that industry faces in new product development [326]. The beauty of the EDC framework—of documenting the path to each alternative design configuration that is achievable-is that the iterations in these two case studies were made to be extremely efficient with the blueprint provided by the design space map. Unlike the designer who accidently stumbles into a successful product, the engineering designer who systematically maps out this space could more easily retrace their steps and make calculated changes to their decision-making that improve their solution. Not only does the engineering designer prospectively know exactly what alternative outcomes are possible within the design space, but they also know exactly how to manipulate the available design levers to achieve them. They could then use techniques developed within the EDC framework to immediately generate interaction prototypes for these new iterations, thus enabling these iterations to occur extremely quickly (i.e., in real-time). While there is an up-front cost to constructing this map (e.g., running user studies to characterize empirical models, building interaction prototypes, etc.) these ultimately pale in comparison to the potential losses that may be realized in product failures [333], which otherwise remain to be an extremely real and prevalent proposition [30-32]. This seemingly superfluous proposition of systematically exploring design options may therefore pose an astute business case with this robust solution space model and efficient experimental techniques in hand.

5.3.2. Data-Driven Product Innovations

While understanding the design process itself can be critical, the success of new product development is ultimately based off of the actual *product innovations* that result from said process. Just as in the 'Research Through Design' philosophy taken in the approach to this work, value is generated through the products that are created, just as much as it is through methodological insights. The design space map condenses a broad range of considerations that may be made throughout this process into a singular representation. The results of the systematic exportations that may be made with this singular representation—the products themselves—reflect actionable innovations that are driven by the inclusion of *measurable data* from a wide variety of *different sources* into the solution space model in this work. The suite of modeling, experimental, and design methods developed in the Embodiment Design Cartography framework can therefore help to imbue product decisions with multiple layers of information.

As demonstrated, a wide variety of different types of data may be supported within the EDC framework. Design outcomes may include anything from analytically derived technical performance, to empirically measured experiential response-which itself can be measured through surveys, observations (e.g., timers), and even through sensors. Within the case studies presented in this work alone, experiential responses were collected through self-reports, muscular activity, cardiovascular activity, and electrodermal activity. Because all of these design outcomes were measured *quantitatively* (as opposed to, say, *qualitative* interviews), they could be simply combined to inform measurable decisions about the products. Configurations for the pneumatic steering column, for instance, were simultaneously compared on both a technical and experiential scale; configurations for the infotainment controller were compared on a purely experiential level, but these comparisons were based off of both subjective and physiological measures. In industry, it is not uncommon for new product development to be guided by market research rather than technological or experiential R&D, which can limit the scope of innovation, i.e., "[i]nnovation has become entirely focused on how best to deliver the current product, rather than how best to deliver the benefit consumers seek from it" [333]. Alternatively, the innovations made with the EDC framework in this dissertation were entirely predicated on delivering the best combination of benefits, i.e., positive design outcomes, across all of these different channels.

For instance, a variety of different innovations were able to be drawn from the case studies conducted in this work. The two products that were mapped in these studies differed from one another in almost every discernable manner, except for the fact that they both provided rich, embodied interactions. The pneumatic steering column, for instance, was an *emerging* technology with very little prior insight available as to what types of interactions would even be desirable, let alone what innovations may lead to its improvement. On the other hand, the infotainment controller was an established technology that was already in commercial use, but presented an opportunity for future innovation through personalization. In both cases, benefit-centric innovations were identified, whether they be *incremental*¹³ or 'me-too'-style innovations [326] such as improving the affordability of the pneumatic steering column while maintaining optimal experience—or even innovations on a more breakthrough14 level [326]—such as identifying opportunities for an in-situ adjustability feature in the pneumatic steering column, or determining how to implement mass-personalization in the infotainment controller. Both types of innovations are valuable in their own right. In each of these case studies, this data-driven approach was also able to validate these innovations through the statistically significant impacts that adjustments had on these different outcomes.

Conceptually, these outcome-based—or *benefit-centric*—innovations are promoted in this format due to the fact that all of these different data types are considered to hold equal design utility within the EDC framework. The act of ontologically placing the three actors (i.e., the artifact, the user, and the context) onto equal levels without imposing a hierarchical structure, inherently places the technical and experiential onto equal footing. The interest and appreciation of the importance of the experiential has been growing across research fields [17,111]. In industry, however, this is not necessarily the case. In fact, it is much more common for technical data to be institutionally overvalued when compared to experiential data—which is therefore underutilized [333]—even if this hierarchy is not necessarily reflected in consumers.

¹³ **Incremental innovation**: Evolutionary improvement to an existing product; also known as a 'me-too' innovation.

¹⁴ Breakthrough innovation: Significant departure from an existing product that is based on new technology.

"[A] severe imbalance arises between the resources for behavioural [sic] and for technological research. A twentyfold bigger annual research budget for technology compared to behavioural science would not be unusual. No wonder that the really big innovations occur in the product field and never occur in the consumer field. Yet these product-technological innovations often lead to unsuccessful products because consumerrelevant aspects are overlooked or simply never sufficiently addressed. When comparing the cost-effectiveness of technological to behavioural research, the latter is likely the more cost-effective of the two by far. The costs of behavioural studies are relatively modest, and they give valuable information...We refer to them here as the 'behavioural sciences', but one could also refer to them as 'experiential sciences' as they aim to understand—and predict—the subjective experience of consumers"

- Garmt Dijksterhuis, New product failure: Five potential sources discussed, 2016 [333]

The underlying conceptualization of the EDC framework could therefore promote the experiential sciences to a higher standing than it may be typically allotted in current practices. There is no prohibitively large cost associated with this promotion. Rather, it is simply countering existing perceptions of the artificial hierarchies that exist between these fields. The resulting product innovations may therefore posed the be better informed by adhering a more 'maximal use' of the product-relevant information that may be provided by a multitude of disciplines [333].

5.3.3. Multidisciplinary Collaboration

By capturing data that tends to fall under different disciplines within this singular representation, the Embodiment Design Cartography framework could also promote *multidisciplinary collaboration*. This collaboration, however, is not just limited to the data that is used for decision-making, but could more broadly describe the potential of this framework to give other disciplines—other types of designers—a metaphorical seat at the table in the design process. Even more so than most endeavors, design is a truly multidisciplinary and collaborative process. This involves disciplines that fall on both the technical and experiential ends of the spectrum.

"There are many disciplines that design and that participate in the design process: engineers, industrial designers, architects, software creators, anthropologists, among others. The science part is the systematic study of the structure and behavior of the world. On one hand, the world in this case is synthetic in that it is the world created by people. On the other, the world is natural in that we study how people design. This latter aspect requires participants with knowledge of the social sciences such as cognitive and social psychology, anthropology, and others."

- Jonathan Cagan, Design Science: Why, What and How, 2015 (contributing essay) [342]

However, barriers to multidisciplinary collaboration are quite prevalent. Different disciplines have distinct vocabularies and conceptual maps of the design process, which can make communication difficult. Imposed hierarchies, such as the previously noted asymmetry between technical and experiential sciences (i.e., 'psychophobia' [333]), can present organizational and social barriers to this collaboration. Even the outdated and somewhat derogatory descriptor of 'soft' sciences for those disciplines that *do* address the experiential (i.e., psychology, physiology, etc.) spuriously challenges the rigor of these disciplines in comparison to technical engineering; experiential sciences can, in fact, oftentimes be the 'harder' science [333]. This prevailing attitude implicitly positions these disciplines as somehow less important, even if it is oftentimes. So when these different disciplines are brought together, the nature of their collaboration can be ambiguous or misunderstood.

The EDC framework may be impactful in this regard for several reasons. First, its construction as a *boundary object* helps break down the first obstacle—the communication barrier. By simply reframing the verbiage that is used by one degree of generality, the Actor-Abstraction matrix allows for discipline-specific terminologies (i.e., jargon) to be classified in uniform buckets that are more simply understood (e.g., the Artifact-What). This was illustrated through the mapping of existing design methods, each stemming from different disciplines, onto this uniform ontology. Beyond this, the A-A matrix may again places each actor onto equal levels, in which the technical sciences are centered around the artifact, and the experiential sciences are centered around the user; the context is more of a hybrid between the two. Within the problem spaces that are formulated in this ontology, designers from these different disciplines may be clearly assigned to the role of adjusting their relevant design levers, à la the different design levers assigned in the infotainment controller case study. This could then facilitate the communication between disciplines by structuring the discussion around the clear debate who should adjust their design levers, in which the outcomes of doing so are objectively measurable and evident to all parties. Building this platform for facilitating these conversations and collaborations is key for successful, innovative design, and represents a fundamental building block for ultimately working towards addressing the larger, wicked problems in design.

5.3.4. Methodological Research & Development

All of these interrelated impacts together culminate in the preeminent takeaway of this work the Embodiment Design Cartography framework may be used as a platform for creating new, tailored, multidisciplinary design methods. The development of design methods is the foundational raisons d'être of both engineering design research [163,366] and design science research [543]. The EDC framework could essentially serve as a blueprint for how design methods are researched, developed, and even taught in academic settings.

Four established design methods from different disciplines were mapped out in this framework—they were each laid out within the Actor-Abstraction matrix and deconstructed according to the processes of embodiment design. From this perspective, it becomes clear just how simplistic many of these decades-old design methods really are. The extensive bodies of research surrounding each of these methods—which have, of course, been instrumental for extending and refining them to the degree that they are today—may arguably reach a point in which they are only doing designers a disservice by further pigeonholing them into fixed structures that may not best suit their individual needs. While there certainly may be use cases for simpler, easily plugin-able design methods, it is ultimately in the best interest of design research and industry alike to continuously improve their sophistication. The EDC framework is not positioned to be a peer to these existing design methods, but rather as a higher-level tool for classifying, comparing, and creating new ones. While it previously may not have been a feasible ask to create a new design method tailored for each new product development cycle, the case studies presented in this work show that, with the conceptual foundation supplied by the EDC framework, it is now certainly within the realm of possibility. Just from these two case studies alone—and by how much they

differed from one another—it is apparent that there is a world of new design methods that may be created within this framework.

In fact, that this is not already the norm seems a deep injustice to the field as a whole. Why *should* designers—the creative problem solvers of the world—be limited to such ready-made methods? This research perspective envisages a world in which all embodiment design work starts with a framework such as this. Through a systematic process, a tailored design method is developed, in which the relevant considerations of the problem are intentionally determined, and mapped out with sophisticated modeling and experimental techniques. These mappings then enable an unrestricted exploration of the possible solutions, which are each assessed by a wide variety of different outcomes or benefits that they may provide. A multidisciplinary cohort of designers then adjusts the various design levers to achieve their consensus combination. Ultimately, this leads to improved innovations and an increased likelihood for product success. While this may still be but an ideal to stive for, the framework for Embodiment Design Cartography takes those critical first steps in this direction.

5.4. Future Directions

When discussing a platform for building new design methods and spring-boarding new design research, it is useful to ruminate on future directions that this could take. This is especially true for directions that help address any limitations of the work that has been done so far. There are two separate tracks that may be discussed here: 1) developing new design methods within the existing EDC framework, and 2) further developing the EDC framework itself.

5.4.1. New Method Development within the EDC Framework

On the former track, there is essentially no known limit on the permutations of different design methods that may be developed within this framework. To establish these limits, it is not only important for *successful* applications of the framework be shared, but also for critical for assessments of its *failures* (i.e., where they occurred and why) to be published and disseminated to the research community [163]. This will simply require trial and error to explore; this dissertation does not claim omniscience in this respect. The timescale of methodological development can be quite slow. The 'established' design methods that were reviewed and mapped have each reached this status after decades of development. However, seminal works by the likes

of Gero (FBS) [13], Akao (QFD) [188], Nagamachi (KE) [232], Luce and Tukey (CA) [270] have each shown how strong conceptual foundations can lead to extensive future research. This dissertation can only strive for the same. To further this development, new design problems, such as the ones presented in these case studies, must be continuously mapped within the EDC framework. Over time, a slew of new methodological innovations could be built on this groundwork. A better picture of exactly which problems *don't* work in the current format may emerge-which types of problems don't map well to the ontology, which require new modeling techniques, what new practicality constraints may emerge, etc.--and updates or extensions to the framework itself may be proposed to alleviate these issues. Overall, the framework must simply continue to be used for it to continue to evolve. However, the long-term success of this framework is predicated on snowballing adoption rates, which faces obstacles such as the 'user friendliness' and the 'cost' of employing this approach [163]. While the cost of overcoming these is arguably a sound investment in the scheme of new product development, getting this ball rolling may still experience initial resistance. To overcome these obstacles, it is critical that the value proposition of the paradigm shift that is promoted by this framework is continued to be effectively communicated to potential adopters [163].

5.4.2. Further Developments of the EDC Framework

In regard to the latter track—developing the EDC framework itself—this work can perhaps offer more immediate direction. This framework captures a *slice* of the design process; one that covers embodiment design of a rich, embodied interaction, which specifies the actors and abstraction levels that are relevant. The larger process of design, however, extends beyond this 'slice,' both before it and afterwards. The simplest way to define this 'slice'—and, therefore, to identify areas in which to extend it—is through the Actor-Abstraction matrix itself. This matrix could be considered as a *modular component* that represents this 'slice,' which can then leverage the same A-A schema to identify directions for which it may be extended. For instance, the most obvious areas for extension would be in the two cells of this matrix that were omitted in this work—the *Context-How* and the *User-How*. These domains were omitted as they do not typically pertain to the designer of a given product, but could certainly capture influential decisions that are made, i.e., how the context and user were shaped to be the way that they are.

As an example, the former—the Context-How—could involve disciplines such as the *city planners* that design the roads in the case of the pneumatic steering column; clearly, this domain could be quite broad. The User-How, on the other hand, could involve the *marketing* for a product, i.e., how the user was primed to have the expectations or predispositions that they bring to the interaction (i.e., the User-What). This matrix could also be extended beyond the three abstraction levels defined here. For instance, the abstraction level below the Artifact-How could relate to the process variables for *manufacturing* the components of the artifact. As another example, the abstraction level above the User-Why could describe their purchase intention or *demand* for a product. The same goes for different actors; additional rows could potentially be added if other actors were deemed to be relevant in the future. The limits for how far this could be extended are not presently clear. Ultimately, this framework aims to promote multidisciplinary collaboration. These prospective extensions could continue in this stead by bringing in the business, manufacturing, marketing, and even architectural considerations to the design process. Fortuitously, the modular structure of the EDC framework's ontology is primed for such extensions.

5.5. Closing Remarks

Design is an ill-structured problem that has enumerable formulations and even more solutions. This process is something that is simultaneously so prevalent in our daily lives that we are constantly participating in it, but also something that is so important that innovations can change the world and failures can have dire consequences. This work establishes a new paradigm for a process that may be classically conceived as a series of linear decisions—analogous to a first-person perspective of venturing through passageways in a dark cave. This new paradigm shifts this perspective of this process to an overhead viewpoint—a *map* of this dark cave—in which all of the possible options for how to this journey could unfold may be simultaneously viewed and compared. With a design space map, design options may be rigorously and holistically assessed not only in terms of the product itself, but also in regard to the person who interacts with it, and the place or environment that situates their interaction. This map may then be used as a collaborative, multidisciplinary tool for making more informed design innovations, and structuring new methodological research and development.

There are a variety of existing design methods for constructing different types of design space maps, however each serves a fixed purpose. Alone, none have the flexibility to capture all of the different considerations that may be relevant for embodying a physically-interactive product in the real world. Rather than using these ready-made methods, this dissertation has provided the conceptual basis, modeling tools, and experimental techniques for empowering designers to create their own design space maps, which may be tailored to the problem at hand and operationalized uncover innovative solutions. The resulting knowledge base of this work has served to lay the groundwork for establishing the cartographic practice of *design space mapping*. Although much progress has been made, there is still a long path ahead of for further developing this framework, much of which is uncharted. However, there is optimism that the incentive structures for motivating this future work have been laid bare throughout this chapter. Even in the simplest terms of the 'adventurer' and the 'dark cave,' the value for maps—and the cartographers who create them—are ingrained in our world. For a designer who can serve in this cartographic role, the potential product successes are boundless—as one who can create their own map is never quite lost.

Bibliography

- [1] Hadfield, C., 2013, An Astronaut's Guide to Life on Earth, Random House Canada.
- [2] Jerz, D. G., 2007, "Somewhere Nearby Is Colossal Cave: Examining Will Crowther's Original 'Adventure' in Code and in Kentucky," Digit. Humanit. Q., 1(2).
- [3] Rao, V., Kim, E., Kwon, J., Agogino, A. M., and Goucher-Lambert, K., 2020, "Framing and Tracing Human-Centered Design Teams' Method Selection: An Examination of Decision-Making Strategies," J. Mech. Des., 143(3).
- [4] Rahman, M. H., Xie, C., and Sha, Z., 2021, "Predicting Sequential Design Decisions Using the Function-Behavior-Structure Design Process Model and Recurrent Neural Networks," J. Mech. Des., **143**(8).
- [5] Krishnan, V., and Ulrich, K. T., 2001, "Product Development Decisions: A Review of the Literature," Manag. Sci., 47(1), pp. 1–21.
- [6] Raina, A., McComb, C., and Cagan, J., 2018, "Design Strategy Transfer in Cognitively-Inspired Agents," American Society of Mechanical Engineers Digital Collection.
- [7] McComb, C., Cagan, J., and Kotovsky, K., 2017, "Capturing Human Sequence-Learning Abilities in Configuration Design Tasks Through Markov Chains," J. Mech. Des., 139(9).
- [8] McComb, C., Cagan, J., and Kotovsky, K., 2017, "Mining Process Heuristics From Designer Action Data via Hidden Markov Models," J. Mech. Des., 139(11).
- [9] Raina, A., Cagan, J., and McComb, C., 2019, "Transferring Design Strategies From Human to Computer and Across Design Problems," J. Mech. Des., **141**(11).
- [10] Yannou, B., Cluzel, F., and Lamé, G., 2018, "Adapting the FBS Model of Designing for Usage-Driven Innovation Processes," American Society of Mechanical Engineers Digital Collection.
- [11] Gero, J. S., Jiang, H., and Williams, C. B., 2013, "Design Cognition Differences When Using Unstructured, Partially Structured, and Structured Concept Generation Creativity Techniques," Int. J. Des. Creat. Innov., 1(4), pp. 196–214.
- [12] Cross, N., 2021, Engineering Design Methods: Strategies for Product Design, John Wiley & Sons.
- [13] Gero, J. S., 1990, "Design Prototypes: A Knowledge Representation Schema for Design," AI Mag., 11(4), pp. 26–26.
- [14] Schmitt, B., 1999, "Experiential Marketing," J. Mark. Manag., 15(1–3), pp. 53–67.
- [15] Gustafsson, A., Herrmann, A., and Huber, F., 2013, Conjoint Measurement: Methods and Applications, Springer Science & Business Media.
- [16] Agarwal, J., DeSarbo, W. S., Malhotra, N. K., and Rao, V. R., 2015, "An Interdisciplinary Review of Research in Conjoint Analysis: Recent Developments and Directions for Future Research," Cust. Needs Solut., 2(1), pp. 19–40.
- [17] Kang, X., Yang, M., Wu, Y., and Ni, B., 2018, "Integrating Evaluation Grid Method and Fuzzy Quality Function Deployment to New Product Development," Math. Probl. Eng., 2018, p. e2451470.
- [18] Liu, Y., 2003, "Engineering Aesthetics and Aesthetic Ergonomics: Theoretical Foundations and a Dual-Process Research Methodology," Ergonomics, 46(13–14), pp. 1273–1292.

- [19] Pahl, G., Beitz, W., Feldhusen, J., and Grote, K.-H., 2014, *Engineering Design: A Systematic Approach*, Springer London.
- [20] Chakrabarti, A., Bligh, T. P., and Holden, T., 1992, "Towards a Decision-Support Framework for the Embodiment Phase of Mechanical Design," Artif. Intell. Eng., 7(1), pp. 21–36.
- [21] Tharchen, T., Garud, R., and Henn, R. L., 2020, "Design as an Interactive Boundary Object," J. Organ. Des., 9(1), p. 21.
- [22] Papalambros, P. Y., and Wilde, D. J., 2000, *Principles of Optimal Design: Modeling and Computation*, Cambridge University Press.
- [23] Papalambros, P. Y., 1995, "Optimal Design of Mechanical Engineering Systems," J. Vib. Acoust., 117(B), pp. 55–62.
- [24] Tsai, L.-W., 2000, Mechanism Design: Enumeration of Kinematic Structures According to Function, CRC Press.
- [25] Ahmad, A., Andersson, K., and Sellgren, U., 2015, "An Optimization Approach Toward a Robust Design of Six Degrees of Freedom Haptic Devices," J. Mech. Des., 137(4).
- [26] Zimmerman, J., Forlizzi, J., and Evenson, S., 2007, "Research through Design as a Method for Interaction Design Research in HCI," *Proceedings of the SIGCHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*, Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, pp. 493–502.
- [27] Bayazit, N., 2004, "Investigating Design: A Review of Forty Years of Design Research," Des. Issues, 20(1), pp. 16–29.
- [28] Michalek, J. J., Feinberg, F. M., and Papalambros, P. Y., 2005, "Linking Marketing and Engineering Product Design Decisions via Analytical Target Cascading*," J. Prod. Innov. Manag., 22(1), pp. 42–62.
- [29] Johannesson, P., and Perjons, E., 2021, An Introduction to Design Science, Springer International Publishing.
- [30] Nijssen, E. J., and Frambach, R. T., 2000, "Determinants of the Adoption of New Product Development Tools by Industrial Firms," Ind. Mark. Manag., 29(2), pp. 121–131.
- [31] Nielsen, 2014, Breakthrough Innovation Report (European Edition), Nielsen.
- [32] Cooper, R. G., Edgett, S. J., and Kleinschmidt, E. J., 2002, "Improving New Product Development Performance and Practices," Benchmarking Study Am. Product. Qual. Cent.
- [33] Helander, M. G., and Lin, L., 2002, "Axiomatc Design in Ergonomics and an Extension of the Information Axiom," J. Eng. Des., 13(4), pp. 321–339.
- [34] Tovares, N., Boatwright, P., and Cagan, J., 2014, "Experiential Conjoint Analysis: An Experience-Based Method for Eliciting, Capturing, and Modeling Consumer Preference," J. Mech. Des., **136**(101404).
- [35] Gero, J. S., and Kannengiesser, U., 2004, "The Situated Function–Behaviour–Structure Framework," Des. Stud., 25(4), pp. 373–391.
- [36] Shergadwala, M., Kannan, K. N., and Panchal, J. H., 2016, "Understanding the Impact of Expertise on Design Outcome: An Approach Based on Concept Inventories and Item Response Theory," American Society of Mechanical Engineers Digital Collection.
- [37] Panchal, J. H., Sha, Z., and Kannan, K. N., 2017, "Understanding Design Decisions Under Competition Using Games With Information Acquisition and a Behavioral Experiment," J. Mech. Des., 139(9).
- [38] Abbas, A. E., and Cadenbach, A. H., 2018, "On the Use of Utility Theory in Engineering Design," IEEE Syst. J., 12(2), pp. 1129–1138.
- [39] Saaty, T. L., 2008, "Decision Making with the Analytic Hierarchy Process," Int. J. Serv. Sci., 1(1), pp. 83–98.
- [40] Nellippallil, A. B., Rangaraj, V., Gautham, B. P., Singh, A. K., Allen, J. K., and Mistree, F., 2018, "An Inverse, Decision-Based Design Method for Integrated Design Exploration of Materials, Products, and Manufacturing Processes," J. Mech. Des., 140(11).

- [41] Nellippallil, A. B., Mohan, P., Allen, J. K., and Mistree, F., 2020, "An Inverse, Decision-Based Design Method for Robust Concept Exploration," J. Mech. Des., 142(8).
- [42] Shergadwala, M., Bilionis, I., Kannan, K. N., and Panchal, J. H., 2018, "Quantifying the Impact of Domain Knowledge and Problem Framing on Sequential Decisions in Engineering Design," J. Mech. Des., 140(10).
- [43] Dourish, P., 2001, "Where the Action Is: The Foundations of Embodied Interaction," p. 256.
- [44] Frens, J., 2006, "Designing for Rich Interaction : Integrating Form, Interaction, and Function: Conference; 3rd Symposium of Design Research; 2006-11-17; 2006-11-18," Swiss Design Network.
- [45] Gibson, J. J., 2014, The Ecological Approach to Visual Perception: Classic Edition, Psychology Press, New York.
- [46] Norman, D., 2013, The Design of Everyday Things: Revised and Expanded Edition, Basic Books.
- [47] Hornecker, E., 2011, "The Role of Physicality in Tangible and Embodied Interactions," Interactions, 18(2), pp. 19–23.
- [48] Van Campenhout, L., Frens, J., Overbeeke, K., Standaert, A., and Peremans, H., 2013, "Physical Interaction in a Dematerialized World," Int. J. Des.-Taipei 2007 Currens, 7(1), pp. 1–18.
- [49] Verbeek, P.-P., 2005, *What Things Do: Philosophical Reflections on Technology, Agency, and Design*, Penn State Press.
- [50] Victor, B., 2011, "A Brief Rant on the Future of Interaction Design."
- [51] Van Campenhout, L., Frens, J., Hummels, C., Standaert, A., and Peremans, H., 2019, "The Enriching Limitations of the Physical World," Pers. Ubiquitous Comput., 23(1), pp. 81–98.
- [52] Van House, N. A., 2011, "Personal Photography, Digital Technologies and the Uses of the Visual," Vis. Stud., 26(2), pp. 125–134.
- [53] Curtis, V. P., 2011, "Photographic Memory : The Album in the Age of Photography."
- [54] Tenopir, C., King, D. W., Edwards, S., and Wu, L., 2009, "Electronic Journals and Changes in Scholarly Article Seeking and Reading Patterns," Aslib Proc., 61(1), pp. 5–32.
- [55] Hillesund, T., 2010, "Digital Reading Spaces: How Expert Readers Handle Books, the Web and Electronic Paper," First Monday.
- [56] Gupta, A., Lin, B. R., Ji, S., Patel, A., and Vogel, D., 2020, "Replicate and Reuse: Tangible Interaction Design for Digitally-Augmented Physical Media Objects," *Proceedings of the 2020 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*, Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, pp. 1– 12.
- [57] Carbon, C.-C., and Jakesch, M., 2013, "A Model for Haptic Aesthetic Processing and Its Implications for Design," Proc. IEEE, 101(9), pp. 2123–2133.
- [58] Mumford, R., 2019, "Intro to the World of Mechanical Keyboards," Bulb Digit.
- [59] Rambo, D., 2021, "Building, Coding, Typing," Comput. Cult., (8).
- [60] Ishii, H., and Ullmer, B., 1997, "Tangible Bits: Towards Seamless Interfaces between People, Bits and Atoms," pp. 234–241.
- [61] Adams, D., 1980, The Hitchhiker's Guide to the Galaxy, Harmony Books.
- [62] Gaffary, Y., and Lécuyer, A., 2018, "The Use of Haptic and Tactile Information in the Car to Improve Driving Safety: A Review of Current Technologies," Front. ICT, 5.
- [63] Fukumoto, M., and Sugimura, T., 2001, "Active Click: Tactile Feedback for Touch Panels," CHI '01 Extended Abstracts on Human Factors in Computing Systems, Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, pp. 121–122.

- [64] Hoggan, E., Brewster, S. A., and Johnston, J., 2008, "Investigating the Effectiveness of Tactile Feedback for Mobile Touchscreens," *Proceedings of the SIGCHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*, Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, pp. 1573–1582.
- [65] Altinsoy, M. E., and Merchel, S., 2009, "Audiotactile Feedback Design for Touch Screens," *Haptic and Audio Interaction Design*, M.E. Altinsoy, U. Jekosch, and S. Brewster, eds., Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, pp. 136–144.
- [66] Tan, J., Ge, Y., Sun, X., Zhang, Y., and Liu, Y., 2019, "User Experience of Tactile Feedback on a Smartphone: Effects of Vibration Intensity, Times and Interval," *Cross-Cultural Design. Methods, Tools and User Experience*, P.-L.P. Rau, ed., Springer International Publishing, Cham, pp. 397–406.
- [67] Forsyth, B. A. C., and Maclean, K. E., 2006, "Predictive Haptic Guidance: Intelligent User Assistance for the Control of Dynamic Tasks," IEEE Trans. Vis. Comput. Graph., **12**(1), pp. 103–113.
- [68] Liu, A., and Chang, S., 1995, "Force Feedback in a Stationary Driving Simulator," 1995 IEEE International Conference on Systems, Man and Cybernetics. Intelligent Systems for the 21st Century, pp. 1711–1716 vol.2.
- [69] Switkes, J. P., Rossetter, E. J., Coe, I. A., and Gerdes, J. C., 2005, "Handwheel Force Feedback for Lanekeeping Assistance: Combined Dynamics and Stability," J. Dyn. Syst. Meas. Control, 128(3), pp. 532– 542.
- [70] Jacinto Villegas, J., Satler, M., Filippeschi, A., Bergamasco, M., Ragaglia, M., Argiolas, A., Niccolini, M., and Avizzano, C., 2017, "A Novel Wearable Haptic Controller for Teleoperating Robotic Platforms," IEEE Robot. Autom. Lett., PP, pp. 1–1.
- [71] C S, M., Sairam, P. S., Veeramalla, V., Kumar, A., and Gupta, M. K., 2020, "Design and Analysis of New Haptic Joysticks for Enhancing Operational Skills in Excavator Control," J. Mech. Des., **142**(12).
- [72] Bethea, B. T., Okamura, A. M., Kitagawa, M., Fitton, T. P., Cattaneo, S. M., Gott, V. L., Baumgartner, W. A., and Yuh, D. D., 2004, "Application of Haptic Feedback to Robotic Surgery," J. Laparoendosc. Adv. Surg. Tech., 14(3), pp. 191–195.
- [73] Okamura, A. M., 2004, "Methods for Haptic Feedback in Teleoperated Robot-assisted Surgery," Ind. Robot Int. J., 31(6), pp. 499–508.
- [74] van der Meijden, O. A. J., and Schijven, M. P., 2009, "The Value of Haptic Feedback in Conventional and Robot-Assisted Minimal Invasive Surgery and Virtual Reality Training: A Current Review," Surg. Endosc., 23(6), pp. 1180–1190.
- [75] Liang, M., Li, Y., Weber, T., and Hussmann, H., 2021, "Tangible Interaction for Children's Creative Learning: A Review," *Creativity and Cognition*, Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, pp. 1–14.
- [76] O'Malley, C., and Stanton Fraser, D., 2004, "Literature Review in Learning with Tangible Technologies," Lit. Rev. Learn. Tangible Technol.
- [77] Kremer, S., Schlimm, A., and Lindemann, U., 2017, "The ExodUX Framework: Supporting Comprehensive User Experience Design," 2017 Portland International Conference on Management of Engineering and Technology (PICMET), IEEE, Portland, OR, pp. 1–10.
- [78] Peck, J., and Shu, S. B., 2009, "The Effect of Mere Touch on Perceived Ownership," J. Consum. Res., 36(3), pp. 434–447.
- [79] Krishna, A., 2012, "An Integrative Review of Sensory Marketing: Engaging the Senses to Affect Perception, Judgment and Behavior," J. Consum. Psychol., **22**(3), pp. 332–351.
- [80] Grohmann, B., Spangenberg, E. R., and Sprott, D. E., 2007, "The Influence of Tactile Input on the Evaluation of Retail Product Offerings," J. Retail., 83(2), pp. 237–245.
- [81] Puccinelli, N. M., Goodstein, R. C., Grewal, D., Price, R., Raghubir, P., and Stewart, D., 2009, "Customer Experience Management in Retailing: Understanding the Buying Process," J. Retail., 85(1), pp. 15–30.

- [82] Angelini, L., Mugellini, E., Abou Khaled, O., and Couture, N., 2018, "Internet of Tangible Things (IoTT): Challenges and Opportunities for Tangible Interaction with IoT," Informatics, 5(1), p. 7.
- [83] Bakker, S., and Niemantsverdriet, K., 2016, "The Interaction-Attention Continuum: Considering Various Levels of Human Attention in Interaction Design," Int. J. Des., **10**(2), p. n/a.
- [84] Desmet, P., and Hekkert, P., 2007, "Framework of Product Experience," p. 11.
- [85] Locher, P., Overbeeke, K., and Wensveen, S., 2010, "Aesthetic Interaction: A Framework," Des. Issues, 26(2), pp. 70–79.
- [86] Park, J., Han, S. H., Kim, H. K., Oh, S., and Moon, H., 2013, "Modeling User Experience: A Case Study on a Mobile Device," Int. J. Ind. Ergon., 43(2), pp. 187–196.
- [87] Patrício, L., Fisk, R. P., and Falcão e Cunha, J., 2008, "Designing Multi-Interface Service Experiences: The Service Experience Blueprint," J. Serv. Res., 10(4), pp. 318–334.
- [88] Lim, Y., Donaldson, J., Jung, H., Kunz, B., Royer, D., Ramalingam, S., Thirumaran, S., and Stolterman, E., 2008, "Emotional Experience and Interaction Design," *Affect and Emotion in Human-Computer Interaction: From Theory to Applications*, C. Peter, and R. Beale, eds., Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, pp. 116–129.
- [89] Mahlke, S., 2005, "Understanding Users' Experience of Interaction," Proc. 2005 Annu. Conf. Eur. Assoc. Cogn. Ergon.
- [90] Zarour, M., 2017, "User Experience Aspects and Dimensions: Systematic Literature Review," Int. J. Knowl. Eng., pp. 52–59.
- [91] Zarour, M., and Alharbi, M., 2017, "User Experience Framework That Combines Aspects, Dimensions, and Measurement Methods," Cogent Eng., 4(1), p. 1421006.
- [92] von Saucken, C., Michailidou, I., and Lindemann, U., 2013, "How to Design Experiences: Macro UX versus Micro UX Approach," *Design, User Experience, and Usability. Web, Mobile, and Product Design*, A. Marcus, ed., Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, pp. 130–139.
- [93] Tetteroo, D., Soute, I., and Markopoulos, P., 2013, "Five Key Challenges in End-User Development for Tangible and Embodied Interaction," *Proceedings of the 15th ACM on International Conference on Multimodal Interaction*, Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, pp. 247–254.
- [94] Forlizzi, J., and Battarbee, K., 2004, "Understanding Experience in Interactive Systems," Proceedings of the 5th Conference on Designing Interactive Systems: Processes, Practices, Methods, and Techniques, Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, pp. 261–268.
- [95] Gentner, A., Bouchard, C., and Favart, C., 2013, "Investigating User Experience as a Composition of Components and Influencing Factors."
- [96] Forlizzi, J., and Ford, S., 2000, "The Building Blocks of Experience: An Early Framework for Interaction Designers," *Proceedings of the 3rd Conference on Designing Interactive Systems: Processes, Practices, Methods, and Techniques*, Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, pp. 419–423.
- [97] Van den Hoven, E., Frens, J., Aliakseyeu, D., Martens, J.-B., Overbeeke, K., and Peters, P., 2007, "Design Research & Tangible Interaction," *Proceedings of the 1st International Conference on Tangible and Embedded Interaction*, Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, pp. 109–115.
- [98] Law, E. L.-C., Roto, V., Hassenzahl, M., Vermeeren, A. P. O. S., and Kort, J., 2009, "Understanding, Scoping and Defining User Experience: A Survey Approach," *Proceedings of the SIGCHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*, Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, pp. 719–728.
- [99] Hauser, J. R., Clausing, D., Harvard University, and Graduate School of Business Administration, 1988, *The House of Quality*, Harvard Business School, Pub. Division, Boston, Mass.
- [100] Gupta, A. K., Brockhoff, K., and Weisenfeld, U., 1992, "Making Trade-Offs in the New Product Development Process: A German/US Comparison," J. Prod. Innov. Manag., 9(1), pp. 11–18.
- [101] De Kleer, J., and Brown, J. S., 1984, "A Qualitative Physics Based on Confluences," Artif. Intell., 24(1), pp. 7–83.

- [102] McAlister, L., 1982, "A Dynamic Attribute Satiation Model of Variety-Seeking Behavior," J. Consum. Res., 9(2), pp. 141–150.
- [103] Qian, L., and Gero, J. S., 1996, "Function–Behavior–Structure Paths and Their Role in Analogy-Based Design," AI EDAM, 10(4), pp. 289–312.
- [104] Renaud, J., Houssin, R., Gardoni, M., and Armaghan, N., 2019, "Product Manual Elaboration in Product Design Phases: Behavioral and Functional Analysis Based on User Experience," Int. J. Ind. Ergon., 71, pp. 75–83.
- [105] Vermaas, P. E., and Dorst, K., 2007, "On the Conceptual Framework of John Gero's FBS-Model and the Prescriptive Aims of Design Methodology," Des. Stud., 28(2), pp. 133–157.
- [106] Kurosu, M., 2019, "Nigel Bevan and Concepts of Usability, Ux, and Satisfaction," J. Usability Stud., 14(3), pp. 156–163.
- [107] Fukuzumi, S., and Tanikawa, Y., 2018, "Issues of Indexing User Experience," *Human Interface and the Management of Information. Information in Applications and Services*, S. Yamamoto, and H. Mori, eds., Springer International Publishing, Cham, pp. 76–82.
- [108] Sun, X., Houssin, R., Renaud, J., and Gardoni, M., 2019, "A Review of Methodologies for Integrating Human Factors and Ergonomics in Engineering Design," Int. J. Prod. Res., 57(15–16), pp. 4961–4976.
- [109] Sheridan, J. G., and Bryan-Kinns, N., 2008, "Designing for Performative Tangible Interaction," Int. J. Arts Technol., 1(3–4), pp. 288–308.
- [110] Takala, R., 2005, "Product Demonstrator: A System for up-Front Testing of User-Related Product Features," J. Eng. Des., 16(3), pp. 329–336.
- [111] Hassenzahl, M., 2018, "The Thing and I (Summer of '17 Remix)," Funology 2: From Usability to Enjoyment, M. Blythe, and A. Monk, eds., Springer International Publishing, Cham, pp. 17–31.
- [112] Kim, J., Lee, S., and Kim, S., 2006, "Understanding Users in Consumer Electronics Experience Design," CHI '06 Extended Abstracts on Human Factors in Computing Systems, Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, pp. 189–194.
- [113] Wensveen, S. a. G., 2005, "A Tangibility Approach to Affective Interaction."
- [114] Hassenzahl, M., and Tractinsky, N., 2006, "User Experience a Research Agenda," Behav. Inf. Technol., 25(2), pp. 91–97.
- [115] Desmet, P., Overbeeke, K., and Tax, S., 2001, "Designing Products with Added Emotional Value: Development and Application of an Approach for Research through Design," Des. J., 4(1), pp. 32–47.
- [116] Siu, K. W. M., 2005, "Pleasurable Products: Public Space Furniture with Userfitness," J. Eng. Des., 16(6), pp. 545–555.
- [117] Chung, W., and Fortier, S., 2013, "Context as a System, Product as a Component, and the Relationship as Experience," *Design, User Experience, and Usability. Design Philosophy, Methods, and Tools*, A. Marcus, ed., Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, pp. 29–37.
- [118] Woods, A. T., Lloyd, D. M., Kuenzel, J., Poliakoff, E., Dijksterhuis, G. B., and Thomas, A., 2011, "Expected Taste Intensity Affects Response to Sweet Drinks in Primary Taste Cortex," NeuroReport, 22(8), pp. 365– 369.
- [119] Dijksterhuis, G., 2012, "The Total Product Experience and the Position of the Sensory and Consumer Sciences: More than Meets the Tongue," New Food Mag, 15, pp. 38–41.
- [120] Dijksterhuis, G., 2016, "Multisensory Flavor Priming," *Multisensory Flavor Perception*, B. Piqueras-Fiszman, and C. Spence, eds., Woodhead Publishing, pp. 133–153.
- [121] Cullen, L., 2007, "Human Factors Integration Bridging the Gap between System Designers and End-Users: A Case Study," Saf. Sci., 45(5), pp. 621–629.

- [122] Salem, B., Rauterberg, M., and Nakatsu, R., 2006, "Kansei Mediated Entertainment," *Entertainment Computing ICEC 2006*, R. Harper, M. Rauterberg, and M. Combetto, eds., Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, pp. 103–116.
- [123] Hofstede, G., 2016, "Culture's Consequences: Comparing Values, Behaviors, Institutions, and Organizations Across Nations (2nd Ed.)," Coll. Aviat. Rev., 34(2), pp. 108–109.
- [124] Rajeshkumar, S., Omar, R., and Mahmud, M., 2013, "Taxonomies of User Experience (UX) Evaluation Methods," 2013 International Conference on Research and Innovation in Information Systems (ICRIIS), pp. 533–538.
- [125] François, M., Osiurak, F., Fort, A., Crave, P., and Navarro, J., 2017, "Automotive HMI Design and Participatory User Involvement: Review and Perspectives," Ergonomics, 60(4), pp. 541–552.
- [126] Najm, W., Stearns, M. (Mary D.), Howarth, H., Koopmann, J., Hitz, J. S., and John A. Volpe National Transportation Systems Center (U.S.), 2006, *Evaluation of an Automotive Rear-End Collision Avoidance System*, FHWA-JPO-06-055.
- [127] Sharp, H., Preece, J., and Rogers, Y., 2019, Interaction Design: Beyond Human-Computer Interaction, John Wiley & Sons.
- [128] Adell, E., 2009, "Acceptance of Driver Support Systems," Proc. Eur. Conf. Hum. Centred Des. Intell. Transp. Syst.
- [129] ISO, 2019, "ISO 9241-210:2019."
- [130] Rico-Olarte, C., López, D. M., and Kepplinger, S., 2018, "Towards a Conceptual Framework for the Objective Evaluation of User Experience," Des. User Exp. Usability Theory Pract., 10918, pp. 546–559.
- [131] Bernhaupt, R., 2015, "User Experience Evaluation Methods in the Games Development Life Cycle," Game User Experience Evaluation, R. Bernhaupt, ed., Springer International Publishing, Cham, pp. 1–8.
- [132] Jetter, C., and Gerken, J., 2007, "A Simplified Model of User Experience for Practical Application," pp. 106– 111.
- [133] Norman, D. A., 2009, "The Way I See It: Memory Is More Important than Actuality," Interactions, 16(2), pp. 24–26.
- [134] Verhoef, P. C., Lemon, K. N., Parasuraman, A., Roggeveen, A., Tsiros, M., and Schlesinger, L. A., 2009, "Customer Experience Creation: Determinants, Dynamics and Management Strategies," J. Retail., 85(1), pp. 31–41.
- [135] Hartson, R., and Pyla, P. S., 2012, *The UX Book: Process and Guidelines for Ensuring a Quality User Experience*, Elsevier.
- [136] Kurosu, M., 2013, "The Conceptual Model of Experience Engineering (XE)," Human-Computer Interaction. Human-Centred Design Approaches, Methods, Tools, and Environments, M. Kurosu, ed., Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, pp. 95–102.
- [137] Sauro, J., and Lewis, J. R., 2016, *Quantifying the User Experience: Practical Statistics for User Research*, Morgan Kaufmann.
- [138] Tullis, T., and Albert, B., 2013, *Measuring the User Experience: Collecting, Analyzing, and Presenting Usability Metrics*, Elsevier/Morgan Kaufmann, Amsterdam; Boston.
- [139] Law, E. L.-C., 2011, "The Measurability and Predictability of User Experience," Proceedings of the 3rd ACM SIGCHI Symposium on Engineering Interactive Computing Systems, Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, pp. 1–10.
- [140] Alben, L., 1996, "Quality of Experience: Defining the Criteria for Effective Interaction Design," interactions, 3(3), pp. 11–15.
- [141] Bevan, N., Carter, J., Earthy, J., Geis, T., and Harker, S., 2016, "New ISO Standards for Usability, Usability Reports and Usability Measures," *Human-Computer Interaction. Theory, Design, Development and Practice*, M. Kurosu, ed., Springer International Publishing, Cham, pp. 268–278.

- [142] ISO, 2018, "9241-11 (2018) Ergonomics of Human-System Interaction—Part 11: Usability: Definitions and Concepts," Int. Organ. Stand. Httpswww Iso Orgobpui Iso Std Iso, 9241(11).
- [143] Nielsen, J., 2012, "Usability 101: Introduction to Usability. Nielsen Norman Group," Recuperado Httpwww Nngroup Comarticlesusability-101-Introd.--UsabilityOctubre 27 2014.
- [144] Nielsen, J., 1994, Usability Engineering, Morgan Kaufmann.
- [145] Constantine, L. L., and Lockwood, L. A. D., 1999, Software for Use: A Practical Guide to the Models and Methods of Usage-Centered Design, Pearson Education.
- [146] Baber, C., 2005, "Evaluation in Human-Computer Interaction," Eval. Hum. Work, 3, pp. 357–388.
- [147] Bevan, N., 2009, "Extending Quality in Use to Provide a Framework for Usability Measurement," *Human Centered Design*, M. Kurosu, ed., Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, pp. 13–22.
- [148] Roto, V., Obrist, M., and Väänänen-Vainio-Mattila, K., 2009, "User Experience Evaluation Methods in Academic and Industrial Contexts," Interact 2009 Conf. User Exp. Eval. Methods Prod. Dev. UXEM09 Workshop Interact09 Conf. Upps. Swed. August 25th 2009.
- [149] Kurosu, M., 2015, "Usability, Quality in Use and the Model of Quality Characteristics," *Human-Computer Interaction: Design and Evaluation*, M. Kurosu, ed., Springer International Publishing, Cham, pp. 227–237.
- [150] Ullmer, B., and Ishii, H., 2000, "Emerging Frameworks for Tangible User Interfaces," IBM Syst. J., 39(3.4), pp. 915–931.
- [151] Hornecker, E., and Buur, J., 2006, "Getting a Grip on Tangible Interaction: A Framework on Physical Space and Social Interaction," *Proceedings of the SIGCHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*, Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, pp. 437–446.
- [152] Jensen, M. V., Buur, J., and Djajadiningrat, T., 2005, "Designing the User Actions in Tangible Interaction," *Proceedings of the 4th Decennial Conference on Critical Computing: Between Sense and Sensibility*, Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, pp. 9–18.
- [153] Döring, T., Sylvester, A., and Schmidt, A., 2012, "Exploring Material-Centered Design Concepts for Tangible Interaction," CHI '12 Extended Abstracts on Human Factors in Computing Systems, Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, pp. 1523–1528.
- [154] Hassenzahl, M., Diefenbach, S., and Göritz, A., 2010, "Needs, Affect, and Interactive Products Facets of User Experience," Interact. Comput., 22(5), pp. 353–362.
- [155] Hassenzahl, M., 2007, "The Hedonic/Pragmatic Model of User Experience," UX Manif., pp. 10-14.
- [156] van der Linden, J., Lacerda, A., and Aguiar, J., 2011, "The Evolution of Design Methods."
- [157] French, M. J., 2014, Conceptual Design for Engineers, Springer Berlin Heidelberg.
- [158] Cross, N., 2007, "Forty Years of Design Research," Des. Stud., 1(28), pp. 1–4.
- [159] Roozenburg, N. F. M. and E., 1995, "Product Design: Fundamentals and Methods," John Wiley & Son Ltd., Chichester, CUMINCAD.
- [160] Brown, T., 2008, "Design Thinking," Harv. Bus. Rev., 86(6), pp. 84-92, 141.
- [161] Jones, J. C., 1963, "A Method of Systematic Design," Pergamon Press Ltd., pp. 9-31.
- [162] Jones, J. C., 1992, Design Methods, John Wiley & Sons.
- [163] Gerrike, K., Eckert, C., and Stacey, M., 2017, "What Do We Need to Say about a Design Method?," Vancouver, Canada.
- [164] Bongard-Blanchy, K., and Bouchard, C., 2014, "Dimensions of User Experience from the Product Design Perspective," J. Interact. Pers.-Système, **3**(1).
- [165] Redström, J., 2006, "Towards User Design? On the Shift from Object to User as the Subject of Design," Des. Stud., 27(2), pp. 123–139.

- [166] Umeda, Y., and Tomiyama, T., 1997, "Functional Reasoning in Design," IEEE Expert, 12(2), pp. 42–48.
- [167] Labrousse, M., 2004, "Proposition d'un Modèle Conceptuel Unifié Pour La Gestion Dynamique Des Connaissances d'entreprise," These de doctorat, Nantes.
- [168] Houssin, R., Sun, H., and Gardoni, M., 2010, "A Behavioural Design Approach to Improving Mechanical System Design with Integration of Use Conditions," Int. J. Des. Innov. Res., 5(3), pp. 1–24.
- [169] Cascini, G., Fantoni, G., and Montagna, F., 2013, "Situating Needs and Requirements in the FBS Framework," Des. Stud., 34(5), pp. 636–662.
- [170] Kannengiesser, U., and Gero, J. S., 2017, "Can Pahl and Beitz' Systematic Approach Be a Predictive Model of Designing?," Des. Sci., 3.
- [171] Gero, J. S., and Kannengiesser, U., 2014, "The Function-Behaviour-Structure Ontology of Design," An Anthology of Theories and Models of Design, Springer, pp. 263–283.
- [172] Gero, J. S., and Kannengiesser, U., 2007, "A Function–Behavior–Structure Ontology of Processes," AI EDAM, 21(4), pp. 379–391.
- [173] Gero, J. S., and Kannengiesser, U., 2000, "Towards a Situated Function-Behaviour-Structure Framework as the Basis of a Theory of Designing," Citeseer, pp. 1–5.
- [174] Pourmohamadi, M., and Gero, J. S., 2011, "LINKOgrapher: An Analysis Tool to Study Design Protocols Based on FBS Coding Scheme."
- [175] Russo, D., and Spreafico, C., 2015, "TRIZ 40 Inventive Principles Classification through FBS Ontology," Proceedia Eng., 131, pp. 737–746.
- [176] Dinar, M., Maclellan, C., Danielescu, A., Shah, J., and Langley, P., 2014, "Beyond Function-Behavior-Structure," *Design Computing and Cognition* '12, Springer, pp. 511–527.
- [177] Al-Fedaghi, S., 2016, "Function-Behavior-Structure Model of Design: An Alternative Approach," Int. J. Adv. Comput. Sci. Appl., 7.
- [178] Galle, P., 2009, "The Ontology of Gero's FBS Model of Designing," Des. Stud., 30(4), pp. 321–339.
- [179] Wixson, J. R., 1987, "Functional Analysis and Decomposition Using Functional Analysis Systems Technique," Lockheed Martin Ida. Technol. Co. Ida.
- [180] Conway, J. B., 2019, A Course in Functional Analysis, Springer.
- [181] Stalker, R., 2002, "A Function-Behaviour-Structure Framework for the Lifecycle of an Artefact," p. 6.
- [182] Britton, G., 1999, "A Comprehensive Representation Model for Functional Design of Mechanical Products."
- [183] Ishak, A., Ginting, R., Suwandira, B., and Malik, A. F., 2020, "Integration of Kano Model and Quality Function Deployment (QFD) to Improve Product Quality: A Literature Review," IOP Conf. Ser. Mater. Sci. Eng., 1003(1), p. 012025.
- [184] Pullman, M. E., Moore, W. L., and Wardell, D. G., 2002, "A Comparison of Quality Function Deployment and Conjoint Analysis in New Product Design," J. Prod. Innov. Manag., 19(5), pp. 354–364.
- [185] Singh, R. K., Rajput, V., and Sahay, A., 2018, "A Literature Review On Quality Function Deployment (QFD)," IAETSD J. Adv. Res. Appl. Sci., 5(8), pp. 245–250.
- [186] Ramaswamy, R., and Ulrich, K., 1993, "Augmenting the House of Quality with Engineering Models," Res. Eng. Des., 5(2), pp. 70–79.
- [187] Sener, Z., and Karsak, E. E., 2011, "A Combined Fuzzy Linear Regression and Fuzzy Multiple Objective Programming Approach for Setting Target Levels in Quality Function Deployment," Expert Syst. Appl., 38(4), pp. 3015–3022.
- [188] Akao, Y., 2004, *Quality Function Deployment: Integrating Customer Requirements Into Product Design*, Taylor & Francis.

- [189] Chan, L.-K., and Wu, M.-L., 2002, "Quality Function Deployment: A Literature Review," Eur. J. Oper. Res., 143(3), pp. 463–497.
- [190] Akao, Y., and Mazur, G. H., 2003, "The Leading Edge in QFD: Past, Present and Future," Int. J. Qual. Reliab. Manag., 20(1), pp. 20–35.
- [191] Wolniak, E. R., and Sędek, A., 2009, "Using QFD Method for the Ecological Designing of Products and Services," Qual. Quant., 43(4), pp. 695–701.
- [192] Büyüközkan, G., and Çifçi, G., 2013, "An Integrated QFD Framework with Multiple Formatted and Incomplete Preferences: A Sustainable Supply Chain Application," Appl. Soft Comput., 13(9), pp. 3931– 3941.
- [193] John, R., Smith, A., Chotipanich, S., and Pitt, M., 2014, "Awareness and Effectiveness of Quality Function Deployment (QFD) in Design and Build Projects in Nigeria," J. Facil. Manag., 12(1), pp. 72–88.
- [194] Ginting, R., Ishak, A., Malik, A. F., and Satrio, M. R., 2020, "Product Development with Quality Function Deployment (QFD): A Literature Review," IOP Conf. Ser. Mater. Sci. Eng., 1003(1), p. 012022.
- [195] Liu, Y., Zhou, J., and Chen, Y., 2014, "Using Fuzzy Non-Linear Regression to Identify the Degree of Compensation among Customer Requirements in QFD," Neurocomputing, 142, pp. 115–124.
- [196] Politis, J. D., 2005, "QFD, Organisational Creativity and Productivity," Int. J. Qual. Reliab. Manag., 22(1), pp. 59–71.
- [197] Vinayak, K., and Kodali, R., 2013, "Benchmarking the Quality Function Deployment Models," Benchmarking Int. J., 20(6), pp. 825–854.
- [198] Rajiv, P., Logesh, R., Vinodh, S., and Rajanayagam, D., 2014, "Financial Feasibility and Value Engineering Principles Integrated Quality Function Deployment for a Manufacturing Organization: A Case Study," J. Eng. Des. Technol., 12(1), pp. 71–88.
- [199] Adiano, C., and Roth, A. V., 1994, "Beyond the House of Quality: Dynamic QFD," Benchmarking Qual. Manag. Technol., 1(1), pp. 25–37.
- [200] Bouchereau, V., and Rowlands, H., 2000, "Methods and Techniques to Help Quality Function Deployment (QFD)," Benchmarking Int. J., 7(1), pp. 8–20.
- [201] da Silva, F. L. R., Cavalca, K. L., and Dedini, F. G., 2004, "Combined Application of QFD and VA Tools in the Product Design Process," Int. J. Qual. Reliab. Manag., 21(2), pp. 231–252.
- [202] Rajam Ramasamy, N., and Selladurai, V., 2004, "Fuzzy Logic Approach to Prioritise Engineering Characteristics in Quality Function Deployment (FL-QFD)," Int. J. Qual. Reliab. Manag., 21(9), pp. 1012– 1023.
- [203] Herrmann, A., Huber, F., Algesheime, R., and Tomczak, T., 2006, "An Empirical Study of Quality Function Deployment on Company Performance," Int. J. Qual. Reliab. Manag., 23(4), pp. 345–366.
- [204] Karsak, E. E., Sozer, S., and Alptekin, S. E., 2003, "Product Planning in Quality Function Deployment Using a Combined Analytic Network Process and Goal Programming Approach," Comput. Ind. Eng., 44(1), pp. 171–190.
- [205] Devadasan, S. R., Kathiravan, N., and Thirunavukkarasu, V., 2006, "Theory and Practice of Total Quality Function Deployment: A Perspective from a Traditional Pump-manufacturing Environment," TQM Mag., 18(2), pp. 143–161.
- [206] Shillito, M. L., 1994, Advanced QFD: Linking Technology to Market and Company Needs, John Wiley & Sons.
- [207] Joshi, A., Kale, S., Chandel, S., and Pal, D., 2015, "Likert Scale: Explored and Explained," Br. J. Appl. Sci. Technol., 7, pp. 396–403.
- [208] Sivasamy, K., Arumugam, C., Devadasan, S. R., Murugesh, R., and Thilak, V. M. M., 2016, "Advanced Models of Quality Function Deployment: A Literature Review," Qual. Quant., 50(3), pp. 1399–1414.

- [209] Andronikidis, A., Georgiou, A. C., Gotzamani, K., and Kamvysi, K., 2009, "The Application of Quality Function Deployment in Service Quality Management," TQM J., **21**(4), pp. 319–333.
- [210] Kamvysi, K., Gotzamani, K., Andronikidis, A., and Georgiou, A. C., 2014, "Capturing and Prioritizing Students' Requirements for Course Design by Embedding Fuzzy-AHP and Linear Programming in QFD," Eur. J. Oper. Res., 237(3), pp. 1083–1094.
- [211] Wu, H.-H., and Shieh, J.-I., 2008, "Applying a Markov Chain Model in Quality Function Deployment," Qual. Quant., 42(5), pp. 665–678.
- [212] Schütte, S., 2002, "Designing Feelings into Products : Integrating Kansei Engineering Methodology in Product Development."
- [213] Nagamachi, M., 2016, Kansei/Affective Engineering, CRC Press.
- [214] Lai, X., Xie, M., and Tan, K. C., 2005, "Dynamic Programming for QFD Optimization," Qual. Reliab. Eng. Int., 21(8), pp. 769–780.
- [215] Zadeh, L. A., 1988, "Fuzzy Logic," Computer, 21(4), pp. 83-93.
- [216] Haiyun, C., Zhixiong, H., Yüksel, S., and Dinçer, H., 2021, "Analysis of the Innovation Strategies for Green Supply Chain Management in the Energy Industry Using the QFD-Based Hybrid Interval Valued Intuitionistic Fuzzy Decision Approach," Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev., 143, p. 110844.
- [217] Wu, T., Liu, X., Qin, J., and Herrera, F., 2021, "An Interval Type-2 Fuzzy Kano-Prospect-TOPSIS Based QFD Model: Application to Chinese e-Commerce Service Design," Appl. Soft Comput., 111, p. 107665.
- [218] Liu, H.-T., 2009, "The Extension of Fuzzy QFD: From Product Planning to Part Deployment," Expert Syst. Appl., 36(8), pp. 11131–11144.
- [219] Khoo, L. P., and Ho, N. C., 1996, "Framework of a Fuzzy Quality Function Deployment System," Int. J. Prod. Res., 34(2), pp. 299–311.
- [220] Ding, J.-F., 2009, "Applying Fuzzy Quality Function Deployment (QFD) to Identify Solutions of Service Delivery System for Port of Kaohsiung," Qual. Quant., 43(4), pp. 553–570.
- [221] Liang, G.-S., Chou, T.-Y., and Kan, S.-F., 2006, "Applying Fuzzy Quality Function Deployment to Identify Service Management Requirements for an Ocean Freight Forwarder," Total Qual. Manag. Bus. Excell., 17(5), pp. 539–554.
- [222] Wu, Q., 2011, "Fuzzy Measurable House of Quality and Quality Function Deployment for Fuzzy Regression Estimation Problem," Expert Syst. Appl., 38(12), pp. 14398–14406.
- [223] Vinodh, S., and Chintha, S. K., 2011, "Application of Fuzzy QFD for Enabling Agility in a Manufacturing Organization: A Case Study," TQM J., 23(3), pp. 343–357.
- [224] Yang, Y. Q., Wang, S. Q., Dulaimi, M., and Low, S. P., 2003, "A Fuzzy Quality Function Deployment System for Buildable Design Decision-Makings," Autom. Constr., 12(4), pp. 381–393.
- [225] Lin, L.-Z., 2010, "A Perceptual Measure of Trade Shows Using Fuzzy Quality Deployment Development," Expert Syst. Appl., 37(5), pp. 3921–3933.
- [226] Chen, L.-H., and Ko, W.-C., 2009, "Fuzzy Approaches to Quality Function Deployment for New Product Design," Fuzzy Sets Syst., 160(18), pp. 2620–2639.
- [227] Kuo, T.-C., Wu, H.-H., and Shieh, J.-I., 2009, "Integration of Environmental Considerations in Quality Function Deployment by Using Fuzzy Logic," Expert Syst. Appl., 36(3, Part 2), pp. 7148–7156.
- [228] Kim, K. J., 1993, "Fuzzy Multicriteria Methodologies and Decision Support System for Quality Function Deployment," Theses Diss. Available ProQuest, pp. 1–177.
- [229] Chen, Y., Tang, J., Fung, R. Y. K., and Ren, Z., 2004, "Fuzzy Regression-Based Mathematical Programming Model for Quality Function Deployment," Int. J. Prod. Res., 42(5), pp. 1009–1027.
- [230] Fung, R. Y. K., Chen, Y., Chen, L., and Tang, J., 2005, "A Fuzzy Expected Value-Based Goal Programing Model for Product Planning Using Quality Function Deployment," Eng. Optim., 37(6), pp. 633–645.

- [231] Schütte, S. T. W., Eklund, J., Axelsson, J. R. C., and Nagamachi, M., 2004, "Concepts, Methods and Tools in Kansei Engineering," Theor. Issues Ergon. Sci., 5(3), pp. 214–231.
- [232] Nagamachi, M., 1995, "Kansei Engineering: A New Ergonomic Consumer-Oriented Technology for Product Development," Int. J. Ind. Ergon., 15(1), pp. 3–11.
- [233] Nagamachi, M., and Lokman, A. M., 2011, Innovations of Kansei Engineering.
- [234] Nagamachi, M., 2018, "Successful Points of Kansei Product Development," Linköping University Electronic Press, pp. 177–187.
- [235] Nagamachi, M., 2018, "History of Kansei Engineering and Application of Artificial Intelligence," Advances in Affective and Pleasurable Design, W. Chung, and C.S. Shin, eds., Springer International Publishing, Cham, pp. 357–368.
- [236] Vieira, J., Osório, J. M. A., Mouta, S., Delgado, P., Portinha, A., Meireles, J. F., and Santos, J. A., 2017, "Kansei Engineering as a Tool for the Design of In-Vehicle Rubber Keypads," Appl. Ergon., 61, pp. 1–11.
- [237] Schütte, S., 2013, "Evaluation of the Affective Coherence of the Exterior and Interior of Chocolate Snacks," Food Qual. Prefer., 29(1), pp. 16–24.
- [238] Schütte, S., and Eklund, J., 2005, "Design of Rocker Switches for Work-Vehicles—an Application of Kansei Engineering," Appl. Ergon., 36(5), pp. 557–567.
- [239] Nordvik, E., Schütte, S., and Broman, N. O., 2009, "People's Perceptions of the Visual Appearance of Wood Flooring: A Kansei Engineering Approach," For. Prod. J., 59(11–12), pp. 67–74.
- [240] Nagamachi, M., 2002, "Kansei Engineering as a Powerful Consumer-Oriented Technology for Product Development," Appl. Ergon., 33(3), pp. 289–294.
- [241] Ozaki, S., and Iwamoto, Y., 2006, "Can We Evaluate Kansei by Physiological Measurement?," KANSEI Eng. Int., 6(2), pp. 25–28.
- [242] Tomico, O., Mizutani, N., Levy, P., Yokoi, T., Cho, Y., and Yamanaka, T., 2008, "Kansei Physiological Measurements and Constructivist Psychological Explorations for Approaching User Subjective Experience," 48 Proc. Des. 2008 10th Int. Des. Conf. Dubrov. Croat., pp. 529–536.
- [243] Gentner, A., Bouchard, C., Esquivel Elizondo, D., and Favart, C., 2012, "Kansei Design Approaches for the New Concept Development Process."
- [244] Nagamachi, M., 1997, "Kansei Engineering: The Framework and Methods," Kansei Eng., pp. 1–9.
- [245] Osgood, C. E., Suci, G. J., and Tannenbaum, P. H., 1957, *The Measurement of Meaning*, University of Illinois Press.
- [246] Gonzalez, R., Cho, S., Reid, T., and Papalambros, P., 2010, "Models from Psychology and Marketing Applied to Kansei Engineering," p. 10.
- [247] Ishihara, S., Ishihara, K., and Nagamachi, M., 2001, "Kansei Engineering Analysis on Car Instrument Panel."
- [248] Arnold, K., 2002, "Towards Increased Customer Satisfaction," IKPKMT Linköping Univ. LiTH-IKP-Ex-1868.
- [249] Ishihara, S., 1996, "Neural Networks Approach for Kansei Analisis on Milk Carton Design," Hum. Factors Organ. Des. Manag., pp. 7–10.
- [250] Shimizu, Y., and Jindo, T., 1995, "A Fuzzy Logic Analysis Method for Evaluating Human Sensitivities," Int. J. Ind. Ergon., 15(1), pp. 39–47.
- [251] Nishino, T., 1999, "Internet Kansei Engineeringsystem with Kansei Database and Genetic Algorithm," TQM Hum. Factors 1999.
- [252] Nishino, T., 2001, "Exercises on Kansei Engineering," Hiroshima Int. Univ.
- [253] Nishino, T., 2005, "Rough Sets and Kansei Rules Definition," Prod. Dev. Kansei.

- [254] Nishino, T., 2016, "Rough Set Theory and Kansei/Affective Engineering," Kansei/Affective Engineering, CRC press, pp. 221–240.
- [255] Nishino, T., Nagamachi, M., and Tanaka, H., 2005, "Variable Precision Bayesian Rough Set Model and Its Application to Human Evaluation Data," *Rough Sets, Fuzzy Sets, Data Mining, and Granular Computing*, D. Ślęzak, G. Wang, M. Szczuka, I. Düntsch, and Y. Yao, eds., Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, pp. 294–303.
- [256] Wellings, T., Williams, M., and Tennant, C., 2010, "Understanding Customers' Holistic Perception of Switches in Automotive Human–Machine Interfaces," Appl. Ergon., 41(1), pp. 8–17.
- [257] Bongard-Blanchy, K., Bouchard, C., and Aoussat, A., 2013, "Limits of Kansei Kansei Unlimited," Int. J. Affect. Eng., 12(2), pp. 145–153.
- [258] Schütte, S., 2005, "Engineering Emotional Values in Product Design : Kansei Engineering in Development."
- [259] Snider, J. G., and Osgood, C. E., 1969, Semantic Differential Technique; a Sourcebook, Aldine Publishing Company.
- [260] Kosaka, H., Nishitani, H., and Watanabe, K., 2005, "Estimation of Reaction Force of a Keyboard Switch Based on Kansei Information Using Neural Networks," *Proceedings. 2005 IEEE Networking, Sensing and Control, 2005.*, pp. 425–430.
- [261] Hatzfeld, C., Kern, T. A., and Werthschützky, R., 2010, "Improving the Prediction of Haptic Impression User Ratings Using Perception-Based Weighting Methods: Experimental Evaluation," *Haptics: Generating and Perceiving Tangible Sensations*, A.M.L. Kappers, J.B.F. van Erp, W.M. Bergmann Tiest, and F.C.T. van der Helm, eds., Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, pp. 93–98.
- [262] Rösler, F., Battenberg, G., and Schüttler, F., 2009, "Subjective Perceptions and Objective Characteristics of Control Elements," ATZ Worldw., 111(4), pp. 38–43.
- [263] Steinberg, F., Tursch, P., and Woll, R., 2015, "The Improvement of Kansei Engineering by Using the Repertory Grid Technique," Manag. Prod. Eng. Rev., Vol. 6, No. 3.
- [264] Wahlgren, L., and Körner, S., 2015, Statistisk Dataanalys, Studentlitteratur AB.
- [265] Eppinger, S. D., Whitney, D. E., Smith, R. P., and Gebala, D. A., 1994, "A Model-Based Method for Organizing Tasks in Product Development," Res. Eng. Des., 6(1), pp. 1–13.
- [266] Green, P. E., and Srinivasan, V., 1978, "Conjoint Analysis in Consumer Research: Issues and Outlook," J. Consum. Res., 5(2), pp. 103–123.
- [267] Green, P. E., and Srinivasan, V., 1990, "Conjoint Analysis in Marketing: New Developments with Implications for Research and Practice," J. Mark., 54(4), pp. 3–19.
- [268] Jiao, J. (Roger), Zhang, Y., and Helander, M., 2006, "A Kansei Mining System for Affective Design," Expert Syst. Appl., 30(4), pp. 658–673.
- [269] Fogliatto, F. S., and da Silveira, G. J. C., 2008, "Mass Customization: A Method for Market Segmentation and Choice Menu Design," Int. J. Prod. Econ., 111(2), pp. 606–622.
- [270] Luce, R. D., and Tukey, J. W., 1964, "Simultaneous Conjoint Measurement: A New Type of Fundamental Measurement," J. Math. Psychol., 1(1), pp. 1–27.
- [271] Carroll, J. D., and Green, P. E., 1995, "Psychometric Methods in Marketing Research: Part I, Conjoint Analysis," J. Mark. Res., 32(4), pp. 385–391.
- [272] Green, P. E., and Rao, V. R., 1971, "Conjoint Measurement- for Quantifying Judgmental Data," J. Mark. Res., 8(3), pp. 355–363.
- [273] Wang, C.-H., 2015, "Integrating Kansei Engineering with Conjoint Analysis to Fulfil Market Segmentation and Product Customisation for Digital Cameras," Int. J. Prod. Res., 53(8), pp. 2427–2438.
- [274] Belloni, A., Freund, R., Selove, M., and Simester, D., 2008, "Optimizing Product Line Designs: Efficient Methods and Comparisons," Manag. Sci., 54(9), pp. 1544–1552.

- [275] Wang, X. (Jocelyn), Camm, J. D., and Curry, D. J., 2009, "A Branch-and-Price Approach to the Share-of-Choice Product Line Design Problem," Manag. Sci., 55(10), pp. 1718–1728.
- [276] Luo, L., 2011, "Product Line Design for Consumer Durables: An Integrated Marketing and Engineering Approach," J. Mark. Res., 48(1), pp. 128–139.
- [277] Michalek, J. J., Ebbes, P., Adigüzel, F., Feinberg, F. M., and Papalambros, P. Y., 2011, "Enhancing Marketing with Engineering: Optimal Product Line Design for Heterogeneous Markets," Int. J. Res. Mark., 28(1), pp. 1–12.
- [278] Luo, L., Kannan, P. K., and Ratchford, B. T., 2008, "Incorporating Subjective Characteristics in Product Design and Evaluations," J. Mark. Res., 45(2), pp. 182–194.
- [279] Sylcott, B., Cagan, J., and Tabibnia, G., 2013, "Understanding Consumer Tradeoffs Between Form and Function Through Metaconjoint and Cognitive Neuroscience Analyses," J. Mech. Des., 135(10).
- [280] Naous, D., and Legner, C., 2017, "Leveraging Market Research Techniques in IS A Review of Conjoint Analysis in IS Research."
- [281] Schweikl, H., 1985, Computer-Assisted Preference Analysis with Individually Important Product Features, Duncker & Humblot.
- [282] Orsborn, S., Cagan, J., and Boatwright, P., 2015, "Visual Conjoint from Discrete to Continuous," 80-10 Proc. 20th Int. Conf. Eng. Des. ICED 15 Vol 10 Des. Inf. Knowl. Manag. Milan Italy 27-300715, pp. 155– 164.
- [283] Choi, J. Y., Shin, J., and Lee, J., 2013, "Strategic Demand Forecasts for the Tablet PC Market Using the Bayesian Mixed Logit Model and Market Share Simulations," Behav. Inf. Technol., 32(11), pp. 1177–1190.
- [284] Brodt, T., and Heitmann, M., 2004, "Customer Centric Development of Radically New Products-A European Case," AMCIS 2004 Proc., p. 338.
- [285] Giessmann, A., and Stanoevska, K., 2012, "Platform as a Service–A Conjoint Study on Consumers" Preferences."
- [286] Nikou, S., Bouwman, H., and Reuver, M. de, 2014, "A Consumer Perspective on Mobile Service Platforms: A Conjoint Analysis Approach," Commun. Assoc. Inf. Syst., 34(1).
- [287] Bradlow, E. T., 2005, "Current Issues and a 'Wish List' for Conjoint Analysis," Appl. Stoch. Models Bus. Ind., 21(4–5), pp. 319–323.
- [288] Reid, T. N., Gonzalez, R. D., and Papalambros, P. Y., 2010, "Quantification of Perceived Environmental Friendliness for Vehicle Silhouette Design," J. Mech. Des., 132(101010).
- [289] Tseng, I., Cagan, J., Kotovsky, K., and Wood, M., 2012, "Form Function Fidelity," J. Mech. Des., 135(1).
- [290] Johnson, R. M., 1987, "Adaptive Conjoint Analysis," Sawtooth Software Ketchum, ID, pp. 253–265.
- [291] Green, P. E., Krieger, A. M., and Wind, Y., 2004, "Thirty Years of Conjoint Analysis: Reflections and Prospects," *Marketing Research and Modeling: Progress and Prospects: A Tribute to Paul E. Green*, Y. Wind, and P.E. Green, eds., Springer US, Boston, MA, pp. 117–139.
- [292] Green, P. E., 1984, "Hybrid Models for Conjoint Analysis: An Expository Review," J. Mark. Res., 21(2), pp. 155–169.
- [293] Johnson, R., Huber, J., and Bacon, L., 2003, "Adaptive Choice-Based Conjoint."
- [294] Orme, B., 2009, "Which Conjoint Method Should I Use," Sawtooth Softw. Res. Pap. Ser., pp. 1-6.
- [295] Orsborn, S., Cagan, J., and Boatwright, P., 2009, "Quantifying Aesthetic Form Preference in a Utility Function," J. Mech. Des., 131(061001).
- [296] Bi, Y., Li, S., Wagner, D., and Reid, T., 2017, "The Impact of Vehicle Silhouettes on Perceptions of Car Environmental Friendliness and Safety in 2009 and 2016: A Comparative Study," Des. Sci., 3.

- [297] Swamy, S., Orsborn, S., Michalek, J., and Cagan, J., 2009, "Measurement of Headlight Form Preference Using a Choice Based Conjoint Analysis," American Society of Mechanical Engineers Digital Collection, pp. 197–206.
- [298] Petiot, J.-F., and Dagher, A., 2011, "Preference-Oriented Form Design: Application to Cars' Headlights," Int. J. Interact. Des. Manuf. IJIDeM, 5(1), pp. 17–27.
- [299] Orsborn, S., and Talecki, H., 2011, "Capturing Interactions In Design Preferences: A Colorful Study," 68-1 Proc. 18th Int. Conf. Eng. Des. ICED 11 Impacting Soc. Eng. Des. Vol 1 Des. Process. LyngbyCopenhagen Den. 15-19082011, pp. 465–474.
- [300] Lugo, J. E., Batill, S. M., and Carlson, L., 2013, "Modeling Product Form Preference Using Gestalt Principles, Semantic Space, and Kansei," American Society of Mechanical Engineers Digital Collection, pp. 529–539.
- [301] Aust, E., and Gaul, W., 1996, "A Unifying Approach to Benefit Segmentation and Product Line Design Based on Rank Order Conjoint Data," *From Data to Knowledge*, W. Gaul, and D. Pfeifer, eds., Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, pp. 289–297.
- [302] Vriens, M., Oppewal, H., and Wedel, M., 1998, "Ratings-Based versus Choice-Based Latent Class Conjoint Models," Mark. Res. Soc. J., 40(3), pp. 1–11.
- [303] Page, A. L., and Rosenbaum, H. F., 1987, "Redesigning Product Lines with Conjoint Analysis: How Sunbeam Does It," J. Prod. Innov. Manag., 4(2), pp. 120–137.
- [304] Page, A. L., and Rosenbaum, H. F., 1989, "Redesigning Product Lines with Conjoint Analysis: A Reply to Wittink," J. Prod. Innov. Manag., 6(4), pp. 293–296.
- [305] Sylcott, B., Orsborn, S., and Cagan, J., 2016, "The Effect of Product Representation in Visual Conjoint Analysis," J. Mech. Des., **138**(10).
- [306] Jaeger, S. R., Hedderley, D., and MacFie, H. J. H., 2001, "Methodological Issues in Conjoint Analysis: A Case Study," Eur. J. Mark., 35(11/12), pp. 1217–1239.
- [307] Jordan, P. W., 2002, *Designing Pleasurable Products: An Introduction to the New Human Factors*, CRC Press, London.
- [308] Boatwright, P., and Cagan, J., 2010, *Built to Love: Creating Products That Captivate Customers*, Berrett-Koehler Publishers.
- [309] Ariely, D., 2000, "Controlling the Information Flow: Effects on Consumers' Decision Making and Preferences," J. Consum. Res., 27(2), pp. 233–248.
- [310] Malhotra, N. K., 1982, "Information Load and Consumer Decision Making," J. Consum. Res., 8(4), pp. 419–430.
- [311] Milord, J. T., and Perry, R. P., 1977, "A Methodological Study of Overloadx," J. Gen. Psychol., 97(1), pp. 131–137.
- [312] Kelly, J., and Papalambros, P., 2007, "Use of Shape Preference Information in Product Design," Int. Conf. Eng. Des.
- [313] Berneburg, A., 2007, "Interactive 3D Simulations in Measuring Consumer Preferences: Friend or Foe to Test Results?," J. Interact. Advert., 8(1), pp. 1–13.
- [314] Dijkstra, J., van Leeuwen, J., and Timmermans, H., 2003, "Evaluating Design Alternatives Using Conjoint Experiments in Virtual Reality," Environ. Plan. B Plan. Des., 30(3), pp. 357–367.
- [315] Knutson, B., Rick, S., Wimmer, G. E., Prelec, D., and Loewenstein, G., 2007, "Neural Predictors of Purchases," Neuron, 53(1), pp. 147–156.
- [316] Kim, H. M., Rideout, D. G., Papalambros, P. Y., and Stein, J. L., 2003, "Analytical Target Cascading in Automotive Vehicle Design," J. Mech. Des., 125(3), pp. 481–489.
- [317] Kim, H. M., 2001, "Target Cascading in Optimal System Design.," Thesis.

- [318] Allison, J., Kokkolaras, M., Zawislak, M., and Papalambros, P. Y., 2005, "On the Use of Analytical Target Cascading and Collaborative Optimization for Complex System Design," *6th World Congress on Structural and Multidisciplinary Optimization Rio de Janeiro*.
- [319] Neto, W. F., and Pires, A. R., 2020, "Kansei Engineering and Quality Function Deployment: Development of Methodology for the Identification of User-Centralized Project Improvements," *Advances in Affective and Pleasurable Design*, S. Fukuda, ed., Springer International Publishing, Cham, pp. 300–309.
- [320] Hirata, R., 2005, "Understanding Emotional Needs of the Japanese and Mexican Beer Consumer Market through Kansei Engineering Study."
- [321] Eder, W. E., 1966, "Definitions and Methodologies," *The Design Method*, S.A. Gregory, ed., Springer US, Boston, MA, pp. 19–31.
- [322] Swink, M., Talluri, S., and Pandejpong, T., 2006, "Faster, Better, Cheaper: A Study of NPD Project Efficiency and Performance Tradeoffs," J. Oper. Manag., 24(5), pp. 542–562.
- [323] Luchs, M. G., and Kumar, M., 2017, "Yes, but This Other One Looks Better/Works Better': How Do Consumers Respond to Trade-Offs Between Sustainability and Other Valued Attributes?," J. Bus. Ethics, 140(3), pp. 567–584.
- [324] Tseng, M. M., Jiao, R. J., and Wang, C., 2010, "Design for Mass Personalization," CIRP Ann., 59(1), pp. 175–178.
- [325] Zhou, F., Ji, Y., and Jiao, R. J., 2013, "Affective and Cognitive Design for Mass Personalization: Status and Prospect," J. Intell. Manuf., 24(5), pp. 1047–1069.
- [326] Wind, J., and Mahajan, V., 1997, "Issues and Opportunities in New Product Development: An Introduction to the Special Issue," J. Mark. Res., 34(1), pp. 1–12.
- [327] Zimmerman, J., and Forlizzi, J., 2014, "Research through Design in HCI," Ways of Knowing in HCI, Springer, pp. 167–189.
- [328] Frayling, C., 1994, "Research in Art and Design (Royal College of Art Research Papers, Vol 1, No 1, 1993/4)."
- [329] Desmet, P. M. A., Ortíz Nicolás, J. C., and Schoormans, J. P., 2008, "Product Personality in Physical Interaction," Des. Stud., 29(5), pp. 458–477.
- [330] Jabareen, Y., 2009, "Building a Conceptual Framework: Philosophy, Definitions, and Procedure," Int. J. Qual. Methods, 8(4), pp. 49–62.
- [331] Weber, E. H., and Ross, H. E., 1978, *The Sense of Touch*, Academic Press for [the] Experimental Psychology Society.
- [332] Fechner, G. T., 1948, "Elements of Psychophysics, 1860."
- [333] Dijksterhuis, G., 2016, "New Product Failure: Five Potential Sources Discussed," Trends Food Sci. Technol., 50, pp. 243–248.
- [334] Keinonen, T., 2009, "Design Method Instrument, Competence of Agenda?," Mult. Ways Des. Res. Swiss Des. Res. Netw. Symp. 09 Lugano Switz. 1213 Nov 2009.
- [335] Lee, J.-J., 2012, Against Method: The Portability of Method in Human-Centered Design, Aalto University.
- [336] Lee, J.-J., 2014, "The True Benefits of Designing Design Methods," Artifact, forthcoming.
- [337] Orlikowski, W. J., 2004, "Managing and Designing: Attending to Reflexiveness and Enactment," Manag. Des., pp. 90–95.
- [338] Hubka, V., 2015, Principles of Engineering Design, Elsevier.
- [339] Leyer, A., 2012, Machine Design, Springer Science & Business Media.
- [340] Norman, D. A., and Stappers, P. J., 2015, "DesignX: Complex Sociotechnical Systems," She Ji J. Des. Econ. Innov., 1(2), pp. 83–106.
- [341] Star, S. L., and Griesemer, J. R., 1989, "Institutional Ecology, 'Translations' and Boundary Objects: Amateurs and Professionals in Berkeley's Museum of Vertebrate Zoology, 1907-39," Soc. Stud. Sci., 19(3), pp. 387– 420.
- [342] Papalambros, P. Y., 2015, "Design Science: Why, What and How," Des. Sci., 1.
- [343] Star, S. L., 1989, "Chapter 2 The Structure of Ill-Structured Solutions: Boundary Objects and Heterogeneous Distributed Problem Solving," *Distributed Artificial Intelligence*, L. Gasser, and M.N. Huhns, eds., Morgan Kaufmann, San Francisco (CA), pp. 37–54.
- [344] Star, S. L., 2010, "This Is Not a Boundary Object: Reflections on the Origin of a Concept," Sci. Technol. Hum. Values, 35(5), pp. 601–617.
- [345] Wenger, E., 1999, Communities of Practice: Learning, Meaning, and Identity, Cambridge University Press.
- [346] Trompette, P., and Vinck, D., 2009, "Revisiting the Notion of Boundary Object," Rev. Anthropol. Connaiss., 31(1), pp. 3–25.
- [347] Abson, D. J., von Wehrden, H., Baumgärtner, S., Fischer, J., Hanspach, J., Härdtle, W., Heinrichs, H., Klein, A. M., Lang, D. J., Martens, P., and Walmsley, D., 2014, "Ecosystem Services as a Boundary Object for Sustainability," Ecol. Econ., 103, pp. 29–37.
- [348] Brand, F. S., and Jax, K., 2007, "Focusing the Meaning(s) of Resilience: Resilience as a Descriptive Concept and a Boundary Object," Ecol. Soc., 12(1).
- [349] Iwińska, K., Lis, A., and Mączka, K., 2021, "From Framework to Boundary Object? Reviewing Gaps and Critical Trends in Global Energy Justice Research," Energy Res. Soc. Sci., 79, p. 102191.
- [350] Peçanha Enqvist, J., West, S., Masterson, V. A., Haider, L. J., Svedin, U., and Tengö, M., 2018, "Stewardship as a Boundary Object for Sustainability Research: Linking Care, Knowledge and Agency," Landsc. Urban Plan., 179, pp. 17–37.
- [351] Pawlowski, S., and Raven, A., 2000, "Supporting Shared Information Systems: Boundary Objects, Communities, and Brokering," ICIS 2000 Proc.
- [352] Forgues, D., Koskela, L. J., and Lejeune, A., 2009, "Information Technology as Boundary Object for Transformational Learning," J. Inf. Technol. Constr., 14, pp. 48–58.
- [353] Doolin, B., and McLeod, L., 2012, "Sociomateriality and Boundary Objects in Information Systems Development," Eur. J. Inf. Syst., 21(5), pp. 570–586.
- [354] Levina, N., and Vaast, E., 2005, "The Emergence of Boundary Spanning Competence in Practice: Implications for Implementation and Use of Information Systems," MIS Q., 29(2), pp. 335–363.
- [355] Barrett, M., and Oborn, E., 2010, "Boundary Object Use in Cross-Cultural Software Development Teams," Hum. Relat., 63(8), pp. 1199–1221.
- [356] Huvila, I., Anderson, T. D., Jansen, E. H., McKenzie, P., and Worrall, A., 2017, "Boundary Objects in Information Science," J. Assoc. Inf. Sci. Technol., 68(8), pp. 1807–1822.
- [357] Miles, M. B., and Huberman, A. M., 1994, Qualitative Data Analysis: An Expanded Sourcebook, SAGE.
- [358] Eisentraut, R., and Günther, J., 1997, "Individual Styles of Problem Solving and Their Relation to Representations in the Design Process," Des. Stud., 18(4), pp. 369–383.
- [359] Akin, Ö., and Lin, C., 1995, "Design Protocol Data and Novel Design Decisions," Des. Stud., 16(2), pp. 211– 236.
- [360] Hassenzahl, M., 2010, "Experience Design: Technology for All the Right Reasons," Synth. Lect. Hum.-Centered Inform., 3(1), pp. 1–95.
- [361] Carver, C. S., and Scheier, M. F., 2001, On the Self-Regulation of Behavior, Cambridge University Press.
- [362] Mahdjoubi, D., 2003, "Epistemology of Design."

- [363] Horvath, I., 2001, "A Contemporary Survey of Scientific Research into Engineering Design," Citeseer, pp. 21–23.
- [364] Parsons, G., 2015, The Philosophy of Design, John Wiley & Sons.
- [365] Jones, D., Plowright, P., Bachman, L., and Poldma, T., 2016, "Introduction: Design Epistemology," DRS2016 Proceedings, P. Lloyd, and E. Bohemia, eds., Design Research Society, London, pp. 295–302.
- [366] Blessing, L. T., and Chakrabarti, A., 2009, DRM: A Design Reseach Methodology, Springer.
- [367] Simon, H. A., 2019, The Sciences of the Artificial, MIT Press.
- [368] Sullivan, L. H., 1896, "The Tall Office Building Artistically Considered," Lippincotts Mag., pp. 403-409.
- [369] Glegg, G. L., 1973, The Science of Design, Cambridge University Press.
- [370] Suh, N. P., 2001, Axiomatic Design: Advances and Applications, Oxford University Press, USA.
- [371] Moustapha, I., 2006, Concurrent Engineering In Product Design And Development, New Age International.
- [372] Govers, P. C. M., and Schoormans, J. P. L., 2005, "Product Personality and Its Influence on Consumer Preference," J. Consum. Mark., 22(4), pp. 189–197.
- [373] Poldma, T., ed., 2013, *Meanings of Designed Spaces*, Fairchild Books/A Division of Bloomsbury Publications, New York.
- [374] Poldma, T., 2015, "The Dynamics of Theory and Practice in Design Learning: Contexts, Service and a Discipline in Evolution. Sisu-Line," J. Inter. Archit. Spec. Issue «Teooriast Prakt. Theory Pract. Tallinn Est., 1, pp. 92–109.
- [375] Collins, H. M., and Evans, R., 2002, "The Third Wave of Science Studies: Studies of Expertise and Experience," Soc. Stud. Sci., 32(2), pp. 235–296.
- [376] Boland, R., and Collopy, F., 2004, Managing as Designing, Stanford business books Stanford, CA.
- [377] Murakami, T., and Koyanagi, T., 2017, "Proposal of Delta Design Map Based on Function, Behavior, Structure and User Experience for Design Ideation Support," American Society of Mechanical Engineers Digital Collection.
- [378] Sadeghi, L., Dantan, J.-Y., Mathieu, L., Siadat, A., and Aghelinejad, M. M., 2017, "A Design Approach for Safety Based on Product-Service Systems and Function–Behavior–Structure," CIRP J. Manuf. Sci. Technol., 19, pp. 44–56.
- [379] Koh, E. C. Y., 2017, "A Study on the Requirements to Support the Accurate Prediction of Engineering Change Propagation," Syst. Eng., **20**(2), pp. 147–157.
- [380] Borgo, S., Carrara, M., Vermaas, P., and Garbacz, P., 2006, "Behavior of a Technical Artifact: An Ontological Perspective in Engineering," Form. Ontol. Inf. Syst. Proc. Fourth Int. Conf., pp. 214–225.
- [381] Kiran, D. R., 2016, Total Quality Management: Key Concepts and Case Studies, Butterworth-Heinemann.
- [382] Houde, S., and Hill, C., 1997, "Chapter 16 What Do Prototypes Prototype?," *Handbook of Human-Computer Interaction (Second Edition)*, M.G. Helander, T.K. Landauer, and P.V. Prabhu, eds., North-Holland, Amsterdam, pp. 367–381.
- [383] Colfer, L., and Baldwin, C. Y., 2010, "The Mirroring Hypothesis: Theory, Evidence and Exceptions," Harv. Bus. Sch. Finance Work. Pap., (10–058).
- [384] Wright, P., McCarthy, J., and Meekison, L., 2004, "Making Sense of Experience," *Funology: From Usability to Enjoyment*, M.A. Blythe, K. Overbeeke, A.F. Monk, and P.C. Wright, eds., Springer Netherlands, Dordrecht, pp. 43–53.
- [385] Jones, J. C., 2021, Designing Designing, Bloomsbury Publishing.
- [386] Saravi, M., Newnes, L., Mileham, A. R., and Goh, Y. M., 2008, "Estimating Cost at the Conceptual Design Stage to Optimize Design in Terms of Performance and Cost," *Collaborative Product and Service Life Cycle*

Management for a Sustainable World, R. Curran, S.-Y. Chou, and A. Trappey, eds., Springer, London, pp. 123–130.

- [387] Kun, A. L., 2018, "Human-Machine Interaction for Vehicles: Review and Outlook," Found. Trends Human–Computer Interact., 11(4), pp. 201–293.
- [388] "United States Patent Application: 0210141402" [Online]. Available: https://appft.uspto.gov/netacgi/nph-Parser?Sect1=PTO2&Sect2=HITOFF&p=1&u=%2Fnetahtml%2FPTO%2Fsearchbool.html&r=4&f=G&l=50&co1=AND&d=PG01&s1=luntz&s2=brei&OS=luntz+AND+brei&RS=luntz+AN D+brei. [Accessed: 30-Jul-2021].
- [389] Kim, E., Luntz, J., Brei, D., Kim, W., Alexander, P., and Johnson, N., 2021, "Tendon Constrained Inflatable Architecture: Rigid Axial Load Bearing Design Case," Smart Mater. Struct., **30**(5), p. 055004.
- [390] Balachandran, A., and Gerdes, J. C., 2015, "Designing Steering Feel for Steer-by-Wire Vehicles Using Objective Measures," IEEEASME Trans. Mechatron., **20**(1), pp. 373–383.
- [391] Berry, L. L., Zeithaml, V. A., and Parasuraman, A., 1990, "Five Imperatives for Improving Service Quality," Sloan Manage. Rev., 31(4), pp. 29–38.
- [392] Goncharenko, A. V., 2017, "An Alternative Method of the Main Psychophysics Law Derivation," Clin. Exp. Psychol., 3(2), pp. 1–5.
- [393] Nutter Jr, F. W., 2010, "Weber-Fechner Law," Encycl. Res. Des., 3, pp. 1612–1615.
- [394] Akre, K. L., and Johnsen, S., 2014, "Psychophysics and the Evolution of Behavior," Trends Ecol. Evol., 29(5), pp. 291–300.
- [395] Burnell, E., Damen, N. B., and Hoburg, W., 2020, "GPkit: A Human-Centered Approach to Convex Optimization in Engineering Design," *Proceedings of the 2020 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*, Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, pp. 1–13.
- [396] Bhavikatti, S. S., 2005, Finite Element Analysis, New Age International.
- [397] Reid, J., 1977, "Structural Identifiability in Linear Time-Invariant Systems," IEEE Trans. Autom. Control, 22(2), pp. 242–246.
- [398] Cintrón-Arias, A., Banks, H. T., Capaldi, A., and Lloyd, A. L., 2009, "A Sensitivity Matrix Based Methodology for Inverse Problem Formulation," 17(6), pp. 545–564.
- [399] Gent, A. N., 1958, "On the Relation between Indentation Hardness and Young's Modulus," Rubber Chem. Technol., 31(4), pp. 896–906.
- [400] RSF Mini Series, Rev 07-14, Harmonic Drive Technologies.
- [401] Wauters, J., 2021, "ERGO: A New Robust Design Optimization Technique Combining Multi-Objective Bayesian Optimization With Analytical Uncertainty Quantification," J. Mech. Des., 144(3).
- [402] O'Hern, M. S., and Rindfleisch, A., 2017, "Customer Co-Creation: A Typology and Research Agenda," Rev. Mark. Res., pp. 84–106.
- [403] von Hippel, E., 1986, "Lead Users: A Source of Novel Product Concepts," Manag. Sci., 32(7), pp. 791–805.
- [404] Fischer, G., 2001, "User Modeling in Human–Computer Interaction," User Model. User-Adapt. Interact., 11(1), pp. 65–86.
- [405] Lieberman, H., Paternò, F., Klann, M., and Wulf, V., 2006, "End-User Development: An Emerging Paradigm," *End User Development*, H. Lieberman, F. Paternò, and V. Wulf, eds., Springer Netherlands, Dordrecht, pp. 1–8.
- [406] Chellappa, R. K., and Sin, R. G., 2005, "Personalization versus Privacy: An Empirical Examination of the Online Consumer's Dilemma," Inf. Technol. Manag., 6(2), pp. 181–202.
- [407] Arora, N., Dreze, X., Ghose, A., Hess, J. D., Iyengar, R., Jing, B., Joshi, Y., Kumar, V., Lurie, N., and Neslin, S., 2008, "Putting One-to-One Marketing to Work: Personalization, Customization, and Choice," Mark. Lett., 19(3), pp. 305–321.

- [408] Montgomery, A. L., and Smith, M. D., 2009, "Prospects for Personalization on the Internet," J. Interact. Mark., 23(2), pp. 130–137.
- [409] Kumar, A., 2007, "From Mass Customization to Mass Personalization: A Strategic Transformation," Int. J. Flex. Manuf. Syst., 19(4), pp. 533–547.
- [410] Zhou, F., Jiao, J. R., Chen, S., and Zhang, D., 2011, "A Case-Driven Ambient Intelligence System for Elderly in-Home Assistance Applications," IEEE Trans. Syst. Man Cybern. Part C Appl. Rev., 41(2), pp. 179–189.
- [411] Kwon, K., Cho, J., and Park, Y., 2010, "How to Best Characterize the Personalization Construct for E-Services," Expert Syst. Appl., 37(3), pp. 2232–2240.
- [412] Bekker, M., and Long, J., 2000, "User Involvement in the Design of Human—Computer Interactions: Some Similarities and Differences between Design Approaches," *People and Computers XIV Usability or Else!*, S. McDonald, Y. Waern, and G. Cockton, eds., Springer, London, pp. 135–147.
- [413] Clarkson, P. J., Coleman, R., Keates, S., and Lebbon, C., 2013, *Inclusive Design: Design for the Whole Population*, Springer Science & Business Media.
- [414] Gyi, D., Cain, R., and Campbell, I., 2010, "The Value of Computer-Based Product Representations in Co-Designing with Older Users," J. Eng. Des., 21(2–3), pp. 305–313.
- [415] Wu, M.-C., Lo, Y.-F., and Hsu, S.-H., 2006, "A Case-Based Reasoning Approach to Generating New Product Ideas," Int. J. Adv. Manuf. Technol., 30(1), pp. 166–173.
- [416] Damodaran, L., 1996, "User Involvement in the Systems Design Process-a Practical Guide for Users," Behav. Inf. Technol., 15(6), pp. 363–377.
- [417] Eason, K. D., 1995, "User-Centred Design: For Users or by Users?," Ergonomics, 38(8), pp. 1667–1673.
- [418] François, M., Osiurak, F., Fort, A., Crave, P., and Navarro, J., 2021, "Usability and Acceptance of Truck Dashboards Designed by Drivers: Two Participatory Design Approaches Compared to a User-Centered Design," Int. J. Ind. Ergon., 81, p. 103073.
- [419] Kaulio, M. A., 1998, "Customer, Consumer and User Involvement in Product Development: A Framework and a Review of Selected Methods," Total Qual. Manag., 9(1), pp. 141–149.
- [420] Huang, H., Yang, M., and Lv, T., 2018, "Ergonomic Analysis of Washing Machines for Elderly People: A Focus Group-Based Study," Int. J. Ind. Ergon., 68, pp. 211–221.
- [421] Camargo, M., Wendling, L., and Bonjour, E., 2014, "A Fuzzy Integral Based Methodology to Elicit Semantic Spaces in Usability Tests," Int. J. Ind. Ergon., 44(1), pp. 11–17.
- [422] Naujoks, F., Hergeth, S., Wiedemann, K., Schömig, N., Forster, Y., and Keinath, A., 2019, "Test Procedure for Evaluating the Human–Machine Interface of Vehicles with Automated Driving Systems," Traffic Inj. Prev., 20(sup1), pp. S146–S151.
- [423] Bodker, K., Kensing, F., and Simonsen, J., 2009, Participatory IT Design: Designing for Business and Workplace Realities, MIT Press.
- [424] Bratteteig, T., and Wagner, I., 2016, "Unpacking the Notion of Participation in Participatory Design," Comput. Support. Coop. Work CSCW, 25(6), pp. 425–475.
- [425] Kensing, F., and Greenbaum, J., 2013, "Heritage: Having a Say," *Routledge International Handbook of Participatory Design*, Routledge.
- [426] Luck, R., 2018, "What Is It That Makes Participation in Design Participatory Design?," Des. Stud., **59**, pp. 1– 8.
- [427] Simonsen, J., and Robertson, T., 2012, Routledge International Handbook of Participatory Design, Routledge.
- [428] Spinuzzi, C., 2005, "The Methodology of Participatory Design," Tech. Commun., 52(2), pp. 163–174.
- [429] Binder, T., Michelis, G. D., Ehn, P., Jacucci, G., Linde, P., and Wagner, I., 2011, *Design Things*, MIT Press, Cambridge, MA, USA.

- [430] Carroll, J. M., and Rosson, M. B., 2007, "Participatory Design in Community Informatics," Des. Stud., 28(3), pp. 243–261.
- [431] Hoyer, W. D., Chandy, R., Dorotic, M., Krafft, M., and Singh, S. S., 2010, "Consumer Cocreation in New Product Development," J. Serv. Res., 13(3), pp. 283–296.
- [432] Grandjean, D., Sander, D., and Scherer, K. R., 2008, "Conscious Emotional Experience Emerges as a Function of Multilevel, Appraisal-Driven Response Synchronization," Conscious. Cogn., 17(2), pp. 484–495.
- [433] Mugge, R., Schoormans, J. P. L., and Schifferstein, H. N. J., 2005, "Design Strategies to Postpone Consumers' Product Replacement: The Value of a Strong Person-Product Relationship," Des. J., 8(2), pp. 38– 48.
- [434] Mugge, R., Schoormans, J. P. L., and Schifferstein, H. N. J., 2009, "Incorporating Consumers in the Design of Their Own Products. The Dimensions of Product Personalisation," CoDesign, 5(2), pp. 79–97.
- [435] Zheng, P., Yu, S., Wang, Y., Zhong, R. Y., and Xu, X., 2017, "User-Experience Based Product Development for Mass Personalization: A Case Study," Proceedia CIRP, 63, pp. 2–7.
- [436] Apraiz Iriarte, A., Lasa, G., and Mazmela, M., 2021, "Evaluating User Experience with Physiological Monitoring: A Systematic Literature Review," Dyna Bilbao, 8, p. 21.
- [437] Fairclough, S. H., 2009, "Fundamentals of Physiological Computing," Interact. Comput., 21(1–2), pp. 133– 145.
- [438] Maia, C. L. B., and Furtado, E. S., 2016, "A Study about Psychophysiological Measures in User Experience Monitoring and Evaluation," *Proceedings of the 15th Brazilian Symposium on Human Factors in Computing Systems*, ACM, São Paulo Brazil, pp. 1–9.
- [439] Maia, C. L. B., and Furtado, E. S., 2016, "A Systematic Review About User Experience Evaluation," *Design*, *User Experience, and Usability: Design Thinking and Methods*, A. Marcus, ed., Springer International Publishing, Cham, pp. 445–455.
- [440] Khalid, H. M., and Helander, M. G., 2006, "Customer Emotional Needs in Product Design," Concurr. Eng., 14(3), pp. 197–206.
- [441] Andreassi, J. L., 2007, *Psychophysiology: Human Behavior & Physiological Response, 5th Ed*, Lawrence Erlbaum Associates Publishers, Mahwah, NJ, US.
- [442] Cacioppo, J. T., Tassinary, L. G., and Berntson, G., 2007, Handbook of Psychophysiology, Cambridge University Press.
- [443] Forster, Y., Hergeth, S., Naujoks, F., Krems, J. F., and Keinath, A., 2020, "Self-Report Measures for the Assessment of Human–Machine Interfaces in Automated Driving," Cogn. Technol. Work, 22(4), pp. 703– 720.
- [444] Cowley, B., Filetti, M., Lukander, K., Torniainen, J., Henelius, A., Ahonen, L., Barral, O., Kosunen, I., Valtonen, T., Huotilainen, M., Ravaja, N., and Jacucci, G., 2016, "The Psychophysiology Primer: A Guide to Methods and a Broad Review with a Focus on Human-Computer Interaction," Found. Trends Hum.-Comput. Interact., 9(3–4), pp. 151–308.
- [445] Scheirer, J., Fernandez, R., Klein, J., and Picard, R. W., 2002, "Frustrating the User on Purpose: A Step toward Building an Affective Computer," Interact. Comput., 14(2), pp. 93–118.
- [446] Picard, R. W., Vyzas, E., and Healey, J., 2001, "Toward Machine Emotional Intelligence: Analysis of Affective Physiological State," IEEE Trans. Pattern Anal. Mach. Intell., 23(10), pp. 1175–1191.
- [447] Komiak, S. Y. X., and Benbasat, I., 2006, "The Effects of Personalization and Familiarity on Trust and Adoption of Recommendation Agents," MIS Q., 30(4), pp. 941–960.
- [448] Lekkas, Z., Tsianos, N., Germanakos, P., Mourlas, C., and Samaras, G., 2008, "The Role of Emotions in the Design of Personalized Educational Systems," 2008 Eighth IEEE International Conference on Advanced Learning Technologies, pp. 886–890.

- [449] Zhou, F., Xu, Q., and Jiao, R. J., 2011, "Fundamentals of Product Ecosystem Design for User Experience," Res. Eng. Des., 22(1), pp. 43–61.
- [450] Vermeeren, A. P. O. S., Law, E. L.-C., Roto, V., Obrist, M., Hoonhout, J., and Väänänen-Vainio-Mattila, K., 2010, "User Experience Evaluation Methods: Current State and Development Needs," *Proceedings of the 6th Nordic Conference on Human-Computer Interaction: Extending Boundaries*, Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, pp. 521–530.
- [451] Taffese, T. (Tewodros), 2017, "A Review of Using EEG and EMG Psychophysiological Measurements in User Experience Research," University of Oulu.
- [452] Neumann, D. L., and Westbury, H. R., 2011, "The Psychophysiological Measurement of Empathy," *Psychology of Empathy*, Nova Science Publishers Inc, pp. 119–142.
- [453] Scariot, C. A., Heemann, A., and Padovani, S., 2012, "Understanding the Collaborative-Participatory Design," Work, 41(Supplement 1), pp. 2701–2705.
- [454] Bai, A., and Fuglerud, K. S., 2018, "Method for Semi-Automated Evaluation of User Experience Using Brain Activity," Transform. Our World Des. Divers. Educ., pp. 811–820.
- [455] Bruun, A., Law, E. L.-C., Heintz, M., and Eriksen, P. S., 2016, "Asserting Real-Time Emotions through Cued-Recall: Is It Valid?," *Proceedings of the 9th Nordic Conference on Human-Computer Interaction*, Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, pp. 1–10.
- [456] Bruun, A., Law, E. L.-C., Nielsen, T. D., and Heintz, M., 2021, "Do You Feel the Same? On the Robustness of Cued-Recall Debriefing for User Experience Evaluation," ACM Trans. Comput.-Hum. Interact., 28(4), p. 25:1-25:45.
- [457] Nisbett, R. E., and Wilson, T. D., 1977, "Telling More than We Can Know: Verbal Reports on Mental Processes.," Psychol. Rev., 84(3), p. 231.
- [458] Villon, O., and Lisetti, C., 2006, "A User-Modeling Approach to Build User's Psycho-Physiological Maps of Emotions Using Bio-Sensors," *ROMAN 2006 - The 15th IEEE International Symposium on Robot and Human Interactive Communication*, pp. 269–276.
- [459] Bruun, A., and Ahm, S., 2015, "Mind the Gap! Comparing Retrospective and Concurrent Ratings of Emotion in User Experience Evaluation," *Human-Computer Interaction – INTERACT 2015*, J. Abascal, S. Barbosa, M. Fetter, T. Gross, P. Palanque, and M. Winckler, eds., Springer International Publishing, Cham, pp. 237–254.
- [460] Silva, H. P. D., Fairclough, S., Holzinger, A., Jacob, R., and Tan, D., 2015, "Introduction to the Special Issue on Physiological Computing for Human-Computer Interaction," ACM Trans. Comput.-Hum. Interact., 21(6), p. 29:1-29:4.
- [461] Riedl, R., and Léger, P.-M., 2015, Fundamentals of NeuroIS: Information Systems and the Brain, Springer, Berlin Heidelberg.
- [462] Lux, E., Adam, M. T. P., Dorner, V., Helming, S., Knierim, M. T., and Weinhardt, C., 2018, "Live Biofeedback as a User Interface Design Element: A Review of the Literature," Commun. Assoc. Inf. Syst., pp. 257–296.
- [463] Peter, C., and Herbon, A., 2006, "Emotion Representation and Physiology Assignments in Digital Systems," Interact. Comput., 18(2), pp. 139–170.
- [464] Chen, S., Xu, K., Yao, X., Zhu, S., Zhang, B., Zhou, H., Guo, X., and Zhao, B., 2021, "Psychophysiological Data-Driven Multi-Feature Information Fusion and Recognition of Miner Fatigue in High-Altitude and Cold Areas," Comput. Biol. Med., 133, p. 104413.
- [465] Mandryk, R. L., and Atkins, M. S., 2007, "A Fuzzy Physiological Approach for Continuously Modeling Emotion during Interaction with Play Technologies," Int. J. Hum.-Comput. Stud., 65(4), pp. 329–347.
- [466] Loewe, N., and Nadj, M., 2020, "Physio-Adaptive Systems A State-of-the-Art Review and Future Research Directions," ECIS 2020 Proceedings - Twenty-Eighth European Conference on Information Systems, Marrakesh, Marokko, June 15 - 17, 2020, p. 19.

- [467] Wiener, N., 1948, *Cybernetics; or Control and Communication in the Animal and the Machine*, John Wiley, Oxford, England.
- [468] Fairclough, S. H., and Venables, L., 2004, "Psychophysiological Candidates for Biocybernetic Control of Adaptive Automation," Hum. Factors Des., pp. 177–189.
- [469] Pope, A. T., Bogart, E. H., and Bartolome, D. S., 1995, "Biocybernetic System Evaluates Indices of Operator Engagement in Automated Task," Biol. Psychol., 40(1), pp. 187–195.
- [470] Prinzel, L. J., Freeman, F. G., Scerbo, M. W., Mikulka, P. J., and Pope, A. T., 2000, "A Closed-Loop System for Examining Psychophysiological Measures for Adaptive Task Allocation," Int. J. Aviat. Psychol., 10(4), pp. 393–410.
- [471] Hettinger, L. J., Branco, P., Encarnacao, L. M., and Bonato, P., 2003, "Neuroadaptive Technologies: Applying Neuroergonomics to the Design of Advanced Interfaces," Theor. Issues Ergon. Sci., 4(1–2), pp. 220–237.
- [472] Nasoz, F., Lisetti, C. L., and Vasilakos, A. V., 2010, "Affectively Intelligent and Adaptive Car Interfaces," Inf. Sci., 180(20), pp. 3817–3836.
- [473] Gilleade, K., Dix, A., and Allanson, J., 2005, "Affective Videogames and Modes of Affective Gaming: Assist Me, Challenge Me, Emote Me," *DiGRA 2005: Changing Views – Worlds in Play.*
- [474] Stein, A., Yotam, Y., Puzis, R., Shani, G., and Taieb-Maimon, M., 2018, "EEG-Triggered Dynamic Difficulty Adjustment for Multiplayer Games," Entertain. Comput., 25, pp. 14–25.
- [475] Dimoka, A., Davis, F. D., Gupta, A., Pavlou, P. A., Banker, R. D., Dennis, A. R., Ischebeck, A., Müller-Putz, G., Benbasat, I., Gefen, D., Kenning, P. H., Riedl, R., vom Brocke, J., and Weber, B., 2012, "On the Use of Neurophysiological Tools in IS Research: Developing a Research Agenda for NeuroIS," MIS Q., 36(3), pp. 679–702.
- [476] Bossen, C., Dindler, C., and Iversen, O. S., 2016, "Evaluation in Participatory Design: A Literature Survey," *Proceedings of the 14th Participatory Design Conference: Full Papers - Volume 1*, Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, pp. 151–160.
- [477] Kern, D., and Schmidt, A., 2009, "Design Space for Driver-Based Automotive User Interfaces," Proceedings of the 1st International Conference on Automotive User Interfaces and Interactive Vehicular Applications, Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, pp. 3–10.
- [478] Shaffer, F., and Ginsberg, J. P., 2017, "An Overview of Heart Rate Variability Metrics and Norms," Front. Public Health, 5.
- [479] Hosseini, S. A., and Khalilzadeh, M. A., 2010, "Emotional Stress Recognition System Using EEG and Psychophysiological Signals: Using New Labelling Process of EEG Signals in Emotional Stress State," 2010 International Conference on Biomedical Engineering and Computer Science, pp. 1–6.
- [480] Shukla, J., Barreda-Angeles, M., Oliver, J., Nandi, G. C., and Puig, D., 2021, "Feature Extraction and Selection for Emotion Recognition from Electrodermal Activity," IEEE Trans. Affect. Comput., 12(4), pp. 857–869.
- [481] Wang, J., and Gong, Y., 2008, "Recognition of Multiple Drivers' Emotional State," 2008 19th International Conference on Pattern Recognition, pp. 1–4.
- [482] Leiner, D., Fahr, A., and Früh, H., 2012, "EDA Positive Change: A Simple Algorithm for Electrodermal Activity to Measure General Audience Arousal During Media Exposure," Commun. Methods Meas., 6(4), pp. 237–250.
- [483] Hargrove, L. J., Englehart, K., and Hudgins, B., 2007, "A Comparison of Surface and Intramuscular Myoelectric Signal Classification," IEEE Trans. Biomed. Eng., 54(5), pp. 847–853.
- [484] Ju, Z., and Liu, H., 2014, "Human Hand Motion Analysis With Multisensory Information," IEEEASME Trans. Mechatron., 19(2), pp. 456–466.

- [485] Liu, J., and Zhou, P., 2013, "A Novel Myoelectric Pattern Recognition Strategy for Hand Function Restoration After Incomplete Cervical Spinal Cord Injury," IEEE Trans. Neural Syst. Rehabil. Eng., 21(1), pp. 96–103.
- [486] Matsubara, T., and Morimoto, J., 2013, "Bilinear Modeling of EMG Signals to Extract User-Independent Features for Multiuser Myoelectric Interface," IEEE Trans. Biomed. Eng., **60**(8), pp. 2205–2213.
- [487] Naik, G. R., and Nguyen, H. T., 2015, "Nonnegative Matrix Factorization for the Identification of EMG Finger Movements: Evaluation Using Matrix Analysis," IEEE J. Biomed. Health Inform., 19(2), pp. 478–485.
- [488] Paleari, M., Di Girolamo, M., Celadon, N., Favetto, A., and Ariano, P., 2015, "On Optimal Electrode Configuration to Estimate Hand Movements from Forearm Surface Electromyography," 2015 37th Annual International Conference of the IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society (EMBC), pp. 6086–6089.
- [489] Riillo, F., Quitadamo, L. R., Cavrini, F., Gruppioni, E., Pinto, C. A., Pastò, N. C., Sbernini, L., Albero, L., and Saggio, G., 2014, "Optimization of EMG-Based Hand Gesture Recognition: Supervised vs. Unsupervised Data Preprocessing on Healthy Subjects and Transradial Amputees," Biomed. Signal Process. Control, 14, pp. 117–125.
- [490] Shenoy, P., Miller, K. J., Crawford, B., and Rao, R. P. N., 2008, "Online Electromyographic Control of a Robotic Prosthesis," IEEE Trans. Biomed. Eng., 55(3), pp. 1128–1135.
- [491] Simão, M., Mendes, N., Gibaru, O., and Neto, P., 2019, "A Review on Electromyography Decoding and Pattern Recognition for Human-Machine Interaction," IEEE Access, 7, pp. 39564–39582.
- [492] Halaki, M., and Ginn, K., 2012, Normalization of EMG Signals: To Normalize or Not to Normalize and What to Normalize To?, IntechOpen.
- [493] Rienzo, M. D., Mancia, G., and Parati, G., 1993, *Blood Pressure and Heart Rate Variability: Computer* Analysis, Modelling and Clinical Applications, IOS Press.
- [494] Henelius, A., Hirvonen, K., Holm, A., Korpela, J., and Muller, K., 2009, "Mental Workload Classification Using Heart Rate Metrics," 2009 Annual International Conference of the IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society, pp. 1836–1839.
- [495] Cinaz, B., Arnrich, B., La Marca, R., and Tröster, G., 2013, "Monitoring of Mental Workload Levels during an Everyday Life Office-Work Scenario," Pers. Ubiquitous Comput., 17(2), pp. 229–239.
- [496] Aasman, J., Mulder, G., and Mulder, L. J. M., 1987, "Operator Effort and the Measurement of Heart-Rate Variability," Hum. Factors, 29(2), pp. 161–170.
- [497] Wilson, G. F., 2002, "An Analysis of Mental Workload in Pilots During Flight Using Multiple Psychophysiological Measures," Int. J. Aviat. Psychol., 12(1), pp. 3–18.
- [498] Jorna, P. G. A. M., 1993, "Heart Rate and Workload Variations in Actual and Simulated Flight," Ergonomics, 36(9), pp. 1043–1054.
- [499] Roscoe, A. H., 1992, "Assessing Pilot Workload. Why Measure Heart Rate, HRV and Respiration?," Biol. Psychol., 34(2), pp. 259–287.
- [500] Roscoe, A. H., 1993, "Heart Rate as a Psychophysiological Measure for In-Flight Workload Assessment," Ergonomics, 36(9), pp. 1055–1062.
- [501] Braithwaite, J. J., Watson, D. G., Jones, R., and Rowe, M., 2013, "A Guide for Analysing Electrodermal Activity (EDA) & Skin Conductance Responses (SCRs) for Psychological Experiments," Psychophysiology, 49(1), pp. 1017–1034.
- [502] Dawson, M. E., Schell, A. M., and Filion, D. L., 2017, "The Electrodermal System," Handbook of Psychophysiology, 4th Ed, Cambridge University Press, New York, NY, US, pp. 217–243.
- [503] Ravaja, N., 2004, "Contributions of Psychophysiology to Media Research: Review and Recommendations," Media Psychol., 6(2), pp. 193–235.
- [504] Boostani, R., and Moradi, M. H., 2003, "Evaluation of the Forearm EMG Signal Features for the Control of a Prosthetic Hand," Physiol. Meas., 24(2), pp. 309–319.

- [505] Putra, D. S., Ihsan, M. A., Kuraesin, A. D., Mustakim, Daengs, G. S. A., and Iswara, I. B. a. I., 2019, "Electromyography (EMG) Signal Classification for Wrist Movement Using Naïve Bayes Classifier," J. Phys. Conf. Ser., 1424(1), p. 012013.
- [506] Malmivuo, J., Malmivuo, P. of B. and H. of the R. G. I. J., Plonsey, R., and Plonsey, P. of B. E. R., 1995, *Bioelectromagnetism: Principles and Applications of Bioelectric and Biomagnetic Fields*, Oxford University Press.
- [507] Mason, R. E., and Likar, I., 1966, "A New System of Multiple-Lead Exercise Electrocardiography," Am. Heart J., 71(2), pp. 196–205.
- [508] Papouchado, M., Walker, P. R., James, M. A., and Clarke, L. M., 1987, "Fundamental Differences between the Standard 12–Lead Electrocardiograph and the Modified (Mason—Likar) Exercise Lead System," Eur. Heart J., 8(7), pp. 725–733.
- [509] Boucsein, W., 2012, Electrodermal Activity, Springer Science & Business Media, Boston, MA.
- [510] Nagai, Y., Critchley, H. D., Featherstone, E., Trimble, M. R., and Dolan, R. J., 2004, "Activity in Ventromedial Prefrontal Cortex Covaries with Sympathetic Skin Conductance Level: A Physiological Account of a 'Default Mode' of Brain Function," NeuroImage, 22(1), pp. 243–251.
- [511] Smith, L. H., and Hargrove, L. J., 2013, "Comparison of Surface and Intramuscular EMG Pattern Recognition for Simultaneous Wrist/Hand Motion Classification," 2013 35th Annual International Conference of the IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society (EMBC), pp. 4223–4226.
- [512] Ewing, K. C., Fairclough, S. H., and Gilleade, K., 2016, "Evaluation of an Adaptive Game That Uses EEG Measures Validated during the Design Process as Inputs to a Biocybernetic Loop," Front. Hum. Neurosci., 10.
- [513] Novak, D., 2014, "Engineering Issues in Physiological Computing," *Advances in Physiological Computing*, S.H. Fairclough, and K. Gilleade, eds., Springer, London, pp. 17–38.
- [514] Novak, D., Mihelj, M., and Munih, M., 2012, "A Survey of Methods for Data Fusion and System Adaptation Using Autonomic Nervous System Responses in Physiological Computing," Interact. Comput., 24(3), pp. 154–172.
- [515] Kursa, M. B., and Rudnicki, W. R., 2010, "Feature Selection with the Boruta Package," J. Stat. Softw., **36**, pp. 1–13.
- [516] Cao, L., Li, J., Xu, Y., Zhu, H., and Jiang, C., 2016, "A Hybrid Vigilance Monitoring Study for Mental Fatigue and Its Neural Activities," Cogn. Comput., 2(8), pp. 228–236.
- [517] Ghaderyan, P., and Abbasi, A., 2016, "An Efficient Automatic Workload Estimation Method Based on Electrodermal Activity Using Pattern Classifier Combinations," Int. J. Psychophysiol., **110**, pp. 91–101.
- [518] Swangnetr, M., and Kaber, D. B., 2013, "Emotional State Classification in Patient–Robot Interaction Using Wavelet Analysis and Statistics-Based Feature Selection," IEEE Trans. Hum.-Mach. Syst., 43(1), pp. 63–75.
- [519] Badesa, F. J., Morales, R., Garcia-Aracil, N. M., Sabater, J. M., Zollo, L., Papaleo, E., and Guglielmelli, E., 2016, "Dynamic Adaptive System for Robot-Assisted Motion Rehabilitation," IEEE Syst. J., 10(3), pp. 984– 991.
- [520] Muñoz, J. E., Cameirão, M., Bermúdez i Badia, S., and Gouveia, E. R., 2018, "Closing the Loop in Exergaming - Health Benefits of Biocybernetic Adaptation in Senior Adults," *Proceedings of the 2018 Annual Symposium on Computer-Human Interaction in Play*, Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, pp. 329–339.
- [521] Potts, D., Loveys, K., Ha, H., Huang, S., Billinghurst, M., and Broadbent, E., 2019, "ZenG: AR Neurofeedback for Meditative Mixed Reality," *Proceedings of the 2019 on Creativity and Cognition*, Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, pp. 583–590.
- [522] Salminen, M., Järvelä, S., Ruonala, A., Timonen, J., Mannermaa, K., Ravaja, N., and Jacucci, G., 2018, "Bio-Adaptive Social VR to Evoke Affective Interdependence: DYNECOM," 23rd International Conference on Intelligent User Interfaces, Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, pp. 73–77.

- [523] Teo, G., Reinerman-Jones, L., Matthews, G., Szalma, J., Jentsch, F., and Hancock, P., 2018, "Enhancing the Effectiveness of Human-Robot Teaming with a Closed-Loop System," Appl. Ergon., 67, pp. 91–103.
- [524] Yu, B., Funk, M., Hu, J., and Feijs, L., 2017, "StressTree: A Metaphorical Visualization for Biofeedback-Assisted Stress Management," *Proceedings of the 2017 Conference on Designing Interactive Systems*, Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, pp. 333–337.
- [525] Aricò, P., Borghini, G., Di Flumeri, G., Colosimo, A., Bonelli, S., Golfetti, A., Pozzi, S., Imbert, J.-P., Granger, G., Benhacene, R., and Babiloni, F., 2016, "Adaptive Automation Triggered by EEG-Based Mental Workload Index: A Passive Brain-Computer Interface Application in Realistic Air Traffic Control Environment," Front. Hum. Neurosci., 10.
- [526] Di Flumeri, G., De Crescenzio, F., Berberian, B., Ohneiser, O., Kramer, J., Aricò, P., Borghini, G., Babiloni, F., Bagassi, S., and Piastra, S., 2019, "Brain–Computer Interface-Based Adaptive Automation to Prevent Out-Of-The-Loop Phenomenon in Air Traffic Controllers Dealing With Highly Automated Systems," Front. Hum. Neurosci., 13.
- [527] Harrivel, A. R., Stephens, C. L., Milletich, R. J., Heinich, C. M., Last, M. C., Napoli, N. J., Abraham, N., Prinzel, L. J., Motter, M. A., and Pope, A. T., 2017, "Prediction of Cognitive States during Flight Simulation Using Multimodal Psychophysiological Sensing," *AIAA Information Systems-AIAA Infotech@ Aerospace*, p. 1135.
- [528] Korres, G., Jensen, C. B. F., Park, W., Bartsch, C., and Eid, M., 2018, "A Vibrotactile Alarm System for Pleasant Awakening," IEEE Trans. Haptics, 11(3), pp. 357–366.
- [529] Hajjem, A., Bellavance, F., and Larocque, D., 2014, "Mixed-Effects Random Forest for Clustered Data," J. Stat. Comput. Simul., 84(6), pp. 1313–1328.
- [530] Breiman, L., 2001, "Random Forests," Mach. Learn., 45(1), pp. 5-32.
- [531] Lundberg, S. M., and Lee, S.-I., 2017, "A Unified Approach to Interpreting Model Predictions," Advances in Neural Information Processing Systems, Curran Associates, Inc.
- [532] Biau, G., and Scornet, E., 2016, "A Random Forest Guided Tour," TEST, 25(2), pp. 197-227.
- [533] Dey, S., 2022, "Merf."
- [534] Lundberg, S., 2022, "Shap."
- [535] Zain, M., Fan, T. J., Lemaitre, G., and siqi-he, 2022, "Scikit-Learn."
- [536] Nilsson, R., Peña, J. M., Björkegren, J., and Tegnér, J., 2007, "Consistent Feature Selection for Pattern Recognition in Polynomial Time," J. Mach. Learn. Res., 8, pp. 589–612.
- [537] Pearl, J., 1988, Probabilistic Reasoning in Intelligent Systems: Networks of Plausible Inference, Morgan Kaufmann.
- [538] Costa, M., Moody, G. B., Henry, I., and Goldberger, A. L., 2003, "PhysioNet: An NIH Research Resource for Complex Signals," J. Electrocardiol., 36, pp. 139–144.
- [539] Bastarache-Roberge, M.-C., Léger, P.-M., Courtemanche, F., Sénécal, S., and Fredette, M., 2015, "Measuring Flow Using Psychophysiological Data in a Multiplayer Gaming Context," *Information Systems and Neuroscience*, F.D. Davis, R. Riedl, J. vom Brocke, P.-M. Léger, and A.B. Randolph, eds., Springer International Publishing, Cham, pp. 187–191.
- [540] Labonté-LeMoyne, É., Léger, P.-M., Resseguier, B., Bastarache-Roberge, M.-C., Fredette, M., Sénécal, S., and Courtemanche, F., 2016, "Are We in Flow Neurophysiological Correlates of Flow States in a Collaborative Game," *Proceedings of the 2016 CHI Conference Extended Abstracts on Human Factors in Computing Systems*, Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, pp. 1980–1988.
- [541] Shearer, P. B., 2016, "Physiological Detection of Flow," Ph.D., University of South Dakota.
- [542] Griffin, A., 2002, "Product Development Cycle Time for Business-to-Business Products," Ind. Mark. Manag., 31(4), pp. 291–304.

[543] Gregory, S. A., 2014, The Design Method, Springer US.